London School of Economics and Political Science

## Digital literacy in theory and practice: Learning from how experts and advocates engage in civic life

Gianfranco Polizzi

A thesis submitted to the Department of Media and Communications of the London School of Economics and Political Science for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

London, June 2020

### Declaration

I certify that the thesis I have presented for examination for the PhD degree of the London School of Economics and Political Science is solely my own work other than where I have clearly indicated that it is the work of others (in which case the extent of any work carried out jointly by me and any other person is clearly identified in it).

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. Quotation from it is permitted, provided that full acknowledgement is made. This thesis may not be reproduced without my prior written consent.

I warrant that this authorization does not, to the best of my belief, infringe the rights of any third party.

I declare that this thesis consists of 98,650 words.

## Statement of use of third party for editorial help

I can confirm that my thesis was copy-edited for conventions of language, spelling and grammar by Jean Morris.

#### Abstract

This thesis explores the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. To do so, it conceptualizes digital literacy as functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet that are contextually situated. Drawing on utopian studies and political theory, it conceptualizes *critical* digital literacy, in particular, as incorporating users' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Such an approach prescribes that critical digital literacy relies on understanding both the potentials and the limitations of the internet for civic life. I argue that applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy enables us to disentangle users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life, which align with different ideologies.

With this novel approach to digital literacy in mind, this study focuses on digital experts (e.g., information, IT and media professionals) and civic advocates (e.g., community councillors, political party candidates, activists) in the United Kingdom to address whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy, and whether and how the latter, in turn, facilitates civic engagement. To answer these questions, I employ a mixed qualitative methodology, using semi-structured interviews, enhanced by think aloud and diary methods, followed by thematic analysis, enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis.

While media literacy research has subordinated functional to critical digital literacy, my fieldwork revealed that the latter can only be sophisticated provided it relies on functional digital literacy. Furthermore, this study found that civic engagement, from reading news and discussing politics to campaigning, provides opportunities for learning digital literacy both informally through social interaction, information seeking and experience of using digital technologies, and formally through digital training. In turn, digital literacy facilitates civic engagement in ways that are instrumental, trustful and strategic. More specifically, digital literacy enables both experts and advocates to use digital technologies as practical tools for civic purposes. It enhances their trust in accredited media outlets while overcoming distrust in internet corporations. Finally, it enables them to strategically overcome bias, misinformation and their own privacy concerns as well as to navigate the internet's civic potentials and limitations. On the basis of how experts and advocates understand the digital environment and engage in civic life, I argue that constructing both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet, but deploying one or the other, makes civic engagement contradictory. By contrast, deploying utopian *and* dystopian imaginaries is crucial to pursuing civic opportunities online while overcoming the limitations of the digital environment.

#### Acknowledgments

Working on this thesis has been an incredible journey for me, one that has enabled me to grow both academically and personally. It has been an opportunity to learn what it means to conduct a substantial piece of research and, at the same time, to welcome the criticism and cherish the advice and support of others.

First of all, I cannot thank my supervisors, Professor Sonia Livingstone and Professor Ellen Helsper, enough for all their help and support. Sonia and Ellen have been for me not just wonderful mentors and inspiring academics but also friendly and supportive companions. Throughout these years, you were always there for me. And you always knew when it was time for me to stand on my own feet, and when it was not. You always – I should say this more emphatically, *always* – made me feel comfortable in asking questions and expressing my views as well as my concerns. And you always offered help and criticism that were both thorough and constructive. I have learnt from you the rigour of research. And I am for ever indebted to you for your generosity and patience.

This research was financially supported by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) (grant number ES/J500070/1), for which I am thankful. In addition, I would like to express my gratitude to a few people without whose input and insightful comments this thesis would not have taken its current shape. I am grateful to Nick Couldry, Bart Cammaerts, Lilie Chouliaraki and Nico Carpentier for offering useful directions at various points of this project. Thank you, Divina Frau-Meigs, for your support and interest in the project. And thank you, Stéphane Goldstein, for your help and our discussions on digital literacy.

Finally, this thesis would not have seen the light of day without the constant and unconditional love and support of family and friends, near and far, old and new. I would like to thank my PhD colleagues, with whom I often found myself talking about this research. Thank you for your comments and encouraging words. In addition, I owe special thanks to Mac, who has pushed me throughout the years to do always more and better. A huge thank you goes to Daniela, who has always believed in me. Thank you for always being there. Last, but certainly not least, I am profoundly grateful to my mum, dad and brother, Giuseppina, Adolfo and Emanuele. Your love for me has fuelled my enthusiasm and the efforts behind this research. Thank you.

## **Table of Contents**

Declaration	2
Statement of use of third party for editorial help	2
Abstract	3
Acknowledgments	5
List of Tables	11
Chapter 1 – Introduction	12
1.1 Background	12
1.2 Civic Engagement, Democracy and the Internet	18
1.3 Digital Literacy and the Field: Research Questions and Contribution	22
1.4 Outline	26
Chapter 2 – Digital literacy and civic engagement: Reviewing media literacy rese	
2.1 Introduction	29
2.2 A Critical Review of Media Literacy Research	29
2.2.1 Research on digital inequalities	
2.2.2 Educational research inspired by social psychology	
2.2.3 Research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies	
2.2.4 Research inspired by the New Literacy Studies	
2.2.5 Information science and librarianship studies	
2.2.6 Research on human-computer interaction	
2.2.7 Policy research on media literacy	56
2.3 Gaps in and Limitations of Media Literacy Research: A Recap	
2.4 Conclusions	62
Chapter 3 – Digital literacy and civic engagement: A new theoretical approach	63
3.1 Introduction	63
3.2 Digital Literacy as Functional and Critical	63
3.2.1 Utopian thinking: A dialectical approach	65
3.2.2 Conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking	69
3.2.2.1 Exploring users' imaginaries of society in the digital age	71
3.2.2.2 Overcoming the collapse of critical digital literacy into civic engagement that is	
understood as inherently progressive 3.2.2.3 Challenging polarizing conclusions about users' interpretations of the internet	
3.3 Why Focus on Experts and Advocates? Reviewing Further Literature	
3.3.1 Experts	
<ul><li>3.3.2 Advocates</li></ul>	
3.4 Key Concepts and Research Questions	
Chapter 4 – Methodology and research design	
4.1 Introduction	90

4.2 Methodological Rationale	92
4.2.1 Qualitative interviewing	
4.2.1.1 Cognitive interviewing	
Cognitive probing	
(A conversational approach to) the think aloud method	
The subcam	
4.2.2 The diary method	
4.2.3 Thematic analysis enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis	99
4.3 Operationalization	101
4.4 Research Design	103
4.4.1 Sampling strategy	104
4.4.2 Sample	108
4.4.3 Research ethics	
4.4.4 Data collection	
4.4.4.1 First interview	
4.4.4.2 Diary	
4.4.4.3 Second interview	
4.4.5 Data analysis	
4.4.5.1 Thematic analysis enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis	
4.5 Limitations and Role of the Researcher	
Chapter 5 – What is digital literacy?	
5.1 Introduction	127
5.2 Functional Digital Literacy	128
5.2.1 Digital skills	
5.2.2 Knowledge of digital affordances	
5.2.3 Dispositions towards the internet	134
5.3 Critical Digital Literacy	137
5.3.1 The ability to evaluate online content	
5.3.2 Knowledge about the political economy of the internet	143
5.3.3 Utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age	147
Democracy	149
Populism	
Misinformation	
Surveillance	
Regulation	
5.3.4 Back to the ability to evaluate online content	160
5.4 Discussion	162
Chapter 6 – How civic engagement provides opportunities for learning dig	-
literacy	
6.1 Introduction	168
6.2 Social Interaction	168
6.3 Information Seeking	181
6.4 Experience	186
6.5 Training	195
6.6 Discussion	203
Chapter 7 – How digital literacy facilitates civic engagement	209

7.1 Introduction	209
7.2 Instrumental Engagement	209
7.3 Trustful Engagement	217
7.3.1 Trust in reliable sources	
7.3.2 Overcoming distrust in internet corporations	220
7.4 Strategic Engagement	
7.4.1 Overcoming bias and misinformation	
<ul><li>7.4.2 Overcoming privacy concerns about the corporate nature of users' data</li><li>7.4.3 Navigating the internet's civic potentials and limitations</li></ul>	
Alternative media	
The filter bubble	
Online abuse	
Visibility	
Surveillance	
7.5 Contradictory Engagement	244
7.6 Discussion	250
Chapter 8 – Conclusions	259
8.1 Introduction	259
8.2 Key Findings	261
8.2.1 What is digital literacy?	
8.2.2 How civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy	
8.2.3 How digital literacy facilitates civic engagement	275
8.3 Implications for Theory and Research	
8.3.1 Research on digital inequalities	
8.3.2 Educational research inspired by social psychology 8.3.3 Research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies	
8.3.4 Research inspired by the New Literacy Studies	
8.3.5 Information science and librarianship studies	
8.3.6 Research on human-computer interaction	
8.3.7 Policy research on media literacy	
8.3.8 Beyond media literacy research	292
8.4 Practical Implications	294
8.5 Reflecting on My Next Steps as a Researcher	297
8.6 Limitations	299
8.7 Conclusions	300
References	305
Appendices	363
Appendix 1: Information Sheet	364
Appendix 2: Consent Form	366
Appendix 3: Topic Guide Used with Experts	367
Appendix 4: Topic Guide Used with Advocates	368
Appendix 5: Weekly Diary Entry Form	369
Appendix 6: NVivo <i>Node 1</i> – "What is Digital Literacy?": Deductive Sub-Nodes and	d Inductive
Codes and Themes (FDL = functional digital literacy; CDL = critical digital literacy).	371

Appendix 7: NVivo Node 2 - "Whether and How Civic Engagement Provides Opportunitie	es
for Learning Digital Literacy": Inductive Codes and Themes	379
Appendix 8: NVivo Node 3 – "Whether and How Digital Literacy Facilitates Civic	
Engagement": Inductive Codes and Themes	382

## List of Tables

Table 4.1 Operationalization of research questions and sub-questions
Table 4.2 Examples of experts and advocates    105
Table 4.3 Selected field-sites    106
Table 4.4 Overview of the experts who participated in the project, orderedalphabetically, with details under "Intersection" of those lying at the intersection ofexpertise and civic engagement
Table 4.5 Overview of the advocates who participated in the project, orderedalphabetically, with details under "Intersection" of those lying at the intersection ofexpertise and civic engagement
Table 4.6 Overview of data collected116
Table 4.7 Experts and advocates who submitted diaries       116
Table 8.1 What digital literacy consists of
Table 8.2 How the functional and critical dimensions of digital literacy intersect265

#### **Chapter 1 – Introduction**

#### 1.1 Background

We live in an age that is - at least in the West (e.g., Europe and North America) increasingly mediated by digital technologies. When it comes to civic life, understood as both community and political life, the internet has become an integral part of how we participate in society, from discussing socio-political matters to signing petitions and exchanging information about protest events. But while the internet provides us with opportunities for participating in civic life, recent elections in the West, including the 2016 presidential election in the United States and the Brexit referendum in the United Kingdom, have signalled the extent to which it can also be a cause for concern. This has been the case particularly in relation to misinformation, especially when the latter is created and shared in order to cause harm for political or economic gain (Wardle & Derakhshan, 2017).<sup>1</sup> Misinformation has existed for a long time, and prior to the advent of the internet. The latter, nevertheless, has amplified the rate at which it can spread, fuelled by internet corporations' algorithms that make popular online information visible, regardless of its authenticity (Vaidhyanathan, 2018). In the last few years, furthermore, public concern about how these corporations operate has intensified in relation to how they collect, manage and (mis)use users' data as part of their business practices. The Cambridge Analytica scandal is an example of this. In 2018, political consulting firm Cambridge Analytica, which was involved in the US presidential and Brexit campaigns, became the subject of public outrage, having harvested the data of millions of Facebook users without their consent for political advertising purposes (Risso, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wardle and Derakhshan (2017) distinguish between *misinformation*, which "is when false information is shared, but no harm is meant", and *disinformation*, which refers to false information that is shared deliberately to cause harm (p. 5). It can be hard to ascertain the extent to which disinformation is spread intentionally in order to do harm, or whether misinformation can become unintentionally harmful. Leaving aside questions of intent, this thesis uses the term *misinformation* to refer, more simply, to false information.

Western countries are equipped with institutions that operate under what is commonly referred to as *liberal democracy*, which consists of a system of governance based on delegating power to representatives under principles of economic and political freedom (Held, 2006). Insofar as democracy relies on a well-informed citizenry, the spread of misinformation online and the Cambridge Analytica scandal have prompted different actors across multiple countries, including in the media industry and among policymakers, to grapple with how to ensure that we live in a healthy information environment. This is why policymakers in countries like the United Kingdom have been gathering evidence on the risks that the internet presents, with emphasis on what should be done. Among the possible solutions discussed, two are particularly resonant in the UK. One concerns regulating internet corporations such as Facebook and Twitter in order to ensure that they operate with integrity, as well as playing an active role in curbing the spread of misinformation on their platforms. The other has to do with equipping the public with the skills and knowledge they need in order to navigate information critically in the digital age (DCMS Committee, 2019; UK Government, 2019b).<sup>2</sup>

The latter solution is commonly referred to as *promoting digital literacy*, which is a form of media literacy that has to do with using the internet and digital technologies. Media literacy is generally defined as the ability to access, analyse, evaluate and produce messages in a variety of forms (Aufderheide, 1997). Largely used as an umbrella term, it refers to a variety of different literacies, including information, media, digital, data and multimodal literacies (Livingstone, Wijnen, Papaioannou, Costa, & del Mar Grandío, 2013). Ultimately, all these fall under the overarching concept of *literacy*. Traditionally concerned with reading and writing, this concept can be understood more broadly as the skills and knowledge that people need within different contexts, which require different forms of literacy, be that traditional, for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> After the submission of this thesis, the UK House of Lords Select Committee on Democracy and Digital Technologies (2020) published a report on the spread of misinformation online and the importance of promoting digital literacy. Refer to Chapter 8, p. 296, for details of the relevance of this report in the light of the findings and implications of this thesis.

instance, or digital (McKay, 1996). With this in mind, while *knowledge* refers to the understanding of a subject area, *skills* refers to the ability to perform different actions (Katz, 2011).

Given the extent to which our societies are mediated by digital technologies, it is often argued by educationalists and policymakers that the public needs digital literacy, with media literacy research focusing generally more on children than on adults. However, as we will see in Chapter 2, digital literacy can be approached in different ways, which makes it hard to identify what skills and knowledge are necessary in order to engage with digital technologies. Furthermore, while the education system has a considerable role to play when it comes to promoting digital literacy among children, it is particularly hard to reach adults, who are no longer in school. In the United Kingdom, the National Literacy Trust (2018) has found that only 2% of school children can identify all fake and real news stories in a misinformation quiz, with only 28% identifying at least four out of six stories correctly. Beyond children, furthermore, we know from Ofcom (2019a) that many adults lack "the critical skills needed to identify when they are being advertised to online" (p. 1). "Only six in ten understand that not all the websites returned [on search engines] will be accurate and unbiased" (Ofcom, 2019a, p 17). "Only half of search engine users correctly identify advertising on Google" (Ofcom, 2019a, p 16). And only somewhat "over half of internet users say they consider 'some' of the factual information they find online to be true, showing a degree of critical understanding" (Ofcom, 2019a, p. 18).

As argued by Hobbs (2010), digital literacy is essential for participating in civic life as well-informed and active citizens. It is about evaluating online content in terms of bias and trustworthiness. And it is necessary for producing and posting information online, including multimodal content that integrates different kinds of texts. Historically, digital literacy lies at the intersection of two paradigms: those of protection and of empowerment (Hobbs & Jensen, 2009). These two paradigms transcend civic life *per se*, in that they can be applied to using the internet within multiple domains of life. On the one hand, according to the protectionist paradigm, digital literacy is about developing the skills and knowledge that users need in order to protect themselves

from online risks, including not just misinformation but – as argued in the recent UK Government (2019b) white paper on online harms – cyberbullying, identity theft and exposure to inappropriate content, to name just a few. On the other hand, insofar as digital technologies enable users to be not just consumers but also producers of information, the empowerment paradigm prescribes that digital literacy enables users to participate actively in society.

The concept of empowerment is rather a contested one. Political research, traditionally, has approached this concept as referring specifically to citizens' impactful participation in decision-making (e.g., Verba, 1967). But when it comes to using digital technologies, this concept can be approached as a form of enablement, having to do with the opportunities for interaction and expression that these technologies provide within civic life, regardless of whether they necessarily translate into social change (Mäkinen, 2006). Similarly, as with the notion of empowerment, political research has generally approached the concept of participation as citizens' active involvement in decision-making (e.g., Arnstein, 1969; Verba, 1967). Some, however, have argued that there are two forms of participation. One is about sharing public life through social interaction. The other has to do with undertaking instrumental action aimed at "influenc[ing] ... political power" (Scaff, 1975, p. 455). To overcome this distinction, the notion of civic engagement is helpful. As argued by Dahlgren (2003), civic engagement refers to how citizens take part in civic life in ways that serve as an expression of what matters to them, and that do not exclude, but are not necessarily expected to have, an impact on decision-making.

It is from this perspective that I am interested here in the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement, bearing in mind that the latter is a crucial condition for democracy. Three reasons underpinned my decision to explore this subject. First, this decision was based on the conviction that it is important, given the stakes for society described above. Second, as we will see in section 1.3 and in Chapter 2, this thesis starts from the recognition that, while media literacy research as a whole has prioritized children and different aspects of digital literacy, more research is needed on adults and on whether and how they understand the digital environment, including

how internet corporations operate, along with the internet's potentials and limitations for civic life. Finally, building on this recognition, this thesis originated from my desire to bridge studies on utopian thinking with media literacy research, which underpinned the decision to conceptualize and explore digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age.

As discussed below when introducing the contribution of this thesis, such an approach to digital literacy has the potential to push the field forward both theoretically and empirically. The notion of social imaginaries refers to imagined representations of society, which consist of understandings and expectations of how individual and collective participation in society should be organized (Taylor, 2004). According to Thompson (1982), such representations are ideologically driven, where ideology refers to systems of ideas that are not fixed but compete, clash and can overlap in organizing, reproducing and transforming power relationships (Therbon, 1980). As framed in Chapter 3, utopian thinking, which is rooted in both imagination and realism, relies dialectically on critiquing the dystopian limitations of the present while projecting potentialities into the future (Jameson, 2005; Levitas, 2010). Insofar as utopian thinking is a powerful force for social change, this thesis is based on the assumption that digital literacy can empower users in the context of their civic practices, provided it incorporates their utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Such imaginaries are conceptualized here as incorporating, on the one hand, imaginaries of the internet's civic potentials and limitations and, on the other, imaginaries of civic life that may be aligned with different ideologies.

Under these premises, the thesis is rooted in the desire to explore how digital literacy intersects, not just theoretically but also empirically, with civic engagement. As a result, this study is based on the decision to focus on two social categories of people in the United Kingdom: digital experts and civic advocates. The former category consists of media educators as well as information, IT and media professionals, including, for instance, librarians, publishers, IT managers, system administrators, journalists, website designers and social media coordinators. The latter category includes community councillors, political party candidates and activists involved in various socio-political causes. The reason behind the choice of these social categories was a conceptual one: in order to explore the intersection of two key concepts, digital literacy and civic engagement. This reasoning followed logically from the assumption that these populations are ideal for this kind of investigation. On the one hand, experts are digitally savvy, with different levels of civic engagement. On the other hand, advocates are highly involved in civic life, with different levels of digital literacy.

This thesis is not primarily concerned with comparing these social categories. At the same time, as we will see later, I examine how experts and advocates develop and deploy digital skills and knowledge in different ways in the context of their civic engagement in order to learn how digital literacy operates in theory and in practice within civic life. Mindful that not all experts or advocates are the same, I focus on how their skills and knowledge shape and are shaped by their civic practices, with emphasis, as appropriate, on individuals who work at the intersection of expertise and advocacy. These included, for instance, media educationalists who work for organizations promoting media education as well as digital campaigning (Kreiss, 2015). Unlike the general public, experts and advocates enjoy, respectively, sophisticated digital skills and knowledge and a profound commitment to civic life. On the one hand, they are not representative of the general public. On the other hand, as discussed later in this chapter, their expertise and civic practices have implications for how we understand the nature of digital literacy and its role in civic life.

I have explained here the context in which this thesis originated. Section 1.2 below focuses on the relationship between civic engagement and democracy, while also discussing the role of the internet within civic life. Section 1.3 then introduces media literacy research as a broad and diversified field. It presents the research questions and methods of the thesis, and focuses on its contribution, addressing why it is important theoretically, empirically and practically. Finally, section 1.4 provides an outline of the structure of the thesis, offering a brief description of what follows in the next chapters.

#### 1.2 Civic Engagement, Democracy and the Internet

As discussed above, civic engagement refers to what citizens do to take part in civic life, understood as both community and political life. The latter refers here to both institutional and non-institutional politics, which transcends formal politics insofar as it is unmediated by institutions, thus going beyond electoral politics (Mosca & Quaranta, 2016, p. 327). While institutional politics has to do, for instance, with voting and electoral campaigning, non-institutional politics includes activism and participation in civil society. Populated by campaigning organizations, charities and advocacy groups that represent the interests of different groups of people, it constitutes a space between the state and the commercial sector where citizens are involved in their communities and organize and pursue social and political action (G. White, 1994).

Insofar as the advent of the internet has diversified the ways in which citizens participate in civic life, civic engagement comprises activities that can be performed online and/or offline, including, for instance, reading news, voting, volunteerism, using government websites, sharing and commenting on political content, signing a petition, using alternative media, exchanging information about a protest event or participating in a demonstration (Dutton, Blank, & Groselj, 2013; R. Fox & Blackwell, 2016; A. Smith, 2013; Theocharis, 2015; van Laer & van Aelst, 2009). Before discussing this further, it is worth clarifying that alternative media are independent, unlike state or commercial media. They differ from mainstream media in terms of content, production and distribution (Bailey, Cammaerts, & Carpentier, 2007). Furthermore, it should be clarified that *the internet* is understood here as a technology with multiple dimensions. Not only does it rely on technical features, online content and internet usage, but it also depends on ownership, governance and the business models of corporations such as Google and Facebook (van Dijck, 2013, p. 28).

We live in an age when nation-states are challenged, in dealing with social inequalities, by the power of supranational institutions as well as by global capital

flows. For the past few decades, Western liberal democracy has suffered from a decline in citizens' participation in electoral politics. This is exacerbated by citizens' alienation from and dissatisfaction with the political process, which depends on the extent to which they feel under- or misrepresented (Coleman, 2013). It is often argued that liberal democracy and public communication in the West are deeply affected by citizens' distrust in institutions and traditional media, which many people believe are unable to represent their concerns (Coleman & Blumler, 2009). In the UK, for example, only 40% of the general public trust the news (Newman, Fletcher, Kalogeropoulos, & Nielsen, 2019, p. 69). As reported by the Reuter Institute: "trust in the news has fallen over 11 percentage points since 2015. Even the most trusted brands like the BBC are seen by many as pushing or suppressing agendas – especially over polarizing issues like Brexit and climate change" (Newman et al., 2019, p. 69).

At the same time, while the representative character of Western democracy has dwindled considerably, we "have evidence of alternative" practices of institutional participation in resistance and activism occurring "outside the parliamentarian context" (Dahlgren, 2004, p. ix). These practices invite reflection on the extent to which the concept of democracy needs to become more nuanced. On a descriptive level, we live in societies in the West which are equipped, as discussed above, with a liberal democracy that relies on delegating power to politicians through elections. By contrast, on a normative level, *democracy* can be understood in different ways, depending on how we expect it to function, which applies also to what may expected of citizens' participation in democracy.

According to democratic theory, there are four major normative models of democracy: the competitive elitist, pluralistic, participatory and deliberative models (Held, 2006; Rapeli, 2014, p. 78). While the last three challenge the representative character of liberal democracy, the competitive elitist model relies entirely on formal politics and elections, with citizens delegating power to representatives (Held, 2006, p. 157). Pluralistic democracy, by contrast, prescribes that groups and organizations should play a role in negotiating decision-making, with citizens participating more actively in civic life beyond voting (Dahl, 1982, p. 5; Held, 2006, p. 173). This is why

civil society plays a particularly important role in a pluralistic democracy, where citizens are expected to be involved in community life and do voluntary work as well as to participate in practices of resistance and activism, from organizing to taking collective action. In participatory democracy, citizens are directly involved in processes of decision-making (Held, 2006, p. 215). Finally, in deliberative democracy, which is a form of participatory democracy, they participate in such processes via deliberation in the public sphere (Bohman, 1998, p. 401; Held, 2006, p. 253). According to Habermas (1989), the latter consists of an arena between the state and private life, where the public is expected to engage in rational-critical debate.

These models have their own flaws. Competitive elitist democracy is overly reliant on formal politics. Requiring little of citizens' participation beyond voting, it reduces them to spectators of the political process (Held, 2006, p. 153). Pluralistic democracy needs a healthy civil society in order to thrive. Proponents of this model tend to pay little attention to the power asymmetries that exist between the different groups and organizations involved in decision-making (Held, 2006, p. 165). Participatory democracy suffers from problems of time and size. It expects citizens to commit time to participating in decision-making, and it hardly goes beyond the level of small communities and cities (Dahl, 2006, p. 118). As a result, participatory democracy is generally reduced to local government-led initiatives, which make governance more interactive but not necessarily more direct (Rosanvallon, 2011, pp. 203–205). Finally, deliberative democracy assumes that everyone has equal access to deliberation, which is not the case. In addition, it assumes that citizens will deliberate in rational terms, neglecting the fact that politics is grounded not just in rationality but also in passion (Mouffe, 1999).

With these models of democracy in mind, the advent of the internet has been championed for its potential to reinvigorate both institutional and non-institutional engagement in civic life. Thanks to its interactive features, the internet is often praised for its potential to decentralize politics, enable marginalized groups to participate in politics, foster an online public sphere and contribute to deliberative democracy (Benkler, 2006; Blumler & Coleman, 2010; J. A. Martin, 2015). The internet, in

addition, has shortened the distance between politicians and citizens, with social media enabling citizens to follow up on and engage more closely with what politicians do (E. J. Lee & Shin, 2014). The internet also contributes to citizen journalism inasmuch as it enables the public to report and disseminate news and information (Glaser, 2010). Finally, it is celebrated for supporting civil society and non-institutional politics. More specifically, it facilitates the production and dissemination of alternative media, better-organized activism and the fostering of communities and collective identities (Cammaerts, 2015a; Garrett, 2006).

At the same time, the internet not only facilitates but also impinges on civic engagement and democracy. Embedded in power structures, with a few corporations like Facebook enjoying most online traffic (Freedman, 2012), it fuels ideological extremism. Its algorithms, which depend on how these corporations operate, amplify popular content that triggers strong reactions. In addition, they reinforce the polarization of political debate by contributing to the problem of the filter bubble, which makes it unlikely that users will be exposed to content that challenges their preexisting beliefs (Vaidhyanathan, 2018). The internet, furthermore, is rather elitist. Not only is it prevalently used for political purposes by white and middle-class men, but its economic structure encourages users to cluster around a few sites that enjoy visibility (Hindman, 2009). In addition, the internet has the potential to exacerbate voter manipulation, with users' data being not just tracked for political purposes but also misused, as exemplified by the Cambridge Analytica scandal (Risso, 2018). Relatedly, issues of privacy and data security, including the risk of foreign countries interfering with campaigns and elections through cyberattacks, are typical of the digital age (Pope, 2018). Insofar as users' data is shared by corporations like Google and Facebook with advertising companies, the internet also facilitates both commercial and government surveillance, with such corporations often working closely with governments (Fuchs, 2010; McChesney, 2013). Especially in non-democratic countries, government surveillance, furthermore, is often coupled with censorship, which fuels the political repression of dissent (Morozov, 2011). Finally, political content online is not just fragmented and polarized (Sunstein, 2007), but also subject to hate speech

(Leets, 2001) and to issues of trustworthiness, as captured by the spread of misinformation (Garrett, 2006; Oxley, 2012).

Insofar as the internet presents both opportunities for and constraints on participating in civic life, it is imperative that users are equipped with the skills and knowledge they need to navigate the digital environment. Media literacy theory and research enables us to transit from discussing the internet and its role in society to focusing on how users engage with digital technologies, and how they develop and deploy digital literacy in ways that are contextually situated. In the section below, I introduce the media literacy field. After providing a snapshot of its complexity and limitations, I present the research questions and contribution of this study.

#### 1.3 Digital Literacy and the Field: Research Questions and Contribution

Media literacy research is broad and diverse.<sup>3</sup> As we will see in Chapter 2, this body of work can be categorized into different traditions, including research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology, critical pedagogy and cultural studies, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies, information science and librarianship studies, research on human-computer interaction, and policy research on media literacy.

Overall, media literacy research has focused more on children than on adults. A few traditions, furthermore, have focused more on functional skills and knowledge about the internet, as with research on digital inequalities. Others, by contrast, have placed more emphasis on the critical dimension of digital literacy, as with research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies. In the latter case, media literacy research has generally under-explored how users understand the broader digital environment, beyond their ability to evaluate online content. In addition, when it comes to digital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Insofar as this thesis uses *media literacy* as an umbrella term, *media literacy research* here refers to research that has employed not just notions of *media literacy* but also different variants including, among others, *digital literacy, data literacy* and *information literacy*.

literacy and civic engagement, research has either paid little attention to whether and how these shape one another, or it has approached their intersection restrictively as necessarily underpinned by progressive values. This latter limitation applies more prominently to research inspired by critical pedagogy. Within media studies, critical pedagogy refers to a teaching approach that primarily encourages students to challenge and deconstruct dominant media representations (Buckingham, 2008, p. 193). As argued later in this thesis, research inspired by critical pedagogy has perpetuated the idea that users' critical reflections and civic engagement will be inherently left-wing. As a result, a large body of work has under-explored the extent to which users' critique of media representations can, as we know from journalism studies (e.g., Figenschou & Ihlebæk, 2019), also be aligned with right-wing or far-right politics.

Given the gaps in the literature, this study approached the media literacy field with the overarching question of whether and how digital literacy and civic engagement shape one another, resulting in the decision to focus on experts and advocates in the UK. As unpacked in Chapter 2, what became evident while reviewing the literature is that this question translates *de facto* into two main research questions. The first of these relates to whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy. The second relates to whether and how digital literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement. As explained in Chapter 3, the thesis addresses these questions by addressing first the sub-question of what digital literacy consists of in practice, on the basis of how skilled and knowledgeable experts and advocates are. In addition, insofar as I am interested in digital literacy as incorporating knowledge about the digital environment, this study also addresses the sub-question of how experts and advocates discursively construct this kind of knowledge.

With these questions in mind, this thesis frames civic engagement as including both institutional and non-institutional forms of participation in civic life, which can be aligned with different ideologies. In addition, digital literacy is approached as having two aspects. On the one hand, functional digital literacy refers to the skills and knowledge that users need in order to use digital technologies practically. On the

other hand, critical digital literacy refers to the skills and knowledge that they need in order to engage critically with online content and digital technologies as embedded in power structures.

In order to explore whether and how experts and advocates in the UK develop and deploy digital literacy in different ways in the context of their civic practices, I answer the questions above by employing a mixed qualitative methodology. More specifically, data collection was based on semi-structured interviews enhanced by a conversational approach to the "think aloud" method, along with the diary method. As we will see in Chapter 4, I asked experts and advocates to use any of their digital devices in the interviews so that they could talk me through how they engage online. In addition, the participants were asked to take part in two interviews and, in between, to write weekly diaries about their civic practices. The decision to collect data in the United Kingdom was underpinned not just by convenience, since this is where I am based, but also by the conviction that London, which is where most interviews were conducted, would be ideal for recruiting a diversified sample of experts and advocates, given its cosmopolitan nature. The UK, furthermore, is particularly suitable for researching digital literacy and civic engagement. Not only does it have one of the highest internet penetration rates in the world, but it also has a thriving civil society, with a high density of advocacy and campaigning organizations (Dunleavy, 2018). Finally, once the data was collected, it was subjected primarily to thematic analysis enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis.

In terms of theoretical contribution, this thesis has three aims. First, it aims to explore digital literacy and shed light on how functional digital literacy intersects with critical digital literacy. Second, it draws on utopian studies and political theory to conceptualize critical digital literacy as incorporating users' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Chapter 3 theorizes that such an approach enables us to 1) disentangle users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life, 2) overcome the assumption that critical digital literacy leads to civic engagement that is inherently progressive, and 3) problematize polarizing conclusions within media research about users' interpretations of the internet as crucial or

detrimental to their online engagement. It is argued that the dialectical nature of utopian thinking, which relies on the interdependence of utopianism and dystopianism, prescribes, when applied to critical digital literacy, that users can only pursue civic opportunities online provided they understand both the internet's potentials and its limitations for civic life. Third, and finally, this thesis reflects on the implications for different literatures that follow from how digital literacy, as conceptualized and investigated here, intersects with civic engagement. These literatures include not just the different traditions of media literacy research outlined above, but also political research, including studies on citizens' participation in institutional politics as well as media studies on social movements.

In terms of empirical contribution, this thesis explores the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement by focusing specifically on experts and advocates in the UK. In so doing, it examines empirically the benefits of conceptualizing digital literacy as both functional and critical. Finally, as discussed in Chapter 8, even though this thesis is not primarily concerned with digital literacy policy, it has practical policy implications, particularly in the context of how to promote digital literacy among both children and adults. Insofar as I address what functional and critical skills and knowledge are necessary for using digital technologies, and how these skills and knowledge intersect, the thesis has implications for how different actors understand digital literacy, including not just researchers but also educationalists, policymakers and civil society practitioners who are committed to promoting digital literacy. As mentioned above, what experts and advocates know about digital technologies, and how they engage in civic life, is not necessarily representative of the general public. But examining their expertise and civic practices is valuable for better understanding in general what digital literacy is and how it can be developed and deployed within civic life, which are questions that go beyond these social categories. As a result, the thesis has repercussions for how we can expect national curricula and teaching resources to promote digital literacy as both functional and critical. Furthermore, insofar as I address the question of whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy, this study has implications for how to

promote within civic life the digital literacy of adults, who are hard to reach via the education system.

Now that we have discussed the theoretical, empirical and practical contribution of the thesis, below is an outline of what follows in the next chapters.

#### 1.4 Outline

This introductory chapter has set out the aims and approach of this thesis. It started with an overview of the challenges to Western societies and to democracy posed by the internet in relation to the spread of misinformation online and the misuse of users' data in the context of recent elections. After discussing the importance of digital literacy and some of the limitations of media literacy research, this chapter has then introduced the aims and research questions of the thesis, with emphasis on its theoretical, empirical and practical contribution.

Chapter 2 presents the theoretical foundations of this study. It starts by reviewing media literacy theory and research, focusing on what has been achieved, and with what limitations, by research on the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. As mentioned above, the literature is categorized under different traditions. After discussing how each tradition of media literacy research has approached digital literacy and examined its intersection with civic engagement, Chapter 2 ends with a summary of the main gaps and limitations identified through the literature review.

Building on the different traditions reviewed in Chapter 2, Chapter 3 introduces a novel approach to digital literacy as both functional and critical. It then draws on utopian studies and political theory in order to conceptualize critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism, theorizing why and in what ways such a conceptualization can be expected to benefit media literacy research. Chapter 3 then unpacks the conceptual rationale for focusing on experts and advocates in the UK,

reviewing research on these social categories. A final section presents the key concepts and research questions.

Chapter 4 presents the methodological approach. It starts by addressing the epistemological rationale behind the research questions and the aims of this study. In so doing, it discusses each method employed, reflecting on its strengths and weaknesses. It then presents the research design of this study. It focuses on the choice of conducting fieldwork in the United Kingdom. It unpacks how the data was collected and analysed, discussing the ethical dimension of, and practical limitations encountered during, fieldwork. Chapter 4 ends with a section on reflexivity, my role as the research research design.

Chapter 5 is the first empirical chapter. Based on a discussion of how skilled and knowledgeable experts and advocates are in the UK, it answers the questions of what digital literacy is and how experts and advocates construct discursively and in different ways their knowledge about the digital environment. To do this, I analyse the interview and diary data, with emphasis on the themes that stood out from the analysis. As a result, I make links between what I had theorized before conducting fieldwork and what emerged from the data. Relatedly, across the chapter and in the discussion section, I reflect on the benefits, implications and limitations of approaching digital literacy as conceptualized in this thesis.

Chapter 6 is the second empirical chapter. To answer the question of whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy, it examines whether and how experts and advocates develop in different ways skills and knowledge about the internet in the context of their civic practices. Based on the interview and diary data, it provides an analysis of the themes that emerged from the fieldwork, reflecting on the different formal and informal learning opportunities that enable experts and advocates to develop digital literacy. In so doing, it establishes connections with media literacy research and political research, building on Chapters 2 and 3, as well as with a few studies within education research and the literature on family and children.

Chapter 7 is the third empirical chapter. On the basis of whether and how experts and advocates deploy digital literacy in the context of their civic practices, it answers the question of whether and how digital literacy facilitates civic engagement. By focusing on the main themes that emerged from the analysis of the interview and diary data, it examines how experts and advocates participate in institutional and non-institutional civic life and whether and how their digital literacy contributes to their practices. In so doing, it makes links with the different literatures reviewed in Chapters 2 and 3. It reflects on the relation between critical digital literacy and civic engagement, as theorized in Chapter 3. And it establishes connections with studies that were not reviewed prior to fieldwork, including psychology research and a few studies within political research.

Chapter 8 presents the conclusions of the thesis. It starts by reiterating the aims and research questions of this study. After summarizing the main findings presented in the three empirical chapters, it discusses the implications of the thesis for theory and research. More specifically, I reflect on how this study pushes forward the field of media literacy research, while also benefitting political research. In addition, I reflect on its practical policy implications in the context of promoting digital literacy. Chapter 8 ends with a section on the limitations of this thesis and a concluding section on future directions for theory and research.

# Chapter 2 – Digital literacy and civic engagement: Reviewing media literacy research

#### 2.1 Introduction

Chapter 1 has discussed the role of the internet in civic life, introducing the aims and contribution of this study. This chapter reviews media literacy research by examining how it has addressed the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement, and with what findings and limitations. After reviewing media literacy research and its different traditions (section 2.2), section 2.3 provides a summary of the literature, followed by a section with concluding remarks.

#### 2.2 A Critical Review of Media Literacy Research

Given the interdisciplinary nature of media studies, approaches to media literacy – defined in Chapter 1 as an umbrella term that incorporates multiple literacies – vary considerably, as does research on its intersection with civic engagement. As discussed earlier, this study approached the field with the question of whether and how digital literacy and civic engagement shape one another. What became evident while reviewing the literature is that the field is not just vast and diverse but also messy. Reviewing the literature, furthermore, made it clear that the question above consists *de facto* of two complementary questions. One has to do with whether and how civic engagement contributes to digital literacy, which is a question about learning. The other is about how – if in any way – digital literacy facilitates, in turn, civic engagement.

With this in mind, in order to make sense of the literature, the studies reviewed were categorized under different traditions, which are presented below. These include 1)

research on digital inequalities, 2) educational research inspired by social psychology, 3) research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies, 4) research inspired by the New Literacy Studies, 5) information science and librarianship studies, 6) research on human-computer interaction, and 7) policy research on media literacy. The media literacy field is so multifaceted and complex that making sense of the different approaches to, and research on, digital literacy is a considerable challenge. What was challenging, furthermore, was to identify – and to categorize the studies reviewed under – the above traditions on the basis of the different questions and epistemologies that they prioritize. In practice, these traditions tend to overlap, with studies lying at the intersection of different strands of research. Often, indeed, there are no clear cuts between one tradition and another. That is why this thesis does not claim to have reviewed all the literature on digital literacy, or that its way of synthesizing this is universal or transcends the nature of this specific study.

In other words, this chapter represents an attempt to identify patterns, gaps and limitations in the literature that are relevant to this thesis. The traditions and the studies reviewed were selected with a view to capturing different interpretations of digital literacy, and with an emphasis on whether and how they have researched this in relation to civic engagement. Each of these traditions grapples with different questions and priorities, providing insights into different aspects of digital literacy both in general and more specifically within civic life. This is why I value, for instance, research on digital inequalities for its contribution on digital skills, educational research inspired by social psychology for measuring whether the ability to evaluate online content corresponds to civic engagement, critical pedagogy research for its emphasis on the critical dimension of digital literacy, the New Literacy Studies for emphasizing the social dimension of digital literacy, the information science and librarianship studies tradition for addressing how users practically evaluate information online, research on human-computer interaction for its focus on users' understanding of digital affordances, and policy research for its commitment to promoting media literacy.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The concept of *digital affordances* is defined later in this chapter, see p. 45.

When categorizing the literature, emphasis was placed on how these strands of research differ in terms of how they have approached and researched digital literacy and its intersection with civic engagement, and with gaps and limitations. At the same time, as recognized above, these traditions have come to converge, to some extent. As we see below, media literacy research includes studies that have taken inspiration from multiple traditions. This is why the latter are presented in the order below, with research inspired by the New Literacy Studies drawing, for instance, on critical pedagogy, and research on human-computer interaction overlapping with the New Literacy Studies. As a result, the traditions reviewed below are ordered in ways that do not provide a linear account of how digital literacy can be approached or how it intersects with civic engagement, as found in the literature. Such an account is provided in section 2.3, which offers a summary of the literature. By contrast, arguments, findings, gaps and limitations are discussed back and forth across the subsections below, providing links between the different traditions.

#### 2.2.1 Research on digital inequalities

This tradition has been particularly interested in the non-user and in how vulnerable groups use the internet, focusing primarily on what is referred to in Chapter 1 as functional digital literacy, that is, the practical skills and understanding that users need in order to use digital technologies (e.g., Helsper, 2016; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017; van Deursen, Helsper, & Eynon, 2015). Having prioritized whether marginal segments of society have the basic skills and knowledge to pursue tangible outcomes online – from searching for jobs to saving money through online shopping (Helsper, van Deursen, & Eynon, 2015) – this body of work has under-explored critical digital literacy, including users' ability to evaluate online content and understanding of the digital environment.<sup>5</sup> Leaving exceptions aside (e.g., Helsper, 2017), this tradition,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As introduced in Chapter 1, this thesis approaches such an understanding as including knowledge about the political economy of the internet along with its potentials and limitations for civic life. Refer to subsections 2.2.3 and 2.2.4, pp. 40-48, to see how such an approach resonates with media literacy

furthermore, has generally approached users' digital skills and knowledge as residing primarily within individual cognitive processes. The assumption is that digital literacy, once learned, can be transferred from one context to another.

In their classification of digital skills, van Deursen et al. (2015) distinguish between operational, information-navigation, social, creative and mobile skills (p. 816). Users need operational skills in order to conduct operations such as uploading/downloading of files, adjusting their settings or accessing websites. Information-navigation skills enable users to search for information by using keywords and navigating websites. Social skills include the ability to use online platforms, share information and add/remove friends to/from social media accounts. Creative skills enable users to design websites and create content, from comments on social media to music, images and videos. Finally, users need mobile skills in order to download and install apps on their phones.

Research on digital inequalities has interrogated how users develop digital skills through formal and informal learning, where the latter, unlike the former, occurs naturally without a structured format or instructor (de Mora, 2020). When it comes to formal learning, besides the role of the education system in teaching children digital skills, research and policy interventions in this area have advocated the potential of public libraries and community centres within Western countries and beyond to provide digital training for different adult populations (e.g., Dudziak, 2007; Helsper & van Deursen, 2015; Real, Bertot, & Jaeger, 2014). Given the role of these spaces in community life, this kind of training is rooted in the civic nature of our societies, which is why it can be understood as an example of how civic engagement at community level can be beneficial for learning digital literacy. However, as prioritized by this strand of research, such training is generally more about functional than critical digital

research. Relatedly, refer to Chapter 3 to see how this thesis, building on such an approach, draws on media literacy research and utopian studies in order to conceptualize critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age, differentiating between users' imaginaries of the internet and their imaginaries of civic life. See Chapter 1, p. 16, for the definition in this thesis of *social imaginary*.

skills, teaching vulnerable communities skills ranging from how to retrieve information to how to apply for jobs and social benefits online.

Beyond formal learning, a few studies on digital inequalities have argued that social interaction and experience of using digital technologies are valuable for informal learning of digital skills (e.g., Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Matzat & Sadowski, 2012; Paus-Hasebrink, Kulterer, & Sinner, 2019). From a social constructivist perspective, social interaction refers to how "the reality of everyday life is shared with others" (Berger & Luckmann, 1966, p. 43). This process of sharing facilitates learning, as captured by the notion of *social learning* (e.g., Bandura, 1977; Webb, 1989). "The social process of developing shared understanding through interaction is the 'natural' way for people to learn" (Hiltz, 1994, p. 22). This is why social interaction is beneficial for informal learning. And so are "direct life experiences", based on exposure to and involvement in life events, as prescribed by *experiential learning* (Kolb, 2014, p. xix).

Quantitative and qualitative research on digital inequalities suggests that, provided users are motivated to learn, they can develop digital skills through "self-learning" (Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Ferro, Helbig, & Gil-Garcia, 2011, p. 8), which is why Dutton and Shepherd (2006) describe the internet as an *experience technology*. Recent work, furthermore, has moved away from understanding digital literacy individualistically to emphasize that socialization is key to learning digital skills (e.g., Helsper, 2017; Paus-Hasebrink et al., 2019). But, while social interaction and experience in using digital technologies apply to multiple social domains, this strand of research has underexplored whether these provide informal learning opportunities specifically in the context of civic engagement.

As to whether digital skills facilitate civic engagement, quantitative research on digital inequalities has argued that, besides socio-demographics and political motivation, digital skills are "strong predictors of political Internet use" (Min, 2010, p. 26). Inasmuch as users deploy these skills in seeking, for instance, political information or engaging in political discussion online, the lack of digital skills exacerbates a *democratic divide* in countries like the US, with some users unable to participate in

politics (Min, 2010). Similarly, it prevents activists in Latin America from using social media to promote social justice through the production and circulation of alternative media (Harlow, 2012).<sup>6</sup>

Besides focusing on digital skills, research on digital inequalities has interrogated how users develop and deploy dispositions towards the internet, in relation, for instance, to its advantages and disadvantages for health, safety, social interaction or online shopping. Often used interchangeably with attitudes and motivations, the notion of dispositions refers to subjective evaluations that lie at the intersection of knowledge and affect (Raney, 2006). As with research in psychology, research on digital inequalities has largely framed users' dispositions in individualistic terms, underexploring whether users understand the potentials and limitations of the internet for civic life, as a technology embedded within power structures. Instead, while not always using notions of digital literacy, this body of work has addressed whether the internet is perceived, for instance, as "help[ing to] save time, mak[ing] life easier and allow[ing] people to keep in touch", and to make "travel arrangements", as opposed to posing "risks of fraud", "harmful content", misuse or addictive behaviour (Cushman & Klecun, 2006, p. 8; Durndell & Haag, 2002, p. 532; Eynon & Geniets, 2016, p. 473; Hakkarainen, 2012, pp. 1204, 1206; Park, 2014, p. 5; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017, p. 1166).

Research on digital inequalities has argued that, except for users' trust in the safety of online services (e.g., Eynon & Geniets, 2016, p. 473), their dispositions towards the internet, unlike their digital skills, are not developed through experience of using digital technologies. Rather, these are explained by age and gender (Dutton & Shepherd, 2006, p. 434). And they lead to online engagement or disengagement, depending on whether users understand the internet in positive or negative terms, respectively (Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Durndell & Haag, 2002; Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Hakkarainen, 2012; Park, 2014; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). Recent work has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As defined in Chapter 1, alternative media are independent of state and commercial interests, differing from mainstream media in terms of content, production and distribution (Bailey et al., 2007).

argued that limited engagement online is not necessarily problematic where it corresponds to high-quality outcomes (e.g., van Deursen & Helsper, 2018). But this strand of research has ultimately perpetuated the idea that limited engagement online is a deficiency on the part of the non-user, which was contested by Bauer (1995). This tradition has polarized users' varying dispositions towards the internet as positive or negative for their online engagement. Furthermore, it has underresearched their dispositions in the context of their civic engagement.

#### 2.2.2 Educational research inspired by social psychology

This tradition overlaps with a body of work that is interested in e-learning. Originating at the end of the 1990s, and rooted in cognitive psychology, this body of work consists of research on the use of digital technologies for teaching and learning (Andrews & Haythornthwaite, 2007). It was in the context of this research that the term *digital* literacy was first used by Gilster (1997) to describe "the ability to understand and use information in multiple formats from a wide range of sources [...accessed] via computers" (p. 1). Building on the legacy of this field of studies, this tradition has approached digital literacy as residing primarily within cognitive processes. At the same time, it has addressed whether it is explained by social factors, with a few studies investigating whether it correlates, in turn, with civic engagement (e.g., Kahne, Lee, & Feezell, 2012; Martens & Hobbs, 2015). Employing quantitative methods largely adopted in social psychology, from surveys to field experiments in natural settings, this tradition has focused on school and university students. On the one hand, it has framed digital literacy as a property of the individual. On the other hand, unlike cognitive psychology, it has placed more emphasis on the social context in order to explain how students develop digital skills and knowledge. Nevertheless, it has often reduced the social context to a set of independent variables, including not just socio-demographic categories such as age and gender but also students' participation in formal or informal learning environments.

With this in mind, this tradition can be categorized into two different strands. Although not always explicitly using notions of digital literacy, one strand has focused on students' functional skills and knowledge about the internet, with research taking place in different countries such as the US, the Netherlands, Turkey and Taiwan (e.g., Chou, Yu, Chen, & Huan-Chueh, 2009; Dündar & Akçayır, 2014; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Oliemat, Ihmeideh, & Slkhawaldeh, 2018; Peng, Tsai, & Wu, 2005). Another strand, which is prevalent in the US, has prioritized the critical dimension of media literacy, with emphasis on the skills necessary to analyse and evaluate traditional and digital media content in relation to bias and trustworthiness (e.g., Duran, Yousman, Walsh, & Longshore, 2008; Kahne et al., 2012; Martens & Hobbs, 2015). Occasionally, research within this latter strand has approached media literacy as incorporating an understanding of traditional media in terms of ownership, how they operate and how they make a profit (e.g., Duran et al., 2008). According to Hobbs (2011), this kind of understanding is not necessarily helpful for evaluating media content, but is crucial to appreciating its production and consumption processes (p. 426). A few studies, furthermore, have focused on news literacy, which is about evaluating news stories and understanding the news industry (e.g., Ashley, Maksl, & Craft, 2017; Maksl, Craft, Ashley, & Miller, 2017). This strand, nevertheless, has under-explored whether users understand critically not just traditional media structures but also the digital environment, including how internet corporations operate. Both strands, furthermore, have under-researched whether and how functional digital literacy intersects with critical digital literacy.

Exceptionally, a few studies on e-learning have proposed frameworks for understanding digital literacy in ways that incorporate, to some extent, both functional and critical aspects. Hinrichsen and Coombs (2013), for example, suggest that digital literacy relies on five dimensions: 1) *decoding*, as in deciphering the conventions of digital texts, which requires the information-navigation and operational skills necessary for retrieving information, as well as an understanding of digital design; 2) *meaning making*, which refers to the ability to read and write by using digital technologies; 3) *using*, that is, using digital technologies for different purposes; 4) *analysing*, which consists of the ability to deconstruct and question

information, and 5) *persona*, which refers to the ability to build one's own identity online. Similarly, Sharpe and Beetham's (2010) pyramid model describes digital literacy as incorporating different elements, from basic functional digital skills to the more sophisticated ability to use digital technologies creatively and, ultimately, to make informed decisions online. These frameworks are helpful for thinking of digital literacy as multidimensional. Nevertheless, they pay little attention to the extent to which it is contextually situated. They include both functional and critical aspects, but do not necessarily reflect on whether and how these intersect, while prioritizing the latter over the former. Finally, they focus on the importance of evaluating information online, but not on the broader digital environment.

When it comes to how students develop digital literacy, the strand of this tradition that has prioritized their functional skills and knowledge about the internet has focused on formal and, to a lesser extent, informal learning. According to Oliemat et al. (2018), the education system should do a better job of supporting school children's digital skills, which they tend to acquire primarily outside school settings, including the operational and social skills they need in order to download online content and use platforms like YouTube. Distinguishing between positive and negative dispositions towards the internet, research within this strand has also emphasized that schools and universities need to make sure students develop a positive understanding of its benefits not just for entertainment but also for socializing, accessing information, learning, and for school and academic work including reading and writing (e.g., Cazan, Cocoradă, & Cătălin, 2016; Chou et al., 2009; Oliemat et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2005; Zhang, 2007). A few studies have argued that students develop such an understanding beyond formal education, within family settings and influenced by how their parents perceive digital technologies (e.g., Dündar & Akçayır, 2014, p. 41; Meelissen & Drent, 2008, p. 978). Experience with these technologies, gained on the basis of how often they are used, is also important for developing positive or negative dispositions towards the internet, in relation, for instance, to learning, social interaction or wellbeing (Cazan et al., 2016; Dündar & Akçayır, 2014). Nevertheless, little is known within this strand of research about whether and how formal and/or informal learning is crucial to developing functional digital literacy within civic life.

When it comes to how students gain critical skills and knowledge about the media, the other strand in this tradition has measured the effectiveness of media literacy programmes in schools and universities, paying little attention to informal learning. This strand includes studies that have addressed whether media literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement (e.g., Duran et al., 2008; Kahne et al., 2012; Martens & Hobbs, 2015). These studies, nevertheless, have under-explored whether civic engagement provides opportunities for learning media literacy. Focusing on formal education, they have argued consistently that students of media literacy have higher levels of "media literacy analysis skills", including the ability to analyse news stories and advertisements (Martens & Hobbs, 2015, p. 127). These students know how to identify messages, target audiences, omitted information and media construction techniques (Martens & Hobbs, 2015, pp. 127–128, 129). They know the "history [and] economics" of mass media (Duran et al., 2008, p. 59; Martens & Hobbs, 2015, pp. 128, 129). And they know "how to assess the trustworthiness of … website[s]" (Kahne et al., 2012, p. 12).

As to whether and how students deploy digital skills and knowledge, research within the strand of this tradition that is interested in functional digital literacy has found that their digital skills facilitate their online engagement – and so do their positive dispositions towards the internet. Operational and social skills, for instance, are essential for enabling schoolchildren to use tablets and online platforms in the context of playing online games as well as of searching for information (Oliemat et al., 2018). Students' confidence in their digital skills, furthermore, goes hand in hand with positive dispositions towards digital technologies, with emphasis on their advantages for learning, socializing and entertainment (Chou et al., 2009; Oliemat et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2005). As with research on digital inequalities, this body of work has polarized users' positive or negative interpretations of the internet as leading to online engagement or disengagement, respectively. Chou et al. (2009), for instance, have found that female students do not use the internet as much as their male counterparts because they do not appreciate its advantages for accessing information for schoolwork, playing or meeting new friends. Similarly, according to Meelissen and

Drent (2008), female students have more negative dispositions towards the potential of digital technologies for learning and finding a job in the future. Also, regardless of their gender, students in higher grades are more likely to use and appreciate the usefulness of the internet than students in lower grades (Peng et al., 2005, p. 79).

While work within this strand has under-researched students' critical digital literacy, including how they evaluate online content and understand the digital environment in the context of their civic engagement, research within the other strand of this tradition has found that not only does media education facilitate media literacy, as discussed above, but the latter also facilitates civic engagement. Students of media literacy students who learn how to evaluate media content critically are more likely to engage in civic life, from voting and expressing political concerns to participating in protest events (Martens & Hobbs, 2015, pp. 127, 131). Those who understand media structures are more likely to engage in media activism (Duran et al., 2008, p. 60).<sup>7</sup> The ability to evaluate online content corresponds to accessing information about and discussing socio-political issues online. Such an ability, furthermore, is associated with more exposure to various political perspectives (Kahne et al., 2012, pp. 7–8, 14, 16).

Exceptionally, Ashley et al. (2017) have found that students who study news media literacy do not necessarily engage in more political activity, including voting or contacting government officials (p. 86). Based on a field experiment with university students, Mihailidis (2009), furthermore, has argued that those who learn how to evaluate media bias tend to be cynical about traditional media outlets, resulting in negativity about their role in society. In short, this strand of educational research inspired by social psychology has emphasized how media literacy facilitates, but does not always correspond to, greater civic engagement, potentially reinforcing cynicism in an age when Western democracy is afflicted by distrust in institutions and in the media. On the one hand, this strand has focused on students' critical analytical skills and knowledge of traditional media structures. On the other hand, it has paid little

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Media activism refers to activism around the media, including, for instance, campaigning for media regulation or digital rights to privacy and freedom of expression (Carroll & Hackett, 2006).

attention to their understanding of the digital environment or to their functional digital literacy.

# 2.2.3 Research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies

Media literacy research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies has focused predominantly on critical rather than functional skills or knowledge about the media. Building on the legacy of Marxist educationalist Paolo Freire (2000), critical pedagogy refers to a teaching approach rooted in critical theory, which encourages students to reflect critically about dominant ideologies and to take civic action. According to this body of work, *critical literacy*, which requires critical thinking in order to facilitate emancipation and social justice, does not just reside in cognitive processes. It is a "socio-cultural practice that … reflects and refracts power relations" (Hobbs & Jensen, 2009, p. 3). Within media studies, this tradition aspires to teach students to "read, write and rewrite the world through making media" (Buckingham, 2008, p. 193). However, it has perpetuated the expectation that critical literacy will lead to civic action aligned with left-wing politics and progressive values, leaving little room for different ideologies.

According to this strand of research, the critical dimension of media literacy refers primarily to the questioning of dominant media representations in relation to bias, prejudice and trustworthiness (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007). This dimension is about understanding whether the media portray vulnerable communities in ways that exacerbate discrimination, from racism to misogyny, reinforcing power asymmetries. Exceptionally, a few scholars have argued that digital literacy should not be just about evaluating online content, but also about understanding the digital environment. For Buckingham (2007a), users should understand the political economy of the internet, that is, how internet corporations operate in relation to ownership, advertising and regulation. Furthermore, according to Fry (2014), they should understand the internet's potential and limitations for civic life, from its democratizing potential to decentralize communication and facilitate civic expression to its implications for

surveillance and coercion.<sup>8</sup> Leaving exceptions aside, however, research inspired by critical pedagogy and by cultural studies has focused more on users' critique of media representations than on their critique of the internet, which is why "little ... of critical digital literacy ... appears specifically 'digital'" within this tradition (Pangrazio, 2016, p. 164).

When it comes to how users develop critical literacy, this strand of research has focused predominantly on young people and on formal education (e.g., Dierdre, 2000; Kellner & Share, 2007; Morrell, Dueñas, Garcia, & López, 2013; Morrell & Duncan-Andrade, 2005). Occasionally, research has emphasized how the education system should encourage students to produce their own digital media content in order to learn how to use digital technologies practically and reflectively, thus reducing the gap between formal and informal learning (e.g., Buckingham, 2003, 2007b). Recently, a variant of critical pedagogy, dubbed critical digital pedagogy, has framed digital technologies as providing opportunities to create learning environments that can enable students to build empowered communities that are critical of power and institutions (e.g., Morris & Stommel, 2017). As to the extent to which such environments can exist within civic life, Banaji and Buckingham (2013), who conducted research in Europe, have argued that experience of using the internet enables "young people to [learn informally how to] ... post their own civic and political content online" in ways that are both critical and creative (p. 91). However, leaving exceptions aside, research informed by critical pedagogy has generally paid little attention to whether civic engagement, in particular, is valuable as a means of informally learning digital literacy.

As to how critical literacy shapes civic engagement, this body of work has argued consistently that the questioning of mainstream representations is central to producing alternative media as part of practices of resistance and activism that challenge dominant ideologies (e.g., Kellner & Kim, 2010; Kellner & Share, 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Refer to Chapter 1, pp. 20-22, for discussion in this thesis of the internet's potentials and limitations for civic life.

Critical pedagogy, nevertheless, has approached notions of critique and action as inherently left-wing, as argued by Brayton and Casey (2019). As a result, this strand of research has collapsed users' critique of media content into a normative understanding of civic engagement as necessarily progressive. In so doing, it has overlooked how the questioning of media bias, when devoid of respect for evidence, can fuel the propagation of misinformation aligned, as argued by Mihailidis and Viotty (2017, p. 450), with far-right ideologies. We know from journalism studies that users' critique of media representations and their production of alternative media can well align not just with left-wing but also with right-wing or far-right politics, underpinned by anti-immigration sentiments (e.g., Figenschou & Ihlebæk, 2019). Critical pedagogy, however, has left little room for civic engagement which, while not necessarily challenging the socio-political order in accordance with progressive values, may be underpinned by a critical understanding of online content or the internet in line with different ideologies.

Alternative media production online requires digital skills. But this strand of research has under-explored functional digital literacy. And despite acknowledging that digital literacy should incorporate judgments about the aesthetics of digital media, it has subordinated functional to critical digital literacy (e.g., Buckingham, 2006, 2007a). Recent research inspired by critical pedagogy has argued that far-right extremists in India have the functional skills to spread misinformation online. Most users, by contrast, need critical literacy in order to deconstruct information and fight extremism (Banaji & Bhat, 2019). In short, while the notion of critique is ideologically multifaceted, it is framed within critical pedagogy as intrinsically promoting progressive principles of social justice, as is the idea that it leads to alternative media production.

Contradictorily, despite approaching civic engagement as restrictively left-wing, a few scholars within this tradition have argued that users' alternative media production facilitates a pluralistic democracy that "embrac[es] *multiple* perspectives [emphasis added]", resulting in participatory "democratic self-expression, and social progress" (Kellner & Share, 2007, pp. 14, 17; Mihailidis & Thevenin, 2013). Unlike proponents of

democratic theory, these scholars' approach to democracy as pluralistic and participatory relies primarily on citizens' interactions and self-expression, with little attention to their participation in decision-making. It is hard to dispute that, as argued by Bennett, Wells, & Rank (2009), civic interaction and self-expression are crucial to civic engagement. Nevertheless, such an approach to democracy is rather monolithic, leaving unanswered the question of whether and how digital literacy facilitates *de facto* different democratic variants.<sup>9</sup>

Recent work inspired by critical pedagogy has focused on data literacy as a variant of digital literacy, moving away from users' critique as revolving primarily around media representations (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019; Selwyn & Pangrazio, 2018). Pangrazio and Selwyn (2019) have researched how users deploy knowledge about how internet corporations like Google and Facebook operate, how they collect their data for advertising purposes through cookies and algorithms, and with what implications for users' privacy. On the basis of interviews with young people, these authors suggest that data literacy is crucial if users are to protect their privacy and resist corporate power through the use of information-obfuscation tactics, from posting ugly selfies to producing cryptic messages.<sup>10</sup> Their approach to data literacy as *socio-technical* knowledge implies that its critical dimension, which is about understanding how internet corporations operate, intersects with a functional understanding of cookies and algorithms. But such an intersection has remained silent within media literacy research.

As with work on data literacy, Banaji and Buckingham (2013) have, exceptionally, framed digital literacy as incorporating knowledge about the digital environment. In their view, young people's civic practices, from discussing civic issues online to participating in environmental initiatives, are underpinned by knowledge about the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Refer to Chapter 1, pp. 19-20, for how the concept of democracy in the West, which refers descriptively to liberal democracy, can be normatively understood as competitive, elitist, pluralistic, deliberative or participatory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Selwyn and Pangrazio (2018) draw on critical theorist de Certeau's (1984) distinction between *strategies* and *tactics* in order to refer to practices that respectively reinforce or resist the *status quo*. According to de Certeau (1984), institutional practices of power are an example of *strategies*, while what citizen do to resist their power comes under *tactics*.

internet, including its potential as a tool for campaigning and volunteering, but also as a vehicle for hate speech (Banaji & Buckingham, 2013, pp. 82, 83). Their approach to digital literacy echoes Fry's (2014) proposition that this should include an understanding of the internet's potentials and constraints for civic life. But whether and how critical digital literacy relies on both positive and negative interpretations of the internet has remained under-explored. So has whether such an approach has the potential to challenge polarizing conclusions about users' positive or negative interpretations being respectively beneficial or problematic for their online engagement, as perpetuated by digital inequalities research as well as by educational research inspired by social psychology. Finally, inasmuch as we live in an age where the social is increasingly intertwined with the digital, to address how users understand the digital environment invites reflection on whether and how their critical interpretations intersect with their understanding of the socio-political system. According to Fotopoulou (2014), while feminist activists are motivated by imaginaries of networked feminism based on the internet's potential for freedom and for open data, gaps in their digital skills hinder their civic engagement. Their imaginaries, for Fotopoulou (2014), do not come to represent a dimension of their digital literacy. By contrast, within the critical pedagogy tradition, it is users' critique of the socio-political order that, while not necessarily focused on the internet, is indicative of critical literacy. This tradition, however, has under-explored whether and how users understand the internet in ways that intersect with their critique, which is collapsed into the expectation that it will necessarily lead to progressive action.

### 2.2.4 Research inspired by the New Literacy Studies

The New Literacy Studies refers to a strand of research originating within sociolinguistics, which defines literacy in sociocultural terms as contextually situated practice. This tradition sees "knowledge and literacy practices … primarily … as constructions of particular social groups, rather than attributed to individual cognition alone" (K. A. Mills, 2010, p. 247). On the basis of ethnographic research, the New Literacy Studies has addressed how different communities of practice share and

sustain their knowledge. Its digital strand has largely focused on children's literacy practices mediated by digital technologies within and beyond formal educational settings (K. A. Mills, 2010, pp. 247–248). This strand, however, has generally prioritized users' creative engagement with multimodality, intended as the integration of different media texts, "while along the way learning skills of mastery and critique" (Pangrazio, 2016, p. 167). The idea of literacy as practice subordinates knowing to doing. As a result, the New Literacy Studies has often overemphasized users' creative skills and engagement online over their critical reflections, with little attention to their political participation (e.g., Bulfin & North, 2007; Hartley, McWilliam, Burgess, & Banks, 2008; Jewitt, 2008; Kress, 2003).

By contrast, when research has taken inspiration from the New Literacy Studies in synergy with critical pedagogy, it has approached digital literacy as practice that entails both functional and critical aspects (e.g., Dezuanni, 2018; Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, & Zimmerman, 2016; Livingstone, 2014; McGinnis, Goodstein-Stolzenberg, & Costa Saliani, 2007; Mihailidis & Cohen, 2013). Interested in the social dimension of digital literacy, a few studies, while not always claiming affiliation to either tradition, have researched children's digital skills and knowledge as having both functional and critical connotations. These studies have focused on children's functional digital literacy, with emphasis on their creative skills and understanding of digital affordances, including what video games and social media afford in terms of creating content and interacting with other users (e.g., Dezuanni, 2018; Livingstone, 2014). The concept of digital affordances refers to how digital technologies function and can (or cannot) be used because of their technical features, digital design, interface or the character of networks (Hutchby, 2001). Despite its interest in functional digital literacy, research on digital inequalities has hardly engaged with notions of digital affordances, except for emphasizing the interactional dimension of users' social skills online (e.g., Hsieh, 2012). These studies, by contrast, have addressed whether and how children understand how digital technologies are designed and what they afford in terms of playing, learning and socializing. At the same time, they have also framed children's digital literacy as incorporating critical reflection about media representations and interactions on

social media (e.g., Dezuanni, 2018; Livingstone, 2014). A few other studies, furthermore, have prioritized not just users' digital skills, in relation to creating and sharing multimodal content, but also their critical reflections about the internet's implications for participating in practices of resistance and activism (e.g., Shresthova, 2016b, 2016a).

Sitting between the New Literacy Studies and critical pedagogy, this body of work has expanded how digital literacy can be understood. Nevertheless, despite approaching digital literacy as incorporating functional and critical dimensions, it has hardly examined how these dimensions intersect, and with what implications for digital literacy. Research has prioritized the latter over the former (e.g., Darvin, 2017; Lankshear & Knobel, 2006). A few studies, furthermore, have focused on users' involvement in civic life (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; McGinnis et al., 2007). Given the legacy of critical pedagogy, these studies, however, of which the findings are reviewed later in this subsection, have largely collapsed users' critique into the expectation that this will necessarily be progressive. Promoting such an expectation, Mihailidis (2018) and Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson and Zimmerman (2016, p. 300) have proposed that digital literacy should be based on "civic imagination", which enables users to imagine "alternatives to current social, political or economic conditions". Their proposition is promising for exploring how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement in ways that incorporate knowledge about the internet's potentials and limitations for social change. But while we live in an age that is highly mediated by digital technologies, what has remained silent in the literature is whether and how users understand the internet in ways that intersect with their imaginaries of civic life, that is, with ideas and expectations of the socio-political order.

When it comes to how users develop digital skills and knowledge, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies has argued consistently that social interaction and experience of using digital technologies provide children with opportunities for developing digital literacy in ways that are enhanced by collaborative and creative practices within formal and informal learning environments, from the classroom to

the household (e.g., Bhatt & de Roock, 2013; Bulfin & North, 2007; Drotner, Jensen, & Schrøder, 2008). Barton and Hamilton (2005) have emphasized how the literacy of different segments of society is embedded within power structures based on social interaction that is asymmetrical. This is why it is essential to reflect on "'whose literacies' are dominant and whose are marginalized" (Street, 2001, p. 77). Ultimately, though, the New Literacy Studies has championed social interaction, however asymmetrical, on the grounds that it facilitates active and collaborative learning, both online and offline (e.g., Brown, 2015; Gourlay, Hamilton, & Lea, 2013; Lankshear & Knobel, 2003). Inspired by the New Literacy Studies and by critical pedagogy, Black (2009) has found that teaching school children how to create and share fan-fiction stories online provides them with opportunities to engage critically with popular culture and to produce counter-narratives. Beyond formal education, however, not many studies have focused on informal learning within civic life, understood, as approached in this thesis, as not just community but also political life.

Exceptionally, conducting an ethnography of online communities of young activists, Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al. (2016) have found that these act as "sources of expertise" (Soep, 2016, p. 295). Their "learning is connected" and "experience-based" (Soep, 2016, pp. 293, 295). It involves the production and sharing of digital storytelling, from YouTube videos about migration to social-media commentary debunking Islamophobia (Gamber-Thompson &Zimmerman, 2016; Shresthova, 2016a). According to Jenkins and colleagues, networked engagement underpinned by social interaction and experience in using digital technologies enables young activists to develop digital skills, including first and foremost creative skills, as well as critical reflection about the internet and civic issues (Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016). This is how they learn how to express their opinions online and to criticize multimedia content about the Global South that exacerbates discourses about Western supremacy. In addition, this is how they come to question the effectiveness of online campaigning (Shresthova, 2016b). Research inspired by the New Literacy Studies and by critical pedagogy has addressed not only how users develop but also how they deploy digital literacy, from creative skills to critical reflection on mainstream media, often through blogging or digital storytelling (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; McGinnis et al., 2007). As argued by Jenkins and Shresthova (2016), the internet enables activists to "reimagine the civic [in ways] that allow for diverse voices to be heard" (p. 255). Gamber-Thompson (2016) has found that young libertarians in the US produce and share videos on YouTube in order to voice "their displeasure with the political status quo" (p. 219). Her work, nevertheless, does not address whether or how they understand the potential of the internet in ways that intersect with their own imaginaries of and involvement in civic life. Exceptionally, Shresthova (2016a) has found that American Muslim activists deploy their knowledge about the internet in order to engage both in storytelling and in self-censorship in the face of surveillance, resulting, respectively, in increased or decreased activism. According to McGinnis et al. (2007), young people use blogging to negotiate their identities in opposition to conservative stereotypes. Shresthova (2016a) suggests that they are motivated by an imaginary of a progressive America devoid of stereotypes. Her analysis, however, leaves unanswered whether and how their understanding of the internet is blended with such an imaginary.

In short, when influenced by critical pedagogy, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies has focused on users' creative skills and engagement online, as well as on critical reflection in the context of their civic practices. At the same time, this body of work has under-explored whether and how their practices have implications for how we can understand digital literacy as functional and critical. In addition, it has largely approached users' critique as inherently progressive. It has only occasionally interrogated their understanding of the internet's potential for civic life. And despite its emphasis on civic imagination, it has under-researched whether and how their understanding intersects with their imaginaries of civic life.

#### 2.2.5 Information science and librarianship studies

This strand of research has focused on information literacy, approached as the ability to access, "locate, evaluate, organize and effectively create, use and communicate information" (Information Literacy Meeting of Experts, 2003, p. 1). In addition, it has focused on the role of librarians as information experts (e.g., Pressley & Gilbertson, 2011; Widdowson & Smart, 2015). The advent of the internet has led to an overlap of information literacy and media literacy, along with a convergence of information science and media studies (Livingstone, Van Couvering, & Thumim, 2008). This is exemplified by UNESCO's (2014) adoption of the term media and information literacy (MIL), based on the recognition that the "digital environment is deeply affecting the meaning and use of information" (p. 1). But while media studies has approached media literacy by borrowing from multiple traditions and epistemologies, information science, rooted more rigidly in computer science and psychology, has approached information literacy predominantly as a cognitive phenomenon that transcends social context (e.g., Macpherson, 2013; Wichowski & Kohl, 2013). Leaving aside exceptions that have emphasized the social dimension of information literacy (e.g., Meyers, Erickson, & Small, 2013), information science and librarianship studies, as criticized by a few scholars within this tradition (e.g., Elmborg, 2006; J. Martin, 2013), have largely framed information literacy in terms of individual skills which, once learned, can be transferred from one context to another.

The concept of information literacy is an overarching one because it refers to all information, mediated or not. When it comes to the internet, this tradition has addressed how users engage practically with and evaluate online content. A few studies have argued that deploying information navigation skills to search for and compare information from multiple sources is valuable for assessing trustworthiness (e.g., Goad, 2002; Weiner, 2011). The question of whether and how functional digital skills can be deployed to evaluate online content is important for understanding what digital literacy consists of. These studies, however, have paid little attention to whether and how the practice of using multiple sources lies at the intersection of

functional and critical digital literacy, or to what implications this holds for digital literacy.

This tradition, furthermore, has generally under-researched the critical dimension of digital literacy as including knowledge about the digital environment, beyond the ability to evaluate online content. The CRAAP test, for instance, which is popular within this strand of research, suggests that information should be evaluated in relation to its currency, relevance, authority, accuracy and purpose (Lewis, 2018; Wichowski & Kohl, 2013). Similarly, the 5Ws model, which is used to teach information literacy, encourages students to reflect on the author behind a source (*who*), on *what* the source is about, *when* it was produced, *where* it is from and *why* it may be useful (e.g., LeMire & Trott, 2016). These frameworks are used for evaluating information, online and offline. Nevertheless, they do not include questions about the broader digital environment within which online content circulates – that is, questions about the political economy of the internet, including how internet corporations operate, along with its potential and limitations for society.

Exceptionally, a few studies within this tradition have focused on copyright literacy, with emphasis on the importance for librarians, researchers, educators and students of understanding both the law and the ethics that underpin how information is created, disseminated, consumed and shared in the digital age (e.g., Secker & Morrison, 2010). Despite under-researching digital literacy as both functional and critical, a few others have argued that it is essential for users to understand search-engine algorithms and to engage with information beyond their own filter bubbles, which result from how internet corporations operate (e.g., Dillahunt, Brooks, & Gulati, 2015; Johnson, Edmundson-Bird, & Keegan, 2012; Spratt & Agosto, 2017; Valentine & Wukovitz, 2013).<sup>11</sup> Indeed, according to Gregory and Higgins (2013), information literacy in the digital age should include reflection on "the social, political, economic, and corporate systems [...behind] information" (p. 4). As a whole, nevertheless, research inspired by information science and librarianship studies has largely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See p. 21 for details of what the term filter bubble refers to.

prioritized the issue of whether users engage practically or critically with online content, paying little attention to whether and how they understand the digital environment or whether and how such an understanding requires both functional and critical knowledge about the internet.

When it comes to how users develop information literacy, research inspired by information science and librarianship studies has generally focused more on formal than on informal learning. This body of work has emphasized three kinds of formal training: 1) the training in information literacy, when available, provided by librarians for students through school and university programmes, which may be extracurricular or integrated into the curriculum (e.g., K. Anderson & May, 2010; Herring, 2011; Ivey, 2013; Moselen & Wang, 2014); 2) the training that librarians need in order to develop and teach information and copyright literacy (e.g., Ishimura & Bartlett, 2014; Secker & Morrison, 2010, pp. 211–238; L. Wang & Cook, 2017); and 3) the training in information literacy, when available, that public libraries offer to different segments of society (e.g., Harding, 2008; Julien & Hoffman, 2008; McDonald, 2015). Public libraries operate as part of the civic fabric of our societies, which is why their training is an example of how civic engagement at the community level provides opportunities for learning digital literacy. But, while research has emphasized the fact that librarians are equipped to teach functional and critical digital skills (e.g., Widdowson & Smart, 2015), public libraries in the West and beyond suffer from funding cuts, which limit these opportunities (Ryan & Cole, 2016). In addition, as argued earlier in this chapter, they tend to tackle digital inequalities by prioritizing a type of training for vulnerable groups that is more functional than critical, including how to search for jobs and apply for social benefits (e.g., Dudziak, 2007; Jaeger, Bertot, Thompson, Katz, & DeCoster, 2012).

Besides training, research in this tradition has argued that social interaction within environments like the household or workplace is beneficial for informally gaining digital literacy (e.g., Meyers et al., 2013). This kind of research has emphasized the importance of social context, moving away from understanding information literacy individualistically. However, even though social interaction, as discussed above, applies to multiple domains of social life, less is known within this tradition about whether and how it facilitates users' development of digital literacy specifically in the context of their civic engagement.

Finally, as to whether and how information literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement, a body of work within information science and librarianship studies has approached information literacy as a crucial condition for citizenship, understood as the relationship between individuals and communities and the broader socio-political context. The new definition of information literacy proposed (2018) by the Chartered Institute of Library and Information Professionals (CILIP) in the UK, resonates with such an approach in that it recognizes the relevance of information literacy for making informed decisions as well as for "engag[ing] fully in society" (p. 3). Similarly, Secker and Coonan (2011) have argued that the social dimension of information literacy requires citizens to make informed decisions on the basis of understanding the ethical and political implications of information. Ultimately, and along these lines, a strand that is rather dominant has drawn on critical pedagogy to frame *critical information literacy* as the ability to evaluate information bias, prejudice and trustworthiness, which is essential to the questioning of power and authority (e.g., Cope, 2010; Correia, 2002; Elmborg, 2006; Gregory & Higgins, 2013; Jacobs & Berg, 2011).

According to this strand of research, such an ability is crucial to deconstructing dominant power relations in ways that facilitate social justice. As argued by Tewell (2018), "critical information literacy [...refers to] a way of thinking ... that examines the social construction and political dimensions of ... information" (p. 10). A few years ago, the information literacy framework developed by the Association of College and Research Libraries (ACRL) was revised in order to place more emphasis on the link between critical information literacy and social justice (Foasberg, 2015). From this perspective, librarians have the potential to promote democratic values, from intellectual freedom to access to knowledge. Their role, as a result, can be understood as that not just of information experts, but also of advocates of social change, with emphasis on how they can support political education in school as well as copyright reforms at the intersection of public and private interests (Secker, Morrison, &

Nilsson, 2019; L. N. Smith, 2016). As argued above, however, leaving exceptions aside (e.g., Gregory & Higgins, 2013; Secker & Morrison, 2016), research on information literacy has rarely approached its critical dimension as including knowledge about the production and consumption processes behind information online, along with the internet's implications for civic life. Given the influence of critical pedagogy, this body of work, furthermore, has advocated its potential for facilitating social justice and democracy as being inherently left-wing and progressive. As a result, it has paid little attention to whether and how critical information literacy can be deployed in ways that intersect with different ideologies.

## 2.2.6 Research on human-computer interaction

Like information science research, research on human-computer interaction is rooted in computer science and psychology. Interested in the materiality of digital technologies, this body of work has largely prioritized questions about their *usability*, that is, how easy they are to use as a result of how their technical features are designed (Railean, 2017, pp. 69–70). In so doing, research on human-computer interaction has largely approached digital literacy in cognitive terms, with little attention to the social context, in order to explore how users – both children and adults – interact with digital technologies. While not always claiming affiliation to this tradition, research interested in this kind of interaction has often employed cognitive methods like the think aloud protocol to ask participants to verbalize their thoughts and actions while or after performing different tasks, from navigating websites to using digital technologies to read or write (e.g., Cardullo, Zygouris-Coe, Wilson, Craanen, & Stafford, 2012; Dalton & Proctor, 2007; Gilbert, 2014; Kodagoda & Wong, 2008; Zarcadoolas, Blanco, Boyer, & Pleasant, 2002).

As with research on digital inequalities, this tradition has been particularly interested in functional rather than critical aspects of digital literacy. Research has focused primarily on users' digital skills, including their information-navigation and creative skills (e.g., Alkali & Amichai-Hamburger, 2004; Feufel & Stahl, 2012; Marchionini,

2006). Although to a lesser extent, a few studies have also investigated users' dispositions towards the internet in relation, for instance, to its usefulness for working and communicating with others (e.g., Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015). Given their emphasis on the materiality of digital technologies, a large number of studies, furthermore, have explored how users understand and experience digital affordances, often in relation to digital design and interface (e.g., Hayes, Carr, & Wohn, 2016; Nagy & Neff, 2015; D. Smith, Brand, & Kinash, 2013; Vyas, Chisalita, & van der Veer, 2006; Zhao, Liu, Tang, & Zhu, 2013).<sup>12</sup> Finally, while research on human-computer interaction has generally prioritized functional digital literacy, research on e-learning within this tradition has addressed the critical dimension of digital literacy, with emphasis on how students evaluate online content (e.g., Damico & Baildon, 2007; Greene, Yu, & Copeland, 2014; Kiili, Laurinen, & Marttunen, 2008; Lévesque, Ng-A-Fook, & Corrigan, 2014; Messenger, 2013).

As with research on information literacy, Damico and Baildon (2007) have approached the ability to evaluate online content as incorporating reflections on the source, author and target audience of information. Using the think aloud method to explore how students use digital technologies, they have emphasized the role of pre-existing knowledge in assessing the trustworthiness of information. At the same time, they have drawn on critical pedagogy to stress that information serves particular interests, arguing that students assess the reliability of websites by "cross-check[ing] claims and evidence from other websites and sources" (p. 256). Their work suggests that information navigation skills are useful for evaluating online content. But rather than tracing systematically whether and how functional digital literacy intersects with critical digital literacy, research on human-computer interaction that is interested in elearning, similarly to research in information science and librarianship studies, has under-explored the relationship between these. Furthermore, it has examined users' ability to evaluate online content in isolation from their understanding of the digital environment where information circulates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> As defined earlier in this chapter, the notion of digital affordances refers to how digital technologies can (or cannot) be used as a result of their technical features, digital design, interface or the character of networks.

When it comes to how users develop digital literacy, this strand of research has focused on experiential learning, but often in the context of formal education. More specifically, research has emphasized the importance of gaining experience with digital technologies, through interacting with these technologies within training settings, for acquiring functional digital skills and knowledge – from operational and creative skills to knowledge about coding and digital design (e.g., Angros, Johnson, Rickel, & Scholer, 2002; Rogalski & Samurçay, 1990; Yantaç, 2013). A few studies, furthermore, have approached digital literacy in terms beyond the cognitive in order to interrogate the potential of social interaction in the classroom for acquiring digital skills, including operational and social skills (e.g., Barker, van Schaik, & Hudson, 1998; Nunes et al., 2015). Bhatt and de Roock (2013), for instance, have drawn on the New Literacy Studies to emphasize how students learn to use digital technologies, and what these afford for writing, through interaction with classmates and teachers. Beyond formal education, however, less is known within this tradition about whether civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy.

Furthermore, research on human-computer interaction has under-explored whether digital literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement. More specifically, research has argued that users' digital skills and understanding of digital affordances enable them to use the technical properties of these, but with little attention to their use in civic practices (e.g., Nagy & Neff, 2015; Zhao et al., 2013). This is not surprising, since this tradition is concerned primarily with the implications of how users deploy digital skills and knowledge not for participating in society but for usability purposes. Similarly to research on digital inequalities and to educational research inspired by social psychology, research within this tradition has emphasized how users' positive or negative dispositions towards the internet respectively facilitate or undermine their online engagement in the context of working and communicating with others (e.g., Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015). Exceptionally, a few studies have focused on how users engage with government websites and e-voting technologies (e.g., MacNamara, Carmody, Oakley, & Quane, 2010; Oostveen & van den Besselaar, 2004a, 2004b). These studies, however, have been more interested in what users think about

usability than in how they deploy digital skills and knowledge in ways that may be relevant to their civic engagement. Aleixo, Nunes and Isaias (2012) have argued that users' digital skills, including operational and information navigation skills, depend on the interface of government websites, and how easy to use and secure these are. Their work suggests that digital literacy is constrained by levels of usability beyond one's own competences. Nevertheless, whether and how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement has remained largely silent within this tradition.

# 2.2.7 Policy research on media literacy

This body of work consists of national and international policy research on media literacy, including cross-comparative research in Europe and worldwide (e.g., Frau-Meigs & Torrent, 2009; Frau-Meigs, Velez, & Michel, 2017). Interested in promoting media literacy and in mapping policies and initiatives, this tradition has largely adopted UNESCO's definition of *media and information literacy* (MIL), which frames its cognitive dimension as contextually situated. As stated by UNESCO (2014), MIL refers to "21st century literacy practices [...based on] knowledge, skills and critical attitudes to information [and] culture [..., which enable] people to access, create and innovate" (p. 3).

As discussed above, the digital inequalities tradition includes research on the policy implications of promoting digital literacy as predominantly functional. By contrast, this strand of research has juxtaposed media literacy with digital literacy, with the latter having a pejorative connotation (Frau-Meigs, Velez, & Michel, 2017a, pp. 74–75). More specifically, research within this tradition has found that digital literacy is often supported by ministries of economics and telecommunications across Europe in ways that encourage the private sector to promote functional digital skills and knowledge in order to boost employment and the economy. Media literacy, by contrast, is supported by ministries of education and culture, which prioritize the critical skills and knowledge about the media that citizens need in order to participate in society (Frau-Meigs et al., 2017a). For countries like Austria, these include the ability to evaluate

online content as well as knowledge about the broader digital environment, including how information is produced and consumed online (Frau-Meigs et al., 2017a, pp. 36, 101).

Interested in promoting media literacy, this body of work has often been more about how users, both children and adults, develop than about how they deploy media literacy. To reach adults, however, is challenging, since most are no longer in school (Bulger & Davidson, 2018, p. 7; Livingstone, 2011). Policy research and interventions have focused on how to promote children's media literacy through the education system, national curricula and teaching resources (e.g., McDougall & Livingstone, 2014; National Literacy Trust, 2018). When it comes to adults, this body of work has emphasized that civil society organizations and traditional media have the potential to promote both formal and informal learning opportunities.<sup>13</sup> These opportunities, which exemplify how the involvement of such organizations and media outlets in civic life can facilitate the development of media literacy, may consist of informally raising awareness about the media through 1) media activism; 2) traditional media, like the BBC, that provide educational campaigns and resources; and 3) formal training provided by civil society organizations (e.g., del Mar Grandío, Dilli, & O'Neill, 2017, p. 124; Livingstone, 2011; McDougall, Turkoglu, & Kanižaj, 2017).

Examples of media activism promoting media literacy are captured in the work of organizations like Internet Matters (2019) and 5Rights (2019), which campaign for and provide resources on internet safety and digital rights in order to raise awareness among the public about the internet. Indeed, policy research on media literacy has argued that media activism is valuable for reaching the adult population, as are traditional media outlets (e.g., del Mar Grandío et al., 2017, p. 124; Jeong et al., 2009, p. 112; Livingstone, 2011; O'Neill, 2014). For example, "in Ireland the community media movement has been an important actor in promoting media literacy" by encouraging local communities to gain awareness of the media system and to produce their own media content (del Mar Grandío et al., 2017, p. 124). The Irish media,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Chapter 1, p. 18, for this study's definition of civil society.

furthermore, have "target[ed] media literacy education as a recognized topic of broadcast content" (p. 124). This is exemplified by Ireland's 2019 Be Media Smart public awareness campaign, launched by the civil society organization Media Literacy Ireland together with the Broadcasting Authority of Ireland. Supported by a number of actors, including libraries, this campaign was designed to enhance Irish people's understanding of the media, particularly in relation to online misinformation (Russell, 2019).

Furthermore, besides raising awareness about the media through campaigning, "civil society associations and NGOs [have the potential to] foster MIL ... training" for the general public (UNESCO, 2014, p. 6). Nevertheless, while training can in principle reach different adult populations, policy research on media literacy has prioritized *de facto* the training of media educators, given their role in promoting children's media literacy via formal education (e.g., McDougall, Turkoglu, & Kanižaj, 2017). The English and Media Centre, for example, is a UK charity which, besides lobbying, provides media studies teachers with training and support (McDougall & Livingstone, 2014, p. 24). Teachers, however, are only a small segment of the population, which makes this kind of training ineffective at reaching most adults.

Finally, as to why it is important to promote media literacy, policy research and interventions have often emphasized the fact that this matters for civic engagement. Research has found that policies in countries like France and Austria frame media literacy as "essential for the production of reflective, active and democratic citizens" (Trültzsch-Wijnen, Murru, & Papaioannou, 2017, p. 103). In Hungary, "'media awareness' ... is aimed at enabling pupils to become responsible participants in a global and mediated public sphere, and to take an active part in a 'participatory culture of democracy'" (Trültzsch-Wijnen et al., 2017, p. 103). On the one hand, this body of work has argued that media literacy benefits democracy. On the other hand, it has under-researched what skills and knowledge citizens need in order to engage with the media, depending on how democracy may be understood within different contexts. Finally, as mentioned above, this tradition has warned against promoting digital over media literacy. This is sensible in terms of encouraging democratic

participation, given how digital literacy is often framed at the policy level. But, in so doing, media policy research has perpetuated a binary understanding of functional versus critical digital literacy, while under-exploring how these intersect.

### 2.3 Gaps in and Limitations of Media Literacy Research: A Recap

The section above has reviewed different traditions of media literacy research in order to address what has been achieved, and with what gaps and limitations, with regard to the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. Here is a summary of what stood out when reviewing the literature, with links between the different traditions:

- Media literacy research has prioritized children over adults. A few traditions have focused on both i.e., research on digital inequalities, research inspired by information science and librarianship studies, research on human-computer interaction, and policy research on media literacy. This, however, does not apply to educational research inspired by social psychology, to research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies, or to research inspired by the New Literacy Studies.
- (ii) Media literacy research has under-explored how functional digital literacy intersects with critical digital literacy. On the one hand, we have research that has focused more on functional than on critical digital skills and knowledge, e.g., research on digital inequalities, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies and research on human-computer interaction. On the other hand, we have research that has focused on users' ability to evaluate online content, but often in isolation from their knowledge about the digital environment, e.g., educational research inspired by social psychology and research inspired by information science and librarianship studies. Occasionally, research inspired by critical pedagogy and at its intersection with the New Literacy Studies has placed emphasis on users' understanding of internet corporations along with the internet's potentials

and limitations for civic life. But as with policy research on media literacy, this body of work has generally subordinated functional to critical digital literacy. It has under-explored the latter where this relies on understanding both the potential and the limitations of the internet. And it has underresearched whether and how users' understanding of the internet intersects with their imaginaries of civic life, that is, with their understanding and expectations of the socio-political system.

(iii) When it comes to how users develop digital literacy, media literacy research has either prioritized formal education, e.g., educational research inspired by social psychology, research inspired by critical pedagogy, policy research on media literacy, or it has also focused on informal learning, e.g., research on digital inequalities, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies, research inspired by information science and librarianship studies. Only occasionally, however, has research addressed formal and/or informal learning in the context of users' civic engagement, understood, as approached here, as their involvement not just in community but also in political life. Exceptions include research at the intersection of the New Literacy Studies and critical pedagogy, and policy research on media literacy. The former has emphasized the importance of learning digital literacy informally through social interaction and experience while using digital technologies within civic life. The latter has argued that media activism, traditional media and formal training provided by civil society organizations have the potential to promote media literacy. This body of work, however, has under-researched whether and how civil society organizations provide formal training in media literacy for different adult populations beyond the reach of media educators. By contrast, studies on digital inequalities as well as research inspired by information science and librarianship studies have focused on the digital training provided by public libraries and community centres for different populations. This kind of training, however, is generally more functional than critical.

(iv) Media literacy research has argued consistently that digital literacy facilitates civic engagement. But while educational research inspired by social psychology has found that news literacy, in particular, does not necessarily correspond to civic engagement, research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies has emphasized that critical literacy enables users to challenge dominant media representations, online and offline, as well as to produce alternative media. This strand of research, however, has largely approached critical literacy as leading intrinsically to social action underpinned by left-wing or progressive values, leaving little room for different ideologies. Given the legacy of critical pedagogy, the same applies to research at its intersection with the New Literacy Studies, which has focused on digital storytelling, as well as to research inspired by information science and librarianship studies, which has framed critical information literacy as promoting social justice. Despite using different terminologies, media literacy research has argued that the critical dimension of digital literacy, based primarily on evaluating online content, benefits democracy, e.g., research inspired by critical pedagogy and policy research on media literacy. But since the notion of democracy has been approached rather monolithically, what has remained obscure is whether and how the digital skills and knowledge required to participate in democracy vary depending on how the latter is understood. Finally, media literacy research has under-explored whether and how users participate in civic life by deploying knowledge about the internet's civic potentials and limitations. A few studies have polarized users' positive or negative interpretations of the internet as leading respectively to online engagement or disengagement. But, except for research inspired by the New Literacy Studies and by critical pedagogy, these studies have prioritized users' understanding of the internet in individualistic terms and beyond civic life, with emphasis on functional rather than critical digital literacy, i.e., research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology, research on human-computer interaction.

## **2.4 Conclusions**

This chapter offers a critical review of media literacy research on digital literacy and its intersection with civic engagement. The literature is synthesized under different traditions, which include research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology, research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies, the New Literacy Studies, information science and librarianship studies, research on human-computer interaction, and policy research on media literacy.

While media literacy research is messy and diverse, what is clear from reviewing the literature is that whether and how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement depends on how digital literacy is understood. This chapter has argued that the different traditions of media literacy research have prioritized different aspects of digital literacy. As discussed above, some of these traditions have under-explored its intersection with civic engagement. Others, by contrast, have researched such an intersection by focusing narrowly on functional or critical skills and knowledge about the internet, approaching the critical dimension of digital literacy as operating restrictively in the service of progressive ideologies and with limited attention to users' understanding of the digital environment. Given the gaps in and limitations of media literacy research, how should digital literacy be approached in order to facilitate richer analysis of its intersection with civic engagement? Finally, beyond media literacy research, what can be gained by drawing on different literatures, including political research? The next chapter addresses these questions, providing a new conceptualization of digital literacy.

Chapter 3 – Digital literacy and civic engagement: A new theoretical approach

## **3.1 Introduction**

Chapter 2 has reviewed media literacy research on the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement, with emphasis on how different traditions have approached digital literacy, and with what gaps and limitations. Now it is time to introduce how this thesis conceptualizes digital literacy. This chapter argues that, in order to facilitate richer analysis of whether and how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement, a novel approach to digital literacy as both functional and critical is necessary, where critical digital literacy is conceptualized as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age.

Section 3.2 below starts by laying the foundation of why and how this thesis approaches digital literacy, drawing on media literacy research, as reviewed in the previous chapter. It then draws on utopian studies and political theory to conceptualize critical digital literacy in ways that are grounded in utopian thinking, framed as relying on both utopianism and dystopianism. After discussing the benefits and implications of conceiving of critical digital literacy in this way, section 3.3 introduces the conceptual rationale of this thesis for focusing on experts and advocates, reviewing further literature beyond media literacy research. Finally, section 3.4 presents the study's key concepts and research questions.

## **3.2 Digital Literacy as Functional and Critical**

As argued in Chapter 2, on the one hand, traditions like research on human-computer interaction have largely approached digital literacy as embedded within individual cognitive processes, with little attention to the social context (e.g., Railean, 2017). On

the other hand, traditions like the New Literacy Studies have been more interested in how digital literacy is contextually developed and deployed at the collective level, resisting the idea that it resides primarily within the individual (K. A. Mills, 2010). Seeking ontological common ground, this study is interested in the cognitive dimension of digital literacy as a phenomenon that is contextually situated and is both individual and collective.<sup>14</sup> Such an approach to digital literacy resonates with cognitive sociology. This strand of research understands cognition as socially constructed, but draws on cognitive psychology in order to study its complexities and to argue that culture exists not just at the collective level but also within cognitive processes (DiMaggio, 1997). Unlike social psychology, cognitive sociology "resist[s] efforts to portray culture as the aggregate of individual subjectivities" (DiMaggio, 1997, p. 266). But it "does not run counter to the psychological focus of cognition" (Miller, 2014, p. 3). It is interested in how people think as social beings who belong to communities, but also in the micro-foundations of their thinking (e.g., Bouvier, 2007; Zerubavel, 1999).

With this in mind, since the different traditions of media literacy research have often prioritized either the functional or the critical dimension of digital literacy, focusing on different aspects, this thesis argues that a novel approach to digital literacy is necessary. In order to analyse more fruitfully its intersection with civic engagement, digital literacy needs to be approached more comprehensively as incorporating functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet that are contextually situated. As a result, functional digital literacy is understood here not just as digital skills and general dispositions towards the internet – as largely approached by research on digital inequalities (e.g., Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017; van Deursen et al., 2015) – but also as knowledge of digital affordances, as emphasized by research on human-computer interaction as well as by research inspired by the New Literacy Studies (e.g., Dezuanni, 2018; D. Smith et al., 2013). Critical digital literacy, rather, is understood here as the ability to evaluate online content as well as knowledge about

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Refer to pp. 86-87 for what this means in relation to how this study focuses on experts and advocates exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement.

the digital environment. The latter incorporates knowledge about the political economy of the internet, including how internet corporations operate, along with the potentials and limitations of the internet for civic life, as approached by research inspired by critical pedagogy and at its intersection with the New Literacy Studies (e.g., Banaji & Buckingham, 2013; Buckingham, 2007a; Fry, 2014; Shresthova, 2016a).

Media literacy research, however, given the legacy of critical pedagogy, has largely, and restrictively, understood users' critique as inherently progressive. Furthermore, inspired by the New Literacy Studies, a few studies have argued that digital literacy should be based on civic imagination, which is crucial for imagining socio-political alternatives (i.e., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Mihailidis, 2018). Nevertheless, what has remained silent in the literature is whether and how users understand both the internet's potentials and its limitations in ways that are blended with different imaginaries of civic life, and in line with different ideologies. To overcome these limitations of media literacy research, this chapter turns to utopian studies and political theory. Section 3.2.1 frames utopian thinking as a form of imagination which, rooted in realism, relies on both utopianism and dystopianism. Section 3.2.2 conceptualizes, and discusses the benefits and implications of conceptualizing, critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age.

# 3.2.1 Utopian thinking: A dialectical approach

Utopian studies and philosophy represent an interdisciplinary strand of research that identifies and analyses utopian forms, content and functions by drawing on science-fiction literature, political theory, Marxism and postmodernism (Levitas, 2010, pp. 6, 179). Utopianism consists of ideas that produce utopia, a term coined in 1516 by Sir Thomas More when he published *Utopia*, which deals with a fictional island and its perfect society. By Latinizing two Greek compounds – *ou* (not) and *topos* (place), and *eu* (good) and *topos* (place) – More coined this term to refer ambiguously to what is both a non-place and a good place (Vieira, 2010). Dystopia, meanwhile, refers to a

fictitious, abhorrent socio-political world. It is believed to derive from the Greek prefix *dys*, meaning bad, dysfunctional, or from *Dis*, the underworld of the dead according to Greek mythology (Ransom, 2009).

Defining the perfect society is subjective, which is why no binary opposition should be established between utopia and dystopia – one person's utopia may be another's dystopia (Segal, 2012, p. 5). No binary opposition, furthermore, should be established because of the role of dystopianism in shaping utopianism. Indeed, the function of utopian thinking can be approached as twofold: 1) raising awareness through critique of the dystopian implications of the present, while 2) projecting utopian elements into the future (Shor, 2010, p. 125). Utopian thinking enables us to critique the present and to envision social change. As argued by Shor (2010), the probing of "utopian moments of building another world ... requires some understanding of the dystopian elements of this and future worlds. In order to comprehend the utopian/dystopian dialectic, one needs to define that dialectic in ways that underscore [...its] fictive and real nature" (p. 124).

The notion of dialectical thinking, which dates back to Hegelian theory, refers to a process of reasoning whereby opposing ideas – thesis and antithesis – are negotiated as synthesis (Maybee, 2016). Whereas Harvey's (2000) dialectical utopianism is based on the interdependence of an alternative space and time, for post-structuralist Marin (1990) it relies on imagination and realism, which is why utopian thinking requires the creation of a "timeless no-place" where contemporary socio-political forces are "critical[ly] examin[ed]" (p. xxiv). Similarly, as argued by Marxist political theorist Fredric Jameson (2005), "utopian space is an imaginary enclave within real social space" where tensions are played against each other in a "negative dialectic" (pp. 15, 180). This dialectic prescribes that utopian thinking relies on both utopianism and dystopianism, provided these are not pacified but in a state of conflict.

In order to facilitate social change, utopian thinking needs to be political and ideological. Utopian/dystopian configurations of utopian thinking include antiutopianism, critical utopianism and critical dystopianism. Anti-utopianism is based on the rejection, and reframing as dystopianism, of a type of utopianism that reproduces dominant power relations (Jameson, 2005, p. 199; Sargent, 1994, p. 9). Critical utopianism was theorized in the 1970s as referring to optimism about civil rights, antiwar and environmental movements. It consists of "ideological critique ... and social dreaming/planning" when faced with the dystopian limitations of the present (Moylan, 2000, p. 82; Sargent, 1994, p. 9). Finally, theorized in the 1980s and 1990s as scepticism about neoliberal politics, critical dystopianism emerges when a utopian alternative is carved out of a dystopia (Jameson, 2005, p. 198; Sargent, 2001, p. 222).

Besides shaping discussions of ideology and utopia, Marxism has influenced how utopian thinking can be expected to guide action and social change. Marx's dialectical materialism exemplifies how the utopian/dystopian dialectic serves the political project of overturning capitalism. Dialectical materialism refers to a method of dialectical reasoning that understands sociality as developing through material conditions, and that aspires to overcome power asymmetries through action against the *status quo* (Edgley, 1990). Whereas anti-utopianism is often equated with rejection of left-wing utopianism, Marxism has underpinned forms of critical utopianism and critical dystopianism that oppose capitalism, ecological degradation and patriarchal society (Jameson, 2005, p. 199; Levitas & Sargisson, 2003, p. 15; Moylan, 2000, p. 82).

Levitas (2010) has built on Bloch's (1995) approach to utopia as hope in order to argue that social change results from combining desire with action. But, while Marxism assumes a link between utopian thinking and action, the former does not intrinsically lead to the latter (Levitas, 2010, p. 200). Notions of action and social change, furthermore, can vary, even within the Marxist tradition. Given the failure of the socialist revolution in the West, Western Marxism, unlike orthodox Marxism, is not as concerned with the utopian project of liberating the working class from capitalism by empowering them to control the state (P. Anderson, 1979). Central to critical theory, critical pedagogy and cultural studies, this underpins work on hope and utopia that has understood radical action as multifaceted. While Bloch (1995) echoes orthodox Marxism in his "apocalyptic" alienation from society, defined as a condition for overturning capitalism through socio-political radicalism (Gunn, 1987, p. 93), Giroux (2004) defines "radical hope" as "a pedagogical ... practice [that turns citizens into...] civic agents" (p. 38). For Giroux, "educated hope" is a "utopian longing" that operates as a "subversive force [that...] evok[es...] different futures" (Giroux, 2004, pp. 38–39). This form of utopianism, however, does not necessarily reject capitalism. Rather, it aligns with a vision of "radical [socialist] democracy", which "expand[s] the possibilities for social justice" through institutional and non-institutional politics (Kincheloe, McLaren, & Steinberg, 1997, p. ix). Similarly, for Raymond Williams (1980), utopian thinking and its connection with reality rely on cultural creativity that enables left-wing possibilities for social justice to be imagined (p. 198; Milner, 2016, pp. 418, 427).

Even though the field of utopian studies is indebted to Marxism, "utopias are not the monopoly of the Left" (Levitas, 2010, p. 214). There are left-wing utopias that reject power imbalances. But we also have "utopias of the dominant classes in society" that, however different in content or purpose, operate through a utopian/dystopian dialectic (p. 214). Neoliberal utopianism, for instance, projects a utopia of individual economic freedom and equality, framing taxation and bureaucracy as dystopian limitations. We can portray the neoliberal utopia as a dystopia, but "there is no doubt that [...it promotes] an image of a desired society" (Levitas, 2010, pp. 215, 216, 218). And so does conservatism, which projects a utopia of "preservation ..., loyalty to the state ..., defence, order, [and] centralized power" (p. 218).

Insofar as utopianism varies in its socio-political purpose, conceiving "of the utopist as a radical revolutionary is problematic" (Morgan, 2015, p. 107). Ideologies, furthermore, are not fixed systems of ideas but can overlap (Therbon, 1980, p. vii). The goals of democratic welfare socialism and of sustainable development, for example, transcend conventional Left/Right politics. They operate through a utopian/dystopian dialectic based on critiquing social inequalities and environmental degradation while projecting hope for social justice and global sustainability. They coexist with capitalism and liberal democracy, relying on policy reforms and

institutions to promote social change (Morgan, 2015, pp. 115, 118). In short, the utopian/dystopian dialectic underpins the functioning of different ideologies that potentially, but not inherently, guide participation in society. The latter can be institutional or non-institutional, including voting for policy reforms as well as participating in resistance and activism.

## 3.2.2 Conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking

How can media literacy theory and research benefit from utopian studies and political theory? This section argues that conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking, as framed above, facilitates richer analysis of its intersection with civic engagement. Before discussing this further, it is worth examining the intersection of media studies and utopian studies. A dialectical approach to utopianism/dystopianism can help us to understand hopes and concerns that reflect different discourses about the internet's potential and limitations for civic life. As discussed in Chapter 1, the internet contributes, for instance, to decentralization of power, to deliberative democracy and to the political participation of marginalized groups. But it also facilitates political repression, surveillance and misinformation (Enjolras, Steen-Johnsen, & Wollebaek, 2013; McChesney, 2013; Oxley, 2012).

Indeed, media scholars have employed notions of utopia and dystopia to address, for example, the potential of a digital commons to challenge online commodification and surveillance (e.g., Frodsham, 2012; Loustau & Davis, 2012). In addition, given the ideological connotations of utopian thinking, discussions of utopianism and the internet are often coupled with discussions of ideology. Mejias (2012) has emphasized how euphoria about the use of Twitter during the Arab Spring served as a utopian discourse diverting attention in the West from capitalism's deepening of social inequalities. Similarly, according to O'Dwyer and Doyle (2012), digital capitalism represents, because of the structure of the digital environment, a form of utopianism that exacerbates inequalities. Barbrook (2007) has criticized the so-called internet gift economy, which promotes online sharing in synergy with capitalism. In addition, Turner (2006) has argued that cyberlibertarianism, which is a form of utopianism promoting minimal internet regulation since the 1990s (Dahlberg, 2010), draws on progressive principles appropriated by Silicon Valley entrepreneurship. Cyberlibertarianism promotes liberal values rooted in the countercultural movements. But it "turned away from political struggle and toward social and economic spheres ... to launch social change" (Turner, 2006, p. 244).

Contemporary utopian and dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age perpetuate the idea that information facilitates both *freedom* and *control* (Cohen, 2012, p. 12). The internet is expected to promote economic and political freedom, which echoes cyberlibertarianism, but also utopianism in relation to citizens' participation in opposition to coercion and injustice. By contrast, a vision of information as control underpins the expectation that citizen welfare, financial profitability and collective security will necessitate internet regulation and surveillance. At the same time this vision legitimizes internet-based control and coercion, thereby undermining freedom and social justice (Mansell, 2017).

While media research intersecting with utopian studies has focused predominantly on the political economy of the internet, the question of how internet users deploy utopian thinking to understand society in the digital age is under-explored. And so is whether and how they deploy utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in order to engage civically. Beyond media literacy research, a few media studies on social movements have argued that digital utopianism guides internet-mediated activism (e.g., Postill, 2014; Treré, 2019; A. White, 2012; Wilken, 2012). But media literacy research has under-explored the benefits of drawing on utopian studies. The subsections below discuss this further, establishing connections with political research.<sup>15</sup> I theorize here that conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating users' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age enables us to: 1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> As we see below, this includes research on institutional politics, which is concerned with participation in formal and electoral politics, as well as research on non-institutional politics, which deals with social movements, activism and resistance.

differentiate between their imaginaries of the internet and their imaginaries of civic life; 2) overcome the collapse of critical digital literacy into civic engagement that is understood as inherently progressive; and 3) challenge polarizing conclusions about users' interpretations of the internet as crucial or detrimental to their online engagement.

## 3.2.2.1 Exploring users' imaginaries of society in the digital age

When it comes to media literacy research, as argued in the previous chapter, educational research informed by social psychology has interrogated users' civic engagement by focusing on their ability to evaluate online content in isolation from their understanding of the internet (e.g., Duran et al., 2008; Kahne et al., 2012). Research inspired by critical pedagogy has focused on users' civic action and critique of dominant media representations as inherently progressive (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007). And while a few studies inspired by the New Literacy Studies and by critical pedagogy have argued that digital literacy should be based on civic imagination and knowledge about the digital environment (e.g., Jenkins , Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Mihailidis, 2018), the authors of these studies have under-researched whether and how users' understanding of the internet intersects with their imaginaries of civic life.

Approaching critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking builds on these studies. Inasmuch as we live in an age that is highly mediated by digital technologies, such an approach enables us to explore users' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age by differentiating between 1) their imaginaries of the internet's civic potentials and limitations – as facilitating, for example, political emancipation and organized protest as well as misinformation and government surveillance, and 2) their imaginaries of civic life. In other words, such an approach has the potential to facilitate richer analysis of critical digital literacy and civic engagement by allowing us to disentangle users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries

of the socio-political order, which may be aligned, for instance, with either conservative or progressive ideologies.

While critical digital literacy needs to incorporate knowledge about the internet in order to be digital, disentangling users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life is valuable for analytical purposes. The potential of such an approach can be illustrated by drawing on political research, beyond media literacy research. A few studies on social movements have argued that activists' cyberlibertarianism, which champions the internet's implications for individual liberty and freedom of expression, can be blended with progressive visions of collective freedom and social justice as well as with anti-democratic and authoritarian values (e.g., Postill, 2013; Treré, 2019). These studies do not make reference to media literacy theory. But they suggest that digital utopianism can be interwoven with different visions of civic life. Conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking has the potential to bridge media research on social movements with media literacy theory. Utopianism as such, however, is not critical digital literacy. As we will see below, a dialectical approach to utopian thinking prescribes that critical digital literacy needs to rely on both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet.

The implications of such a dialectic for how critical digital literacy can be expected to shape civic engagement are discussed in the next subsections. It is worth emphasizing here that an example of how users' imaginaries of the internet can intersect with their imaginaries of civic life is captured by media activism underpinned by different ideologies. British organizations like the Campaign for Freedom of Information and the Open Rights Group promote visions of a better society by campaigning for users' freedom of expression and privacy, visions that are critical of internet censorship and surveillance in line with progressive ideologies. By contrast, Mediawatch UK and Accuracy in Media, in the US, campaign against biased and harmful media content in accordance with socially conservative and economically liberal agendas (Hackett & Carroll, William, 2006, p. 57).

# 3.2.2.2 Overcoming the collapse of critical digital literacy into civic engagement that is understood as inherently progressive

Utopian studies informed by Marxism have subsumed utopian thinking into action. But utopian thinking does not inherently lead to political participation. Furthermore, the utopian/dystopian dialectic applies to different ideologies, irrespective of whether social change is achieved through participation in formal politics or resistance and activism. Applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy suggests that it potentially, but not inherently, underpins civic engagement. The critical pedagogy tradition within media literacy research has subsumed users' critique of dominant media representations into the expectation that this will lead to civic action and resistance, approached as intrinsically progressive (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007). By contrast, conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism has the potential to facilitate richer analytical inquiry insofar as it suggests that users' imaginaries of the internet may (or may not) contribute to their civic engagement in ways that are blended with different imaginaries of civic life and different ideologies.

To give an example, understanding the internet's potential for public debate as well as for elitism or misinformation may be beneficial to users' engagement with political content online in ways that are underpinned by conservative or by progressive imaginaries of civic life, in a context of resisting or of supporting mainstream politics. Put differently, users' imaginaries of the internet's potential to diversify public debate as well as to undermine the reach and trustworthiness of information may be interwoven with different visions of the socio-political system, potentially informing how they access, share or produce political content online. Media literacy research has under-explored how users understand the digital environment. Nevertheless, we know from a few studies within political research that citizens and activists involved in different socio-political causes use the internet in ways that are grounded in knowledge about its implications for political expression, building support and organizing action (Barassi, 2015b; Kwak et al., 2018). Conceptualizing critical digital

literacy as incorporating utopian thinking is promising for investigating whether and how users not only construct but also potentially deploy utopian/dystopian imaginaries of the internet and of civic life in order to participate in institutional or non-institutional politics in accordance with different ideologies.

# 3.2.2.3 Challenging polarizing conclusions about users' interpretations of the internet

Approaching utopian thinking as projecting utopian possibilities for social change, together with critiquing the dystopian implications of the present, prescribes an imagination/realism dialectic that relies on constructing both utopianism and dystopianism. As a result, conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking makes the expectation of constructing both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet a *sine qua non* of critical digital literacy. On the one hand, understanding the internet does not intrinsically translate into civic engagement. On the other hand, such an approach suggests that in order to pursue civic opportunities online users need to understand both the internet's utopian and its dystopian potentials in ways that intersect with their imaginaries of civic life. Before discussing this further, here is a practical example. In line with different ideologies, users' civic practices may be underpinned by an understanding of the internet's potentials for public debate as well as for elitism. Conscious of its utopian/dystopian implications, they may be able to reach wider audiences when campaigning or discussing politics online, overcoming the limitations of interacting predominantly with users from higher socio-economic backgrounds.

Conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism has repercussions for research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology, research on human-computer interaction, and research inspired by the New Literacy Studies. As argued in Chapter 2, these strands of research have polarized users' positive or negative interpretations of the internet as contributing, respectively, to online engagement or disengagement (Cushman & Klecun, 2006;

Durndell & Haag, 2002; Park, 2014; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). Once we go beyond media literacy research, we notice that this applies also to a few studies within political research that are interested in citizens' participation in institutional politics. Despite overlooking media literacy theory, these studies have argued that their positive or negative interpretations of the internet – in relation to its potential for public debate and community life as well as for limited impact and misinformation – respectively facilitate or undermine civic engagement, from seeking information about political parties to deliberating online as part of local governance initiatives (e.g., Gustafsson, 2012; B. J. Kim, Kavanaugh, & Hult, 2011).

By contrast, media research on social movements, while also paying little attention to media literacy theory, has emphasized the fact that activists know how to use digital technologies to pursue different actions strategically by adapting to the media ecosystem, since they are conscious of both its potentials and its limitations (e.g., McCurdy, 2011; Rucht, 2004). According to Cammaerts (2012), activists increasingly deploy "their lay-knowledge of how the mainstream media and technologies operate, partially adapting to them or appropriating them" (p. 117). McCurdy (2010, 2011), for instance, has found that they are often aware that mainstream media have a wider reach, online and offline, but are driven by corporate interests, which shapes news reporting. Alternative media suffer, rather, from limited visibility, which is why, in order to build support, they use both types of media strategically in order to maximize their respective potentials and compensate for their limitations. Similarly, Barassi (2015b) has argued that activists know that online platforms "are largely shaped by ... corporate power" and are mindful of the implications of this for users' data and privacy (pp. 80–81). At the same time, they appreciate their potential for establishing "networks of solidarity" (Barassi, 2015b, pp. 80–81). As a result, they use the internet to organize action. But they also engage in media tactics to resist the power of internet corporations, including the use of alternative platforms (Barassi, 2015a, p. 62).<sup>16</sup> Finally, according to Treré (2019), activists often understand how algorithms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Barassi's (2015a) work echoes research on data literacy inspired by critical pedagogy, as reviewed in Chapter 2. Like Selwyn and Pangrazio (2018), even though her work does not draw on media literacy theory, she uses de Certeau's (1984) distinction between *strategies* and *tactics* to refer, respectively, to

function, and with what implications for gaining or suppressing visibility, and this underpins how they strategically produce and share alternative content online while pursuing social change (Treré, 2019). On the one hand, they worry about internet surveillance. On the other hand, conscious of the potential of social media for organizing action, they "delet[e] 'compromising' digital material" (Treré, 2015, pp. 174–175).

In line with media research on social movements, conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating a dialectical approach to utopian thinking suggests that users' dystopian imaginaries of the internet are crucial to pursuing civic opportunities, provided they are coupled with utopian imaginaries of its potential.

### 3.3 Why Focus on Experts and Advocates? Reviewing Further Literature

Section 3.2 has unpacked how this thesis conceptualizes digital literacy, theorizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism. This section explains why the thesis focuses on digital experts (e.g., information, IT and media professionals) and on civic advocates (e.g., community councillors, political party candidates, activists). The question of whether and how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement is not just theoretical but also empirical, which is relevant to how such an intersection unfolds in practice and among different populations. Similarly, whether and how applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy works in practice, and whether and how it intersects with different dimensions of digital literacy, are empirical questions. As a result, while the methodology and research design of this thesis are presented in Chapter 4, this section introduces the conceptual

how institutions operate through practices of power (strategies) and what citizens do to resist their practices (tactics). Unlike Barassi's, most studies within political research have used the notion of strategy – and in particular *media strategy* – to refer to how political campaigners and activists use traditional media and/or digital technologies to pursue different plans of action, irrespective of whether the latter relate to institutional or to non-institutional politics (e.g., Howard, 2005; Rucht, 2004). From this perspective, the notion of *media strategy* overlaps with that of *media tactics*, which can be understood more simply as the steps that are part of a strategy.

rationale behind the decision to focus on experts and advocates. It then reviews further literature in order to explore what has been accomplished, and with what limitations, by research on these two social categories, with emphasis on whether and how they develop and deploy digital skills and knowledge within civic life.

This kind of research includes studies on how experts like media professionals draw on their own expertise. In addition, as with some of the studies referenced in the previous section, it includes political research on how advocates such as activists or party candidates use and understand the internet. The assumption is that, of all the possible social categories that could be selected, experts and advocates are ideal for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. On the one hand, experts are digitally savvy, with different levels of civic engagement. On the other hand, advocates are highly involved in civic life, with different levels of digital literacy. With this assumption in mind, the subsections below shed light on what emerged from reviewing research on these social categories.<sup>17</sup>

#### 3.3.1 Experts

This thesis defines *digital experts* as individuals whose professions revolve around the use of digital technologies, including media educators, and information, IT and media professionals (CEN, 2012; Dewdney & Ride, 2006; Huvilla, 2012).<sup>18</sup> When it comes to media educators, research has examined how they develop and deploy their expertise in the context of their profession (Buckingham, 2014; Jarman & McClune, 2010). This includes studies that have grappled with the question of whether media educators

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> These social categories are discussed here in the context of different literatures. But this does not mean that they do not overlap. Refer to Chapter 4 for how the experts and advocates recruited for this study included participants who work at the intersection of expertise and civic engagement. These include, for instance, media educators who work for civil society organizations promoting media education by lobbying and providing media studies teachers with training, as well as librarians who see their profession as a form of civic engagement, which resonates with some of the literature reviewed in Chapter 2 (e.g., McDougall et al., 2017; Secker et al., 2019; L. N. Smith, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Examples of experts include media studies teachers (i.e., media educators), librarians (i.e., information professionals), IT engineers, systems analysts, website designers (i.e., IT professionals), publishers, journalists and social media coordinators (i.e., media professionals).

should encourage students' civic action as part of their teaching practices, as prescribed by critical pedagogy (e.g., Hobbs & Jensen, 2009, p. 7). In addition, as reviewed in Chapter 2, media policy research has focused on the training of media educators and their teaching resources (e.g., McDougall et al., 2017). But while media literacy research has prioritized students' digital literacy both inside and outside formal educational settings (e.g., Alvermann et al., 2012; Buck, 2012; Bulfin & North, 2007; Burnett, 2010), less is known about teachers' digital literacy beyond their profession. Research has outlined performance descriptors and benefits that can motivate them, regardless of the subjects they teach, to use digital technologies at work (e.g., Brooks-Young, 2007; Groth, Dunlap, & Kidd, 2007). Their digital skills and confidence, however, can vary considerably (J. White, 2015). Exceptionally, Burnett (2009) has explored how teachers develop "personal digital literacies" through experience of using digital technologies outside the classroom, which can benefit their teaching practices. Research, in addition, has focused on whether and how their political views shape the way they teach. Nevertheless, the question of whether and how they develop and deploy digital skills and knowledge within civic life is underresearched (e.g., Anderson & Cohen, 2015; Grissom, 2015; Hess, 2005; Kelchtermans & Ballet, 2002; J. P. Myers, 2009; Picower, 2013).

Similarly, when it comes to information, IT and media professionals, research has argued that digital literacy is central to their professions and that, depending on their backgrounds, there may be gaps in their expertise (CEN, 2012; Dewdney & Ride, 2006, p. 9; Huvilla, 2012, p. 25; Leahy & Dolan, 2010, p. 219; Stocchetti & Kukkonen, 2011). As argued in Chapter 2, information science research and librarianship studies have emphasized the fact that librarians are equipped with functional and critical digital skills, including the ability to navigate and to assess information (Widdowson & Smart, 2015). Their potential to promote social change by facilitating access to knowledge or copyright reforms is why they can be seen as both information experts and advocates who understand the broader environment within which information circulates (Secker et al., 2019; L. N. Smith, 2016). Public libraries, furthermore, offer digital training (Jaeger et al., 2012), which is an example of how civic engagement at the community level facilitates digital literacy. Their training, however, which targets primarily

vulnerable communities, is generally more functional than critical. In addition, little is known about whether and how librarians deploy their expertise within civic life in ways that go beyond their profession. As with librarians, research has paid little attention to IT and media professionals' expertise in the context of their civic practices. Notwithstanding this gap in the literature, the former are in professions that require sophisticated functional skills and knowledge about the internet (CEN, 2012). The latter, meanwhile, enjoy well-developed creative digital skills, which underpin their media production practices, as well as an understanding of the media system (Dewdney & Ride, 2006). A few studies have explored how journalists' reporting, in particular, is informed by political values, and how political journalists use social media as part of their profession (e.g., Corcoran, 2004; Parmelee, 2014). Research, furthermore, has focused on how the convergence of traditional and digital media has affected how media professionals operate (e.g., García-Avilés, Meier, Kaltenbrunner, Carvajal, & Kraus, 2009; E. Huang et al., 2006).

Defined as "the flow of content across multiple media platforms [and] the cooperation between multiple media industries" (Jenkins, 2006, p. 2), media convergence has increased, for example, the expectation among media professionals of financial compensation for multi-platform production, as well as raising issues of authorship and production quality (E. Huang et al., 2006). At the same time, media convergence has enabled users to share their lay expertise and to engage in a participatory culture where digital literacy, as addressed by research inspired by the New Literacy Studies, transcends "individual expression" to emerge through "community involvement" based on producing and sharing online content through collaborative practices (Jenkins, Clinton, Purushotma, Robison, & Weigel, 2009, p. 4). While a few studies inspired by the New literacy Studies, as reviewed in Chapter 2, have examined users' digital literacy in the context of their civic engagement (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016), research on media professionals has under-explored their civic practices.

#### 3.3.2 Advocates

This thesis defines *civic advocates* as individuals who are professionally committed to civic life, including public officers (e.g., community councillors, political party candidates) and activists, who aim to shape public opinion and policymaking through lobbying, campaigning and protest events (Grunig, 1992, p. 504; B. Martin, 2007). The literature on how advocates participate in civic life by using digital technologies is vast. And so is the literature on citizens' participation, beyond advocates. These literatures fall under the overarching field of political research. As explained earlier, this body of work includes studies on how citizens and party candidates use the internet to participate in institutional politics, from seeking information about governments and political parties to using social media for election campaigns (e.g., Anduiza, Gallego, & Cantijoch, 2010; Karlsen, 2009; A. Smith, 2013; C. B. Williams, 2012). In addition, political research includes research on social movements and how activists use the internet to participate in non-institutional politics through practices of resistance, from raising awareness to organizing action (e.g., Garrett, 2006; van de Donk, Loader, Nixon, & Rucht, 2004; van Laer & van Aelst, 2010).

While these strands of political research are interested in whether, how and to what extent citizens participate in civic life, another strand, which consists of citizenship and political education studies, has been more interested in civic learning, with emphasis on civic literacy. A few studies within this strand have argued that civic literacy should be understood as not just the ability to participate in civic life – as well as knowledge of history, policies, current affairs and how governments and civil society operate – but also the ability to make judgments about information and its trustworthiness (e.g., Davies & Hogarth, 2004; Lund & Carr, 2008, pp. 13, 14). From this perspective, civic literacy resonates with information literacy. Insofar as it is framed within critical pedagogy as the questioning of power and authority (e.g., Giroux, 2017), it also overlaps with critical literacy. Nevertheless, while civic literacy can be understood as intersecting with notions of information and critical literacy, its intersection with digital literacy, as conceptualized here, has remained under-explored within both media literacy research and political research. Interested in civic learning, Bennett et

al. (2009) have drawn, exceptionally, on media literacy research to emphasize how civic literacy in the digital age needs to incorporate the ability to evaluate online content as well as social and creative digital skills, which are necessary to produce and share information online. Similarly, Kahne, Hodgin and Eidman-Aadahl (2016) have argued that civic education programmes in the digital age should incorporate media literacy education, so that students can learn how to evaluate and produce online content for civic purposes. Political research on citizens' participation, however, unlike citizenship and political education studies, has focused *de facto* on their factual knowledge of the socio-political system and on whether and how this informs their civic engagement. This body of work, in short, has paid little attention to digital literacy and whether and how it intersects with civic literacy, approached narrowly as political knowledge (e.g., de Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006; Prior, 2005; Prior & Lupia, 2008).

Such a lacuna is also to be found in democratic theory, which has addressed how citizens' political knowledge and participation vary depending on how democracy is normatively understood (e.g., Held, 2006; Rapeli, 2014). As discussed in Chapter 1, democratic theory has conceptualized democracy, and what is required of citizens' democratic participation, on the basis of different normative variants.<sup>19</sup> This body of work, nevertheless, has under-explored whether their political knowledge intersects with the ability to evaluate online content or with knowledge about the digital environment (Polizzi, 2020b). Similarly, except for research, inspired by critical pedagogy, on activists' production of alternative media that challenge dominant representations (e.g., Feria-Galicia, 2011), media research on social movements has paid little attention to media literacy theory or research. This is also true of research on citizens' engagement with institutional politics, including how party candidates and political campaigners use the internet to campaign (e.g., Howard, 2005; LaMarre & Suzuki-Lambrecht, 2013; McGregor et al., 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See Chapter 1, pp. 19-20, for discussion of how democracy can be understood in line with different normative models.

This is not to say that political research has overlooked whether citizens, and advocates, in particular, are digitally skilled or understand, for instance, how internet corporations operate, along with the internet's potential for campaigning. However, as argued above when theorizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism, this body of work has hardly engaged with notions of media literacy. That said, even though media research on social movements has rarely addressed questions of learning, we know from this strand of research that activists improve their digital skills to protest online thanks to the help of fellow campaigners (Treré, 2012, p. 2368). In addition, they often learn through experience how to use digital technologies (Nielsen, 2013, p. 174). McCurdy (2011), for instance, has argued that they gain knowledge about the media's potentials and limitations in relation to news reporting of activism through their own experience with the media. Similarly, we know from citizenship studies that ordinary citizens, not only advocates, can learn through experience how to use the internet to discuss politics or to organize action through using digital technologies (Bennett et al., 2009).

As to whether and how digital skills and knowledge facilitate civic engagement, political research has found consistently that users need digital skills, including operational and information navigation skills, to participate in institutional and noninstitutional politics, from contacting government officials to signing petitions online (e.g., Anduiza et al., 2010). Media research on social movements has emphasized, furthermore, that activists deploy their knowledge of digital affordances in order to engage in practices of resistance (e.g., Comunello, Mulargia, & Parisi, 2016; Kavada, 2012). According to Cammaerts (2015), they are increasingly conscious of what digital technologies afford in terms of organizing and coordinating protest events asynchronously and in real time (Cammaerts, 2015). In addition, while Krishna (2017) has argued that online misinformation turns users into misinformed activists, others have found that activists are generally cautious about misinformation, which is why they verify their sources (e.g., Howard & Hussain, 2013, pp. 28–29; Ronfeldt, Arquilla, Fuller, & Fuller, 1998, p. 71). Finally, political campaigners and activists often know how to use traditional media and digital technologies to pursue media strategies in the contexts, respectively, of institutional and non-institutional politics, from

campaigning and building support to raising money (e.g., Howard, 2005; LaMarre & Suzuki-Lambrecht, 2013; McGregor, Lawrence, & Cardona, 2016; Rucht, 2004).

At the same time, as discussed above, when it comes to whether and how citizens' and advocates' knowledge about the media ecosystem shapes their civic engagement, including their understanding of the internet's civic potentials and limitations, two different trends emerge from the literature. On the one hand, political research on how citizens engage in institutional politics has argued that their positive or negative interpretations of the internet, in relation, for instance, to its implications for online content and for participating in community life, are beneficial or detrimental, respectively, to their online engagement (e.g., Gustafsson, 2012; B. J. Kim et al., 2011). On the other hand, media research on social movements has emphasized that activists, in particular, use the internet strategically in ways that are underpinned, for instance, by an understanding of its potential for organizing action and building support as well as for exacerbating corporate power and government surveillance (e.g., Barassi, 2015b; McCurdy, 2011; Treré, 2015). According to this strand of research, activists know how to pursue different actions strategically by adapting to the media ecosystem inasmuch as they are conscious of both its potential and its limitations (Cammaerts, 2012; Rucht, 2004).

#### 3.3.3 Gaps in and limitations of research on experts and advocates: A recap

Reviewing research on how experts and advocates develop and deploy digital skills and knowledge confirmed this study's assumption that focusing on these social categories is ideal for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. The evidence reviewed suggests that experts are digitally savvy. And that advocates engage in civic life in ways that are mediated by digital technologies, often relying on digital skills and knowledge. These findings, however, came with two surprises. The first was that there is little research on how experts draw on their own expertise in contexts beyond their professional lives. The second was that political research is rather disconnected from media literacy theory and research. Research on experts shows that they are not a homogenous group and that, despite their expertise, there may be gaps in their skills and knowledge. This body of work, however, has argued that their expertise is central to their professions, while paying little attention to whether and how they draw on their expertise in other domains of their lives, including their civic engagement. By contrast, political research has offered insights into how citizens and advocates develop and deploy digital skills and knowledge in the context of their institutional and non-institutional participation in civic life. This strand of research, nevertheless, has under-explored questions of learning. It has hardly engaged with notions of media literacy. And it is rather divided on whether and how knowledge about the internet's limitations in terms of civic life facilitate or undermine civic engagement. Is this a matter of having or not having critical digital literacy, where the latter, as theorized above, relies on understanding both its potentials and limitations? Also, how do different functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet intersect in ways that shape civic engagement, if in any way? These are questions that are not addressed within political research. Finally, not only has the latter under-explored whether and how civic literacy intersects with digital literacy, but it has also paid little attention to whether and how digital literacy varies depending on how we conceive of democracy.

#### 3.4 Key Concepts and Research Questions

Given the gaps in and limitations of media literacy research, as discussed in Chapter 2, this chapter has provided a novel conceptualization of digital literacy, reviewing further literature beyond media literacy research. To conclude, this section presents the key concepts and research questions of this thesis. But first, since this chapter is an extension of Chapter 2, let us briefly summarize what was argued in that chapter:

 Media literacy research as a whole has focused largely on functional or critical aspects of digital literacy (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007; van Deursen et al., 2015), with research subordinating functional to critical digital

literacy (e.g., Buckingham, 2007a). This body of work, furthermore, has prioritized users' ability to evaluate online content in isolation from their knowledge about the digital environment (e.g., Kahne et al., 2012; Lewis, 2018). In addition, it has under-explored whether and how users understand the internet in ways that intersect with their imaginaries of civic life (e.g., Fry, 2014; Gamber-Thompson, 2016).

- (ii) When it comes to how users develop digital literacy, media literacy research has focused on formal and/or informal learning, but only occasionally in the context of their civic engagement. When interested in the latter, research has focused largely on young people and less on adults (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; McGinnis et al., 2007). This body of work, furthermore, has underexplored whether civil society organizations provide training in digital literacy that can reach adults beyond media educators (e.g., McDougall et al., 2017). In addition, it has prioritized the digital training provided by public libraries and community centres for different populations as predominantly functional, with little attention to critical digital literacy (e.g., Helsper & van Deursen, 2015).
- (iii) Finally, as to whether digital literacy facilitates, in turn, civic engagement, media literacy research has argued that it does. Restrictively, however, research inspired by critical pedagogy has framed critical literacy as leading intrinsically to progressive action (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007). The concept of democracy has been approached monolithically (e.g., Mihailidis & Thevenin, 2013). On the one hand, media literacy research has under-explored whether and how users participate in civic life by deploying an understanding of the internet's civic potentials and limitations. On the other hand, this body of work has largely polarized their positive or negative interpretations as leading respectively to online engagement or disengagement beyond civic life (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017).

In order to facilitate richer analysis of whether and how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement, this chapter conceptualizes digital literacy as more comprehensively incorporating functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet. More specifically, this thesis conceptualizes functional digital literacy as: 1) digital skills – drawing on research on digital inequalities (e.g., van Deursen et al., 2015); 2) knowledge of digital affordances – in line with research inspired by the New Literacy Studies as well as research on human-computer interaction (e.g., Dezuanni, 2018; D. Smith et al., 2013); and 3) dispositions towards the internet's advantages and disadvantages beyond civic life and with emphasis on the individual – as interrogated by research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology and research on human-computer interaction (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). Critical digital literacy, meanwhile, is understood here as: 1) the ability to evaluate online content – as addressed, for instance, by educational research inspired by social psychology (e.g., Kahne et al., 2012); 2) knowledge about the political economy of the internet – as emphasized by research inspired by critical pedagogy (e.g., Buckingham, 2007a) and in line with this thesis's theoretical contribution; 3) utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age, differentiating between users' imaginaries of the internet and their imaginaries of civic life. Finally, as discussed in Chapter 1, civic engagement is approached here as taking part in community and political life, where the latter can be institutional or non-institutional, from contacting politicians, sharing political content and signing petitions to using alternative media and participating in protest events (e.g., R. Fox & Blackwell, 2016; A. Smith, 2013; Theocharis, 2015; van Laer & van Aelst, 2009).

With these key concepts in mind, section 3.3 has argued that this thesis focuses on experts and advocates because these are ideal categories for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement, being respectively digitally savvy and highly involved in civic life. Traditions like research on human-computer interaction, on the one hand, and the New Literacy Studies, on the other hand, have largely approached the cognitive dimension of digital literacy, respectively, as

embedded within the individual beyond the social context and as part of collective practices that are contextually situated. By contrast, as explained in section 3.2, this study takes the individual as a unit of analysis, i.e., experts and advocates. At the same time, as in Chapters 5, 6 and 7, it examines their digital literacy – in general and in the context of their civic practices – at both individual and collective levels.

Even though this thesis is not primarily concerned with comparing experts with advocates as different social categories, it explores whether and how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement on the basis of how their skills, knowledge and practices may differ. Surprisingly, what emerged from reviewing research on how they develop and deploy skills and knowledge about the internet is that research on experts, on the one hand, has hardly addressed how they draw on their expertise beyond their professions. On the other hand, political research on how citizens and advocates, in particular, participate in civic life has hardly engaged with notions of media literacy. This strand of research, furthermore, is far from conclusive on whether and how their knowledge about the internet's implications for civic life facilitate or undermine their civic engagement. As a result, considering the gaps in and limitations of both media literacy research and research on experts and advocates, this study takes a novel approach to digital literacy, as conceptualized above, in order to address the following research questions:

**RQ1**: In what ways, if any, does civic engagement provide opportunities for learning digital literacy?

# RQ2: In what ways, if any, does digital literacy facilitate civic engagement?

This study's research questions do not assume that civic engagement inevitably provides opportunities for learning digital literacy or that digital literacy, as theorized earlier in this chapter, inherently facilitates civic engagement. Under these premises, two points need to be made. First, while the key concepts here are functional and critical digital literacy and civic engagement, these concepts may be expected to shape one another as part of a wider framework that includes different elements, such as political motivation, civic literacy and access to resources like money. Political research has argued, for instance, that political motivation and political knowledge facilitate civic engagement (e.g., Prior, 2005; Strömbäck, Djerf-Pierre, & Shehata, 2012). As appropriate, therefore, references will be made to these elements in the empirical chapters, in line with what emerged from the fieldwork for this study. Second, even though this thesis argues that media literacy research and democratic theory have under-explored how digital literacy varies depending on how we understand democracy, RQ2 above should not be understood as a proxy for whether and how digital literacy benefits different democratic variants. Such a question goes beyond the scope of this thesis. Nevertheless, upon examining whether and how digital literacy facilitates different forms of civic engagement, Chapter 7 reflects on how the digital skills and knowledge that experts and advocates deploy within civic life vary, depending on how democracy may be normatively understood.

Informed by different traditions of media literacy research, this thesis conceptualizes digital literacy as functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet. As argued above, such an approach has the potential to contribute to more nuanced analysis of whether and how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement. The literature, however, does not shed light on whether or how the skills and knowledge conceptualized here are crucial to digital literacy among experts and advocates in the UK. Relatedly, it is not clear whether or how they intersect. This thesis therefore addresses the following sub-question, which logically precedes the questions above:

# **SQ1**: Considering the skills and knowledge of experts and advocates, what is digital literacy?

Relatedly, since this thesis conceptualizes critical digital literacy as incorporating knowledge about the internet as embedded in power structures in ways that intersect with different imaginaries of civic life and ideologies, it addresses the following subquestion: *SQ2*: In what ways do experts and advocates discursively construct their knowledge about the political economy of the internet and their utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age?

With these questions in mind, the thesis has three theoretical aims: 1) to explore digital literacy as functional and critical; 2) to explore critical digital literacy as incorporating users' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age; and 3) to reflect on the implications of how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement. The question of how digital literacy, as conceptualized here, intersects in practice with civic engagement is an empirical question. And so is whether applying utopian thinking to critical digital literacy is useful, as theorized above, for investigating such an intersection. The next chapter therefore presents this study's methodology and research design, discussing what methods were used to answer the questions above. Chapter 5 then begins with SQ1 and SQ2, examining what digital literacy is and how experts and advocates in the UK construct their knowledge about the digital environment. Chapter 6 answers RQ1, interrogating whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy. Finally, Chapter 7 answers RQ2, that is, whether and how digital literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement.

# Chapter 4 – Methodology and research design

# 4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the methodology and research design of this thesis. As explained in the previous chapter, my study focuses on experts and advocates in the UK because they are ideal cases for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. This decision was based on the assumption that experts master digital skills and knowledge, with different levels of civic engagement. Advocates, meanwhile, are highly involved civically, with different levels of digital literacy. Given the gaps and limitations of the different literatures reviewed in Chapters 2 and 3, this thesis addresses the following research questions:

**RQ1**: In what ways, if any, does civic engagement provide opportunities for learning digital literacy?

RQ2: In what ways, if any, does digital literacy facilitate civic engagement?

As argued in Chapter 2, media literacy research has approached digital literacy in different ways. In so doing, it has under-explored how its functional and critical dimensions intersect, with research placing the former in a subordinate position. To facilitate richer analysis of its intersection with civic engagement, Chapter 3 has offered a novel conceptualization of digital literacy. But we do not know whether or how the skills and knowledge conceptualized here are crucial in practice to digital literacy among experts and advocates, which is why this study addresses the following sub-question:

**SQ1**: Considering the skills and knowledge of experts and advocates, what is digital literacy?

Finally, since this thesis conceptualizes critical digital literacy as incorporating knowledge about the internet as embedded in power structures, it also addresses the following sub-question:

*SQ2*: In what ways do experts and advocates discursively construct their knowledge about the political economy of the internet and their utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age?

This study has three theoretical aims. First, it explores what digital literacy is in terms of both its functional and its critical dimensions. Second, it draws on utopian studies and political theory to explore critical digital literacy as incorporating users' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. As theorized in Chapter 3, conceiving of critical digital literacy in this way enables us to disentangle users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life, to resist the collapse of critical digital literacy into civic engagement, and to problematize conclusions about users' interpretations of the internet that polarize these as either crucial or detrimental to their online engagement. Finally, this thesis reflects on the implications, for different literatures including media literacy research as well as political research, of how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement.

Section 4.2 below presents the methodological rationale of this thesis and how the research questions above align with the methods employed. Section 4.3 then discusses how the research questions were operationalized. Section 4.4 presents the research design of the thesis, focusing on sampling, data collection and analysis. Finally, section 4.5 discusses some general limitations of the research design and my own role as the researcher.

#### 4.2 Methodological Rationale

Before discussing the epistemology behind the methodology of this thesis, it is worth reiterating that, as explained in Chapter 3, digital literacy is approached here as socially constructed. On the one hand, this study takes the individual as the unit of analysis, i.e., experts and advocates. On the other hand, as we will see in the next chapters, it examines how they develop and deploy digital literacy both individually and collectively in the context of their civic practices. Digital literacy relies on skills and knowledge that exist within the cognitive, yet in ways that are shaped by the social context, which resonates with cognitive sociology. As argued earlier, this body of work has understood cognition as socially constructed. At the same time, it has drawn on cognitive psychology in order to study its complexities, suggesting that culture exists not just at the collective level but also within cognitive processes (DiMaggio, 1997).

In line with such an approach to digital literacy, this thesis employs a mixed qualitative methodology informed by social constructivism and cognitive sociology. In terms of data collection, it relies on qualitative interviewing, enhanced by cognitive probing and by a conversational approach to the think aloud method, together with the diary method. In terms of data analysis, it primarily employs thematic analysis enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis. Each of these methods is discussed below.

#### 4.2.1 Qualitative interviewing

Qualitative research questions generally "articulate what a researcher wants to know about the [...practices and] perspectives of [those] involved" in their research (Agee, 2009, p. 432). This study investigates how digital literacy and civic engagement intersect, examining how experts and advocates understand the digital environment and use digital technologies for civic purposes. Qualitative interviewing, which is popular within qualitative research, is ideal for exploring individuals' views, motivations and experiences (M. W. Bauer & Gaskell, 2000, p. 39; Warren, 2002, p. 83). This is why this method is particularly suitable for this study. Qualitative research,

however, unlike quantitative research, does not aspire to generalizations based on numerically capturing patterns and trends across different populations. On the one hand, qualitative interviewing, which tends to be small-scale-oriented, provides access to what people think and do in context (B. L. Berg, 2001; Dillman, Smyth, & Christian, 2008). On the other hand, this method strives for representativeness on the basis of capturing the range of experiences and perspectives that characterize representatives of a given population as they emerge from the field (Kitzinger, 2005, p. 59; Seidman, 2006, pp. 51–52). This form of representativeness is dependent on reaching saturation, which is achieved when new data sheds no further light on what has been collected (Mason, 2010).

This study employs qualitative interviewing to focus on experts and advocates as individuals within social categories. Their experiences and interpretations are examined in order to explore whether and how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement not just in ways that are contextually situated but also as a broader social phenomenon. Informed by interpretivism and social constructivism, qualitative interviewing relies on the researcher's interpretation and construction, together with participants, of meaning (Warren, 2002). As a result, however ideal for exploring their practices and perspectives, this method involves a risk of generating biased and/or misunderstood theoretical claims (Odgen, 2008, p. 60). To minimize this risk, section 4.4 below provides a reflexive and transparent account of how the data for this study was collected and analysed. As argued by Gaskell and Bauer (2000), such a risk can only be minimized by maximizing *public accountability*.

With this in mind, I conducted semi-structured interviews, which are ideal for answering deductively formulated research questions, that is, questions that are theoretically informed, as with the questions in this study, as detailed above. Unlike structured and unstructured interviews, semi-structured interviews neither rigidly employ nor avoid structured questions (Schuh & Associates, 2009, p. 66). Based on flexible topic guides, they are beneficial for collecting data both deductively and inductively. Indeed, the reason why I considered semi-structured interviews valuable for this project was that they enable the researcher to ask all participants the same

questions while also making it possible to follow up on what they say, allowing reflections to emerge organically from the interviews.<sup>20</sup>

#### 4.2.1.1 Cognitive interviewing

Cognitive interviewing techniques were employed during the interviews in order to delve into the cognitive and contextual dimension of digital literacy. More specifically, these techniques were used to explore how experts and advocates deploy digital skills and knowledge, articulate their understanding of the internet, and recall and discuss the context of their experiences. Unlike standard interviewing, cognitive interviewing allows the researcher to gather richer data about how participants construct thought processes and perform tasks. From a cognitive sociology perspective, this method is ideal for exploring their interpretations, experiences and skills as cognitive processes that are socially constructed (Gerber, 1999; Willson & Miller, 2014, pp. 22, 27), which was particularly suitable for this study. Two main techniques were used: cognitive probing and the think aloud method.

#### Cognitive probing

Cognitive probing refers to the use of probes to explore participants' responses and comprehension (Knafl, 2008). Besides the purpose of testing survey questionnaires, it is used to enrich interview data through techniques such as asking respondents to explain their answers and probing them about their experiences by asking, for instance, "what was the context?" (Willson & Miller, 2014, pp. 20-23, 27). This study used these techniques to delve into participants' responses and recollections of their experiences as contextually situated (Brekhus, 2007; Chepp & Gray, 2014, p. 10). Cognitive probing was used to gather richer data on how experts and advocates develop and deploy digital literacy to engage in civic life. Relatedly, it was used to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See section 4.4.4.1, pp. 117-120, for details of how topic guides were designed.

explore how they articulate their understanding of the digital environment in the form of utopian/dystopian imaginaries.

### (A conversational approach to) the think aloud method

The think aloud method is a cognitive interviewing technique that requires respondents to verbalize their thoughts and actions after or while performing a task. This method can be employed in isolation from or in conjunction with probing, which is where respondents are asked "to tell everything they can remember or are thinking of while performing [a] task" (Ericsson & Simon, 1980, pp. 220, 222). This study took a conversational approach to the think aloud method in order to explore how experts' and advocates' civic experiences inform and are informed by their digital literacy. More specifically, I asked participants to perform tasks on their digital devices (e.g., phones, tablets, laptops) while showing me and talking me through how they engage online, from reading news to using social media for political purposes.<sup>21</sup>

The think aloud method is ideal for capturing digital "literacy events" (Bhatt & de Roock, 2013, p. 5; Prinsloo & Baynham, 2008, p. 4), which aligns with the research objectives of this thesis. As argued in Chapter 2, research on human-computer interaction has used this method to capture internet users' verbalizations while they perform different tasks. These include digital reading or writing (Bhatt & de Roock, 2013; Cardullo et al., 2012; Dalton & Proctor, 2007; Gilbert, 2014), conducting online searches (Feufel & Stahl, 2012), and navigating and evaluating online content (Damico & Baildon, 2007; Greene et al., 2014; Kiili et al., 2008; Lévesque et al., 2014; Messenger, 2013). While the researchers on these studies employed minimal probing during their think aloud sessions, Makri et al. (2011) probed their respondents more extensively in order to "understand why [...they perform] particular behaviours" online (pp. 341, 342). Similarly, Coiro and Dobler (2007) used active probing to learn

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See subsection 4.4.4.1, pp. 117-120 for details of tasks.

about their respondents' reading strategies online (p. 225). And so did Henry (2005), who probed his respondents while they searched for information online.

"Think-aloud interviewing and verbal probing are very often used in unison" (Willis & Artino, Anthony, 2013, p. 354). However, the extent to which participants should be probed while thinking aloud has been contested (Willson & Miller, 2014, p. 21). On the one hand, active probing can create biases, as the researcher interferes with the respondents' flow of thinking (Ericsson & Simon, 1993; Makri, Blandford, & Cox, 2011, p. 342). On the other hand, thinking aloud uninterruptedly can be burdensome for respondents, besides generating "meandering verbalizations" (Willis & Artino, Anthony, 2013, p. 354). "To decide whether and how much to intervene in a think-aloud session, it is important to examine the purpose of the session" (Makri et al., 2011, p. 342). If the purpose is to collect quantitative data, non-intervention is advisable. But if it is to gather qualitative data, as in the case of this thesis, it is "often necessary to prompt for data about [...the respondents'] expectations or explanations [...behind the] actions" (Boren & Ramey, 2000; Makri et al., 2011, p. 342; Tamler, 1998, p. 12).

In conjunction with active probing, the think aloud method can become a conversation between interviewer and participant, which is how it was approached in this study. When participants are required to perform tasks by using objects, this method can take the form of an *intraview*, which focuses on the "material-discursive intra-actions" of the interview (Petersen, 2014, p. 41). As a result, both the think aloud method and the intraview challenge the distinction between interview and participant observation (Bodén, 2016, p. 55). Similarly to how I used the think aloud method, Bodén (2016), for instance, has conducted intraviews with teachers, who were asked "to bring their laptops to … talk about different themes while simultaneously engaging with the computer" (pp. 55-56).

Valuable for researching digital literacy, the think aloud method provides more accurate analytical measurements than self-reported measurements (Greene et al., 2014, p. 57), which is beneficial for assessing digital skills and knowledge. This

method, however, makes "data collection ... labour intensive" (Greene et al., 2014, p. 57) and this is especially the case when it is supplemented by video equipment.

#### The subcam

The think aloud method is often supplemented by real-time video recording, screen recording, or screen-in-screen recording. On the one hand, video recording while a think aloud session takes place is useful for capturing human interaction (e.g., Bhatt & de Roock, 2013). But this goes beyond the scope of this thesis. On the other hand, screen recording and screen-in-screen recording are useful for videoing, respectively, how participants perform tasks on computers and how, at the same time, they move and adopt facial expressions (Bhatt & de Roock, 2013, p. 1). While screen recording makes it hard for participants to use their own digital devices, screen-in screen recording is suitable for researching affect and visual literacy (e.g., Lévesque et al., 2014; McEneaney et al., 2016), which is not what this thesis is about.

As a result, the experts and advocates interviewed were asked to wear a subcam, which consists of a miniature video camera mounted on a pair of glasses (Glăveanu & Lahlou, 2012, p. 152). The subcam was preferred to similar forms of video equipment like GoPro, which is worn on a head strap, because it is less clumsy and easier to wear. With this in mind, I asked participants to wear a subcam in order 1) to gather richer data on how they used their digital devices and engage online, 2) to capture what they did while saying *this* or *that*, and 3) to identify discrepancies between what they said and did.

The subcam was developed by Lahlou (2011) for use in conducting subjective evidence-based ethnography (SEBE). SEBE allows the researcher to gather first-person audio-visual recordings of participants' experiences, which are followed by replay interviews in which they reflect on their own practices (Lahlou, Le Bellu, & Bosen-Mariani, 2015, p. 216). A limitation of using the subcam is that participants' behaviour may be affected by their awareness of the camera. But research shows that they

usually forget about it "after a few minutes and their behaviour is spontaneous" (Lahlou, 2011, p. 629). This type of video equipment lends itself to being used, as here, beyond conducting SEBE. The latter is appropriate for observing behaviour within relatively well-defined contexts (Lahlou et al., 2015, p. 219), but, by the same token, it is inadequate for gathering rich data about practices which, especially online, can be rather dispersed, as with experts' and advocates' civic practices.

#### 4.2.2 The diary method

Given the extent to which experts' and advocates' civic practices can be dispersed, and considering that participant observation would not provide satisfactory access to their practices, this study employed a supplementary diary method in addition to the interviews. The diary method, where participants record their thoughts, feelings and experiences as solicited by the researcher (Barlett, 2012, p. 1718), is ideal for gathering detailed and reflexive self-produced evidence about "communicative relationships and practices articulated via ... media technologies on an everyday basis" (M. Berg & Düvel, 2012, p. 71).

While diarists may be asked to fill in structured diaries (e.g., Heinonen, 2011), a structured/unstructured approach to the diary method enables the researcher to track their "subjective' reflection[s]" within "some 'objective' structure" (Couldry, Livingstone, & Markham, 2007b, p. 46). This study took such an approach. On the one hand, experts and advocates were asked to write diaries between first and second interviews in order to reflect on their own civic practices and how they use the internet. On the other hand, they were given no further instructions on what or how much to write. Furthermore, while diaries can be time-based or event-based (lida, Shrout, Laurenceau, & Bolger, 2012, pp. 280–281), both formats were combined here. More specifically, diarists were asked to submit their diary entries on a weekly basis, but they could write whenever they performed civic activities.<sup>22</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See section 4.4.4.2, pp. 120-121, for details of how the diary method was implemented.

The diary method minimizes the presence of the researcher by reducing the power asymmetries between the latter and participants, who are encouraged to express themselves in their own voices (Bird, 2003; Elliott, 1997; Markham & Couldry, 2007, p. 608; Meth, 2003). Conducted in tandem with interviews, this method allows the researcher to explore the complexities and inconsistencies of what participants write in their diaries. This is why combining these methods made it possible for this study to triangulate the diary with the interview data. Post-diary interviews, in particular, allow respondents to "reflect on the accuracy and meaning of their reflections" (Couldry & Markham, 2006, p. 257). But diarists can find the process demanding and time-consuming, besides having to remember to write their diaries (Greenberg et al., 2005, p. 2). In addition, since they can end by under- or over-contextualizing their practices, providing them with feedback is essential (Couldry, Livingstone, & Markham, 2007a, pp. 45, 49). This study therefore provided participants with regular reminders about and feedback on their weekly submissions.

#### 4.2.3 Thematic analysis enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis

The primary method of analysis used for this thesis was thematic analysis, enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis (CDA). Both methods are rooted epistemologically in interpretivism. I used these methods to analyse and interpret interviews and diaries. In addition, I used thematic analysis to analyse my fieldnotes.<sup>23</sup>

Based on the researcher's interpretation and "careful reading and re-reading" of textual material, thematic analysis is ideal "for identifying, analysing and reporting patterns (themes) within" qualitative data (Braun & Clarke, 2006, p. 6; Guest, MacQueen, & Namey, 2012; Rice & Ezzy, 1999, p. 205). This method is valuable for exploring themes and patterns across individuals' experiences and perspectives (S. Gibson & Hugh-Jones, 2012, p. 131), which made it particularly suitable for analysing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See section 4.4.4, p. 115, for details of fieldnotes.

how experts and advocates discuss and reflect on their civic practices, the digital environment and their use of digital technologies.

Since this thesis approaches critical digital literacy as incorporating knowledge about the internet as embedded in power structures, thematic analysis was conducted in ways that drew on CDA. Thematic analysis allows the researcher to map themes within a wide range of texts (Willig, 2013, p. 61). CDA is interested, rather, in how discourse is linguistically realised through "relations ... of power" (Fairclough, 1993, p. 135; Mirzaee & Hamidi, 2012, p. 183). Ideal for exploring how different discourses intersect in ways that make reference to power and ideology (Gill, 1996, p. 149), elements of CDA were employed in this study to enrich the thematic analysis of how experts and advocates understand the digital environment, focusing on how they discursively construct their knowledge (SQ above). As we will see later in this chapter, this thesis partially draws on, but in some ways differs from, Fairclough's (1992) analytical approach to CDA.<sup>24</sup> For now, it is worth emphasizing that this method was used to build on the thematic analysis of interviews and diaries to explore how experts' and advocates' understanding of the political economy of the internet and their utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age are discursively constructed. This was done by focusing primarily on how their understanding and imaginaries are linguistically realised and whether and how they resonate discursively with different ideologies.

Thematic and critical discourse analyses are prone to over-interpretation (Haig, 2004, p. 136), which was minimized by reading the material several times. CDA, furthermore, is anchored in the ambition of identifying power imbalances to promote social justice, in line with progressive values (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002, p. 2). This thesis rejects such an ambition, but not because of my own political biases, which are consistent with those of CDA.<sup>25</sup> Inspired by critical theory, CDA idolatrizes research as emancipatory. But "there is no particular reason why readers should accept CDA's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See subsection 4.4.5.1, pp. 123-125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See section 4.5, p. 126, for details of my background.

political stance" (Breeze, 2011, p. 500). Fairclough "in principle ... agrees that critical research need not be left-wing, and that right-wing forms of CDA are perfectly conceivable" (Breeze, 2011, pp. 500–501). But in practice, the "scholarly project of CDA [...is] heavily conditioned by political choice" (Breeze, 2011, pp. 500–501).

As a result, while this study's thematic analysis was enhanced by elements of CDA's analytical framework (Fairclough, 1995a), the thesis resists the idea of taking a political position that is normatively conditioned by left-wing values. As argued in Chapter 2, media literacy research inspired by critical pedagogy has approached users' critical reflections against dominant ideologies as inherently progressive. By contrast, as reflected in this study's approach to CDA, I am interested in whether and how experts and advocates understand the internet as embedded in power structures – from how internet corporations operate to its utopian/dystopian potential – in ways that draw on different ideologies, but without imposing one over another.

# 4.3 Operationalization

This thesis conceptualizes digital literacy as both functional and critical. Functional digital literacy comprises 1) the digital skills necessary for using digital media, including technical, social and creative skills (Buckingham, 2007a; van Deursen et al., 2015), 2) knowledge of digital affordances, in relation, for instance, to their technical features and digital design (Dezuanni, 2018), and 3) dispositions towards the internet's advantages and disadvantages in the context, for example, of connectivity, online shopping or financial safety (Hakkarainen, 2012; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017).

Critical digital literacy, meanwhile, includes 1) the ability to evaluate online content in terms of bias and trustworthiness (Kahne et al., 2012), 2) knowledge about the political economy of the internet, with a focus on how internet corporations operate, online advertising and regulation (Buckingham, 2007a), and, in line with this thesis's theoretical contribution, 3) utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age,

differentiating between users' imaginaries of the internet's civic potentials and limitations and their imaginaries of civic life, in line with different ideologies.

Civic engagement refers here to how citizens take part in community and political life. It includes institutional and non-institutional activities, both online and offline, such as seeking civic information, contacting politicians, posting or commenting on political content on social media, signing a petition, exchanging information about protest events, participating in a demonstration, and using alternative media (R. Fox & Blackwell, 2016; A. Smith, 2013; Theocharis, 2015; van Laer & van Aelst, 2009).

Given the assumption that experts and advocates are ideal social categories for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement, Table 4.1 below summarizes how the research questions and sub-questions in this thesis were operationalized, focusing on the key concepts employed and the methods and aims of data collection and analysis.

Research questions	Key concepts	Methods and aims of data collection and analysis
RQ1: In what ways, if any,	Functional digital	Semi-structured interviews (data collection) –
does civic engagement	literacy – 1) digital	to gather data on experts' and advocates'
provide opportunities for	skills, 2) knowledge	digital literacy and civic practices, with
learning digital literacy?	of digital affordances,	emphasis on their understanding of the
	3) dispositions	internet and experiences using digital
RQ2: In what ways, if any,	towards the internet	technologies for civic purposes
does digital literacy shape		
civic engagement?	Critical digital	Cognitive probing and the think aloud
	literacy – 1) the	method as part of interviews (data collection)
SQ1: Considering the skills	ability to evaluate	– to gather data on their digital literacy and
and knowledge of experts	online content, 2)	civic practices, with emphasis on their
and advocates, what is	knowledge about the	understanding of the internet and how they
digital literacy?	political economy of	use their own digital devices for civic purposes
	the internet, 3)	
SQ2: In what ways do	imaginaries of society	<b>Diaries</b> (data collection) – to gather data on
experts and advocates	in the digital age,	their civic practices, how the internet fits
discursively construct their	differentiating	within their practices, and on their reflections
knowledge about the	between imaginaries	about the internet
political economy of the	of the internet and	
internet and their	civic life	Thematic analysis enhanced by elements of
utopian/dystopian		<b>critical discourse analysis</b> (data analysis) – to
imaginaries of society in	Civic engagement –	synthesize and find themes and patterns
the digital age?	online/offline,	across the interview and diary data in ways
		that draw on critical discourse analysis in order

# Table 4.1 Operationalization of research questions and sub-questions

institutional/non- institutional	to examine how their knowledge about the political economy of the internet and their utopian/dystopian imaginaries of the internet and civic life are discursively constructed, with emphasis on how these are linguistically realised and whether and how they resonate
	with different ideologies

# 4.4 Research Design

This study employs a mixed qualitative methodology to explore whether and how digital literacy, as conceptualized here, intersects with civic engagement. In order to do this, it focuses on experts and advocates in the UK, based on the assumption that the former master digital skills and knowledge while their civic engagement varies, while the latter are involved civically, with different levels of digital literacy.

The choice of the UK, with most interviews conducted in London, was underpinned by five reasons. First, beyond the fact that this choice was a matter of convenience since I am based in the UK, London is highly cosmopolitan (McCarthy, 2016), which was ideal for diversifying the sample. Second, it is one of the most high-tech cities in the world (Weller, 2016), which was beneficial for recruiting experts such as IT and media professionals. Third, the UK has among the highest internet penetration rates worldwide. London, in particular, has the highest rate in the UK (94%) (ONS, 2016), which is ideal for researching digital literacy. Fourth, there are many advocacy and campaigning organizations in the UK (Dunleavy, 2018), which was beneficial for recruiting activists. Finally, conducting fieldwork after the 2016 Brexit referendum was valuable for discussing civic imaginaries reflecting hopes and concerns about UK politics.

Prior to fieldwork, a pilot study was conducted to test whether qualitative interviewing and the topic guides designed would generate relevant findings. Based on three interviews with two experts and one advocate, recruited via word of mouth, the pilot study informed revisions of the topic guides, besides concluding that qualitative interviewing was appropriate for this study.<sup>26</sup>

Full participation in the study required experts and advocates to take part in an initial interview, followed by two to four weeks of diary writing and a final interview based on their diaries.<sup>27</sup> The second interviews enabled me to follow up on what participants wrote in their diaries and discussed during their first interviews, as documented in my fieldnotes. Initially, data collection and data analysis were intended to be conducted at the same time in order to allow data analysis to guide data collection. But given the intensity of the data collection, the data was fist gathered and then analysed. Data collection took place between February and October 2018. Concerns in the UK about Brexit and about Cambridge Analytica were particularly resonant during this period, since the Cambridge Analytica scandal broke in March 2018 (Cadwalladr & Graham-Harrison, 2018).<sup>28</sup> Once the data was collected, it was transcribed and anonymized, and then analysed over three months. Taking fieldnotes enabled me to reflect on preliminary findings, which guided recruitment and revisions of the topic guides.<sup>29</sup>

#### 4.4.1 Sampling strategy

The distinction between professional expertise and lay expertise is blurred, the latter being not necessarily less advanced than the former, depending on the context (Collins & Evans, 2002; Durant, 2008; Grundmann, 2017; Wynne, 1992, 1996). Nevertheless, as captured by Table 4.2 below, expertise is understood here as professional (Saks, 2012; M. Young & Muller, 2014). To define expertise in this way was necessary in order for me to recruit from a better-defined population, including media educators, information, IT and media professionals (CEN, 2012; Dewdney &

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See section 4.4.4.1, pp. 117-120, for how topic guides were designed and revised before and throughout fieldwork.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See Table 4.6 and Table 4.7, pp. 116-117, for details of how many interviews were conducted, and how many diary entries collected.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See Chapter 1, p. 12, for details of the Cambridge Analytica scandal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See section 4.4.4, p. 115, for details of fieldnotes.

Ride, 2006, p. 9; Huvilla, 2012, p. 25). That is, individuals whose professions revolve around the use of digital technologies. These are individuals who are likely to use digital technologies also within their personal lives, which is why their professional expertise may be expected to overlap with lay expertise. As argued in Chapter 3, there may be gaps in their skills and knowledge, which means that their expertise is not homogeneously distributed. Arguably, this population includes individuals who master more functional than critical digital skills and knowledge (e.g., IT engineers, website designers) and *vice versa* (e.g., media studies teachers, journalists).

Similarly, this study refers to advocates as individuals who are professionally committed to civic life, including individuals involved primarily in forms of civic engagement that may be more institutional (e.g., community councillors and party candidates) or non-institutional (activists). When it comes to the latter, we need to differentiate between individuals who join protest events more or less occasionally, and individuals who are professionally involved in activism. This thesis is interested in the latter, which, again, was grounded in the decision to work with a better-defined population. As a result, this study defines activists as individuals who work for pressure or campaigning organizations to influence public opinion and policymaking through lobbying, campaigning and protest events (Grunig, 1992, p. 504; B. Martin, 2007).

Social category	Professions		
Experts	Information professionals (e.g., librarians)		
	IT professionals (e.g., systems analysts, IT engineers, website designers)		
	Media professionals (e.g., publishers, editors, journalists, video editors, social media coordinators, multimedia developers)		
	IT/media educators (e.g., media studies teachers)		
Advocates	Public officers (e.g. community councillors, party candidates)		
	Activists (e.g., fundraising consultants, policy officers, campaign coordinators,		
	campaign strategists, directors of advocacy, pressure or campaigning		
	organizations)		

With these definitions in mind, the sampling strategy for this study was purposive, which differs from probability and convenience sampling in that respondents are selected neither randomly nor haphazardly but sampled strategically in ways that "are relevant to the research questions that are being posed" (Bryman, 2012, p. 408). While a limitation of purposive sampling is that it can be prone to researcher bias, maximizing diversity within the sample is crucial to capturing a wide range of practices and interpretations (Bryman, 2012, p. 408).

Experts and advocates were recruited with the objective of maximizing diversity in terms of demographics such as age, gender, ethnicity and – in the case of advocates – political orientation. As for education and socio-economic status, given the nature of the populations, the sample was expected to be predominantly middle-class.<sup>30</sup> To gain access to these populations, as summarized in Table 4.3 below, potential field-sites in London were chosen before undertaking fieldwork.

Experts	Advocates
Three high schools with A-level programmes in media studies	Three cross-party groups
Two charities promoting, respectively, digital	Six organizations campaigning for conservative causes and for individual and economic liberty
training and media education Two libraries	Six organizations campaigning for progressive and socially liberal causes
Two publishing houses	
Three digital media companies	
Three IT companies	

#### Table 4.3 Selected field-sites

To recruit experts, three A-level high schools with different student progress scores were selected by drawing on the 2016 UK government rankings (UK Government, 2019a). These schools, of which one is located in a disadvantaged area of London, were chosen with a view to recruiting media and computer studies teachers with different competencies and ethnicities. Two charities promoting, respectively, digital

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See subsection 4.4.2, p. 110, for further details of middle-class nature of sample. Refer to section 4.5, p. 126, for implications for future research.

training and media education were also selected, with one of these involved in lobbying, which was considered ideal for recruiting educators committed to politics. Besides a large library, which was expected to provide access to a wide range of librarians, a smaller library specializing in political literature was selected in the hope of recruiting librarians interested in politics. In addition, two publishing companies and three digital media companies from different areas of London and specializing in marketing and in animation were selected. Two of these had been established less than 15 years ago, one, with branches across the UK, less than ten years ago, and two, with branches worldwide, more than 15 and in one case 100 years ago. Larger and older companies were deemed particularly valuable for diversifying the sample. Finally, three 20-40-year-old IT companies located in different areas of London were selected, of which one had branches across the UK and one worldwide.

The possibility of recruiting community councillors and party candidates was not considered initially, which is why the field-sites selected for recruiting advocates consisted exclusively of advocacy and campaigning organizations where activists are found. To maximize diversity, organizations advocating for different causes were chosen in order to recruit activists who varied by age, gender, ethnicity and political affiliation. Besides three cross-party groups campaigning for representative democracy and constitutional change in the UK, six organizations of the Right were selected, and six of the Left. The former included organizations campaigning on rural life, for individual liberty, lower taxes, Conservative legislation, technological progress, and against abortion. The latter included organizations campaigning for a more inclusive democracy, digital rights to privacy and free speech, peace and environmental sustainability. The conservative and progressive organizations that campaign for technological progress, digital rights and free speech were chosen with a view to recruiting media activists. While the organizations of the Right were expected to facilitate recruitment of white activists over 30, the cross-party organizations and those of the Left were considered ideal for sample diversification in terms of age and ethnicity. Despite the extent to which these organizations were selected from across the Left-Right political spectrum, no field-sites were chosen with a view to recruiting activists supporting extremist ideologies underpinned by sentiments of violence or

discrimination, such as white supremacists. As discussed below, I made this decision to maximize my own safety during fieldwork.<sup>31</sup>

Recruitment and data collection continued for nine months. Ten field-sites were shortlisted for initial recruitment, maximizing diversity among the sites. Those selected with a view to recruitment of experts included a charity promoting media education, one school, one library, one IT company and one media company. In addition, those selected in order to recruit advocates included three organizations of the Left and two of the Right. Experts and advocates were contacted by email, where their contacts were available online. Furthermore, they were recruited via word of mouth and by asking participants whether they knew others who would be interested in participating. This "snowball" approach enhanced the purposive nature of the sampling strategy, facilitating recruitment from the selected field-sites as well as from new sites across London and beyond. So did the use of LinkedIn Premium, which enabled me to send messages with an extended word limit and to run profession- and location-based searches to maximize sample diversity.

Five experts and four activists were recruited, respectively, from four of the field-sites chosen for recruiting experts and three of those chosen for recruiting advocates. Besides the activists, community councillors and party candidates were recruited via word of mouth, as were librarians from different universities. In addition, activists working for the Conservative Party and for progressive organizations campaigning for the environment and for social justice were recruited via LinkedIn Premium, as were IT professionals working in banks and in the retail sector.

#### 4.4.2 Sample

A total of 44 participants were recruited (including three from the pilot study) with a view to saturation. As mentioned earlier, this is achieved when new data sheds no

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See subsection 4.4.3, p. 114.

further light on what is being explored (Mason, 2010). The sample consisted of 22 experts and 22 advocates, recruited by maximizing diversity in terms of age, gender, ethnicity and, in the case of advocates, political orientation. It included experts such as librarians, media educators, publishers, journalists, website designers, social media coordinators, IT managers, system administrators and senior analysts. In addition, it included advocates such as community group founders, political relations managers, policy officers and campaign coordinators working for different campaigning organizations, as well as party candidates and community councillors.

Tables 4.4 and 4.5 below provide an overview of the sample. The two target populations differ, in principle, in terms of how digitally savvy (experts) and civically engaged (advocates) they are. In practice, eight experts and 11 advocates out of the 44 participants exemplify how these social categories can overlap, lying at the intersection of expertise and civic engagement. Recruiting these participants was particularly important for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. They include librarians and journalists who identify their professions as a form of civic engagement, a media educator who works for a charitable group promoting media education, an information scientist who works for community councils, media activists, digital campaigners and a community councillor who is also a website designer.

The sample is balanced in terms of gender, consisting of 12 male and 10 female experts, and 11 male and 11 female advocates. While the target populations are predominantly male, women are overrepresented in the sample in order to maximize diversity of female experiences and interpretations. As for age, the sample includes fewer younger advocates than younger experts, which was expected given the prominence of youth activism in the population. The sample consists of one expert aged 18-24, six aged 25-34, eleven aged 35-44, three aged 45-54, and one over 55. It includes three advocates aged 18-24, nine aged 25-34, five aged 35-44, three aged 45-54, and two over 55. In terms of ethnicity, the sample consists of 17 experts who are Caucasian, including participants from Europe (four) and North America (two), and five non-Caucasian participants of Asian (four) and African (one) origins. As for the advocates, 13 are Caucasian, including three from Europe, and nine are non-Caucasian, including participants of African (four), Asian (three), Afro-Asian (one) and Middle Eastern (one) origins. As the target populations are predominantly white in the UK, the extent to which the sample includes different ethnicities was considered sufficient for maximizing diversity in how experts and advocates use and understand digital technologies. However, in terms of education and socio-economic status, the sample is, and was expected to be, homogeneous and representative of the populations.

Experts and advocates in the UK are middle-class social categories, with most participants being graduates. It is sensible to assume that this does not mean that all participants necessarily share similar backgrounds. Experts and advocates are in professions which, based on their income and relatively high level of education, can be categorized as middle-class. However, the fact that they qualify as middle-class social categories does not exclude their coming from different walks of life – not just in terms of ethnicity but also in relation to family background and country of origin.

Pseudonym	Gender	Age	Ethnicity	Profession	Field-site	Intersection
Abby	Female	35-	Caucasian	Journalist and	Media/news	Sees news reporting as a
		44		Senior	outlet	form of civic engagement
				Producer		
Anthony	Male	45-	Caucasian	User	Library	Founder, and runs the
		54	(non-UK)	Experience		website of, a charity
				Designer		protecting rural heritage
Carol	Female	35-	Caucasian	Lecturer in	University	Sees librarianship as a
		44		Information		form of civic engagement
				Science and		
				former		
				Librarian		
Chloe	Female	25-	Non-	Senior IT	Household	
		34	Caucasian	Analyst	goods	/
			(Asian		company	
			origins)			
Christian	Male	35-	Caucasian	Cloud	Cloud services	
		44	(non-UK)	Architect and	provider	/

Table 4.4 Overview of the experts who participated in the project, ordered alphabetically, with details under "Intersection" of those lying at the intersection of expertise and civic engagement

				former IT		
David	Male	45- 54	Caucasian	Manager Researcher in Social Informatics	University	Runs the websites of, and takes minutes for, community councils
Emma	Female	25- 34	Non- Caucasian (Asian origins)	Technical Business Analyst	Bank	/
Frank	Male	25- 34	Caucasian	Media Publisher	Media outlet	/
George	Male	35- 44	Caucasian (non-UK)	Librarian	University	/
Joseph	Male	35- 44	Caucasian	Journalist	Freelancer	/
Linda	Female	55+	Caucasian	Media Educationalist	Charity promoting media education	Works for a charity that promotes media education through lobbying and provides media studies teachers with training and resources
Matthew	Male	35- 44	Caucasian	Senior Learning Technologist	University	/
Monica	Female	35- 44	Caucasian (non-UK)	Librarian	University	/
Oscar	Male	18- 24	Caucasian	Head of IT	Management Consulting Provider	/
Peter	Male	45- 54	Non- Caucasian (African origins)	Information Consultant and former Librarian	Freelancer	Sees librarianship as a form of civic engagement
Rosie	Female	25- 34	Non- Caucasian (Asian origins)	IT Engineer and Test Consultant	Bank	/
Shawn	Male	25- 34	Caucasian (non-UK)	Librarian	University	Has a degree in a politics- related subject and sees librarianship and the training of students in information literacy as a form of civic engagement
Simon	Male	35- 44	Caucasian	Systems Administrator	University	/
Sophia	Female	25- 34	Non- Caucasian (Asian origins)	Social Media Coordinator	Clothing company	/
Tom	Male	35- 44	Caucasian	A-Level Media Studies Teacher	School	/

Vanessa	Female	35- 44	Caucasian (non-UK)	Senior Learning Technologist	University	/
Whitney	Female	35- 44	Caucasian	Director of Legal Affairs	Media outlet	/

# Table 4.5 Overview of the advocates who participated in the project, ordered alphabetically, with details under "Intersection" of those lying at the intersection of expertise and civic engagement

Pseudonyms	Gender	Age	Ethnicity	Profession	Field-site	Intersection
Adam	Male	55+	Caucasian	Chair	Left-wing group campaigning for freedom of speech	Has a background as an Information Systems Manager and Researcher in Computer Studies
Adele	Female	25- 34	Caucasian	Campaign Coordinator	Progressive organization campaigning for human rights	/
Alex	Female	45- 54	Non- Caucasian (African origins)	Panel member	Progressive charity promoting social justice	Composes and produces socially conscious music, which he identifies as a form of civic engagement
Andrew	Male	35- 44	Caucasian	Councillor	Local community council	Works as a website designer for an IT company
Amanda	Female	45- 54	Caucasian	Director	Traditionally right-wing organization campaigning for media regulation and children's safety	Advocacy work concerns the media
Georgia	Female	25- 34	Non- Caucasian (African origins)	Founder	Progressive organization campaigning against online abuse	Advocacy work concerns the internet
Helen	Female	35- 44	Caucasian	Green Party Candidate; Panel Member; Digital Campaigner and Fundraising consultant	The Green Party; Progressive organization campaigning for democratic participation; Freelancer	Profession as a digital campaigner relies on knowledge about the internet
Jack	Male	25- 34	Caucasian	Head of Campaigns	Conservative organization campaigning in support of rural life	/
Jacob	Male	18- 24	Non- Caucasian	Activist and volunteer	The Conservative Party	/

			(Asian origin)			
Julia	Female	25- 34	Caucasian (Non-UK)	Policy officer	Progressive organization campaigning for digital privacy and freedom of speech	Advocacy work concerns the internet
Kelly	Female	25- 34	Non- Caucasian (Afro-Asian origins)	Co-founder and Chair	Conservative organization campaigning for social justice	/
Laura	Female	25- 34	Non- Caucasian (Asian origins)	Digital campaigner	Left-wing charity campaigning for social justice	Profession as a digital campaigner relies on knowledge about the internet
Mark	Male	25- 34	Caucasian	Lib Dem Candidate	The Liberal	
Mary	female	35- 44	Caucasian	Co-foundate Former Campaign Coordinator	Democrat Party Progressive community group promoting environmental sustainability; Anti-war campaigning organization	Studied digital marketing
Michael	Male	35- 44	Non- Caucasian (African origins)	Labour Councillor	The Labour Party	/
Miriam	Female	55+	Caucasian (non-UK)	Chair	Local Community Council	/
Moana	Female	45- 54	Non- Caucasian (African origins)	Secretary; Activist	Conservative organization campaigning for gender equality; The Conservative Party	/
Patrick	Male	18- 24	Non- Caucasian (Middle Eastern origins)	Intern; Former Member of Youth Parliament	Centre-right- organization campaigning for lower taxation	/
Richard	Male	25- 34	Caucasian	Political Relations Manager	Conservative organization campaigning in support of rural life	/
Robert	Male	25- 34	Caucasian (non-UK)	Fellow	Right-wing libertarian organization	/

Roger	Male	35- 44	Caucasian	Digital campaign strategist	Progressive organization promoting environmental sustainability	Profession as a digital campaign strategist relies on knowledge about the internet
Sue	Female	18- 24	Non- Caucasian (Asian origins)	Party Member; Former Vice President	The Conservative Party; Right- wing libertarian organization campaigning for free speech	Studied digital marketing

## 4.4.3 Research ethics

This study did not, and was not expected to, harm participants' physical or mental well-being. Interviews were not conducted in sensitive circumstances, nor were sensitive issues covered. In addition, as mentioned above, no activists supporting extremist ideologies underpinned by sentiments of violence were recruited during fieldwork, in order to ensure that I would not be exposed to situations that could potentially put me in danger. Before the interviews, participants were given an information sheet about the study.<sup>32</sup> This included details of how their data would be handled. The information sheet states that they were "free to leave the research at any point", and that "no identifiable information [would] be linked ... to [their] name[s]". The participants, furthermore, were asked to sign a consent form expressing their willingness to be interviewed, to use the subcam, and for the interviews to be audio-recorded.<sup>33</sup>

At the end of their second interviews, respondents who participated in full received £50 each as a sign of appreciation. As experts and advocates are not disadvantaged social categories, the use of honoraria was not considered problematic, since it was not expected to condition their participation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See Appendix 1, pp. 364-365.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See Appendix 2, p. 366.

Prior to fieldwork, this study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee at the London School of Economics and Political Science (LSE). During the data collection, I was particularly careful about how the subcam was used, making sure that participants were not just willing to use it but also comfortable showing me what they do online. As stated in the ethics review application approved by LSE, no online content from third parties gathered through the use of the subcam during the think aloud sessions was included in the analysis. Finally, the data collected was stored on a secure server at LSE as well as on my own laptop and portable hard drive, encrypted using VeraCrypt.

## 4.4.4 Data collection

The participants were asked to take part in an initial interview followed by two to four weeks of diaries and a final interview. Upon recruitment, they were told about the subcam and asked to bring any of their digital devices to the interviews (e.g., phone, tablet, laptop).

First and second interviews lasted around 90 minutes each. As indicated in Table 4.6 below, a total of 69 interviews were conducted, of which 44 were first and 25 were second interviews. Five of the 44 participants did not use the subcam during their interviews, including two advocates who preferred not to use it, and one advocate and two experts during the pilot study, for which the subcam was not used. The interviews were held wherever was most convenient for participants, including coffee bars, their workplaces, homes, and LSE campus. Fifty-two interviews were conducted across London, five in towns near London, and 12 across the UK, including Cambridge, Canterbury, Manchester, Edinburgh and a town near Newcastle.

During the interviews, I took extensive fieldnotes, combining different types of notes, as categorized by Emerson, Fretz and Shaw (1995). These included descriptions of the settings as well as notes about the themes that emerged, the methods used, and my own feelings and impressions.

Twenty-eight participants submitted a total of 65 diary entries of one or two paragraphs each, with a few longer entries. Diarists were asked to submit, and were reminded about, their diaries weekly via email or LinkedIn, depending on how they had been recruited. Most of them submitted their entries with delays of a few days. Two advocates and one expert submitted theirs a few months after their first interviews. Table 4.7 below provides an overview of how many experts and advocates submitted diaries. The number of entries they were encouraged to submit depended on how insightful their entries were, with a view to a second interview, as well as on their willingness to submit more.

No. of participants	44
No. of interviews	69
No. of first interviews	44
No. of second interviews	25
No. of participants who used the	39
subcam	
No. of participants who submitted	28
diaries	
No. of diary entries	65

#### Table 4.6 Overview of data collected

#### Table 4.7 Experts and advocates who submitted diaries

No. of experts who submitted diary entries	12/22 experts (31 entries)
No. of advocates who submitted diary entries	16/22 advocates (34 entries)
Experts (no. of entries)	Carol (3)
	Chloe (2)
	Christian (2)
	David (4)
	Frank (1)
	George (3)
	Linda (1)
	Monica (3)
	Peter (3)
	Shawn (4)
	Sophia (3)
	Whitney (2)
Advocates (no. of entries)	Adele (2)
	Alex (2)
	Amanda (2)
	Georgia (2)
	Helen (1)
	Jacob (2)
	Kelly (1)
	Laura (2)

M
Mark (3)
Mary (3)
Michael (4)
Miriam (3)
Moana (2)
Patrick (2)
Roger (2)
Sue (1)

# 4.4.4.1 First interview

One topic guide was used with the experts and one with the advocates.<sup>34</sup> The guides were piloted and revised after the pilot study and throughout fieldwork in order to ensure that they would elicit responses. Familiar topics were discussed at the beginning. *Civic engagement* was discussed earlier with the advocates than with the experts, but the topics and questions were the same. The guide used with the experts was structured as follows:

- Access and motivation. Cognitive probing was used to ask respondents what came to their minds when they thought about Information Communication Technologies (ICTs). Their access to, and motivations for using, the internet were then discussed (e.g., "How important is it for you to use the internet?"
- 2) *Online engagement*. Respondents were asked what they usually do online and what they find the internet useful for.
- 3) Functional digital literacy digital skills. Participants were asked how comfortable they feel using digital technologies and what they find easy or difficult. Cognitive probing was used to ask them in what context they had learnt to use the internet. Emphasis was placed on their technical, social and creative skills, from managing settings to creating content online.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See Appendices 3 and 4, pp. 367-368.

4) Civic engagement. While this study approaches the civic as an overarching concept that incorporates political practices, respondents were asked through cognitive probing what came to their minds when they thought about civic and political engagement, in order to emphasize both community and political life. They were asked how they engage civically and politically, and how the internet fits within their practices. After the pilot study, the topic guides were amended to include questions about civic literacy (e.g., "How familiar do you feel with civic and political matters and the political system?"). After a few months of fieldwork, new questions were added, such as "Is your voice as a citizen listened to?".

Cognitive probing was used to delve into the participants' recollection of their experiences (e.g., "In what situation?"). A conversational approach to the think aloud method was employed. The participants were asked to recall and describe their latest civic or political activity online, or one they could remember. They were asked to wear the subcam and use any of their own digital devices (e.g., phone, tablet, laptop) to show me and talk me through their activities. Concurrently, they were asked "How easy or difficult was it for you to do this?" and "Do you see any potentials or limitations for society in using the internet to do this?". If any constraints were discussed, they were asked "Have any of these issues affected how you use the internet? How did you deal with them?". These questions were meant to explore whether and how their digital literacy, from their digital skills to their understanding of the digital environment, facilitates their civic engagement. In addition, to explore whether and how their civic engagement contributes to their digital literacy, they were asked "How did you develop such perspectives?". After a few months of fieldwork, the topic guides were revised to include "What made you realise this?".

5) *Functional digital literacy – dispositions towards the internet*. Participants were asked how the internet has changed people's lives, and with what advantages

and disadvantages. Emphasis was placed on connectivity, online shopping and financial security, among other issues.

- 6) Functional digital literacy knowledge of digital affordances. The participants were asked what advantages and disadvantages they see in the internet's technical features. Emphasis was placed, for instance, on what digital design affords. Follow-up questions included "How did you learn this?".
- 7) Critical digital literacy imaginaries of society in the digital age. To explore participants' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of the internet's civic potentials and limitations, they were asked "In what ways would you imagine that using the internet may be relevant to or affect democracy in the long run?". This question was also asked replacing *democracy* with different aspects of civic life, from *civil society* to *authoritarianism*. The use of *imagine* reflects the imaginative connotations of utopian thinking. As this thesis interprets utopianism as embedded in realism, *in the long run* bridges the future with the present. *Relevant to or affect* mirrors the dialectic between utopianism and dystopianism. To explore whether and how respondents' imaginaries inform their civic practices, they were asked whether any constraints identified in relation to the internet had ever affected their practices and how these had been dealt with.

To disentangle participants' imaginaries of the internet from their civic imaginaries, they were asked "How optimistic and/or pessimistic do you feel about democracy and the political system?" and "Has this changed in the last few years?". After a few months of fieldwork, the topic guides were revised to include "What kind of social change do you hope for or are you concerned about?" and "Where do you position the internet?".

 Critical digital literacy – the ability to evaluate online content. Participants were asked whether they had ever engaged with online content subject to bias, misrepresentation or misinformation, and how confident they feel in

assessing trustworthiness. Follow-up questions included "What do you need to know when consuming online content?", "How did you learn this?" and "What do you do when confronted with bias, misrepresentation or misinformation?". These questions were asked in order to explore whether and how their digital literacy informs and is informed by their civic engagement. A conversational approach to the think aloud method was employed by asking participants to wear the subcam and to talk me through how they engage with news online. If they had already done so when discussing their *civic engagement* (see above), they were asked to perform a different activity from the one they had previously mentioned. Concurrently, they were asked about digital affordances, internet corporations, and their imaginaries of the internet and of civic life. Follow-up questions included "Does familiarity with how the internet functions come in handy?" and "Have you ever consumed and/or produced alternative content?".

9) Critical digital literacy – ownership, advertising, data collection, regulation. Participants were asked how familiar they feel with who owns search engines and social media, and whether they see any risks in how these operate. They were also asked about internet regulation and how they had developed their perspectives. Halfway through fieldwork, the topic guides were amended to focus more on whether and how their knowledge about internet corporations intersects with knowledge of digital affordances. A conversational approach to the think aloud method was employed by asking participants to show me and talk me through how they manage different aspects of their social media accounts in relation, for instance, to privacy. Concurrently, they were asked questions such as "Have you ever managed your cookies, browser history or settings?" and "Are you familiar with how the algorithms of corporations like Facebook and Google work?".

#### 4.4.4.2 Diary

At the end of their first interviews, participants were shown a weekly diary entry form, which was used to collect their dairies.<sup>35</sup> As indicated on the form, they were asked to write about how they engage "civically and politically both online and offline" and to reflect on what they do, the context of their practices, and whether and why the use the internet. No requirements concerning length were provided. Once participants had agreed to the diary writing, they were sent the form via email or LinkedIn and given a flexible weekly deadline.

It was not hard to convince participants to do the diary exercise, given their interest in the internet (experts) and in civic life (advocates). What was harder was to ensure that they would commit to this. A few quit after one or two entries. In addition, it was hard to ensure that participants would submit their diaries on time. When they did not, which happened often, they were sent reminders. Once I received their diaries, I provided them with feedback to encourage them to keep writing, especially about thoughts and practices that seemed relevant. Finally, once participants had submitted a number of entries that seemed sufficient for a conversation, ideally between two and four entries, they were invited to a second, concluding interview.<sup>36</sup>

## 4.4.4.3 Second interview

The second interviews were based on what participants had written in their diaries, which is why no new topic guides were used. Upon receiving the diary entries, I took notes on these in order to tailor the interviews to the participants. My notes consisted of follow-up questions on what seemed most interesting or needed clarification in relation to their civic practices and how they use the internet.

At the beginning of their second interviews, participants were asked for feedback on the task of diary writing. Most of them found it useful for reflecting on their practices,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> See Appendix 5, pp. 369-370.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See Table 4.7, pp. 116-117 above, for details of how many entries were submitted.

while a few found it time-consuming and stressful. The interviews then continued with questions on their practices, as reported in their diaries. Afterwards, a conversational approach to the think aloud method was employed. Participants were asked to wear the subcam to show me and talk me through how they had used the internet to engage in civic life. Concurrently, they were asked questions enabling me to delve into the functional and critical dimensions of their digital literacy in the context of their civic practices. These questions were similar to those asked during their first interviews (see above). But the range of practices discussed was considerably wider thanks to their diaries.

Conducting second interviews allowed me to gain deeper insights into whether and how digital literacy and civic engagement intersect. It was beneficial for following up on participants' civic practices, for gathering richer data on their digital literacy in the context of their practices, and for asking follow-up questions about themes that had emerged from their first interviews, as documented in my fieldnotes.

## 4.4.5 Data analysis

The interviews were partially transcribed by me and mostly by a professional transcription company in the UK. Afterwards, I anonymized the transcripts and transcribed the subcam material by describing in *italics* within square brackets what was salient in the videos. What I considered *salient* was what participants did with their digital devices (e.g., where they clicked or touched), how confidently they handled their devices (e.g., whether they scrolled through content hesitantly or quickly), and what type of content they engaged with (e.g., news stories or posts on social media). An example of how the subcam material was transcribed is as follows:

David: [He opens a folder in the Finder on his Mac laptop, using his laptop mouse touchpad... He then ... chooses a file..., opening it as a HTML page, which contains a white text in a light red rectangular on a dark red blank page] ...what CSS does [referring to the style sheet language *that he used to format the HTML page*], it says, right, background is going to be red and the box is going to be there.

#### 4.4.5.1 Thematic analysis enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis

Once the data had been transcribed and anonymized, it was uploaded onto NVivo to be subjected to thematic analysis, which was the primary analytical method in this study. The material included the interview transcripts, diaries and my fieldnotes, which I had taken in a notebook and then transcribed as Word documents. The material was synthesized by identifying 1) codes – words/phrases capturing descriptively portions of data (Saldana, 2009) and 2) themes – abstract labels under which codes are aggregated (Boyatzis, 1998).

The coding process was both deductive and inductive. Prior to coding, three overarching nodes were generated deductively on NVivo in order to capture this study's research questions. These include Node 1 ("What is digital literacy?"), Node 2 ("Whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy") and Node 3 ("Whether and how digital literacy facilitates civic engagement"). Under Node 1, six sub-nodes were added deductively in order to capture how this study conceptualized digital literacy, as operationalized above, on the basis of its review of the literature. These included "FDL1 – Digital skills", "FDL2 – Knowledge of digital affordances", "FDL3 – General dispositions towards the internet", "CDL1 – Ability to evaluate online content", "CDL2 – Knowledge about the political economy of the internet" and "CDL3 – Utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age", where FDL and CDL stand, respectively, for *functional digital literacy* and critical digital literacy. As explained earlier, and in Chapter 5 below, fieldwork was approached without knowing whether these dimensions would prove crucial in practice to experts' and advocates' digital literacy, or whether or how they intersect. As the coding process began, the material was read multiple times in order to generate sub-nodes inductively, capturing descriptive codes under Node 1 (i.e., under the six sub-nodes listed above), Node 2 and Node 3. The codes were then aggregated

under new sub-nodes, created inductively in order to capture abstract themes emerging from the data.<sup>37</sup> The diary data and fieldnotes were useful for triangulating the interview data by checking for common themes and patterns. Once the material had been read and coded several times, relationships between the codes and themes were examined by establishing connections with theory and research.

As explained earlier, the interview and diary data was subjected to thematic analysis enhanced by elements of critical discourse analysis (CDA). This was done to examine how experts and advocates discursively construct their knowledge about the digital environment, with emphasis on how their knowledge is linguistically realised and whether and how it intersects with different ideologies. During the coding process, portions of data that capture how the participants make reference to power and ideology when discussing how internet corporations operate, along with their imaginaries of society in the digital age, were double coded. This data was added not just under *Node 1, Node 2* or *Node 3* as appropriate, but also under a *CDA* node, which was created a priori, keeping in mind that CDA is "best suited … with small corpora" (Coffin, Hewings, & O'Halloran, 2014, p. 218).

Once the material had been gathered and coded, it was saved as a Word document. This document, which was categorized by theme in line with the coding process, included codes such as "Online advertising negatively affects traditional media outlets" and "Online advertising benefits businesses" under the theme "Online advertising". Afterwards, the textual material under each code was analysed in ways that partially draw on but also differ from CDA. Traditionally, CDA relies on Fairclough's (1995) analytical framework, which includes textual, discursive and social dimensions. According to this framework, the data should first be analysed linguistically in order to focus on its grammatical and stylistic properties. Second, the material should be analysed to examine whether and how such properties reflect different discourses, and how these discourses are intertwined, which is what

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Refer to Appendices 6, 7 and 8, pp. 371-387, for codes and themes generated under *Node 1*, *Node 2* and *Node 3*, including examples from data.

Fairclough (1995) refers to as interdiscursivity. Finally, the social implications of the discourses identified should be examined by reflecting on the broader social context and underlying power relations (Fairclough, 1992, p. 95).

This study limited itself to examining the textual and, to some extent, the discursive dimensions of the material gathered, which had been thematically synthesized. As argued earlier in this chapter, CDA is heavily conditioned by political choice, which is largely reflected in its discursive and social dimensions. Indeed, CDA prescribes that the relationship between, and social implications of, the discourses identified should be examined in ways that are grounded in progressive values against power asymmetries and dominant ideologies. By contrast, since this study rejects such a normative position, the data gathered was analysed primarily at the linguistic level in order to identify how experts and advocates construct their knowledge about the digital environment through the use of subject positions and interpersonal meanings, linguistically realised through pronouns, attributes, figures of speech and keywords, as well as through the use of modality to express probability, obligation or permission.

Finally, the material was analysed to examine whether and how the linguistic elements identified capture discursive elements of their knowledge. This was done, however, without imposing a left-wing position aiming to unmask, as Fairclough (1992) remarks, how different discourses "reproduce, restructure or challenge existing hegemon[ic]" structures (p. 95). Emphasis was placed, rather, on whether and how experts and advocates discursively construct their understanding of internet corporations and their utopian/dystopian imaginaries of the internet and civic life in ways that intersect with their political orientations, echoing different ideologies. With this in mind, the discursive elements identified range, for instance, from "Surveillance has become normalized" to "Surveillance is essential for ensuring collective security", and from "Government regulation of online content means giving up on freedom of speech" to "Government regulation of internet corporations is needed to gain transparency about how they operate".

### 4.5 Limitations and Role of the Researcher

The sections above have discussed epistemological limitations of the methods used along with practical limitations encountered during fieldwork, from the inability to generalize findings to different populations to the challenge of getting participants to commit to the diary. This section discusses general limitations relating to the research design of this study and my own role as the researcher.

While focusing on experts and advocates is ideal for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement, this study was limited to two middle-class social categories in the UK, which invites further research in different contexts and among different populations. Furthermore, while this study is based on a mixed qualitative methodology, quantitative research is needed to address the extent to which digital literacy correlates with civic engagement. Survey items should be created and tested on the basis of this study, particularly in the context of how digital literacy is operationalized.

Finally, since qualitative research is based on interpretation, it is essential to reflect on the background of the researcher, which can influence the research process and outcomes (Mruck & Breuer, 2003). My academic background is in media and communications. I am a supporter of the Left. I am not a British citizen and communicate in English as a second language. My cultural background and professional inexperience with activism and digital technologies were used as an opportunity for asking participants to clarify their responses, enhancing data quality. In addition, while I felt uncomfortable discussing political practices that clash with my own political interests, the choice of conducting CDA in ways that did not impose progressive values was key to minimizing bias. At the same time, as discussed above, while advocates were selected from across the Left-Right political spectrum, no activists supporting extremist ideologies driven by sentiments of violence were recruited. It is with these considerations in mind that future research should draw on this study and its methodology to address how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement.

# Chapter 5 – What is digital literacy?

#### 5.1 Introduction

This chapter sets the scene for exploring whether and how digital literacy and civic engagement intersect. On the basis of how skilled and knowledgeable experts and advocates are in the UK, I address the question of what digital literacy is. Media literacy research has under-explored how functional digital literacy intersects with critical digital literacy, while subordinating the former to the latter. To advance the field, this chapter examines the experiences of experts and advocates in order to interrogate what digital literacy consists of, addressing whether and how different functional and critical digital skills and knowledge intersect in practice.

Section 5.2 below focuses on functional digital literacy, with emphasis on experts' and advocates' digital skills, knowledge of digital affordances and general dispositions towards the internet. Each subsection builds on the previous one by exploring whether and how these dimensions of functional digital literacy intersect. Section 5.3 focuses on critical digital literacy, investigating experts' and advocates' ability to evaluate online content, knowledge about the political economy of the internet and, in line with the theoretical contribution of this thesis, utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Each subsection builds on the previous ones to examine whether and how these different dimensions intersect. Since this thesis conceptualizes critical digital literacy as incorporating an understanding of the internet as embedded in power structures, section 5.3 addresses how experts and advocates discursively construct their knowledge about the digital environment.

The sections below present examples of participants with sophisticated digital skills and knowledge, as well as of participants whose digital literacy is not as advanced. As explained in Chapter 2, this thesis is not primarily concerned with comparing experts and advocates as different social categories. At the same time, as see below, inspecting how their digital skills and knowledge differ is useful for capturing what digital literacy is. Even though this chapter includes examples of how experts and advocates use the internet both within and beyond civic life, it is limited to discussing the nature of digital literacy. Chapter 6 and 7, meanwhile, focus on how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy, and on how digital literacy facilitates civic engagement.

## 5.2 Functional Digital Literacy

Chapter 3 has conceptualized functional digital literacy as digital skills, knowledge of digital affordances, and dispositions towards the internet. Given the gaps in the literature, what was not known before the fieldwork for this study is whether these skills, knowledge or dispositions would prove crucial in practice to experts' and advocates' digital literacy, and whether and how they intersect. I answer these questions in the subsections below, using a few examples that best represent the findings of this study.

### 5.2.1 Digital skills

Central to functional digital literacy are users' digital skills. We know from research on digital inequalities, which is interested in vulnerable groups and in the non-user, that digital skills rely on a combination of operational, information-navigation, social and creative skills (Helsper & Eynon, 2013; van Deursen et al., 2014). The evidence reviewed in Chapter 3 suggests that experts' digital skills are generally well-developed. This subsection begins by examining their skills in order to illuminate the different dimensions of digital literacy and to understand how it works in practice. Chloe is a young senior analyst who works for a retail company selling household products. She has a background in computer science and has worked in the IT sector for many years. Her digital skills are central to her profession. As she explained during her interview, she deploys operational and creative skills in order to develop the software behind her company's website, enabling customers to make purchases. As she remarked:

I work with IT developers... I basically am in charge of creating the requirements for the new software. ...I design and identify the requirements [...and] work with the end-users to clearly understand what they need.

To design her company's software, Chloe uses her creative skills coupled with operational skills that enable her to run and test it. Like Chloe, Anthony deploys his digital skills in the context of his profession. He is a user experience designer who has designed the website of a library. Outside work, he uses the internet to "buy lots of stuff on Amazon ... and sell things on eBay", and deploys his creative and social skills to produce and upload videos on social media. As he put it:

Anthony: I've produced lots of music and I put that on ... Soundcloud, and Facebook even and YouTube. ...I've always wanted to be a stand-up comedian, so I [also] do comedy skits...
Researcher: And you upload them onto YouTube?
Anthony: [Yes,] I create different [comedy] characters [...and I group them] together under their own channel.

But not all experts master digital skills. This study is based on evidence that they are digitally savvy but gaps and differences, as reviewed in Chapter 3, were expected in terms of what their expertise involves. George is a university librarian who frequently uses the internet in his personal life for "buying things, online banking [...and] booking holidays". He struggles with social media because his operational skills are not coupled with social skills. This finding echoes those of research on librarianship, according to which not all librarians enjoy the same competences (Real et al., 2014). As George explained:

I'm very comfortable with the technical side of the internet. ...In my case, the challenge is ... the use of social media ... to participate, ... to express myself, to take part in discussion.

Turning to the advocates interviewed, Labour councillor Michael values how "userfriendly platforms" have become for the ordinary user, especially for creating content. Michael has his own blog, where he writes about what he does as a councillor. As he emphasized, it has become easy for a "lay person ... to build [their] own blog or ... website". The networked character of digital technologies has made it possible for a participatory culture to thrive, where users are not just consumers but also producers of content (Jenkins, 2006). Michael's remarks exemplify the blurring of professional and lay expertise in the context of using digital technologies, which is typical of such a culture. But not all advocates know how to design a blog or website, and a few find it hard to use social media. Amanda is a media activist who campaigns for media regulation and internet safety. Beyond her activism, she uses the internet for "browsing, shopping [...and] desk research". But her challenge is "the creating content side" of social media. She finds it challenging "to be original and to stand out, and not just aimlessly retweet stuff". Similarly, Jacob deploys his social skills in isolation from creative skills. He is a young Conservative activist who is active on Facebook but struggles to create and post multimodal content such as videos. Being under 20, he grew up with digital technologies, but started using social media only a few years ago. His struggle suggests that, as argued by Helsper and Eynon (2013), members of his generation are not necessarily digitally skilled and that the "digital native" rhetoric championed by Prensky (2001), among others, can be misleading.

The findings from my fieldwork suggest that a lack of digital skills is not always just a matter of competence, but also of usability. This resonates with research on human-computer interaction, as reviewed in Chapter 2. According to Aleixo, Nunes and Isaias (2012), digital skills, such as the ability to retrieve and create information online, depend on how easy it is to use the technologies. Mary is the founder of a community

environmental organization. She is confident in using social media, including her "personal Facebook, work Facebook, personal Twitter, work Twitter and ... WhatsApp" but, as she put it, "[there are] types of software I find more difficult than others. But then that's just about its usability". Similarly, as emphasized by Simon, a systems administrator in a university:

I haven't encountered a problem ... that I feel is through a lack of my own education on how to use something. I usually find frustrations coming from the sort of inherent unreliability of network services and bad design.

Mary's and Simon's remarks indicate that their digital skills depend on the usability of digital technologies. This subsection has shown that experts, despite not always enjoying the same competences, are generally well-equipped with operational, social and creative skills. This finding aligns with the rationale for focusing here on this social category because of their expertise, and it builds on research on information, IT and media professionals, as reviewed earlier in the thesis (Dewdney & Ride, 2006; Gallagher, Kaiser, Simon, Beath, & Goles, 2010; Kobre, 2008; Wineburg & McGrew, 2017). While experts know how to deploy multiple skills when using the internet, the way advocates like Jacob struggle to draw on their creative skills in synergy with social skills signals how functional digital literacy requires a combination of digital skills. On the one hand, digital technologies have made it possible for advocates like Michael to deploy creative skills as lay experts. On the other hand, the extent to which digital skills can be deployed depends on the technologies' usability.

### 5.2.2 Knowledge of digital affordances

As reviewed in Chapter 2, research on digital inequalities has paid little attention to users' knowledge of digital affordances as a form of functional digital literacy (e.g., Helsper, 2016; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). Interested in users' engagement with multimodality, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies, by contrast, has emphasized that "text-making practices ... are guided by the perceived affordances" of digital technologies (C. K.-M. Lee, 2007, p. 223). Similarly, research on humancomputer interaction has found that users learn how to use these technologies, deploying both operational and creative skills, in synergy with an understanding of their technical features in relation, for instance, to writing and coding (e.g., Angros et al., 2002; Bhatt & de Roock, 2013).

Given these strands of research, fieldwork was approached with the question of whether experts and advocates deploy their digital skills together with knowledge of digital affordances. David is an information scientist who works as a researcher in a university. In addition, he manages the websites of a few community councils. He knows that the Twitter interface differs depending on whether he uses his phone or a computer, which requires him to look "in different places" to find, for example, the home or search button. While understanding this difference is rather basic, Helen, who is a Green Party candidate and activist, is conscious of the technical features of different social media. As a digital campaigner who works at the intersection of digital expertise and civic engagement, she uses social media like Twitter and Facebook for campaigning, as well as to "communicate with other people" including friends and family. Her knowledge of digital affordances enhances her digital skills. As she explained, during her think aloud session, with regard to the Instagram interface:

[Instagram]'s very similar to Facebook in that people can like your stuff ... [she clicks on "likes" under a photo where she is tagged, opening a list of people who have liked it]. ...So, it tells me it's liked by [name of a person], who I'm following [pointing at the first person in the list. ...She then goes back to the previous page] [...And] if I click on the hashtag for Green Party... [she clicks on "#greenparty" under a photo, opening the hashtag page of the Green Party] ... this tells you how many Instagram posts ... have the hashtag Green Party [pointing at the number of posts at the top].

While Helen's familiarity with the Instagram interface underpins her social and information-navigation skills, David's operational and creative skills are enhanced by knowledge about what the internet affords in terms of coding. As he explained when talking about the layout of a website he had designed:

[He opens a folder in the Finder on his Mac laptop, using his laptop mouse touchpad... He then ... chooses a file..., opening it as a HTML page, which consists of a dark red page that contains white text inside a light red rectangle] ...what CSS does [referring to the style sheet language that he used to format the HTML page], it says, right, background is going to be red and the box is going to be there.

Understanding the affordances of digital technologies enables experts and advocates to use their technical properties, and this study found that a limited understanding of digital affordances goes hand in hand with limited digital skills. This is exemplified by how Reddit is used by Sophia, who works as a social media coordinator for a clothing company. Sophia is in charge of promoting ads on social media for her company's products. As she put it: "because of the nature of my role, I am definitely quite confident in delivering content". Beyond her professional role, she frequently uses Reddit to keep abreast of news. She deploys operational skills to access different posts. But she is unaware that these include a single number indicating the difference between upvotes and downvotes, which affects her information-navigation skills. During one of her interviews she struggled to find downvoted posts. Mistakenly, she conjectured:

There is an internal Reddit system that filters between the different kinds of categories. They do it whenever the votes come through [*she scrolls down hesitantly*] but don't [...trust] me on that. I'm not entirely sure. ...Not [...many] negatives today but when it's negative, they tend to be filtered out, so that could be why.

Sophia's lack of knowledge of what Reddit affords impinges on her ability to use it. This does not mean that she does not know how to use Reddit at all, but she misunderstands what it affords in terms of searching for information, which undermines, in turn, her information-navigation skills. This section has shown that knowledge of digital affordances, including an understanding of the digital interface and technical features of social media, is essential for deploying social, creative, operational or information-navigation skills. On the one hand, this finding builds on research inspired by the New Literacy Studies, as well as on research on humancomputer interaction (Angros et al., 2002; Bhatt & de Roock, 2013; C. K.-M. Lee, 2007). On the other hand, it invites research on digital inequalities to pay closer attention to how knowledge of digital affordances underpins different digital skills.

#### 5.2.3 Dispositions towards the internet

As discussed when reviewing the literature, different strands of media literacy research have interrogated users' general dispositions towards the internet in relation, for instance, to its advantages and disadvantages for accessing information, mental health, learning, social interaction and online shopping. These strands include research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology and, to a lesser extent, research on human-computer interaction (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Oliemat et al., 2018; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). What was obscure before the fieldwork for this study was what kind of dispositions experts and advocates have towards the internet, whether and how these dispositions intersect with their digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances, and whether and how they shape their online engagement.

What emerged from interviewing experts and advocates is that they often perceive access to information, social interaction and online shopping as areas where the internet entails risks and opportunities. As media activist Amanda put it:

I see the internet as a positive thing ... because of its access to information, its ability to connect people, to discover new things. I think there are obviously concerns around what that looks like for generations growing up totally in an internet age ... whether through our connectedness online we're somehow losing connectedness offline and skills around socializing face-to-face. This is ... concerns; it's not necessarily drawn out in evidence.

Amanda's mixture of positive and negative dispositions towards the internet resonates with research on its potential for increasing access to information as well as,

on the one hand, connectivity and social interaction and, on the other, social isolation (e.g., Borgman, 2003; Hampton, Sessions, & Her, 2011; Marlowe, Bartley, & Collins, 2017). Meanwhile, Oscar, who is head of IT for a management consulting company, values the internet for online shopping, appreciating how "everything is one-touch". As he put it: "[Even] my mother has an iPad and has discovered the joys of Amazon shopping". But he is conscious of its implications for privacy and financial safety. He worries that as "we put so much of [our information] on Facebook, [...including what] financial institutes ask for security, people are effortlessly passing security". His concerns resonate with Paullet, Pinchot and Morris's (2012) proposition that cybercrime is facilitated, however inadvertently, by users oversharing information online.

Positive and negative dispositions towards the internet are often blended with knowledge of digital affordances. Rosie is a young IT engineer and test consultant in a bank, with a background in computer science. She is in charge of testing new software, and beyond her professional role she frequently uses social media. She values search engines like Google for online shopping. Her positive disposition towards online shopping is coupled with an understanding of how Google organizes its results. She had not fully developed such an understanding before our interview, bearing witness to the socially constructed and reflexive nature of knowledge and digital literacy (Bourdieu, 1990; Schirato & Webb, 2010). Asked whether Google results are always the same, she admitted:

I've never actually thought about that, but I would assume [...they depend] on past searches and websites you frequently visit ...because sometimes ... when I'm looking for gifts ... I'm, like, it's getting ... the ... brands that I would go for.

Like Rosie, Patrick, who campaigns for lower taxation, values the internet for online shopping. At the same time, he is concerned that companies online can overcharge consumers. As already discussed here, different strands of media literacy research have largely concluded that users' positive or negative dispositions towards the internet lead respectively to online engagement or disengagement (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). Patrick's concerns, nevertheless, signal that we need to better understand whether and how users' negative dispositions coexist with their positive dispositions in ways that can be overcome by deploying digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances that facilitate internet use.<sup>38</sup> As Patrick explained, when talking about what cookies afford:

What cookies do is [...to] store information on the user. ...If you want to book flights, one day you'll go online and the price will be £200, the next day you check they'll have gone up by £40. But ... when you disable cookies on Google Chrome, and you open the page again it's back to £200.

Beyond online shopping, Rosie thinks that, while the internet has the advantage of expanding access to information, it has the downside of providing users with too much information, including content that is not interesting to her. Her concerns echo research on the internet's potential for information overload (e.g., Feng et al., 2015). As Rosie put it, this is especially the case with social media, where she does not "like it when someone's posting too much" unless they post about "self-development" or "women and their careers". As a result, she overcomes her negative disposition towards internet overload by managing her feed on social media like Facebook. Conscious of the internet's advantages for accessing content that she likes, she deploys operational and social skills along with an understanding of what Facebook affords in terms of managing her feed, hiding posts she "do[es]n't want to see".

The ways in which Patrick and Rosie understand the internet suggest that their dispositions towards the internet, in relation to shopping and accessing information, intersect with knowledge of what it affords in terms of making purchases and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Refer to pp. 214-216 below on how experts and advocates deploy negative dispositions towards the internet in ways that do not undermine their online engagement when using the internet specifically for civic purposes. In addition, refer to pp. 234-244 below on how, when it comes to critical digital literacy, experts and advocates engage in civic life by deploying both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet in synergy with other dimensions of digital literacy.

managing feed preferences on social media. That users need to have positive dispositions towards the internet in order to engage online was anticipated before beginning fieldwork, in line with existing research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology, and research on human-computer interaction (e.g., Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Oliemat et al., 2018; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). Experts and advocates, when using the internet, draw not just on their digital skills but also on their understanding of how useful it is, particularly in relation to accessing information, social interaction and online shopping. But while the aforementioned body of work has under-researched whether and how such an understanding intersects with knowledge of digital affordances, this section has shown something unforeseen. Understanding what the internet affords not only enhances operational, social, creative and information-navigation skills, as argued in the previous subsection. As examined here, it is ultimately underpinned by users' dispositions towards the internet, in relation to shopping and accessing information. Finally, negative dispositions do not necessarily undermine online engagement. Coupled with positive dispositions, they can actually contribute to engagement in ways that are enhanced by digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances.

## 5.3 Critical Digital Literacy

Chapter 3 has conceptualized critical digital literacy as not just the ability to evaluate online content but also knowledge about the digital environment, approached as including knowledge about the political economy of the internet and, as theorized by drawing on utopian studies and political theory, utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Prior to fieldwork, it was not clear whether such ability, knowledge and imaginaries would prove to be crucial to critical digital literacy among experts and advocates. Furthermore, it was not known whether and how they intersect, or whether and how they are intertwined with functional digital literacy. These questions are answered in the subsections below, which draw on a few examples that best show the findings of this study.

#### 5.3.1 The ability to evaluate online content

What emerged from interviewing experts and advocates was that the first thing they do when confronted with information, be it online or offline, is to reflect on its nature and origin. This is particularly important for information experts. Monica is a librarian who works in higher education. Online content, from news stories to posts on social media, would draw her suspicion "if it's too extreme …, if it wasn't bringing in lots of viewpoints, if it didn't have any data to back it up, and then if I wasn't sure about the source". Librarian George asks himself, "do I know the people who produced this information?". Similarly, when talking about the owner of a newspaper that he follows online, information scientist David remarked: "he's someone I can trust".

That information experts find it important to reflect on the nature and origin of information aligns with findings of librarianship studies and of research on information literacy. According to this body of work, as discussed in Chapter 2, cognitive frameworks such as the CRAAP test encourage the use of critical thinking to assess information in terms of its currency, relevance, authority, accuracy and purpose (e.g., Wichowski & Kohl, 2013). In addition, the ways in which experts and advocates assess the trustworthiness of information suggest that comparing and contrasting multiple sources, in synergy with trust in accredited media outlets, are also paramount. This practice is common among not just experts but also advocates. Interestingly, among the experts interviewed, this transcends the specific domains of their expertise, applying not just to information professionals like librarians but also to IT and media professionals.

Whitney is the director of legal affairs at a media company. In her words, "a news story will first be brought to my attention" on Twitter. Then, "there are a handful of trusted sources that I would look [to] for more detail", including, as she wrote in her diary, "the BBC News app and the *Times* app". Similarly, Christian, who is a cloud architect at a cloud services company, relies on news apps that vary in terms of ideological leaning and country of origin. As argued earlier in this thesis, *news literacy* 

is a variant of media literacy, which is specifically about evaluating news. As Christian put it: "If the same news is on multiple outlets with the same details, then it has more ... credibility". And while many value reputable news sources for their commitment to fact-checking and the quality of their reporting, for librarian George using multiple sources goes beyond relying on accredited media outlets. He wrote in his diary that, in order to "better understand" how Cambridge Analytica was involved in political micro-targeting, besides reading the *Guardian* he found it helpful to read a "balanced but still critical" blog post.<sup>39</sup> Not everyone, however, diversifies their sources sufficiently. Activist Patrick admitted that: "I only use the BBC". Similarly, Miriam, the chair of a local community council, "read[s] the *Times*, the *Guardian* and ... the BBC News... But [...not] much news beyond that".

As reviewed prior to fieldwork, information and librarianship studies have emphasized the practice of using multiple sources as crucial to evaluating information (e.g., Goad, 2002; Weiner, 2011). Besides this practice, what became evident from interviewing both experts and advocates was that contextual knowledge about a topic is essential for evaluating claims about information – and so is knowledge about the socio-political context. Such knowledge is particularly important when reading news stories, which resonates with the notion of civic literacy. As explained earlier, this notion implies knowledge of history, of the political system and of civic affairs. In addition, it can be understood as the making of informed judgements about information, which is why it intersects with notions of information and critical literacies (Lund & Carr 2008, 14; Giroux 2017).

Librarian George reads the *Financial Times* online, but "sometimes … I don't understand [their articles] because … I'm not such a finance person". Activist Adam, by contrast, who campaigns for social justice in the Middle East, is familiar with the sociopolitical context of the region, but that familiarity depends on what he reads in media reports. As he emphasized, when talking about the ongoing Syrian civil war:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> As explained in Chapter 1, the Cambridge Analytica scandal refers to the unauthorized access to and misuse of Facebook data by Cambridge Analytica for political advertising purposes. As indicated in Chapter 3, this scandal broke while fieldwork was being conducted.

It's very difficult to work out what's going on because there's no clear narrative, you just don't know who's saying what and for what purpose. The situation is so confusing.

Contextual knowledge, furthermore, is limited by personal interests. Human rights campaigner Adele reads about the Middle East, but not about Gulf politics. As she explained: "because I lived in Lebanon, I'm interested in ... stuff about Lebanon".

Whether and how contextual knowledge underpins the ability to evaluate online content has remained under-explored within media literacy research. Exceptionally, as reviewed in Chapter 2, Damico and Baildon (2007) have argued that it is essential to have "background knowledge to contextualize and corroborate sources of information" and "determine the credibility of claims and evidence" (p. 261). While little is known about the boundaries of contextual knowledge in relation to digital literacy, Adam's and Adele's remarks indicate that, even though this knowledge is important for evaluating online content, it is inherently limited.

Knowledge about the socio-political context within which information circulates requires an understanding of media bias. Such an understanding, which is central to the notion of news literacy, depends on knowledge about how traditional media operate (Maksl, Craft, Ashley, & Miller, 2017). Social media coordinator Sophia, for instance, values the BBC for its objectivity, which she knows is based on "address[ing] multiple ... dimensions" in their stories. Similarly, as head of IT Oscar remarked: "the BBC is very, very neutral ..., which is why I trust it so much". But even though the BBC is the most trusted news outlet in the UK, not everyone is satisfied with its reporting (Newman, Fletcher, Kalogeropoulos, & Nielsen, 2019, p. 69). Carol, who is a lecturer in information science and former librarian, wishes it had a more progressive agenda. She was disappointed in its coverage of the 2017 UK general election. And when it comes to other media outlets, cloud architect Christian thinks you can find news about US President Trump in "every outlet ... except for Fox News..., especially if it's negative to Trump or the Republicans". IT engineer Rosie, by contrast, has a poor

understanding of media bias. When talking about the *Daily Mail*, she said: "I believe they're more left-wing, but I don't know".

Besides contextual knowledge, what stood out from fieldwork suggests that, since online content is mediated by the internet, the ability to evaluate its trustworthiness relies also on digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances. These include information-navigation skills along with an understanding of digital design and of what search engines like Google afford in terms of comparing and contrasting information. University librarian Shawn is conscious, for instance, of the affordances of hyperlinks in terms of following up on sources and evaluating information. As he explained, when reading an article about American politics: "you get redirected to an entry [*he clicks on an abbreviation that is hyperlinked, opening a Wikipedia page*]. It could be Wikipedia; it could be an article from a news media". Similarly, cloud architect Christian relies on his ability to navigate news websites and is appreciative of what their digital design affords. While browsing the Fox News website, he explained that: "these opinions here [*pointing at "Opinion" under the headline of an article*] ... they don't even try to be objective".

For Christian, assessing whether information online is badly written, or whether a website is badly designed, is important. At the same time, as with information scientist David, he is conscious that misinformation can be well-presented. This is why many experts and advocates ultimately rely on the practice of using multiple sources. This practice is not just a question of using multiple news apps and relying on accredited media outlets, as examined above, but also underpinned by awareness that search engines like Google afford the possibility of deploying information-navigation skills to compare their results. As digital campaigner Helen explained:

If a particular name is mentioned in the article, I will Google those names plus the content of the article. Sometimes, I'll pick up an unusual sentence ... and Google that to see if it's been copied from somewhere else. Similarly, Julia, a policy officer at an organization campaigning for digital rights, uses Google Reverse Image Search to assess the origin of images. Freelance journalist Joseph uses Google Translate to "find different sources" and "get different angles" on news stories. Community founder Mary uses Google to access fact-checking sites such as Snopes. And user experience designer Anthony checks the trustworthiness of a website by deploying information-navigation skills and knowledge of what is afforded by WHOIS protocols, which are available on Google. During his think aloud session, he said:

There's lots of WHOIS lookups [scrolling up and down several Google results] ... if I find something [...that] I think it's dodgy... Let's just try ICANN... [he clicks on "whois.icann.org/en"] ...so, say you like a website that's published by Joeblogs.com, I can find out where that website is, where it's hosted, and who has registered that.

In short, the ability to evaluate online content is not only based on being able to reflect on information, on contextual knowledge and on the use of multiple sources, but also relies on information-navigation skills and knowledge of what search engines and websites afford in terms of comparing and contrasting information. This finding suggests that critical digital literacy requires functional digital literacy. As a result, it problematizes media literacy research inspired by social psychology, critical pedagogy and the New Literacy Studies, which has under-explored how functional digital literacy enhances evaluation skills (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Kahne, et al., 2012; Kellner & Share, 2007a; Martens & Hobbs, 2015). Given the gaps in the literature, this finding came as a surprise. As discussed here earlier, information science research has argued that searching for and comparing information is valuable for assessing its trustworthiness (e.g., Goad, 2002; Weiner, 2011). A few studies, furthermore, have approached digital literacy as incorporating knowledge of digital affordances (e.g., Buckingham, 2007a; Dezuanni, 2018; Livingstone, 2014; Livingstone & Van de Graaf, 2010). Ultimately, however, media literacy research has paid little attention to how critical digital literacy

intersects with functional digital literacy, with studies placing the latter in a secondary position (e.g., Buckingham, 2007a; Lankshear & Knobel, 2006).

By contrast, the examples above suggest that functional digital literacy is crucial to the ability to evaluate online content. Given that this thesis conceptualizes critical digital literacy as incorporating an understanding of the digital environment, I examine in subsection 5.3.4 below whether and how such an ability is underpinned not just by functional skills and knowledge about the internet but also by such an understanding. The latter consists of knowledge about the political economy of the internet and, as conceptualized in Chapter 3, utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. This is why critical digital literacy is inherently political: it is about understanding the internet as embedded within the socio-political context. Before addressing whether and how the knowledge of both experts and advocates about the digital environment enhances their ability to evaluate online content, subsections 5.3.2 and 5.3.3 shed light on what their knowledge consists of, how it is discursively constructed, and whether and how it intersects with functional digital literacy.

#### 5.3.2 Knowledge about the political economy of the internet

I have argued in Chapter 2 that media literacy research has predominantly approached the critical dimension of digital literacy as the ability to evaluate online content. Exceptionally, Buckingham (2007a) and Fry (2014) have drawn on critical pedagogy to emphasize that it should incorporate knowledge about the political economy of the internet, including an understanding of how information circulates online, in relation to ownership, advertising and regulation

According to Ofcom (2019a), around one third of internet users in the UK do not know how online services are funded, and less than 50% of adults know how to identify online ads. Their study signals that many in the UK are not aware of how internet corporations operate, but it does not go much further into what users do or do not know. By contrast, our study found that most experts and advocates are well aware that corporations like Google and Facebook profit from collecting, and sharing with advertisers, users' personal data and user-generated content. Peter, an information consultant and former librarian, remarked that: "Google, Twitter, Instagram, they all ... rely on adverts to make more revenue". Similarly, Emma, a technical business analyst who works in a bank, knows that "they collect ... your personal details [...and] things you are searching for [...to] give you targeted ads".

Knowledge about the political economy of the internet is often intertwined with knowledge of digital affordances, which is an example of how critical digital literacy intersects with functional digital literacy. What became clear during fieldwork was that many experts and advocates are not just aware of *why* internet corporations, driven by economic interests, collect users' data, but they also know *how* the corporations do this, and are conscious of how cookies function and what they afford for their business models. Disentangling these two forms of knowledge is not as straightforward as it may seem, since they complement each other. On the one hand, understanding how search engines and online platforms operate as internet corporations is a form of critical digital literacy. On the other hand, understanding how they function technically is a form of functional digital literacy.

Social media coordinator Sophia, for instance, knows that internet corporations like Google profit from online advertising. Relatedly, she knows that they track users by using cookies in order to target them with ads. Her knowledge about online advertising is blended with knowledge about cookies. As she explained:

If you create a business account with Google ... you are able to generate ... ads, which are attached to the cookies... Once [users] come into [a] website, [a] cookie is dropped, and then they leave and Google tracks them through that. And the ad generates on the different pages that they visit.

Activist Jacob, by contrast, however conscious that internet corporations like Google and Facebook profit from advertising, does not know that they use cookies, or that they operate under different ownership, which adds to his lack of knowledge. Asked whether he needs to be logged in to Facebook to be tracked, he replied: "I don't know... Is Facebook owned by Google or do they cooperate?".

Sophia's and Jacob's remarks suggest that knowledge about how internet corporations operate, in order to be sophisticated, needs to be coupled with knowledge of what their platforms afford for their business models. The intersection of these two forms of knowledge, which is a form of critical and functional digital literacy, is arguably implicit in Pangrazio and Selwyn's (2019) approach to data literacy as incorporating *socio-technical* knowledge about *why* and *how* users' data is collected and processed online. Generally, however, media literacy research has paid little attention not only to how functional skills and knowledge about the internet enhance the ability to evaluate online content, as examined in the previous subsection, but also to how knowledge about internet corporations intersects with an understanding of what their platforms afford in terms of collecting users' data.

Unlike Jacob, who does not know enough about internet corporations, Activist Adam has doubts about Twitter, suggesting that it is impossible to fully understand how it operates because of a lack of transparency. As he emphasized: "the only way [Twitter] can be making money ... has to be on getting information on its users and selling it on somewhere... [However,] the mechanisms for doing that are not clear". While we need more research on whether and how digital literacy depends on the structure of the digital environment, Adam's reservations invite us to go further than the literature reviewed in Chapter 2. More specifically, they echo Livingstone's (2018) proposition that "we cannot teach data literacy without transparency" (para. 10).

Considering how experts and advocates discursively construct their knowledge about internet corporations, it is clear that this knowledge entails different positions that legitimize, and place responsibility on, different actors.<sup>40</sup> Media publisher Frank, for instance, blames online advertising for having affected traditional media outlets. His

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See subsection 5.3.3, pp. 147-160, for how they construct discursively not just their knowledge about the political economy of the internet, but also their imaginaries of society in the digital age.

concerns echo research on the amount of revenue that the news industry is losing to online platforms (e.g., Hogarth, 2018). Talking about traditional media, he said:

The majority make their money from advertising. However, the scale of that revenue and the potential growth is very small... Say that in 2017 there are 100 pounds ... spent on digital advertising in the UK and the next year there are 101 pounds. Of that extra pound, Facebook and Google get 95 pence of it and everyone else is scrambling around for the other five pence.

Frank juxtaposes "Facebook and Google" with traditional media outlets, positioning the latter as having shifted from profitable ("revenue", "growth") to "declining" as a result of their asymmetrical power relationship with the former. He frames Facebook and Google as profiting the most from online advertising ("95 pence" of one pound), while traditional media outlets compete for an insignificant amount ("scrambling around", "five/ pence").

By contrast, according to social media coordinator Sophia:

Sophia: Google is the one linking us to that audience to target. ...Google is the glue. ...I'll give you an example, googling ... how to eat Kit Kat. ...if I am in the confectionary industry, I would be applying the term Kit Kat ... often...

Researcher: How does that relate to how people['s...] data is collected? Sophia: We access this through Google. We can access all these key terms that people have searched most and utilize that to our advantage.

Sophia juxtaposes "Google" with "us" as a proxy for businesses like her clothing company, which advertises its products online. Google is framed as a tool ("linking", "glue", "utilize") that enables companies (e.g., "the confectionary industry") to "target" their "audience[s]" to their "advantage" by "access[ing]" users' search habits. The real beneficiaries are not Google, but the companies that advertise their products online through Google. In short, knowledge about the political economy of the internet can be discursively constructed in different ways. While "discourse production ... is impossible without knowledge", the latter "presupposes [that] discourse" can take multiple forms (van Dijk, 2003, pp. 87–89). As shown above, both Frank and Sophia understand the business models of internet corporations such as Google and Facebook. But they construct their knowledge discursively by taking different positions on the power relations between such corporations and, respectively, media outlets and advertisers. The positions of both suggest that knowledge about the political economy of the internet, and therefore critical digital literacy, can be articulated differently when it comes to understanding the internet as embedded in power structures. In the next subsection, I build on this argument in order to reflect on its implications for media literacy research. In addition, I examine how experts' and advocates' imaginaries of the internet are discursively constructed in ways that intersect with different imaginaries of civic life and different ideologies.

# 5.3.3 Utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age

A few studies have argued that digital literacy should ultimately incorporate an understanding of the role of the internet for civic life (Banaji & Buckingham, 2013; Fry, 2014). Relatedly, according to Mihailidis (2018) and to Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al. (2016), it should be based on civic imagination, which enables users to imagine socio-political alternatives. On the one hand, these studies have expanded how we can understand critical digital literacy. On the other hand, they leave aside the question of how to disentangle users' understanding of the internet from their understanding of the socio-political system. As a result, Chapter 3 has conceptualized critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking, framed dialectically as relying on both utopianism and dystopianism.<sup>41</sup> While such an approach to critical digital literacy prescribes that users should understand both the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> In Chapter 3 I have argued that such a dialectic is based on the interdependence of imagination and realism, and that critiquing the dystopian limitations of the present is a *sine qua non* for projecting utopian possibilities.

potentials and the limitations of the internet for civic life, fieldwork was approached through two questions, which are relevant here. First, does applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy enable us in practice, as theorized in Chapter 3, to explore users' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age, differentiating between their imaginaries of the internet and of civic life? Second, in what ways, if any, do experts and advocates discursively construct their imaginaries in line with different ideologies?

Media research has employed the notion of social imaginaries to refer to different discourses about the internet (e.g., Felt, 2015; Goggin, 2015). Mansell (2017), for instance, has focused on the internet's potential for economic and political freedom, on the implications of internet regulation and surveillance for maximizing financial profitability and collective security, and on how the internet contributes to forms of coercion. By contrast, as discussed earlier in this thesis, less is known about how users construct their imaginaries of the internet, with Treré (2019), exceptionally, looking at activists' imaginaries of the internet's potential to facilitate both democracy and authoritarianism. Despite paying little attention to media literacy theory, a few studies within political research have examined how users' understanding of the internet shapes their civic practices, with emphasis, for instance, on its potentials and limitations for sharing political content on social media, organizing protest, corporate power and the use of alternative media (e.g., Barassi, 2015b; Gustafsson, 2012; McCurdy, 2011; Penney, 2016). Links with these studies are established in Chapter 7 in the context of how experts' and advocates' imaginaries of the internet intersect with their imaginaries of civic life, shaping their civic engagement. The present section, by contrast, is limited to shedding light on the nature of their imaginaries and on how these are discursively constructed, reflecting, in turn, on the nature of critical digital literacy.

I found that experts' and advocates' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age are often blended with knowledge about the political economy of the internet, along with an understanding of digital affordances. Their imaginaries of the internet and of civic life revolve predominantly around democracy as an aspiration,

populism, misinformation and surveillance as constraints of the digital age, and internet regulation as a possible, but often contested, condition for reimagining the digital environment.

#### Democracy

Both experts and advocates are concerned about citizens' dissatisfaction with representative politics in the West and appreciate the internet's potential to improve liberal democracy through e-voting. According to librarian Shawn, the "ability to cast your vote ... online would be a major improvement to voter turnout". But as policy officer Julia emphasized:

People imagine e-voting as this magical thing that is going to increase participation and democratize everything. [...But if] it is not secure enough, it's going to be really easy to rig the elections and essentially make the democratic process unattainable, or non-existent.

Conscious of the internet's dystopian implications for data security, Julia discursively juxtaposes the utopian imaginary of e-voting as a "magic solution" with a dystopia where elections are "rig[ged]" and representativeness is "unattainable" or "non-existing". Her understanding of e-voting resonates with academic research (e.g., Zissis & Lekkas, 2011), which suggests that knowledge about the digital environment, and therefore about critical digital literacy, sits between lay and academic expertise. As captured by Seiter's (1999) approach to audiences' *lay theories of media*, lay knowledge replicates or contradicts academic knowledge, which is rooted in the "critical judgements [...of] ordinary people" (Boltanski, 2011, p. 4). Constructed as an imaginary, knowledge about the digital environment lies at the intersection of realism and imagination, which is typical of utopian thinking (Shor, 2010, p. 124). It sits between rationality and affect, which are intrinsic to knowledge (Jaggar, 1989), and it is both utopian and dystopian.

As argued in Chapter 3, the dialectic behind utopian thinking, which Jameson (2005, pp. 15, 180) refers to as a "negative dialectic", requires that tensions are not pacified into a synthesis but in a constant state of conflict. Julia's imaginary captures the idea that utopian thinking is based on the opposition of utopianism and dystopianism. And while dialectical thinking in the philosophical realm involves argumentative negotiation that resolves tensions into solutions, her imaginary suggests that argumentation in everyday life is reduced, as proposed by Billig et al. (1988), to the articulation of "opposing themes" (pp. 3, 6). Approaching critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism therefore prescribes that users should appreciate *de facto* the internet's civic potentials *and* limitations. Such an approach builds on media literacy research on users' understanding of the internet and with civic imagination (Banaji & Buckingham, 2013; Fry, 2014; Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Mihailidis, 2018). At the same time, this is an analytically richer approach because it emphasizes the (negative) dialectic inherent in such an understanding. Furthermore, it allows us to disentangle users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life, that is, from their imaginaries of the socio-political order. As discussed earlier when theorizing critical digital literacy, Postill (2013, 2014) has found that activists' progressive visions of collective justice are often blended with cyberlibertarian utopianism, promoting individual liberty and minimum internet regulation. His work does not engage with media literacy theory, but suggests that activists' imaginaries of the internet intersect with different imaginaries of civic life.

Information scientist David appreciates the internet's potential for participatory democracy, as discussed by Loader and Mercea (2011). As he put it: "when the internet came about, [...we thought] we'll all have a vote, we'll all be able to take part in town hall meetings". But he is concerned about the internet's dystopian implications of elitism. He thinks that "there will always be people who can't use [it]", as addressed by G. Martin (2017). Not only is David's imaginary of the internet constructed dialectically as both utopian and dystopian, but it also intersects with civic utopianism about democracy. The latter, for him should be both "representative and participatory". His vision of social change, as a supporter of the Left, is based on

"work[ing together] for the best" but he worries that citizens' direct involvement in decision-making may not be for the common good.

Andrew is a community councillor and Green Party supporter. He appreciates the internet's potential for improving democracy by "making engagement easier [...and] providing information", but is conscious of its dystopian implications of corporate power. His imaginary of the internet intersects with left-wing libertarian utopianism, along with knowledge about the political economy of the internet. Based on decentralization of power, left-wing libertarianism aligns with Green politics (Neumayer, 2004). Andrew worries that the internet has not "fulfilled its early promises" to decentralize power and overcome capitalism. Similarly, according to environmental activist Roger:

[The internet was] seen as a way to bypass a capitalist system, which would mean, I built this app. I'm not going to charge you for it, but I will ... sell your data to this party ... as if it's not engaging in capitalism in the same way.

Roger frames the internet as providing the illusion of "bypass[ing]" capitalism. His imaginary echoes Turner's (2006) critique of cyberlibertarianism as rooted in progressive principles appropriated by Silicon Valley entrepreneurship and free-market spirit. For Roger, the internet has failed to meet expectations of a left-wing libertarian utopia.

### Populism

Both experts' and advocates' imaginaries of society in the digital age revolve around not just democracy but also extremism, which librarian George worries has infiltrated mainstream politics in the West in the form of populism. This refers to a political approach that is often at the service of radical ideologies that appeal to citizens by capitalizing on their dissatisfaction with institutional politics (Müller, 2016). Labour councillor Michael is concerned about Brexit and populism in ways that intersect with awareness of the internet's utopian/dystopian potential for politics. He values the internet for making politicians "more accessible", but is conscious of its dystopian implications in terms of facilitating right-wing and far-right politics. As he explained:

Populism has ... tapped into the internet in the way that, say, *status quo* parties haven't. ...The Brexit campaign ... was able just to reach out... As much as I'd want to be optimistic, I find myself more pessimistic... [Brexit] has unearthed a lot of negativity... In Britain we kind of thought, oh, we're post-racial [...and] very liberal ... and then Brexit ..., this big bang and it's made us very illiberal.

Michael's views resonate with the findings of research on the internet and far-right populism (Alvares & Dahlgren, 2016; Cammaerts, 2018). His civic dystopianism is blended with digital dystopianism. He discursively constructs his imaginary of the UK (through "pessimistic" and "negativity") as a country which, afflicted by Brexit as a calamity ("big bang"), has shifted as a result of internet-mediated populism from "post-racial" and "very liberal" to "illiberal".

Sue also worries about extremism, along with the polarization of political views. She is a member of the Conservative Party and former vice president of a right-wing libertarian organization that campaigns for free speech. As she emphasized:

If we don't do anything to stop the polarization ... people will be too busy fighting each other or be[ing] at each other's throats to worry about who we are going to vote next [time] for our prime minister.

Sue's imaginary of civic life is constructed as a dystopia where elections and civic debate are undermined by polarization, hyperbolized through "fighting" and "at each other's throats". While she values the internet for "connect[ing] us to all kinds of people", her civic dystopianism is tangled with awareness of the internet's dystopian implications of a rise in far-right trolling, echoing Forestal's (2017) concerns. Trolls, as librarian Peter remarked, are users who "look for a way to start arguments". For Sue, the internet has contributed to platforms like 4chan, where far-right trolls thrive.

In short, while Labour councillor Michael's imaginary of the internet is blended with left-wing dystopianism about populism, Sue's imaginary of its potential for extremism and trolling coexists with dystopianism about polarization, underpinned by right-wing libertarian values. How both discursively construct their knowledge suggests that users' imaginaries of the internet intersect with imaginaries of civic life that are aligned with different ideologies. This finding challenges those of media research inspired by critical pedagogy. As argued in Chapter 2, this strand of research has approached critical literacy as inherently left-wing (e.g., Feria-Galicia, 2011; Kellner & Share, 2007).<sup>42</sup> By contrast, applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy suggests that understanding of the internet as embedded in power structures transcends Left-Right politics.

### Misinformation

As well as populism, both experts and advocates often construct their imaginaries of society in the digital age around misinformation. Christian feels "pessimistic", believing that we "live in the post-truth period" where facts no longer matter, which undermines democracy and citizens' ability to make informed decisions, as argued by Nichols (2017). Christian's civic dystopianism is blended with digital utopianism/dystopianism. His post-truth dystopia is a digital dystopia where you can speak "freely without … responsibility", but he values the internet's potential for a well-informed citizenry in ways that intersect with a positive disposition towards its advantages for providing "amazing access to information" beyond politics. The way his disposition is blended with his imaginary exemplifies how functional digital literacy can intersect with critical digital literacy. While the former is not about understanding the internet as embedded in power structures, the latter is inherently political.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> In Chapter 2 I have argued that the critical pedagogy tradition prescribes that students' critique and action will necessarily be progressive, with little room for different ideologies.

Senior analyst Chloe values the internet's democratizing potential "to discover ... the opinions of the minorities", as advocated by Downey and Fenton (2003), but has an awareness of its dystopian implications in terms of misinformation that intersects with knowledge about internet corporations and digital affordances. Her critical digital literacy intersects with her functional digital literacy. She is conscious that content on Google and Facebook is organized via algorithms that draw on users' search habits and preferences. Relatedly, she knows that their algorithms create filter bubbles that, as examined by Vaidhyanathan (2018), reinforce users' pre-existing beliefs and exposure to misleading content. As she emphasized:

The Facebook algorithm shows [you] what pleases you rather than what needs to be shown to you [..., which] is really detrimental to a democracy and [to] having an unbiased opinion, or ... having the factual information.

Unlike Chloe, activist Patrick exempts internet corporations from responsibility for spreading misinformation. As he put it: "if you decide to tell ten lies to a friend and you write a letter to them and the postman delivers it, is it the postman's fault? …I think it's your fault". Patrick positions the internet as a means, blaming those who use it to misinform. His "postman" metaphor aligns with the idea that the internet should enable free expression and, as encouraged by the E-Commerce Directive, "movement of information society services" (EU Parliament and Council, 2000, p. 2). His imaginary of the internet is blended with an understanding of internet corporations, which is intertwined with civic utopianism. As a right-wing libertarian, he is optimistic that "the market will correct itself" as internet corporations "find new ways of getting … reliable [information]". His optimism echoes Tomasi's (2012) championing of the free market. Relatedly, his understanding of misinformation and of internet corporations suggests that critical digital literacy can be discursively constructed in different ways, depending on one's ideological leanings.

#### Surveillance

Experts' and advocates' imaginaries of society in the digital age also revolve around surveillance, and are often based on knowledge about the political economy of the internet. According to environmental activist Roger, the internet makes it "harder for a government to do something nefarious ... and just get away with it". His imaginary of internet transparency feeds into civic utopianism about "equity and justice". But he is concerned about the internet's dystopian implications when it comes to tracking users through platforms like Google and Facebook, which has "become completely normalized". His concerns resonate with research on internet surveillance (Fuchs, 2010; McChesney, 2013). Similarly, conscious that the internet has "a huge potential for being beneficial and negative", user experience designer Anthony worries about its implications for government surveillance. As he put it:

If this country ... would turn to be more authoritarian [..., and] if we lost our political freedoms, which could always happen, which happens, we would be extremely and completely vulnerable to being rounded up in prison for just being left-wing or right-wing.

As a progressive supporter of liberty, Anthony discursively constructs his dystopian imaginary of the UK government (synecdochally referred to as "this country") as potentially "authoritarian". By shifting the modality of his hypothetical clause ("if this country") from epistemic to declarative ("which could always happen", "which happens"), he frames his dystopia as more probable than possible.

Liberal Democrat candidate Mark appreciates the internet's potential "to provide a voice for people" but worries about its dystopian implications not just for surveillance but also for voter manipulation, based on data tracking. As he wrote in his diary about the Cambridge Analytica scandal: "I have read with grave concern the extent in which Facebook and ... Cambridge Analytica have been using personal data for highly Orwellian manipulation of elections". As an advocate of liberty, he frames Facebook and Cambridge Analytica, through intertextuality, as responsible for his dystopia of voter "manipulation" ("Orwellian"). But while he worries about online microtargeting,

he fails to question its effectiveness at manipulating users, as disputed by Baldwin-Philippi (2017) and Risso (2018). His imaginary is not symptomatic of critical digital literacy but lacks the balance between imagination and realism intrinsic to a dialectical approach to utopian thinking (Jameson, 2005, pp. 15, 180; Marin, 1990; Shor, 2010, p. 124).

Similarly, activist Alex, who campaigns for social justice, constructs his dystopian imaginary of voter manipulation in ways that are based on fabricated knowledge, which is why it is articulated as a conspiracy theory. As he put it: "[The government is] an integral part of the dysfunction... [It] implement[ed] certain algorithms into Facebook ..., turned a blind eye [...and] packed [its] pockets". Alex frames the Cambridge Analytica scandal as a dystopia ("dysfunction") where the government is complicit with Facebook ("they turned a blind eye") and responsible for "implementing certain algorithms" while sharing its profits ("packed their pockets"). Critical of the government, his dystopian imaginary is based, however, on imagination, not realism. It is indicative of a lack of critical digital literacy, illustrating how imagination, when devoid of realism, is antithetical to knowledge (Currie, 1998, p. 161). Librarian George, by contrast, knows that online microtargeting is not new and that "nobody can really prove" its effectiveness.

But not everybody sees data tracking as a constraint of the digital environment. Being knowledgeable about how internet corporations operate, head of IT Oscar, a Conservative supporter, sees surveillance as a legitimate technology of the state. He worries about the internet's dystopian implications for misinformation, but values its potential to "create a personal archive of human interaction", which resonates with research on governments' use of social media data (Bertot, Gorham, Jaeger, Sarin, & Heeyoon, 2014; Q. Huang & Xu, 2014). As he emphasized:

If you have nothing to hide, if you're a perfect law-abiding citizen, then if the government are looking at you, they're going to see that you like going to the opera... Even if all of our technology didn't exist, you still exist in terms of written documents.

By framing surveillance as a government operation used for archiving information, Oscar places responsibility on the "perfect law-abiding citizen", who should share their private life if they have "nothing to hide". Similarly, Conservative activist Jacob values the internet's potential for the government to access users' data. His views echo research on collective security (Bajc, 2013; Cucchiara, 2005). For him, internet surveillance is not a dystopia but a condition of his utopian vision of collective security, based on protecting citizens from "crime or terrorism". His imaginary resonates with Betts's (1992) proposition that such a vision aligns with conservatism's aspiration to preserve the *status quo*. In short, how the internet is discursively constructed reflects different imaginaries of civic life and different ideologies. As argued above, approaching critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism problematizes the expectation that knowledge will necessarily be constructed in the service of progressive values.

## Regulation

Finally, both experts' and advocates' imaginaries of society in the digital age are often about regulation. Amanda campaigns for media regulation and internet safety within an organization rooted in conservatism. Government regulation is key to her utopian vision of social change, which intersects with utopianism/dystopianism around the internet's potential for participation as well as for misinformation and harmful content. She thinks that "imposed regulation [...of online content is the] best thing". According to Amanda, the right to free speech should not be a deterrent to regulation, as suggested by Leets (2001) and Wu (2017).

For Liberal Democrat Mark, government regulation is crucial to overcoming his dystopia of corporate power and realising the utopia of a "liberal society". As he wrote in his diary: "social media does have the potential for … bringing people together. However, in a completely unregulated landscape its use will always be skewed to those who wish to make most money out if it". Mark is concerned about the internet's dystopian implications in terms of exacerbating corporate power ("those who … make most money"). For him, it is not the regulation of online content that is essential to his utopia, but the regulation of internet corporations, of how they are taxed and how they handle users' data. His imaginary echoes Yar's (2018) proposition that they should be liable for failing to regulate their own platforms. Similarly, according to learning technologist Matthew, the government should regulate their "monopolistic tendencies".

Librarian Shawn's vision of social change relies on utopianism around the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).<sup>43</sup> As he wrote in his diary before this was implemented:

Perhaps the provisions of GDPR, with its "privacy by design" and returning the control over data to the users will help in reshaping the way internet giants operate [...through the] imposition of hefty financial penalties for breaching the law.

Juxtaposing "users" with internet corporations (hyperbolized as "giants"), Shawn discursively constructs his utopianism around GDPR as hopefully ("perhaps") redressing power imbalances by giving users "control" over their data. His utopianism parallels Coopamootoo's (2018) research with privacy experts who "hope" that users will become more empowered with GDPR (p. 78). Blended with dystopianism around corporate power and knowledge about the affordances of digital design, this exemplifies how critical digital literacy can intersect with functional digital literacy.

But while Shawn values GDPR, not everyone is in favour of government regulation, with its emphasis on regulating not just how corporations operate but also online content. When it comes to the latter, the fear of losing liberty is intertwined with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> GDPR stands for General Data Protection Regulation, a piece of EU legislation on data protection implemented in May 2018 (EU Parliament and Council, 2016). This legislation aims to give users more control over their data by requiring companies that provide online services to prioritize users' privacy. Among the requirements, companies need to take account of data privacy in the design of their online services (referred to as "privacy by design"). They need to seek users' informed consent before colleting their data. They need to minimize the amount of data they collect. The data they collect must be erased when it is no longer needed for its original purposes. Users, furthermore, have the right to request companies to erase their personal data (known as the "right to be forgotten").

dystopianism around internet surveillance. As right-wing libertarian Sue remarked: "I don't think people will be comfortable having the internet police watching their every move on social media". Similarly, and appreciative of the internet's "potential for [both] emancipation and ... control", left-wing campaigner Adam is conscious of the thin line between regulating the "extraordinarily unpleasant" side of the internet and "censorship", which resonates with research on free speech and censorship (e.g., Aranda Serna & Belda Iniesta, 2018).

Sceptical of regulation, IT engineer Rosie's utopianism/dystopianism around the potential of artificial intelligence for content filtering intersects with awareness of the internet's dystopian implications with regard to misinformation and hate speech. This is blended with knowledge about internet corporations and digital affordances – an example of how critical digital literacy can intersect with functional digital literacy. She values the internet for raising awareness, but knows that the algorithms of corporations like Facebook are not sophisticated enough to filter online content, as discussed by Davidson, Warmsley, Macy and Weber (2017) and Osoba and Welser (2017). As she emphasized:

Artificial intelligence is really, really powerful. [...But] it's [not] smart enough to understand irony or satire. [...Furthermore,] any bias that gets fed into it [...is] going to come out, but it'll come out a hundred times worse.

Rosie refers discursively to artificial intelligence as a "powerful" technology that could enable algorithms to distinguish misinformation and hate speech from "irony or satire". But she frames this, through an oxymoron, as "intelligence" that is not "smart enough" and can amplify human "bias", with detrimental effects ("a hundred times worse"). For Rosie, the utopia of artificial intelligence can turn into a dystopia. Instead of expecting the government to implement or avoid regulation, she places responsibility on technological progress. Indeed, the way that experts and advocates discursively construct their imaginaries of regulation suggests that knowledge about the internet's civic potentials and limitations is blended with different imaginaries of civic life. And it often intersects with an understanding of internet corporations and digital affordances.

## 5.3.4 Back to the ability to evaluate online content

Having discussed how experts and advocates understand the digital environment, I can return to the question of whether and how their knowledge underpins their ability to evaluate online content, together with their functional digital literacy. The subsections above have argued that not all experts and advocates have a sophisticated understanding of the digital environment, especially when it comes to data tracking and voter manipulation. But when they do have such an understanding, this study found that their knowledge shapes how they compare information and use multiple sources online. Subsection 5.3.1 above shows that, besides contextual knowledge and reflections on the nature and origin of information, the ability to evaluate online content relies on the practice of using multiple sources, in synergy with digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances. Ultimately, what emerged from fieldwork suggests that this practice is also underpinned by knowledge about the digital environment, which is indirectly beneficial to evaluation of online content.

Librarian Peter follows multiple media outlets on Twitter in order to form a balanced opinion. Appreciative of the internet's potential for mainstream and non-mainstream content, he values the latter for representing social minorities. His views resonate with research on alternative media (e.g., Downey & Fenton, 2003). As a Labour supporter who believes in helping, for the betterment of society, "people that are suffering", he thinks that "it's good to hear both sides". At the same time, he is conscious of the internet's dystopian implications in terms of undermining political debate through misinformation, hate speech and irrelevant content, as addressed by Oxley (2012) and Forestal (2017). As a result, he relies on his information-navigation skills to search for information – an example of how his critical digital literacy is intertwined with functional digital literacy. As he explained:

When I am using Twitter and I want to find out about Brexit [*he types "Brexit" into the search bar*] ... if I just type the word "Brexit" ... [*he clicks on "Search"*] ... you can see there is quite a lot [...of] irrelevant [posts] ... [*pointing at a tweet about Brexit that is not from a politician*]. I don't really want to look at this. I just want Brexit and politicians. I want politicians to be talking. So, one way I can do this is by adding the word "politician" [*he scrolls up, clicks on the search bar and adds "politician"*]. ... it's reduced the end results, showing anything about politicians. If you look here [*referring to the first tweet that has appeared in the results*], this is about an MP.

Mindful of the dystopian implications for internet surveillance inherent in how internet corporations operate and in their collection of users' data, librarian Carol "worr[ies] about ... privacy and facial recognition in protests". Insofar as she also values the internet's potential for diversifying information and using multiple sources, she uses Google and DuckDuckGo as search engines, appreciative that the latter is less invasive of privacy. Aware of what these search engines afford, she admitted: "sometimes I just can't find [what I'm looking for] on DuckDuckGo so then I will use Google". Similarly, systems administrator Simon compares information on the two search engines, conscious that DuckDuckGo's "index is [not] as comprehensive as Google's". The way Carol and Simon use the internet resonates with the findings of research on data literacy, which is interested in how users engage online in ways that are underpinned by privacy concerns (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019; Preibusch, 2015). Their experiences suggest that these kinds of concerns shape the way information is accessed and compared on the internet.

According to senior analyst Chloe, engaging with information that confirms one's preexisting beliefs is "detrimental to … democracy['s]" reliance on a well-informed citizenry. As librarian Monica remarked, it has a "profound impact" on the ability to diversify and evaluate sources. Aware of the dystopian implications of the filter bubble inherent in how algorithms organize online content, media professional Whitney looks beyond Google's top results when searching for information. Her knowledge of how Google operates and what it affords in terms of accessing multiple sources informs her ability to evaluate online content, bearing witness to how critical digital literacy can intersect with functional digital literacy. Similarly, conscious of the internet's potential for exacerbating the polarization of political debate by exposing users only to what they like, journalist Abby "look[s] at [the] Twitter accounts" of people that have oppositional views" to hers. Indeed, as librarian Shawn emphasized:

We all have preferred ways of accessing information and sources ... but it would be good to be in the loop of what other people that you don't normally agree with think.

Shawn's remarks echo a few studies within information science, which have argued that digital literacy should incorporate knowledge about the filter bubble and how to use the internet to access multiple sources and diversify one's exposure to information (e.g., Johnson et al., 2012; Spratt & Agosto, 2017). Blended with an understanding of the internet's implications for civic life and of how internet corporations operate, this kind of knowledge is both functional and critical.

This subsection has argued that understanding the digital environment shapes the practice of using multiple sources, enhancing, in turn, the ability to evaluate online content. This finding challenges the idea that knowledge about the media ecosystem, however crucial to appreciating the context in which information circulates, may not necessarily be helpful, as suggested by Hobbs (2011, p. 426), for practically evaluating its trustworthiness. This subsection has shown that understanding the internet's potentials and limitations for civic life, with emphasis on its implications for political debate, surveillance and the filter bubble, can intersect with knowledge about internet corporations in ways that are blended with an understanding of what search engines and online platforms afford, shaping, in turn, the ability to use multiple sources and evaluate online content.

### 5.4 Discussion

This chapter has addressed what digital literacy is. The fieldwork was approached with an idea, informed by the literature, of what functional and critical skills and knowledge could be crucial to digital literacy. But it was not known whether these skills and knowledge would prove crucial to digital literacy among experts and advocates in the UK. Furthermore, since media literacy research has approached digital literacy by focusing on functional or critical aspects over others, it was not known whether or how these intersect. Understanding that internet corporations profit from advertising does not necessarily require an understanding of what cookies afford for their business models, as demonstrated by activist Jacob's limited knowledge. Similarly, as exemplified by social media coordinator Sophia, one may be able to deploy operational skills when using platforms like Reddit, but without an understanding of what these afford when searching for posts. Indeed, this study found that not all experts and advocates are digitally skilled or knowledgeable about the digital environment. But many are digital savvy and, in terms of how they use digital technologies, their digital literacy relies on a combination of functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet.

When it comes to functional digital literacy, fieldwork revealed that not only are digital skills enhanced by knowledge of digital affordances, but the latter is also underpinned by general dispositions towards the internet. As captured by one of the examples discussed above, information scientist David deploys operational and creative skills to design websites in ways informed by an understanding of what digital technologies afford. Interested in digital skills, digital inequalities research has paid little attention to the importance of such an understanding, unlike research inspired by the New Literacy Studies or research on human-computer interaction (e.g., Angros et al., 2002; C. K.-M. Lee, 2007). This strand of research, furthermore, has largely approached users' positive or negative dispositions towards the internet as respectively beneficial or problematic for their online engagement (e.g., Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Hakkarainen, 2012; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2015). So has research on human-computer interaction, as well as educational research inspired by social psychology (Chou et al., 2009; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Peng et al., 2005). By contrast, this chapter has argued that we need more research on how users' positive

dispositions may be coupled with negative dispositions in ways that can be overcome through deploying digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances. As seen above, activist Patrick, for instance, values the internet for online shopping but has worries about companies overcharging consumers that are blended with his knowledge about cookies. To avoid this risk, Patrick knows how to manage his cookies before making purchases online. His negative disposition towards the internet does not undermine his online engagement. In fact, it contributes to it.

When it comes to critical digital literacy, this thesis argues that it should be understood not just as the ability to evaluate online content but also as knowledge about the digital environment. This knowledge was conceptualized in Chapter 3 as including an understanding of the political economy of the internet and, as theorized by drawing on utopian studies and political theory, utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age, differentiating between imaginaries of the internet and civic life. What was obscure before fieldwork was conducted was whether such an approach would prove beneficial to researching critical digital literacy, as conceptualized here, among experts and advocates. Relatedly, it was not known whether or how its different dimensions intersect.

This study found that the ability to evaluate online content is underpinned by imaginaries of the internet's potentials and limitations for civic life, which are blended with knowledge about how internet corporations operate. This finding problematizes the idea that understanding the media ecosystem, as suggested by Hobbs (2011), may not necessarily be beneficial for evaluating information. Furthermore, while media literacy research has often subordinated functional to critical digital skills and knowledge (e.g., Buckingham, 2006; Lankshear & Knobel, 2006), this study has discovered that functional digital literacy enhances critical digital literacy. Their relation is partial, as each can be deployed independently. But, in order to be sophisticated, critical digital literacy needs to rely on functional digital skills and knowledge. Knowledge about internet corporations is often intertwined with an understanding of what their platforms afford for their business models. In addition, digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances enhance the ability to evaluate

online content. In order to discuss these findings in more depth, let us take a closer look at what this chapter has argued, drawing on some of the examples presented above.

This chapter has shown that the ability to evaluate online content relies on reflections on the nature and origin of information as well as on contextual knowledge, which builds on the findings of research on information literacy and human-computer interaction, as reviewed in Chapter 2 (e.g., Damico & Baildon, 2007; Wichowski & Kohl, 2013). Since online content is mediated by the internet, what emerged from the fieldwork suggests consistently that such an ability also requires digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances. Conscious of what Google affords, many experts and advocates use it to compare different sources. The practice of using multiple sources, furthermore, is underpinned by an understanding of internet corporations, which is often intertwined with knowledge of what cookies and algorithms afford for how these corporations operate. This finding builds on a few studies in information science, according to which digital literacy should include an understanding of how search engines and social media function (e.g., Johnson et al., 2012; Spratt & Agosto, 2017). Ultimately, this chapter has argued that such an understanding is blended with imaginaries of the internet. Information science lecturer Carol, for instance, is concerned about its implications for privacy and surveillance. Conscious of its potential for diversifying information, she uses multiple search engines, not just Google, to search for and compare different sources. Journalist Abby is mindful of its implications for creating filter bubbles, which exacerbate the polarization of public debate. As a result, she diversifies her information on social media by following users with opposing views.

This study has found that approaching critical digital literacy as incorporating users' utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age enables us to disentangle their imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life. This was anticipated theoretically but it was not known whether or how experts and advocates construct *de facto* their imaginaries of the internet and civic life. Fieldwork revealed that their imaginaries of society in the digital age revolve around democracy,

populism, misinformation, surveillance and regulation. In the process of discovering these findings this chapter has drawn on research on the role of the internet in relation to e-voting, far-right politics, Cambridge Analytica, surveillance, GDPR and artificial intelligence (Bajc, 2013; Cammaerts, 2018; Coopamootoo, 2018; Osoba & Welser, 2017; Risso, 2018; Zissis & Lekkas, 2011).

In terms of understanding the internet, policy officer Julia values its potential for revitalizing democracy through e-voting. But she is cautious of its dystopian implications with regard to data security. Her imaginary is based on understanding its potentials and limitations, as prescribed by a dialectical approach to utopian thinking. Sitting between rationality and affect, her imaginary lies at the intersection of academic and lay expertise, which is typical of audiences' understanding of the media (Seiter, 1999). Expecting critical digital literacy to rely on both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet prescribes that understanding the internet in either positive or negative terms is antithetical to critical digital literacy. Furthermore, while media research inspired by critical pedagogy has framed critical literacy as inherently progressive (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007), what stood out consistently during fieldwork was that knowledge about the internet is discursively constructed in ways that intersect with different imaginaries of civic life and different ideologies.<sup>44</sup> For environmental activist Roger, the internet has failed the left-wing libertarian promise to bypass capitalism. Right-wing libertarian Sue values its potential for political participation but worries about its dystopian implications with regard to far-right politics. Progressive Anthony, however, is concerned about internet-based government surveillance, which is key to Jacob's conservative utopia of collective security.

As explained in Chapter 3, this thesis is not primarily concerned with comparing experts and advocates as different social groups. Nevertheless, this chapter has examined, in order to reflect on the nature of digital literacy, how their digital skills

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Chapter 7 builds on this argument to show how critical digital literacy facilitates civic engagement in line with different ideologies.

and knowledge differ. As mentioned at the beginning of this section, I found that there are skills and knowledge gaps among experts and advocates. While activists Jacob and Amanda struggle, for instance, with the creative side of social media, activist Alex misunderstands the implications of the Cambridge Analytica scandal. At the same time, even though experts are generally better equipped with digital literacy than advocates, many advocates are digital savvy. And this is especially the case for those whose professions revolve around digital media, as with digital campaigner Helen who is confident navigating social media. I found that digital literacy depends not just on one's own competences, but also on the usability of digital technologies, which builds on research on human-computer interaction (e.g., Aleixo et al., 2012), as reviewed in Chapter 2. In addition, while we need further research, what emerged from fieldwork suggests that digital literacy also depends on how internet corporations operate and on their degree of transparency, as explained here by drawing on the work of Livingstone (2018). In short, users need multiple skills and socio-technical knowledge about the digital environment. But digital literacy is patchy because of gaps in individual and collective knowledge.

This chapter invites media literacy research on digital literacy as explored here, that is, incorporating the functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet examined above, with emphasis on how these intersect. Future research should build on this study to approach critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism and explore how functional digital literacy enhances critical digital literacy. This study, however, was limited to two middle-class social categories, as argued in Chapter 4. Finally, while this chapter has investigated what digital literacy is, research is needed on how different populations develop and deploy digital literacy, as conceptualized here, within different contexts. Based on the skills and knowledge of experts and advocates, Chapters 6 and 7 below examine this in the context of their civic engagement.

# Chapter 6 – How civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy

## 6.1 Introduction

Chapter 5 has explored what digital literacy is, on the basis of how skilled and knowledgeable experts and advocates are in the UK. This chapter and the next address, respectively, whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy, and whether and how digital literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement. As argued in Chapter 2, media research has either prioritized how media literacy is learned through formal education, or it has also focused on informal learning, but only occasionally within civic life. Furthermore, except for research on the policy implications of media literacy and digital inequalities, media literacy research has generally focused more on children than on adults. Questions about whether and how experts and advocates develop their digital literacy through civic engagement bring to the fore questions about formal and informal learning, which in turn invite reflection on how to promote this among the adult population. The sections below examine how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy informally through social interaction (Section 6.2 below), information seeking (Section 6.3) and experience of using digital technologies (Section 6.4). Finally, section 6.5 explores how civic engagement contributes to learning digital literacy through both formal and informal training. Each section below examines how experts and advocates learn different dimensions of digital literacy, and how these dimensions intersect.

## 6.2 Social Interaction

Chapter 2 has noted that a few traditions of media literacy research have focused on the importance predominantly of formal education for school and university students' learning of digital literacy. Despite addressing informal learning to some extent, educational research inspired by social psychology has prioritized how students learn to evaluate online content as well as gaining digital skills and dispositions towards the internet within formal educational settings (e.g., Cazan et al., 2016; Kahne et al., 2012; Peng et al., 2005). Similarly, the critical pedagogy tradition and research on humancomputer interaction have generally paid more attention to formal learning. Leaving aside exceptions (e.g., Buckingham, 2003, 2007b), this tradition has addressed how students learn to challenge, and produce alternative, media representations within classroom settings (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007; Morrell et al., 2013). It has focused on how students develop digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances in relation, for instance, to coding and writing (e.g., Angros et al., 2002; Bhatt & de Roock, 2013).

Compared with this body of work, other traditions have shown more interest in informal learning. Recent work in information science, as well as on digital inequalities, has emphasized how both children and adults learn digital skills informally through social interaction, moving away from understanding digital literacy as embedded primarily within individual cognitive processes (e.g., Helsper, 2017; Meyers et al., 2013). As discussed earlier in this thesis, social interaction involves a process of sharing reality with others, which is crucial for learning, as captured by the notion of social learning (e.g., Bandura, 1977; Webb, 1989). Building on the idea of connected learning, which describes learning as a social process (Ito et al., 2013), the New Literacy Studies has argued consistently that digital literacy is contextually situated, placing emphasis on social interaction, both online and offline (Gourlay et al., 2013, p. 4). This strand of research, including studies at its intersection with critical pedagogy, has focused on young users' digital skills, prioritizing their social and creative skills, as well as their critical understanding of media representations (e.g., Drotner, Jensen, & Schrøder, 2008; Mihailidis & Cohen, 2013). Overall, nevertheless, media literacy research has under-explored whether social interaction provides opportunities for learning digital literacy specifically within civic life, understood as not just community but also political life. Exceptionally, Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-

Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al. (2016) have examined youth activism, arguing that networked engagement online facilitates a transfer of digital skills and critical reflections about socio-political issues. This transfer results from the creation and sharing of multimodal content, based on activists' interaction within online communities (Jenkins, 2016, p. 17).

Considering how this line of inquiry differs from media literacy research on formal education, this study approached the field with the question of whether and how formal and/or informal learning enables experts and advocates to develop digital literacy in the context of their civic engagement. Relatedly, it was not clear whether or how social interaction might play a role in their process of learning. While the first question above is answered across this chapter, what follows in this section is a response to the second question, based on examples that best represent the findings of this study.

Media educator Linda, who works for an organization promoting media education, has improved her ability to use digital technologies with the help of colleagues. Growing up, besides often studying computing or media studies at university, experts often refine such ability by relying on the help and guidance of friends, relatives or university colleagues, in ways that go beyond their civic engagement. By contrast, interacting with colleagues involved in civic life can enable advocates and experts professionally committed to activism – that is, individuals like Linda who work at the intersection of expertise and advocacy – to improve their digital skills. Linda's organization lobbies for media education, as well as providing training and resources for media studies teachers. As argued in Chapter 5, functional digital literacy requires a combination of digital skills. While Linda understands the broader digital environment and is conscious of how internet corporations operate, she struggles with the technical side of digital technologies because of her limited operational, social and creative skills. As she put it:

Linda: I'm certainly not very good at Twittering, at Tweeting [...and] I am very poor at things like downloading stuff and editing stuff. ...

- Researcher: Do you recall any instances of asking for help...? How did you learn how to use [the internet]?
- Linda: Constantly. ... We have a wonderful woman called Jessica who ... is responsible for running our website here [...and] helping us to access shared files and so on ... She is the kind of go-to person here. Before that, we've always had, you know, designers around or people around who knew a little bit more than me, so I was constantly asking them really.

Similarly, Jacob, who campaigns for the Conservative Party, has improved his social and creative skills with the support of fellow activists. We saw in Chapter 5 how, despite growing up with digital technologies, he started using social media like Facebook only a few years ago. On the one hand, he struggles with creating multimedia content like videos. On the other hand, Jacob feels confident in using social media for interacting and posting information. Asked how he learned to use these, he replied:

I found it relatively easy. ... But also, like, talking to other colleagues within my party, including Kate, [...who is] really good. She gives me tips ... on how to use it. ...I did for example ask her about putting photographs [on Facebook].

Linda's and Jacob's remarks suggest that engaging collectively in civic life can be valuable for informally developing digital skills through social interaction involving help and guidance from colleagues. Before presenting further examples from this study's fieldwork, it is worth highlighting the ways in which this finding builds on research on digital inequalities, research in information science, and research inspired by the New Literacy Studies. As discussed earlier in this section, these traditions include studies on the importance of socialization for learning digital literacy (e.g., Gourlay et al., 2013; Helsper, 2017; Meyers et al., 2013). Leaving aside these studies, however, these traditions come from different positions. Research in information science and on digital inequalities have generally approached users' digital skills as embedded within individual cognitive processes, with little attention to the social context (e.g., Macpherson, 2013; Wichowski & Kohl, 2013). By contrast, the New Literacy Studies has focused primarily on the collective dimension of digital literacy as contextually situated (K. A. Mills, 2010).

As argued in Chapter 3, in order to find common ground this thesis draws on cognitive sociology to approach the cognitive dimension of digital literacy as socially constructed in ways that apply to both individual and collective processes. How Linda and Jacob have improved their digital skills is an example of how digital literacy can be developed at the individual level, but in ways that are situated within collective practices of civic engagement. Beyond media literacy research, such an example builds on media studies on social movements, as reviewed earlier in this thesis. Treré (2012) has studied the protests of the Anomalous Wave movement against university funding cuts in Italy in 2008. While his work does not engage with notions of media literacy or questions about learning, he has emphasized how the most "tech-savvy activists ... provided the expertise and practical skills needed to help other activists carry out their online protest practices [...and] improve the effectiveness of online advocacy" (Treré, 2012, p. 2368).

Not only can advocates and experts professionally committed to civic life learn digital skills through social interaction with colleagues in the context of their civic engagement, but they can also learn these alongside knowledge of digital affordances. As examined in Chapter 5, this knowledge represents a dimension of functional digital literacy, which has to do with understanding, for instance, digital design, the character of networks, and what platforms afford in terms of their technical features. How this kind of social interaction contributes to digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances is captured by something that Conservative activist Moana explained during one of her interviews. Moana is involved in a Conservative association that fundraises and campaigns in support of the Conservative Party. Social interaction in the form of help and guidance from fellow activists has enabled her to develop the operational skills she needs in order to use the campaigning platform of the Conservative Party. At the same time, this kind of interaction has enabled her to understand what this platform affords, and how it should be used for campaigning. We know from political research that activists increasingly use campaigning platforms

that integrate different tasks, from managing emails and making phone calls to designing petitions, into a unified system (e.g., Aron, 2015; Hughes, 2018; McKelvey & Piebiak, 2016). As Moana put it:

- Moana: We have a VoteSource system at [name of Conservative Party campaign headquarters]... It's ... an internet company which we use to log in to make calls to all the constituencies around the country whenever there's [...an] election... If there's a new person ..., they have to set up their own VoteSource account to be able to call. A lot of people tend to have problems...
- Researcher: [Are there any] people who would help them?
- Moana: ... Yes, I learned from them... [For example,] there's ... one woman called Tanya... For me, anything ... I don't understand, I try to find ... the guys who are very savvy.

As reviewed prior to fieldwork, research on human-computer interaction has emphasized how social interaction within classroom and training settings provides students with opportunities for learning not just digital skills but also what digital technologies afford, including operational and social skills, as well as an understanding of their affordances for writing (e.g., Bhatt & de Roock, 2013; Nunes et al., 2015). Moana's remarks suggest that, beyond formal education, social learning, based on social interaction, contributes to informally developing knowledge of digital affordances through civic engagement, particularly in the context of understanding how to use campaigning platforms. This finding was unforeseen, considering the gaps in media literacy research. Chapter 5 has found that functional digital literacy is often intertwined with critical digital literacy. Before shedding light on how social interaction within civic life provides opportunities for understanding digital affordances in ways that intersect with critical skills and knowledge about the internet, we need to examine whether and how social interaction is beneficial for learning not just functional but also critical digital literacy.

On the one hand, social interaction within family settings can be particularly beneficial in enabling experts, including those whose professions sit between expertise and

advocacy, to develop contextual knowledge, which in turn allows them to refine their ability to evaluate online content. On the other hand, social interaction in the form of talking to friends involved in politics and to supporters can enable advocates to develop knowledge about the political economy of the internet, as well as utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Chapter 5 has argued that these are crucial dimensions of critical digital literacy, showing how they intersect. When it comes to the ability to evaluate online content, what stood out from fieldwork suggests that discussing news within the household is particularly valuable for gaining contextual knowledge about the socio-political context behind news stories, which Chapter 5 has shown is essential for evaluating online content. This kind of social interaction is prevalent among experts like information scientist David, who runs the websites of, and takes minutes for, a few community councils. David uses news apps like the *Guardian* to keep abreast of politics. When he reads something he is not familiar with, in order to assess its accuracy he asks his wife, who works as a civil servant for the government. As he put it: "she is in a position to know ... a lot more detail [..., which is why] I trust her".

As discussed in Chapter 5, knowledge about the socio-political context in which information circulates includes an understanding of traditional media bias. Like David, media publisher Frank is an avid user of news apps. He understands media bias, which helps him to assess the reliability of news stories. He values accredited media outlets for their "professionalism", based on the principle that "any story" must be "verifiable". But he knows that the *Guardian*, for example, is "fundamentally liberal", that "it's highly unlikely to ever support the Republicans in the United States", and that it is not as "vociferous in the support of the Labour Party" as the *Mirror*. Growing up in and interacting with his family was crucial for him in developing an interest in news and an understanding of accredited media outlets. As he explained:

Growing up, we always had newspapers at home and my parents read to me a lot when I was small ... and then I developed a pretty early interest in newspapers myself... I remember from the early age of 13 I used to get the *Sunday Times* fairly regularly ... and that interest in the news and ... trust of big news brands like that is pretty well established. That social interaction in the context of civic engagement can provide informal learning opportunities that enhance the ability to evaluate online content was anticipated before fieldwork. As reviewed in Chapter 2, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies has found that young activists develop critical reflection about multimodal content, from blog posts to videos, by interacting within online communities (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; McGinnis et al., 2007). David's and Frank's experiences, which are not of engaging with online communities, suggest something different. That is, that social interaction within family settings is valuable for gaining contextual knowledge about current affairs, the socio-political context and traditional media bias, which is essential, in turn, for evaluating online content. Relatedly, the way Frank gained interest in news along with knowledge about news outlets signals the importance of family life for developing civic literacy, together with news literacy, which is a variant of media literacy.

As reviewed earlier in this thesis, a few citizenship and political education studies have argued, exceptionally, that civic literacy, understood as the ability to engage in civic life as well as knowledge about the socio-political system and current affairs, should incorporate the ability to question information, online and offline (e.g., Bennett et al., 2009; Davies & Hogarth, 2004; Lund & Carr, 2008). This is why civic literacy can be approached as intersecting with notions of information, critical and digital literacy. However, leaving such exceptions aside, this intersection is under-researched. As a result, the extent to which digital and civic literacy can be learned at the same time was not foreseen before fieldwork. Examples of how experts and advocates learn civic literacy in tandem with digital literacy are presented across this chapter. What we have seen in this section suggests that discussing news within family settings was crucial for Frank, as a child, to develop an interest in news, learn about current affairs and understand media bias. This finding can be explained by drawing on research that was not reviewed in Chapters 2 or 3. Frank's remarks echo the idea that parents can teach their children media literacy while encouraging their news habits (Fromm &

Smith, 2019). On the one hand, family life is a space of political socialization and civic engagement with news, as argued by N.-J. Lee, Shah and McLeod (2012). On the other hand, it is a space of informally learning media literacy, as advocated by Marsh and colleagues (Marsh, Hannon, Lewis, & Ritchie, 2015; Marsh & Thompson, 2001).

Social interaction within civic life can be beneficial for developing not just the ability to evaluate online content but also knowledge about the political economy of the internet and of digital affordances, that is, critical and functional digital literacy. This is particularly the case for advocates. As emphasized by human rights activist Adele: "talking [to friends] about ... social media is quite a common topic of conversation ... because it's such a dominant feature of our lives". Like Adele, this is how right-wing libertarian activist Sue improved her understanding of how internet corporations operate and what their algorithms afford for online advertising and profiling of users by collecting their data. She knows that "the Facebook algorithm is [...used] to advertise things to you that they know that you'll like, based on your Google searches and your public data". Talking to friends involved in politics has contributed to her knowledge. As she emphasized:

[Once] we were just laughing at how stupid the Facebook algorithm can be... I always get really awkward Asian dating sites promoted to me. And I'm like, ... am I really the demographic you're trying to promote this to? So, in regard to social media campaigning, you're, like, I wonder what the algorithm is.

Sue delegitimizes the Facebook algorithm by describing it as "stupid" and "awkward", given its inability to profile users correctly. Her remarks resonate with Schou and Farkas's (2016) proposition that, however advanced, "Facebook's algorithms are not always perfect" (p. 41). It is through social interaction with friends involved in politics that Sue has come to "wonder" how it works for "social media campaigning". Except for a few studies (e.g., Treré, 2015, 2019), media research on how activists understand the algorithms of social media has been limited. While research is needed on how they develop such an understanding, Sue's remarks suggest that civic engagement provides opportunities for learning informally about these algorithms through social interaction.

As emphasized when reviewing the literature, a few studies within the New Literacy Studies tradition have argued that the literacies of different segments of society are embedded within power structures and based on social interaction that is never symmetrical (e.g., Barton & Hamilton, 2005; G. Myers, 2005). At the same time, while this tradition has ultimately championed social interaction for its contribution to active and collaborative learning beyond formal education (e.g., Brown, 2015; Lankshear & Knobel, 2003), less is known about whether social interaction can be detrimental to learning digital literacy. Interestingly, something that emerged from fieldwork suggests that it can. Robert is an academic affiliated with a right-wing libertarian group that advocates economic liberty. As he explained during his interview: "I'm really quite bad at using computers and technology... So I rely on other people, usually my brother". But while interaction with his brother has enabled him to improve his digital skills, interaction with a colleague who shares similar political views has distorted his understanding of what search engines and online platforms afford in terms of how they operate as corporations. Robert is unaware that Google's results are algorithmically organized on the basis of users' preferences and past searches, beyond their popularity. Because of what his colleague told him, he has come to conjecture that they are organized in ways dependent on Google's own political and economic agenda and its support from the government. As he put it:

I am perfectly aware ... that Google is biased. ... I have a fellow academic who is ... quite on the Right. He told me ... "don't use Google if you can... because Google skews the results". ...He wrote a book ... on ... a politicized issue. ... In the context of discussing his book, he told me, ... "if you look for my book ..., Google has placed [it] among the top results with regards to negative reviews". ...Corporations [like Google] have their agendas and very often they are in control thanks to the support that they get from the government.

Robert frames Google as "biased" not because of how its algorithms function, privileging popular content, but because Google's political and economic interests allegedly affect its results. His position, linguistically realised through words like "skews", "agendas", "control" and "support ... from the government", involves fabricated knowledge and, therefore, a lack of functional and critical digital literacy.

This means that social interaction can undermine, and not just facilitate, digital literacy, which has remained under-explored within media literacy research. This finding, which was unexpected given the gaps in the literature, did not emerge as prominently as the idea that social interaction *is* valuable for learning digital literacy, with experts benefitting from interacting with family, and advocates from interacting with friends and colleagues involved in politics, as examined above. While this signals that we need more research on this subject, in order to make sense of it, we can draw on education and child development studies, according to which social interaction can have both positive and negative consequences for learning (Eddowes & Ralph, 1998; Evans, 2009, p. 111). An extreme example is that of the correlation of social learning with youth delinquency (Winfree, Bäckström, & Mays, 1994). While social interaction is key to language development, it is not always beneficial, since language can be used to spread false information (Wells, 1981).

Ultimately, however, this study found consistently that social interaction contributes to functional and critical digital literacy among experts and advocates. And not just in relation to their knowledge about digital affordances and the political economy of the internet, as shown above. As explained in Chapter 3, this thesis conceptualizes critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism, differentiating between users' imaginaries of the internet and their imaginaries of civic life. Such an approach suggests that critical digital literacy requires an understanding of the internet's civic potentials and limitations. Even though a few media studies on social movements have examined how activists understand the internet as embedded in power structures, these studies have rarely engaged with questions of learning, underresearching how they gain such an understanding (e.g., Barassi, 2015b; Treré, 2015). By contrast, drawing on both critical pedagogy and the New Literacy Studies, Jenkins and colleagues have emphasized that social interaction within online communities enables activists to develop and share their knowledge about the internet and its implications for activism, which they deploy to engage creatively with multimodal

content in ways that are underpinned by civic imagination (Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Shresthova, 2016; Soep, 2016).

What was unknown before fieldwork was whether and how social interaction within civic life is beneficial for constructing utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Relatedly, it was not clear whether these kinds of imaginaries can be developed in synergy with any other functional or critical dimensions of digital literacy. The answer to these questions emerged from interviewing advocates, as best captured by how Mary has refined her understanding of the digital environment. Mary is the founder of a community environmental organization. Her civic utopianism/dystopianism about climate change intersects with an understanding of the internet's utopian/dystopian potential for raising awareness. Her imaginary of the internet is intertwined with knowledge of what social media algorithms afford in terms of online visibility. Her vision of social change is about "mak[ing] our environment [...and] world a better place". But she worries that "we won't have any trees left on Earth", since "15 billion trees are cut down each year". Her concerns echo research on tree density worldwide (e.g., Crowther, Glick, & Bradford, 2015). Asked whether and how the internet plays a role in the context of her hopes and concerns, she replied:

The internet brings us closer together globally... [It enables us to] reach people and mobilize, using online communication to activate offline action. [...And it enables] people to find out what's happening [...and] how they can get involved... But I think the limitation would be that my voice might not be heard that well online.

Mary frames the internet as facilitating mobilization and raising awareness as well as having limited impact ("my voice might not be heard"). Her imaginary resonates with media research on the internet's potentials and limitations for participating in noninstitutional politics (Garrett, 2006). Offline and online interaction with people interested in her organization has contributed to her imaginary, while also enhancing her knowledge of what the internet affords for raising awareness and maximizing online visibility. As she explained:

...I was out in the field ... and a woman came by and ... I told her about [Mary's organization] and she said [..."if I add you on Facebook] right now then you'll always just pop up and I won't have to seek you out". And I thought ... that means I have to do more postings so that I stay active and so that she gets engaged [...and my posts] will come up in her feed. ... Similarly, ... one of our events ... got cancelled [and a woman] wrote... "we were really looking forward to it". ... And then because she follows us, she heard about [another event] and she came along ... So, yes, there are opportunities to engage people.

Interacting with supporters of her organization has prompted Mary to reflect on the potential of the internet for "engag[ing] people", along with its affordances and limitations for maximizing online visibility ("that means I have to do more postings"). In short, social interaction has provided her with opportunities for informally gaining functional and critical digital literacy in the context of her civic engagement.

This section has examined how social interaction enables advocates and experts professionally committed to civic life to informally learn functional digital literacy, developing operational, social and creative skills as well as knowledge of what online platforms afford for campaigning. While social interaction, in this case, takes the form of receiving help and guidance from colleagues, talking to family and friends contributes to the development of critical digital literacy. Discussing news within family settings can be particularly beneficial to experts in terms of gaining contextual knowledge about current affairs and, especially while growing up, traditional media bias. This practice enhances their ability to evaluate online content, while also refining their civic literacy. Social interaction, however, can also undermine digital literacy, distorting knowledge about how internet corporations operate. Ultimately, nevertheless, it provides opportunities for learning both functional and critical digital literacy, which are prevalent among advocates. Discussing with friends involved in politics how social media operate can enable activists to better understand internet corporations and what their platforms afford for targeting users with ads. Finally, as we saw with Mary, interacting with supporters of her organizations has enabled her to

construct imaginaries of the internet's implications for raising awareness, refining her knowledge of what the internet affords for maximizing visibility.

## 6.3 Information Seeking

As explained earlier, fieldwork was conducted with the question of whether and how experts and advocates learn digital literacy formally and/or informally in the context of their civic engagement. The section above has shown how they do so informally through social interaction. This section presents a few examples in order to examine how they learn functional and critical digital skills and knowledge through the practice of seeking information. The concept of *information seeking* refers to obtaining information in human and/or technological contexts (Limberg & Sundin, 2006). When human-mediated, this overlaps with *social interaction*, but it is employed here to refer to a process that is technologically mediated in ways that involve no direct exchange between human actors.

What emerged consistently from fieldwork suggests that experts, given their interest in digital technologies, are particularly keen to access, follow and engage with information about the internet. Media literacy research has under-explored whether and how the practice of information seeking is valuable for learning digital literacy. Before discussing this further, let us examine how this practice has enabled Carol, for instance, to develop functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet in the context of her civic engagement. Carol, a lecturer in information science and former librarian, is aware of how internet corporations operate. She knows that social media like Facebook profit by "selling [users'] data to other companies" for advertising purposes. Relatedly, she knows that they track users through cookies. As she put it: "when you go to a website [...that is] using cookies, they would store that on your computer ..., and that would allow [...them to] get certain information about what you were doing on that website". Conscious of what cookies afford for internet corporations and of their implications for users' privacy, Carol knows how to manage and delete those stored in her browser. As she explained:

Carol: To see ... what websites [...are] collecting [my] information. ... I would normally go to that right-hand side line thing [*she clicks with the touchpad mouse of her laptop on the menu button, which is on the right side of the top bar of her Firefox browser*]. ...And then here ... is where I would change the cookies [*she opens a section that allows her to manage her cookies, after clicking on "preferences" and "privacy and security"*] ...

Researcher: What do these settings allow you to do with the cookies?

Carol: You can close them ... when your browser closes or leave them just to expire naturally. [...Or] you can "manage data" [*she clicks on "manage data", opening a list of her cookies*]. So, I could select [any of the cookies] if I want to get rid of specific ones.

Carol's knowledge about how internet corporations operate and what cookies afford is underpinned by the practice of seeking information from civil society organizations that campaign for online privacy, which she follows on social media. Such a practice has enabled her to refine her knowledge as well as her ability to manage her cookies and privacy settings, developing critical and functional digital literacy. When asked how she has learned what she knows and how to manage her settings, she replied:

[I] just picked it up because, periodically, a lot of the people I follow on Twitter [like] the Electronic Frontier Federation, the EFF, ... tweet guidelines, best practices for ... trying to shore up your security or privacy online. [...They have] like, little mini checklists about stuff you can do [like] chang[ing] your settings.

Before introducing more examples from fieldwork, it is worth reflecting on the implications of Carol's remarks. That information seeking can be beneficial for learning digital literacy was not expected on the basis of the literature review. To some extent, this finding can be explained through drawing on research inspired by information science and librarianship studies. But while this strand of research was reviewed in Chapter 2, this finding extends beyond the literature reviewed, and can only be explained partially, inviting further research. Information science research has

emphasized how the practice of seeking information is central to information literacy, which is generally understood as the ability to access, locate, evaluate and create information (Information Literacy Meeting of Experts, 2003, p. 1). A few studies within this strand of research have argued that such a practice enhances the quality of students' learning outcomes, irrespective of what they study (e.g., Limberg & Alexandersson, 2009; Limberg & Sundin, 2006). Indeed, as argued by research on information-seeking behaviour, which is a branch of information science that predates the internet, this kind of behaviour is explained by a motivation to learn and fulfil information needs (e.g., Weiler, 2005; Wilson, 1981). Less is known, however, about whether information seeking is valuable not just for learning in general but, more specifically, for learning digital literacy.

Carol's remarks suggest that it is. In addition, they signal that media activism plays an important role in promoting knowledge about the internet, which ties in with policy research about media literacy. As argued earlier in this thesis, according to this body of work, advocacy and campaigning organizations that raise awareness about the media, whose work falls under *media activism*, have the potential to promote media literacy among adults, who are hard to reach via the education system (e.g., del Mar Grandío, Dilli, & O'Neill, 2017, p. 124; Jeong et al., 2009, p. 112). These kinds of organizations are often involved in campaigning and providing resources on the media. Carol's experience suggests that seeking information from organizations involved in media activism by following them on social media is beneficial for informally learning digital literacy.

Information seeking within civic life can come in different forms. Like Carol, senior analyst Chloe is interested in online privacy. But while Carol follows civil society organizations on social media, Chloe reads about online privacy on tech blogs, relying on her community of experts. In addition, reading news can be particularly valuable for learning about the digital environment, with emphasis, again, on privacy and how users' data can be (mis)used. This study found consistently that this applies to both experts and advocates, with many referring in their interviews to Cambridge Analytica. Media regulation campaigner Amanda was asked, for example, how she came to

understand how internet corporations operate in terms of their implications for users' privacy and political advertising. As she put it: "there's been a lot more media coverage ... of things like the Cambridge Analytica scandal". Reading about this scandal was an opportunity not just for advocates like Amanda, interested primarily in its political implications, but also for experts, who understand the digital environment, to refine their knowledge of what online platforms afford in terms of collecting and taking advantage of users' data.

As argued in Chapter 5, this knowledge is often blended with utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age, as exemplified by how Anthony has refined his knowledge about the digital environment. While he is pessimistic about the failures of the political system in the West to represent citizens, he is "optimistic that the [election of] Trump ... in America has awoken a sleeping giant of protest". His utopianism/dystopianism about politics and the representative character of liberal democracy intersects with utopianism/dystopianism about the internet. Conscious that the latter has "a huge potential for being [both] beneficial and negative", he thinks that it can democratize access to information, but worries about how "propaganda [...can] be used ... against society" through targeted advertising based on internet surveillance. His imaginary of the internet resonates with the literature on its potential for democracy but also for propaganda and surveillance (e.g., Bradshaw & Howard, 2018; Coleman & Blumler, 2009; McChesney, 2013).

Anthony's imaginary of the internet is blended with an understanding of how internet corporations operate and what their platforms afford for tracking users' data, which is an example of how his critical digital literacy intersects with functional digital literacy. Reading news about Cambridge Analytica provided him with an opportunity to refine such an understanding. Interviewed when Cambridge Analytica was still operating,<sup>45</sup> Anthony explained:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Following the Cambridge Analytica scandal and allegations of bribery, Cambridge Analytica closed its operations in May 2018 (Solon & Laughland, 2018).

Anthony: Cambridge Analytica ... worked for Trump and ... down to that person who lives there... they're profiling on all the political sort of things...
They get a profile and ... they can pick out the vulnerable people, using targeted advertising... And they can find that through Facebook...
Facebook ... collect[s] my data because it has a monetary value to them... Information is not just information. It's also coupled with all the engines that are processing this information [..., which is why] I could be easily tracked down within seconds...

Researcher: How did you learn about this, about Cambridge Analytica? Anthony: ...News bites. Yes, there's several.

Anthony frames Cambridge Analytica as having targeted the most "vulnerable" in the US to vote for Trump through profiling and "advertising" on Facebook, mindful of what its platform affords for tracking users' data ("information is not just information"). His experience suggests that reading news about the digital environment is valuable for informally learning critical and functional digital literacy.

This finding was somehow expected, since fieldwork took place when public concerns about Cambridge Analytica were very resonant. But it was not anticipated that it would emerge as prominently as it did, or that it would bear witness to how digital literacy can be learned in tandem with civic literacy. For Anthony, as with many experts and advocates, following news about Cambridge Analytica enhanced his understanding of how online platforms like Facebook operate, what they afford for tracking users' data and how the latter can be profiled for political purposes. At the same time, it enabled him to learn about the political implications of Cambridge Analytica while keeping abreast of current affairs. Political research has argued that information seeking is essential for gaining political knowledge (Xenos & Becker, 2009), which is at the heart of civic literacy (Lund & Carr, 2008). Anthony's remarks suggest that reading news can be beneficial for developing both civic literacy and digital literacy.

This section has examined how information seeking within civic life provides opportunities for learning functional and critical digital literacy. As argued above, experts are particularly keen to read about the internet, given their interest in digital technologies. How Carol has improved her understanding of internet corporations and privacy settings suggests that the media activism of organizations like the one she follows on social media has the potential to promote digital literacy among adults, who are hard to reach via the education system. In addition, the way Anthony has refined his functional and critical knowledge about the internet reminds us that, as argued by Livingstone (2011), traditional media should also play a role in reaching adults. Following news about Cambridge Analytica was an opportunity for many experts and advocates to learn about current affairs and better understand how online platforms operate and can track users' data for political purposes. We need more evidence of the potential of news reporting to promote digital literacy. Arguably, scandals like Cambridge Analytica, which revealed how the internet can be (mis)used for political campaigning, can make the public more conscious of how internet corporations operate. We are living through a moment when the political use of social media has probably never been under such intense scrutiny. As a result, engagement with news, provided the latter has to do with the internet, offers informal opportunities for learning functional and critical digital literacy in synergy with learning civic literacy.

#### 6.4 Experience

Informal learning can occur through experience in the form of exposure to and involvement in life event, as captured by the notion of *experiential learning* (Kolb, 2014, p. xix). The latter may well be based on social interaction and/or information seeking, but the notion is an overarching one because it refers to learning that is more or less extended over a period of time (Kolb, 2014, p. 347). As reviewed in Chapter 2, a few traditions of media literacy research have emphasized how users learn digital literacy informally through the experience of using digital technologies. Research on digital inequalities has found that this kind of experience, whether or not specifically in a context of engaging in civic life, is essential for learning digital skills, including operational and information-navigation skills (e.g., Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Matzat & Sadowski, 2012). This is why Dutton and Shepherd (2006) have called the internet an

*experience technology*. As long as there is a motivation to learn, "the acquisition of … IT skills" often occurs "through … 'self-learning' (learning by doing)" (Ferro et al., 2011, p. 8). Despite prioritizing formal education, research inspired by social psychology has argued that children develop positive or negative dispositions towards the internet through experience outside the classroom with digital technologies, in relation, for instance, to socializing or accessing information (Cazan et al., 2016; Dündar & Akçayır, 2014). Finally, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies and by critical pedagogy has found that this kind of experience is beneficial for learning not just digital skills, including creative and social skills, but also critical reflection on socio-political issues and the internet. Interested in youth activism, Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al. (2016) have argued that this is how users learn how to produce and share multimodal content that challenges dominant representations, and how they become sceptical about the internet's potential for campaigning (Soep, 2016, p. 293).

However, media literacy research as a whole has under-explored experiential learning in the context of civic engagement. We know from a few studies on social movements that "digital ... technologies are ... tools" that activists learn to use from experience (e.g., Nielsen, 2013, p. 174). This strand of research, however, has hardly engaged with media literacy theory, paying little attention to questions of learning. As a part of this study, therefore, experts and advocates were interviewed in order to understand whether experience of using digital technologies for civic purposes enables them to learn digital literacy, and in what ways. What emerged is that this is particularly the case for advocates, including those whose practices are rooted in expertise about digital technologies. Below I examine a few examples that best demonstrate what I found.

Let us start with functional digital literacy and how activist Alex has developed, for instance, his ability to produce and disseminate music, and is conscious of what platforms like SoundCloud afford for sharing it online. Alex campaigns for social justice by composing and promoting socially conscious songs, which is why he identifies his engagement with music as a form of civic engagement. Shortly before his first

interview, he had worked on a tribute album about the residents of a building destroyed by fire. As he put it, "my job [was] to articulate the feelings and the emotions of the residents through music, [...along with] their frustrations at the ... council, the State [and] even the fire brigade". Talking about his album, he explained:

Alex: I had to write and produce and upload [instrumentals] into Soundcloud...
[He grabs his smartphone ... and types "Soundcloud" in the Google search bar on the home page. He then clicks on the first result suggested by Google, i.e. "soundcloud.com", opening the SoundCloud site]. This is Soundcloud, where I uploaded the instrumentals...
Researcher: How did you learn how to use the internet? ...

Alex: I'd run a record company before. I'd run a media company which was a radio station/TV so we had a Sky channel that would broadcast some of our transactions. ... I've always been in and around media because I'm a music professional, so I've been on computers and programmes and software.

Alex's long experience with digital technologies is embedded within experience in the music industry for civic purposes. This is how he has developed operational and creative skills that enable him to produce his music by using digital technologies, as well as the social and information-navigation skills that allow him to use and share his music on SoundCloud, conscious of what it affords.

Alex's remarks suggest that experience of using digital technologies for civic purposes can be valuable for learning digital skills together with knowledge of digital affordances. Before presenting further examples from fieldwork, it is worth highlighting that this finding resonates with media literacy research, including, as mentioned at the beginning of this section, studies on digital inequalities (e.g., Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Matzat & Sadowski, 2012). Despite under-exploring civic engagement, these studies have argued that users learn digital skills through experience. At the same time, a few studies on human-computer interaction have found that, besides social interaction, experience with digital technologies, based on interacting with such technologies, is beneficial for learning not just digital skills but also what these afford, including operational and creative skills as well as knowledge about coding and digital design (e.g., Angros et al., 2002; Yantaç, 2013). While underresearching civic engagement, these studies have focused on students' interaction with digital technologies within formal educational settings, paying little attention to informal learning. By contrast, Alex's remarks suggest that his experience with digital technologies transcends formal education in ways that intersect with his experience in civic life.

This is also exemplified by how Conservative activist Moana gained awareness of what the internet affords in terms of reaching young people while campaigning, which is intertwined with her positive disposition towards its advantages for connecting with this age group. Chapter 5 has argued that experts' and advocates' dispositions towards the internet, which often revolve around connectivity, online shopping or accessing information, underpin their knowledge of digital affordances. As Moana explained:

[The internet]'s led to ... being able to reach people, you know, very quickly, with texts, or even WhatsApp Messenger. ... and it's usually the younger ones that are engaging more with the internet.

Experience of campaigning was beneficial for Moana's development of a positive disposition towards the internet, which underpins her understanding of what platforms like WhatsApp Messenger afford for connecting with others ("reach people") in terms of speed ("very quickly"). Her expectation that young people are more engaged with the internet resonates with the fact that "virtually all" youth aged 18-24 in the UK, as defined by the United Nations (2020), are internet users (ONS, 2018). Asked how she had learned the value of what the internet affords for reaching this age group, she replied:

Moana: I think it's when I first actually joined the [Conservative] Party, you know, and went out campaigning with David Cameron. ... Before, I wasn't using the internet as much...

Researcher: And you noticed at that point in time that young people would be more engaged?

#### Moana: Yes ... through the internet. So that got me really thinking.

Research on digital inequalities has emphasized the fact that users need to be motivated to learn how to use the internet (Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). We also know that political motivation is necessary for participating in politics, online and offline (Vissers & Stolle, 2014). How Moana gained an appreciation of what the internet affords suggests that her experience of campaigning, rooted in her decision to join the Conservative Party, has crucially enabled her to improve her functional digital literacy.

Experience in civic life underpins not just positive but also negative dispositions towards the internet. Adele is a human rights activist who works for a nongovernmental organization, campaigning in support of migrants and refugees. Her negative experience of using the internet when working for a similar organization abroad made her aware of its distracting potential. Her views echo Thatcher, Wretschko and Fridjhon's (2008) research on internet procrastination. As she put it:

I feel actively intruded upon by having access to the internet all the time ... [When] I had my job in [name of country], I had to be on call 24 hours a day, and [...I] was like, I feel like this is having a negative effect on my wellbeing. ... I felt I was using, like, Facebook in this totally unproductive [way], ... I'll just spend ... three hours lying on my bed, like, pointlessly scrolling through Facebook.

As reviewed earlier in this thesis, a few traditions of media literacy research have focused not just on users' digital skills but also on their dispositions towards the internet, in relation, for example, to safety, social interaction, finding information, learning or online shopping. These traditions include research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology and, although to a lesser extent, research on human-computer interaction (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Oliemat et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2005; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). On the one hand, research on digital inequalities has found that, except for users' trust in online services and internet safety (Eynon & Geniets, 2016), their general dispositions towards the internet are not explained by experience with digital technologies. Instead, they tend to be shaped by age and gender (Dutton and Shepherd, 2006, p. 434). On the other hand, despite prioritizing the role of formal education in shaping students' digital literacy, educational research inspired by social psychology has argued that they develop positive and negative dispositions – with emphasis on learning, social interaction and wellbeing – not just at school or university but also, thanks to this kind of experience, outside the classroom (Cazan et al., 2016; Dündar & Akçayır, 2014). Given this tension in the literature, it was not clear before beginning fieldwork whether experience of using digital technologies would prove to be fruitful for informally developing dispositions towards the internet. Moana's and Adele's comments above suggest that it is. And, again, these comments demonstrate how this kind of experience in the context of civic engagement intersects with experience in civic life.

As argued at the beginning of this section, this is prevalent among advocates, including activists like Alex who, as we have seen above, operate at the intersection of expertise, as reflected in his work as a music producer, and activism. Insofar as experience requires long-standing exposure to and involvement in life events, it is not surprising that experience in civic life primarily benefits advocates, who use digital technologies as part of their long-standing professional commitment to civic engagement. Besides contributing to their functional digital literacy, experience of using digital technologies for civic purposes enables them to learn both functional and critical digital literacy in synergy with learning civic literacy. More specifically, this kind of experience can provide activists with informal opportunities for developing, on the one hand, knowledge of digital affordances as well as utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age and, on the other, an understanding of how to participate in civic life.<sup>46</sup> This is best captured by how Roger has gained awareness of the broader digital environment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> As defined earlier, civic literacy includes not just knowledge about politics, the government and current affairs, but also the ability to participate in civic life, from voting to organizing and joining protest events.

Roger is a digital campaigner who works, at the intersection of expertise and activism, for an organization that campaigns for the environment. His civic utopianism/dystopianism is blended with awareness of the internet's utopian/dystopian potential for political participation. Social change, for him, should be about "equity and justice", which prescribes that everybody should have "the same opportunities to ... earn a living". His civic utopianism/dystopianism in relation to (in)equality is intertwined with awareness of the internet's potential to facilitate interaction between citizens and politicians, as well as to "effect change and reach out to people" through campaigning. But even though he praises the Arab Spring as an example of how the internet can be used to mobilize action, he is conscious of its dystopian implications for the suppression of action through government surveillance based on tracking users' data. Furthermore, he is sceptical about its impact. His views resonate with the literature on the internet's potential for undermining authoritarianism through social action while also facilitating political repression through surveillance (Diamond, 2010; McChesney, 2013). In addition, they echo research on clicktivism, raising the question of whether taking action online is effective in generating social change (Drumbl, 2012; Halupka, 2017). As he put it:

The government can use [users'] data in their surveillance techniques to effectively just shut down any kind of voice of dissent... [And while] it's good to have easy access to MPs, I don't think what that does is encourage deeper political engagement. ...If [people] think that by sending [an] email ... it's going to change and make a big difference, then they might not do anything else [..., which] degrades democracy.

Roger frames the internet as enabling governments to use it for the political repression of dissidents (synecdochally referred to as the "voice of dissent") through "surveillance". Furthermore, he worries about its implications in terms of devaluing citizens' political engagement, resulting in limited impact and the "degrad[ation of] democracy".

His imaginary of the internet intersects with knowledge of what social media like Twitter afford for campaigning. Talking about how he has learned about the internet's potential for mobilizing and suppressing action, he emphasized how:

[A] turning point ... was watching the Iranian Green Revolution, ... and how they were using Twitter to organize street by street... I hadn't thought to use Twitter, which is public messages, to organize. [...And during] the Arab Spring ... I was in touch with people who were in Tahrir Square [...when] Mubarak shut down the broadband access.

In other words, Roger's imaginary of the internet and understanding of how to mobilize action through Twitter is informed by his experience as an activist and based on his exposure to political events ("the Arab Spring"), to information seeking ("watching the Iranian Green Revolution") and to social interaction with "people who were in Tahrir Square".

Experience of using digital technologies as an activist has also been crucial to Roger's appreciation of how the internet does not inherently lead to social change, refining his ability to mobilize action. Roger is conscious that the limited impact of the internet depends on social context, which is why a few activists remarked during fieldwork on the importance of taking a "multi-pronged approach" to campaigning by combining online and offline forms of action. As he explained:

I was working with [...a] team ... in [name of country in the Global South], campaigning [...for] creating safer spaces in public where women can be without fear of attack... So, to bring more streetlights into the area they had had a march with 20,000 people. They had requested meetings with their political representative, which were always turned down. ... Then they started additional petitioning, got less than 100 signatures ... and they got a phone call from the political representative saying we need to talk... I guess the politician felt like 100 signatures on a digital platform was scary ... but, like, 20,000 people walking the streets, yes, whatever... [And] that really woke me up to the idea that you have to try lots of different things ... because you never really know what's going to have an impact. How Roger has gained knowledge about the digital environment suggests that experience of activism contributes to the ability to participate in civic life as well as to utopian/dystopian imaginaries of the internet and knowledge of what it affords for mobilizing action. His remarks suggest that experience in civic life is not only blended with experience of using digital technologies, but also provides informal opportunities for learning civic literacy together with functional and critical digital literacy.

This finding builds on those of some of the literature reviewed before beginning fieldwork, but only partially, since media research has generally focused more on users' development, through using the internet, of either civic literacy or digital literacy but not necessarily both. Interested in civic learning, Bennett et al. (2009) have argued, exceptionally, that civic literacy in the digital age, which includes the ability to organize and participate in protest events, should incorporate social and creative digital skills. How Roger has gained digital and civic literacy resonates with their work and with media literacy research, according to which the internet provides networked and interactive opportunities for civic learning based on experience, including how to participate in public debate and organize action (i.e. Banaji & Buckingham, 2013; Bennett et al., 2009). At the same time, this finding echoes the proposition of Jenkins and colleagues that "experience-based learning" is essential to young activists' development not just of digital skills but also of critical reflection about the internet, particularly in terms of campaigning potential (Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Soep, 2016, p. 293). Finally, although media research on social movements has under-explored media literacy theory, this finding aligns with the idea that activists learn about the media's potentials and limitations from experience, which enables them to learn, for example, how to engage with both mainstream and alternative media (McCurdy, 2011, p. 623).

To recap, this section has argued that experience of using digital technologies for civic purposes enables advocates, including those who operate at the intersection of advocacy and expertise, to informally learn functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet. This kind of experience can be beneficial to their learning of operational, creative, social and information-navigation skills. In addition, it

contributes to their understanding of what online platforms afford in terms of raising awareness and reaching young people. Advocates' knowledge of digital affordances is underpinned by their dispositions towards the internet, with emphasis on connectivity and internet procrastination, which they also develop through experience with digital technologies. Finally, this kind of experience intersects with experience in civic life, enabling digital campaigners like Roger to develop an understanding of how to participate in civic life as well as utopianism/dystopianism about the internet's potential for campaigning and knowledge of what social media afford for organizing action. In short, experience in civic life and using digital technologies provides opportunities for informally learning civic literacy in tandem with functional and critical digital literacy.

This finding suggests that the challenge of promoting digital literacy among adults, who are hard to reach because they are no longer in school, is part of a wider challenge. We live in an age when the representative character of Western liberal democracy is affected by citizens' distrust and by a participation deficit in institutional politics.<sup>47</sup> Participation in non-institutional politics is often a response to dissatisfaction with formal politics. The internet has contributed to new forms of civic engagement based on sharing information and self-expression (Dahlgren, 2004). Nevertheless, in order to promote adults' digital literacy through their civic engagement we need to ensure that they are actively involved in civic life. But not everybody is civically active. As argued above, social interaction and information seeking provide both experts and advocates, although in different ways, with opportunities for learning digital literacy as part of their civic practices. If these opportunities are not to be isolated ones, civic experience in the form of exposure to, involvement in and commitment to civic life is essential.

## 6.5 Training

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> See Chapter 1, pp. 18-20, for discussion of liberal democracy in the West.

Chapter 2 has argued that research and policy interventions on media literacy aim to promote it among not just children but also adults, who are hard to reach. To this end, civil society organizations that support media education by lobbying and providing resources and training play a considerable role (Kanižaj, 2017; McDougall & Livingstone, 2014; McDougall et al., 2017). This body of work has focused predominantly on training teachers, given their role in promoting children's media literacy via formal education. Educators, however, are only a small segment of the adult population. By contrast, information science research and librarianship studies have placed emphasis on training librarians and on the potential of public libraries to train different communities (e.g., L. Wang & Cook, 2017; Widdowson & Smart, 2015). Similarly, research and policy interventions on digital inequalities have advocated the training provided by libraries and community centres for different populations (e.g., Helsper & van Deursen, 2015). Such training, however, as prioritized by this strand of research, is often more about the teaching of functional than of critical skills or of knowledge about the internet.

In light of the achievements and limitations of media literacy research, this study's fieldwork was conducted with the question of whether and how formal and/or informal training might play a role in how experts and advocates learn digital literacy when engaging in civic life. Beneficial for reaching adults in a professional context, training can be both formal and informal, mirroring the distinction between formal and informal learning. Formal training requires an instructor and a structured format. By contrast, examples of informal training include mentoring, networking and receiving advice and instructions from colleagues (Benson, 1997).

Unfortunately, during the interviews, no more than a handful of experts and advocates discussed training in the context of their civic engagement. While this is a finding in itself, before reflecting on what it means let us examine what this study found. Unlike the examples presented in the sections above, those that follow emerged from fieldwork in rather isolated ways. Media educationalist Linda, for instance, is an expert who works in civil society. She is part of an organization which, besides lobbying for media education, provides media studies teachers with formal resources for training and teaching. As Linda explained during her interview:

I have been a media educator all my working life... During [...my] time [here], I [have run...] courses for teachers [...and lately] I've been teaching a postgraduate certificate in education course for students who want to become media teachers.

What Linda does within her organization is an example of how civic engagement at the community level can facilitate digital literacy, as argued earlier in this section, by equipping media educators with the skills and knowledge they need to teach media education within formal education settings. The training that Linda provides is particularly geared towards teaching current and prospective media studies teachers how to teach about media bias and the media industry and how to use digital technologies responsibly. Her experience suggests, as emphasized by policy research on media literacy (e.g., McDougall & Livingstone, 2014; McDougall et al., 2017), that organizations like hers play an important role in promoting media education.

Librarian Shawn works in a university and provides students with extracurricular courses on digital literacy, with emphasis on how to manage privacy settings and use the affordances of digital technologies to protect their privacy as well as identify misinformation online. As we saw in Chapter 5, Shawn relies, for instance, on his understanding of what the hyperlink affords for assessing information, following up on and comparing different sources. The training he provides signals that he is equipped with functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet. As argued earlier in this thesis, information science research has focused on the importance of training librarians, educators and students as well as on the potential of public libraries to provide different populations with digital training (e.g., Harding, 2008; Julien & Hoffman, 2008; McDonald, 2015). This kind of training, as advocated by research on digital inequalities (e.g., Helsper & van Deursen, 2015), is embedded in the civic fabric of our societies, since it takes place at the community level. Shawn does not work in a public library but identifies his commitment to teaching students how to evaluate online content, and make informed decisions as well-informed citizens, as a form of

civic engagement. This is an example of how the latter can provide opportunities for learning digital literacy, and in ways that are not just functional but also critical. It is also an example of how the role of librarians may be shifting from that of trainers to that of educators who value the critical evaluation of sources as a fundamental aspect of their profession, which some librarians perceive as similar to that of teachers (Wheeler and McKinney, 2015). Finally, as discussed when reviewing the literature, it is an example of why librarians, who have the potential to promote social change and democratic values, from copyright reforms to access to knowledge, can be considered as not just information experts but also advocates (Secker et al., 2019; L. N. Smith, 2016). Talking to librarians, however, produced no evidence about the role of public libraries in promoting digital literacy, since most of those interviewed work, like Shawn, in universities.

Activist Georgia, unlike Shawn, is the founder of an organization that campaigns against online abuse. She runs workshops to raise awareness among women about hate speech online and to teach them what to do when receiving hateful comments, including how to report these to the platforms they use. As she emphasized: "when we do trainings with other women, we tell them 'don't feel like you have to respond ... because sometimes ... you get more abuse, [and also] don't feel like you have to ignore or delete [the comments you receive] because sometimes that also brings on abuse". Section 6.3 above has argued that seeking information from organizations involved in media activism is essential for informal learning of digital literacy. Georgia's commitment to raising awareness about the internet suggests that organizations like hers, which fall under the umbrella of *media activism*, promote digital literacy not just by campaigning and providing resources, as argued by policy research on media literacy (e.g., del Mar Grandío et al., 2017, p. 124; Jeong et al., 2009, p. 112), but also through formal training. This form of training can reach different populations, consisting in the case of Georgia's organization of women from different backgrounds. On the one hand, this finding builds on those of policy research on media literacy. On the other hand, it invites media research on social movements to examine the relationship between media activism and media literacy, which has

remained under-explored within this strand of research (e.g., Carroll & Hackett, 2006; Meikle, 2003).

Finally, beyond media activism, what stood out from fieldwork is that both formal and informal training about digital campaigning have the potential to enable activists, in particular, to learn civic literacy in synergy with digital literacy.<sup>48</sup> This is how Moana has improved her ability to campaign and participate in institutional politics, which is a form of civic literacy (Lund & Carr, 2008). At the same time, this kind of training has enabled her to develop digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances as well as an understanding of the political economy of the internet, along with her utopian/dystopian imaginary of society in the digital age. Moana is involved in an association that campaigns in support of the Conservative Party. Her civic utopianism/dystopianism intersects with awareness of the internet's utopian/dystopian potential for campaigning. While she supports the Conservative Party for its championing of capitalism, the free market and lower taxes, her vision of social change advocates equality in ways that draw on left-wing politics. She thinks that the Conservative Party "need[s] to become a little bit more liberal" and hopes it will do a better job at attracting young people. Her vision of social change is intertwined with knowledge about the internet. Asked where she positions it in relation to her vision, she replied:

- Moana: I would like to ... get more members engaged ... and it's usually the younger ones that are engaging more with the internet. [...so] the internet might be a way to do [it].
- Researcher: What are those potentials that you see that the internet has for improving democracy ..., the political system or political participation?
  Moana: It will be easier for people to access, to even find out how they can go about joining a political group. ... I'm just very, very optimistic. ... I mean obviously we will have ... security threats. [...Also,] you get people that straight away start trolling, ... saying very derogatory comments and using horrible bad language.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> As defined earlier, digital campaigning refers to the practice of campaigning by using the internet (Kreiss, 2015).

Moana frames the internet as instrumental in "get[ting] more members engaged" with the Conservative Party, especially young people. She praises its potential for facilitating political participation by enabling citizens to join political groups. But her optimism intersects with awareness of its dystopian implications for data security. She mentioned the Cambridge Analytica scandal during one of her interviews, conscious that it entailed a breach of users' Facebook data for micro-targeting purposes. And she worries about hate speech undermining the political debate ("trolling", "derogatory comments", "horrible bad language"). As she wrote in her diary: "social media can be good for society to [...express] democratic views but there is a downside of considerable hate, trolling and even death threats". Her views resonate with research on the internet's potential for facilitating young people's involvement in politics as well as for online abuse (e.g., Forestal, 2017; Kann, Berry, Gant, & Zager, 2007).

Both formal and informal training was crucial to Moana's improvement of her ability to campaign as well as her functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet. Put differently, it was beneficial to her learning of civic literacy in tandem with digital literacy. Let us start with her formal training. This came in the form of a seminar on digital campaigning which, recommended to her by her association, made it possible for Moana to improve her digital skills and learn about the internet's potential, and what it affords, for campaigning and targeting different audiences. As she explained:

Moana: When we had the election, ... I noticed that I could choose my audience, you know. You can ... pay to reach a bigger audience. ... Researcher: Pay, like, Facebook, for example? Moana: Yes, Facebook. ...

- Researcher: Was it a suggestion coming from somebody working with you ... or was it something that you figured out by yourself? How did you learn about this?
- Moana: What it was, they had a seminar last ... year to train people who weren't very good on the internet. [...and] they mentioned about how you can target the audience, the age group.
- Researcher: And was [...the seminar] recommended to you by someone?

Moana: It was recommended by [name of Moana's association]. They actually encouraged all candidates to come along and to do this particular seminar.

Besides attending a seminar on digital campaigning, Moana has also benefitted from informal training based on information seeking and social interaction, which builds on what this chapter has argued above in relation to the potential of these for informally learning digital literacy. As explained earlier in this section, examples of informal training range from mentoring and networking to receiving advice and instructions from colleagues (Benson, 1997). Information seeking in the form of engagement with the Conservative Party's emails has enabled Moana to learn informally about Cambridge Analytica and Facebook's data breach. As she put it: "everyone now has been receiving emails [about this]". In addition, social interaction in the form of advice from senior members of her party was beneficial for her to learn informally about some of the limitations of the digital environment, contributing to her imaginary of the internet. Asked how she had learned about online trolling, she explained:

It's been ... through ... people in the party who advise, even senior cabinet ... and also MPs, councillors, association members have said to me, obviously, you're starting out, so you just need to be very careful as to what you say and what you post.

In short, how Moana has developed her digital skills and knowledge suggests that digital training in the context of civic engagement has the potential to enable activists to learn functional and critical digital literacy, formally and informally, in synergy with civic literacy. Both formal and informal training have contributed to Moana's ability to use the internet for civic purposes. At the same time, they have made it possible for her to gain an understanding of the internet's potentials and constraints for civic life as well as knowledge about internet corporations and digital affordances.

This section has examined how civic engagement contributes to the development of digital literacy via formal and informal training. As we have seen above, media

educator Linda works for a civil society organization that promotes media education, providing formal training to media educators. According to policy research on media literacy, these kinds of organizations provide valuable opportunities for media literacy training (Kanižaj, 2017; McDougall et al., 2017). But while this body of work has prioritized the training of media educators, I have shown here that campaigning organizations, regardless of what they advocate, have the potential to promote functional and critical digital literacy through training that can reach different segments of society.

Georgia works for an organization that campaigns against, and provides women with formal training about, hate speech online. Conservative activist Moana has improved her ability to campaign through formal and informal training, developing an understanding of its potential, and what it affords, for campaigning. Her formal training was in the form of a seminar. Her informal training was based on information seeking and social interaction, in the form, respectively, of reading emails and receiving advice from colleagues.

Given the gaps in the literature, these findings were not anticipated. As mentioned earlier, the importance of formal training for learning digital literacy did not emerge as prominently as the idea that civic engagement provides informal learning opportunities, as discussed in the previous sections. This study's limited evidence concerning formal training, which is disappointing, is in itself significant in that it suggests that informal learning plays a more considerable role than formal learning in facilitating digital literacy within civic life. Furthermore, this is symptomatic of a deeper issue. As argued by Titus (2016), civil society practitioners in the UK suffer from a lack of training in how to do advocacy work, run campaigns and participate in non-institutional politics. While these competencies fall under *civic literacy* (Lund & Carr, 2008), in an age that is highly mediated by digital technologies it is reasonable to expect that, as captured by Moana's experience, training in civic literacy will overlap with training in digital literacy. The interdependence of these two forms of literacy is at the root of digital campaigning. However, the lack of training within civil society

signals that there may be issues of funding and resources which transcend the scope of this chapter, but require further attention within media literacy research.

## 6.6 Discussion

This chapter has addressed, on the basis of my fieldwork with experts and advocates in the UK, the question of whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy. Except for research on digital inequalities and the policy implications of media literacy, media literacy research has focused predominantly on children rather than adults, placing more emphasis on formal education, as do studies that draw on critical pedagogy or social psychology (e.g., Kahne et al., 2012; Kellner & Share, 2007), or on informal learning, as does research at the intersection of the New Literacy Studies and critical pedagogy (Drotner, Jensen, & Schrøder, 2008; Mihailidis & Cohen, 2013). In neither case, except for a few studies (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016), has media literacy focused more than rarely on whether and how civic engagement, in particular, is beneficial for learning digital literacy.

This study found consistently that informal learning plays a more significant role than formal learning in developing digital literacy within civic life. Research inspired by the New Literacy Studies has championed the importance of learning digital literacy through social interaction (e.g., Gourlay et al., 2013; Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Soep, 2016). In line with this body of work, the findings from my fieldwork suggest that advocates and experts professionally committed to activism – who operate at the interaction of expertise and advocacy – can develop functional digital literacy through the help of friends and colleagues involved in civic life. Of the examples discussed above, media educator Linda, for instance, who works for an organization that promotes media education, has improved her digital skills thanks to her colleagues. Furthermore, when it comes to functional and critical digital literacy, talking to people who support her environmental organization has enabled community founder Mary to refine her

understanding of the internet's potentials and limitations for raising awareness, as well as of what Facebook affords for maximizing visibility. Unlike the New Literacy Studies, however, this study found that social interaction is not necessarily positive for learning digital literacy, as exemplified by how activist Robert has come to misunderstand how Google operates and functions as a search engine. This finding was not expected, since media literacy research has generally praised the potential of social interaction. While we need more research to make sense of this, this chapter has drawn on education studies on the negative consequences of social interaction for learning, in relation, for instance, to social delinquency and language development (e.g., Wells, 1981; Winfree et al., 1994).

Besides social interaction, what emerged from fieldwork suggests consistently that the practice of seeking information can also be beneficial for developing digital literacy in the context of civic engagement. Since little is known about the importance of this practice for learning not just in general, as argued by Limberg and Sundin (2006), but also specifically of digital skills and knowledge, this finding came as a surprise. Experts are keen to read about the internet, given its relevance to their expertise. Information science lecturer Carol, for instance, has improved her understanding of how internet corporations operate and how to use her privacy settings by following on social media an organization that campaigns for online privacy. Both many experts and many advocates, furthermore, have refined their understanding of the digital environment by engaging with news stories about Cambridge Analytica. This is how user designer Anthony has come to better understand how internet corporations operate and what their platforms afford in terms of tracking users' data. This finding resonates with policy research on the potential of traditional media to promote media literacy among adults, who cannot be reached via the education system (e.g., Livingstone, 2011). While more research is needed, this finding suggests that news reporting, when it relates to the digital environment, can be beneficial for promoting digital literacy.

This study also found that experience of using digital technologies is valuable for learning functional and critical digital skills and knowledge in ways that are blended with experience in civic life. To some extent, this finding builds on a few traditions of

media literacy research. According to research on digital inequalities, experience with digital technologies, while not necessarily in a context of civic engagement, is crucial for learning digital skills (e.g., Dutton & Shepherd, 2006; Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Ferro et al., 2011; Matzat & Sadowski, 2012). However, except for their trust in online services (Eynon & Geniets, 2016), this is not the case for users' general dispositions towards the internet, which are explained by age and gender (Dutton & Shepherd, 2006). Unlike this strand of research, my fieldwork revealed that experience with digital technologies within civic life enables activists to develop not just operational, creative, social and information-navigation skills, as we saw with Alex, who works at the intersection of music production and activism, but also positive and negative dispositions towards the internet. This is how Moana and Adele, who use the internet for campaigning, learned about its advantages and disadvantages for connectivity and procrastination.

This finding aligns with a few educational studies inspired by social psychology (e.g., Cazan et al., 2016; Dündar & Akçayır, 2014). Despite prioritizing formal education, these studies have addressed how children informally develop positive and negative dispositions towards the internet through experience with digital technologies. In addition, while research on human-computer interaction has addressed how students learn about the affordances of coding and digital design within formal educational settings (e.g., Angros et al., 2002; Yantaç, 2013), this study found that this kind of experience within civic life can be valuable for learning informally about what social media afford for campaigning. At the same time, it can be beneficial for developing dispositions towards the internet as well as imaginaries of its civic potentials and limitations. On the one hand, activist Moana's positive disposition towards online connectivity intersects with her understanding of what the internet affords for reaching young people. On the other hand, through experience in the Global South, activist Roger has come to appreciate that its potential for social change and affordances for campaigning depend on social context.

This study found that media activism represents another way, besides news reporting, of raising awareness about the internet. This is why media policy research has

underlined its importance for promoting media literacy among adults (e.g., del Mar Grandío et al., 2017, p. 124). As discussed above, information science lecturer Carol has improved her understanding of the digital environment by following on Twitter an organization involved in media activism campaigning for online privacy. In addition, this study found that organizations involved in media activism have the potential to raise awareness about the internet by providing not just resources but also formal training. Media activist Georgia, in particular, provides women with training about hate speech online. Furthermore, besides the training offered by Georgia, or that offered by Linda's organization to media educators, pressure and campaigning organizations have the potential to provide their own staff with both formal and informal training in digital campaigning, which can be valuable for learning functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet. This is how Conservative activist Moana improved her understanding of the internet's potential for raising awareness, as well as her digital skills and knowledge of what social media afford for reaching different audiences.

This discovery is particularly important because it suggests that civil society organizations can be expected to promote digital literacy by training different adult populations beyond media educators. This is something that policy research on media literacy has under-explored (e.g., Kanižaj, 2017; McDougall et al., 2017). This finding suggests that the training in digital campaigning provided by pressure and campaigning organizations has the potential to promote not just functional but also critical skills and knowledge about the internet. This finding, however, did not emerge prominently, which was disappointing but also revealing. On the one hand, civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy that are more informal than formal. On the other hand, as argued by Titus (2016), more training is needed among civil society practitioners in the UK in order to ensure that they learn how to participate in non-institutional politics, including how to campaign and organize action. While media literacy research is needed on this subject, not all pressure and campaigning organizations enjoy opportunities for providing training in digital campaigning, which raises questions about funding and resources.

Finally, something that fieldwork revealed consistently is that civic engagement provides both experts and advocates with opportunities for learning digital literacy in tandem with civic literacy. The extent to which this finding emerged was not anticipated insofar as the intersection of digital literacy and civic literacy had previously remained under-explored, with a few studies, exceptionally, approaching the latter as overlapping with notions of information, critical and digital literacy (e.g., Bennett et al., 2009; Davies & Hogarth, 2004; Lund & Carr, 2008). Since a young age, media publisher Frank, by discussing news with his family, has gained an understanding of media bias, which is central to his ability to evaluate online content, as well as to his interest in news. Reading about Cambridge Analytica has made it possible for expert Anthony and activist Amanda to learn about the digital environment, while keeping abreast of current affairs. Activist Roger's experience with digital technologies in the Global South has enabled him to learn about the internet's potential for social change, refining his ability to campaign. Similarly, digital training was beneficial for activist Moana's learning about the internet's implications and how to use it for campaigning.

The idea that digital literacy can be learned in tandem with civic literacy, both formally and informally, within civic life is promising for addressing how to promote it among adults, which is challenging since most of them are no longer in school. At the same time, expecting adults to learn digital literacy through their engagement in civic life means that they need to be civically active, a requirement that is inherently exclusionary. As argued at the beginning of this thesis, Western representative liberal democracy suffers from a participation deficit, rooted in citizens' dissatisfaction and distrust in institutional politics. Forms of resistance and activism, often mediated by the internet, have intensified in response to alienation from formal politics (Dahlgren, 2004). But not everyone is civically active, which limits the extent to which we can promote adults' digital literacy through civic engagement.

Further research is needed on how civic engagement facilitates the development of digital literacy among different populations. We also need more research on how users learn civic literacy together with digital literacy, and how to promote the two

through media activism and digital training within civic life. This chapter invites media studies on social movements to address questions about learning and media activism in relation to media literacy theory. Media literacy research, furthermore, should build on this study to investigate how adults can learn digital literacy both formally and informally through their civic engagement, but also within other domains of life. Finally, this chapter has examined how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy, but we also need to address whether digital literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement, which is what the next chapter does.

# Chapter 7 – How digital literacy facilitates civic engagement

#### 7.1 Introduction

Chapter 6 has explored how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy. Based on how experts and advocates in the UK deploy skills and knowledge about the internet, this chapter examines whether and how digital literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement. Media literacy research has addressed this question by focusing either on functional more than on critical digital literacy or, when prioritizing the latter, on users' ability to evaluate online content but rarely on their knowledge about the digital environment. Research inspired by critical pedagogy, furthermore, has perpetuated the assumption that critical literacy leads to progressive action. As a result, the question of whether and how digital literacy, as conceptualized here, facilitates civic engagement has remained under-explored.

Section 7.2 below examines how functional digital literacy makes civic engagement instrumental. Examples of how advocates and experts deploy functional skills and knowledge about the internet to engage in civic life are presented alongside examples of participants whose functional digital literacy is not as advanced. This chapter goes on to explore how critical digital literacy, often in synergy with functional digital literacy, makes civic engagement trustful (Section 7.3) and strategic (Section 7.4). Section 7.5, finally, examines how a lack of functional and critical digital literacy shapes civic engagement in contradictory ways.

#### 7.2 Instrumental Engagement

Traditionally, political research has distinguished between participation as *interaction*, based on sharing public life, and *instrumental action* that "influenc[es] ... political

power" (Scaff, 1975, p. 455). As argued at the beginning of this thesis, the notion of *civic engagement* problematizes this distinction by emphasizing that citizens participate in civic life in ways that matter to them, but without necessarily affecting decision-making (Dahlgren, 2003). The internet, furthermore, has contributed to "noninstrumental ... participatory acts" that can be either more or less impactful (R. Gibson & Cantijoch, 2013, p. 706). Discussing politics on social media, for instance, is a way of sharing public life, but it can also lead to "more concerted political behaviour" (R. Gibson & Cantijoch, 2013, p. 703).

Within the field of education, *instrumental engagement* refers to "getting things done" for specific purposes on the basis of deploying knowledge and skills *practically* within specific contexts (Fear, Rosaen, Bawden, & Foster-Fishman, 2006, p. 257; O'Brien, 2006). When it comes to digital literacy, its functional dimension is generally understood as "instrumental" because it enables users "to undertake particular operations", from navigating search engines to posting content online (Buckingham, 2006, pp. 263, 265). Regardless of whether or not civic engagement is instrumental in influencing decision-making, the fieldwork was approached with the question of whether and how functional digital literacy, as explored here, facilitates civic engagement based on using digital technologies instrumentally as practical tools.<sup>49</sup> To answer this question, this section presents a few examples that best represent the findings of this study, making links with media literacy research and political research.<sup>50</sup>

Policy officer Julia works for an organization that campaigns for online privacy and free speech. She once managed to sign up to a protest event announced on Facebook because her social skills were coupled with information-navigation skills. The event was organized to protest against the murder of a journalist in a country outside the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Chapter 5 has argued that functional digital literacy consists of digital skills, knowledge of digital affordances, and dispositions towards the internet, showing how these intersect.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> While this section is concerned with the instrumental nature of functional digital literacy, examples of how functional skills and knowledge about the internet facilitate civic engagement are presented within the next sections, specifically in the context of how functional digital literacy intersects with critical digital literacy.

UK. As she explained, the announcement "did not include the link" to register for the event. Nevertheless, she managed to find this online by "play[ing] with ... different combinations of words". Arguably, searching for a protest event can be relatively easy. By contrast, systems administrator Simon knows how to deploy more advanced digital skills to collaborate with a residents' association addressing problems in his local area. His operational and creative skills were instrumental in setting up an online "survey ... to find out what the problems were" among residents.

Not everybody needs advanced digital skills in order to participate in civic life. However, this is only true provided they can rely on the expertise of others. This is particularly prominent among advocates. Richard, the political relations manager of an organization campaigning on rural life, relies on colleagues who are digital savvy. As he put it: "we have two people whose job is to do our Facebook page, our newsletter, Twitter accounts". Meanwhile, Miriam, the chair of a community council, has to rely on colleagues who lack digital skills, including basic operational skills, which hinders their civic engagement. As she wrote in her diary:

Spent hours putting together a survey (Surveymonkey) for feedback on [a participatory budgeting initiative]. [The survey] needs endless input from others who don't quite understand how to [...use] Survey monkey.

Before introducing further examples, let us reflect those above. On the one hand, Julia's and Simon's experience suggests that operational, social, informationnavigation and creative skills are instrumental for engaging in civic life. On the other hand, Miriam's remarks demonstrate that the way digital skills are deployed collectively is dependent on how expertise is distributed. That deploying digital skills facilitates civic engagement was anticipated before beginning fieldwork. Research on digital inequalities has found, for instance, that activists' lack of digital skills, including operational and social skills, prevents them from using social media to promote social justice (e.g., Harlow, 2012). Similarly, political research has emphasized that digital skills, including operational, information-navigation, social and creative skills, facilitate participation in both institutional and non-institutional politics, from contacting politicians to signing petitions (e.g., Anduiza et al., 2010). Miriam's remarks remind us that social context shapes how digital skills can be deployed. Her experience suggests that the effective use of one person's skills may depend on the skills of others when participating collectively in civic life. This finding can be explained by drawing on political research, beyond the studies reviewed prior to fieldwork. As argued by Dessewffy and Nagy (2016, p. 2884), digital skills facilitate civic engagement. But their uneven distribution when individuals are engaging collectively can place constraints on participation.

Along with digital skills, this study found that knowledge of digital affordances contributes to how digital technologies can be used instrumentally within civic life. Both activist Roger and librarian George, for instance, use the *Guardian* app to read news, being knowledgeable about what it affords in terms of customization. Their knowledge enhances their engagement with news, underpinning their operational and information-navigation skills, which they deploy to select and prioritize articles. As George explained: "that's "personalize" [*pointing at "personalize" in the settings*], and then you can edit your homepage here [*he clicks on "home screen sections"*]". By contrast, right-wing libertarian activist Robert has limited operational and creative skills, which, coupled with limited knowledge of what WordPress affords in terms of publishing online content, hinders his civic engagement, affecting his ability to blog about his political views. Talking about WordPress, he said: "you know the system that is behind the blog? I have no idea how that works".

As reviewed in Chapter 2, research on human-computer interaction, interested in the usability of digital technologies, has examined users' understanding of digital affordances, but with little attention to their civic engagement. By contrast, media research on social movements, despite hardly engaging with media literacy theory, has argued that such an understanding enables activists to use the internet for political purposes (e.g., Comunello, Mulargia, & Parisi, 2016; Kavada, 2012). According to Cammaerts (2015), activists internalize the real-time and asynchronous affordances of the internet in ways that inform their practices including coordinating protest and

producing alternative media. Similarly, political research on institutional politics has found that citizens and politicians value its technical features when interacting directly with one another or promoting their own views and connecting with people with similar socio-political views (e.g., Coleman, Morrison, & Yates, 2011; Porwol & Ojo, 2017). In accordance with this body of work, George's and Robert's experience suggests that knowledge of digital affordances is valuable, together with digital skills, for using the internet for civic purposes, from reading news to blogging about politics.

When it comes to activists, digital campaigner Laura, who works for an organization campaigning against poverty and climate change, deploys operational and creative skills to pressure corporations to support a green economy. She and her colleagues use a campaigning platform for non-profits. As discussed in Chapter 6, we know from political research that activists use campaigning platforms to perform different tasks, from managing emails to designing petitions (e.g., Aron, 2015; Hughes, 2018; McKelvey & Piebiak, 2016). Conscious of the affordances of their campaigning platform, Laura and her colleagues have used it to build an "e-action" enabling their supporters to "sign a petition" and send emails to financial corporations asking them to fund renewable energy projects. But, while knowledge of digital affordances enhances their digital skills, their platform does not require sophisticated skills, which also, paradoxically, limits their options for civic engagement. As Laura put it:

All you need to do is literally drag and drop... You don't need to know coding... [But unlike us, a different campaigning organization] ... have their own bespoke platform, which is why they can do a lot more.

Thanks to the affordances of her campaigning platform, Laura and her fellow activists do not need to master functional digital literacy, but this also hinders how much they can accomplish with their campaigning. This finding, which did not emerge prominently from the data, was unexpected. On the one hand, Laura's remarks align with research on human-computer interaction, according to which functional skills and knowledge about the internet depend on digital design (e.g., Aleixo et al., 2012). On the other hand, while more research is needed, they suggest that knowledge of digital affordances is beneficial for using campaigning platforms instrumentally, provided these platforms are designed in ways that encourage activists to deploy advanced digital skills.

Besides focusing on digital skills, a few traditions of media literacy research, as argued earlier in this thesis, have largely emphasized how users' positive or negative dispositions towards the internet respectively facilitate or undermine their online engagement. These traditions include research on digital inequalities, which has focused on how users understand the internet in relation, for instance, to finding information, safety or online shopping (e.g., Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Hakkarainen, 2012; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2015). In addition, this body of work includes research on human-computer interaction, in the context of how the internet is perceived in terms of working and communicating with others (e.g., Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015). Finally, the same applies to educational research inspired by social psychology, with emphasis on students' understanding of the internet's advantages or disadvantages for learning, playing and socializing (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Oliemat et al., 2018; Peng et al., 2005). Similarly, beyond media literacy research, we know from political research that users' positive or negative dispositions towards the usefulness of the internet lead, respectively, to more or less online engagement, including when contacting government officials or using government services (e.g., Y. Zheng, 2015).

Chapter 5 has argued that experts' and advocates' negative dispositions towards the internet do not necessarily undermine online engagement beyond civic life. Is this also the case when it comes to their civic engagement?<sup>51</sup> As we saw in Chapter 5, accessing information, shopping and social interaction are aspects of the internet that they often perceive as presenting risks or opportunities. Turning to whether and how they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> This question is answered here in relation to functional digital literacy. Section 7.4, pp. 224-244, examines how experts and advocates understand the internet not just in general and individualistically but, more specifically, in relation to its potentials and limitations for civic life. As conceptualized in Chapter 3, such an understanding is a form of critical digital literacy. By contrast, understanding the internet in terms of general dispositions towards its advantages and disadvantages is a form a functional digital literacy.

deploy their dispositions towards the internet in ways that inform their civic engagement, librarian Peter, as with many experts and advocates, values it for connecting with other users, which facilitates his engagement with social media for discussing politics. His positive disposition intersects with knowledge of what Twitter affords in terms of customizing his profile, underpinning his ability to use it. As he explained:

The benefit [of Twitter] is that you're building more friends online who share your interests... I customize [...my profile] because I want people who follow me to ... talk about Brexit.

By contrast, as we saw in Chapter 6, activist Adele is concerned about internet procrastination, which she became aware of when spending too many hours "pointlessly scrolling through Facebook". On the one hand, she values its potential for staying in touch with friends, family and colleagues who, like her, campaign in support of migrants and refugees. On the other hand, her negative disposition towards internet procrastination has reconfigured how she uses Facebook. As she put it:

I didn't want to delete it completely because ... it's an incredibly valuable way of staying in touch. And so, ... I locked myself out of the account ..., my sister changed the password and I re-logged back into Messenger because I was, like, I want to have access to Messenger... So, this was the compromise that I found.

Similarly, systems administrator Simon is concerned about overuse of the internet, which is why he is reluctant to use Twitter, despite knowing that it can be "useful for [...its] political side". But his reluctance is not symptomatic of online disengagement. As he emphasized: "this isn't to say that I'm now not using the internet at all, but [...what] I'm now consuming is mediated by ... media corporations". His negative disposition towards overuse has reconfigured his online engagement with news as a result of his disengagement from Twitter. Adele's and Simon's remarks challenge the assumption that users' negative dispositions towards the internet necessarily undermine their online engagement (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). As a result, they problematize the idea, which is popular within research on digital inequalities (e.g., Olphert & Damodaran, 2013), that resistance to technology is intrinsically a deficiency of the non-user, as objected by Bauer (1995). At the same time, they resonate with recent work on digital inequalities, according to which limited engagement online is not necessarily problematic if it leads to highquality outcomes (e.g., van Deursen & Helsper, 2018).

This section has examined how experts and advocates deploy functional digital skills and knowledge within civic life. Regardless of whether civic engagement is instrumental in influencing decision-making, functional digital literacy facilitates civic engagement by making it instrumental, insofar as it is based on using digital technologies in a practical way for civic purposes. Digital skills, from social and information-navigation to operational and creative skills, are crucial to searching for protest events on social media and setting up online surveys within local communities. The ways in which advocates deploy digital skills, however, depend on how their expertise is distributed. Knowledge of digital affordances, furthermore, is often deployed, along with digital skills, when using news apps or campaigning. Understanding the affordances of campaigning platforms enables activists, in particular, to design e-actions. These platforms, nevertheless, may not require advanced digital skills and, paradoxically, this may also limit their campaigning. Finally, positive dispositions towards internet connectivity enhance how social media like Twitter can be used for discussing politics, intersecting with an understanding of what they afford in terms of profile customization. At the same time, negative dispositions towards internet procrastination and overuse do not necessarily lead to online disengagement. Instead, they reconfigure how the internet can be used for civic purposes.

## 7.3 Trustful Engagement

Western liberal democracy suffers from a participation deficit in formal politics, which is exacerbated by citizens' distrust in institutions and the media (Coleman, 2013; Coleman & Blumler, 2009; Enli & Rosenberg, 2018). As noted in Chapter 2, Mihailidis (2009), conducting educational research inspired by social psychology, has found that students' ability to identify media bias reinforces their distrust in traditional media outlets. While the section above has argued that functional digital literacy makes civic engagement instrumental, this section examines whether and how critical digital literacy shapes civic engagement in ways that relate to trust. This question became resonant as the interviews with experts and advocates were being conducted. Presented below are a few examples of what I found, which relate to how they engage with accredited media outlets (subsection 7.3.1) and what they think of GDPR (subsection 7.3.2).

## 7.3.1 Trust in reliable sources

Chapter 5 has argued that the ability to evaluate online content relies on using multiple sources. When reading news online, experts and advocates often diversify their sources, relying on a range of accredited media outlets with varying ideological leanings. Although to different extents, this is how both community council chair Miriam and cloud architect Christian engage with news, as examined earlier. One may think that activists are more inclined to use alternative than mainstream sources, given the literature on alternative media (e.g., Lievrouw, 2011).<sup>52</sup> But this is not necessarily the case, with environmentalist activist Roger and Conservative activist Jacob relying, for instance, on the *Guardian* and the *Telegraph*, respectively, among different sources.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> As defined earlier, alternative media are independent, unlike state and commercial media. They differ from mainstream media in terms of content, production and distribution (Bailey et al., 2007).

Indeed, during their interviews, both many experts and many advocates expressed trust in accredited media outlets, being conscious of how these operate. This is not to say that they are perceived as unbiased. But they are valued for their professionalism and fact-checking, which shapes how experts and advocates keep abreast of news online. Referring to the BBC as "a bastion of neutral journalism", Roger explained: "I think ... they have different biases ... but [...overall] it seeks to have balance [...and] represent two sides of the story". Trust in reliable sources underpins his engagement with news, which is why he has subscribed to accredited news outlets like the *Guardian*. Similarly, appreciative of their editorial standards, media professional Whitney has subscribed to a few. As she put it: "I would trust something I read in the *New Yorker* ... and that made me, you know, I'm a *New Yorker* subscriber".

Roger's and Whitney's reliance on trusted sources exemplifies how knowledge about news media underpins not just the ability to assess the trustworthiness of information online, as argued in Chapter 5, but also engagement with news. The UK is affected by low levels of trust in the media, with trust in accredited media outlets decreasing among the general public (Newman et al., 2019). Experts and advocates, however, are particularly knowledgeable about how these operate, which is essential to their critical digital literacy, facilitating, in turn, how they keep abreast of news. When it comes to educational research inspired by social psychology, this finding contradicts the proposition of Mihailidis (2009), also advanced by danah boyd (2018), that media literacy can reinforce negativity towards traditional media outlets. At the same time, as argued earlier in this thesis, this body of work, except for a few studies (e.g., Ashley, Maksl, & Craft, 2017), has argued consistently that the ability to evaluate online content facilitates civic engagement, including the seeking of information online about politics (Kahne et al., 2012, p. 8; Martens & Hobbs, 2015). This strand of research, however, has been more interested in the extent to which such ability corresponds to more political activity. By contrast, Roger's and Whitney's experience indicates that knowledge about news media enhances not just the quantity, based on accessing multiple sources, but also the quality of engagement with news, as captured by their emphasis on trust.

Given the quantitative focus of educational research inspired by social psychology, this finding was not anticipated. Beyond this strand of research, this finding has repercussions for media literacy research inspired by critical pedagogy. The latter body of work has emphasized that questioning dominant media representations is essential for participating in society (e.g., Kellner & Kim, 2010; Kellner & Share, 2007). Critical pedagogy, however, as argued when reviewing the literature, has understood participation as inherently progressive and predominantly non-institutional, having to do with resistance and activism. The examples above suggest, rather, that critical digital literacy can facilitate not only social action but also other forms of civic engagement such as following news.

This kind of reliance, however, is rather elitist. Like Whitney, media publisher Frank thinks that subscribing to trusted sources is crucial for engaging with high-quality news. Contesting th*e Guardian*'s decision to offer free access to their online content, he remarked:

They've helped create an environment where people expect to get ... valuable media content for free, where people expect to get news free. And they expect that news to be reliable... [People] can read the *Guardian* for free [...online]. When [they] read other stuff for free from other sources that are fundamentally less reliable [...they think] "I'm just reading this on the internet, it's the same". And it's not the same.

Franks' remarks raise the question of how inevitably elitist is to engage with news in ways that are trustful, since not everybody can afford to subscribe to accredited media outlets. This question emerged from fieldwork as a surprise. But, as acknowledged earlier in this thesis, focusing on experts and advocates is not just ideal for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement, but also potentially exclusionary. According to Street (2003), the literacy of different segments of society varies in terms of how "dominant" or "marginalized" they are (p. 77). How experts and advocates deploy their critical digital literacy suggests that knowledge about traditional media, which is essential for evaluating online content, makes civic engagement trustful by enhancing reliance on trusted sources. At the same time, we

need to keep in mind that in the UK these social categories are mostly middle-class, which means that their civic engagement is not necessarily constrained by resources like money.

Bourdieu (1974) has criticized the extent to which knowledge is largely produced by and for the most dominant classes in society. The way critical digital literacy relies on understanding and using accredited media outlets raises questions about whether high-quality journalism should be accessible free of charge. These questions, which are beyond the scope of this thesis, require further enquiry, casting doubts, as addressed by Abramson (2010), on the sustainability of media outlets. In short, knowledge about news media enhances both experts' and advocates' trust in accredited media outlets and improves the quality of their engagement with news. However, the practice of paid subscription to trusted sources exemplifies how critical digital literacy makes such an engagement elitist.

### 7.3.2 Overcoming distrust in internet corporations

Chapter 3 has conceptualized critical digital literacy as related not just to evaluating online content, but also to understanding the digital environment. As we have seen in the previous chapters, experts and advocates understand how internet corporations operate in ways that can be discursively constructed as concerns about how these corporations collect and handle their data, with many referring to the Cambridge Analytica scandal.<sup>53</sup> As this finding became evident from fieldwork, a question that emerged was whether and how such concerns shape civic engagement.

As discussed in Chapter 5, librarian Shawn relies on the potential of GDPR to regulate how internet corporations operate.<sup>54</sup> On the one hand, not all experts and advocates are concerned about their data being collected and used for advertising purposes,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See p. 12 for details of the Cambridge Analytica scandal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> As explained earlier, GDPR stands for General Data Protection Regulation, a piece of EU legislation on data protection implemented in May 2018. See p. 158 for details.

with some, like activist Sue, expressing more discomfort about the government regulating corporations. On the other hand, those who believe in the need for regulation of the internet are not just distrustful of how internet corporations manage users' data, but also confident that GDPR will empower users, making them more aware of how their data is used. According to librarian George, GDPR comes at a moment when awareness about data protection is needed, since platforms like Facebook have failed to protect users' privacy from companies like Cambridge Analytica illegally harvesting their data. Similarly, as business analyst Emma put it: "[GDPR] is a step in the right direction... We're not just sitting back and complaining. We're actually putting out legislations like GDPR, making sure that corporations adhere to it".

Not only does confidence in GDPR enable both experts and advocates to overcome their distrust in how internet corporations manage their data, but it can also encourage experts, who are not as civically active as advocates, to use the internet more trustfully for civic purposes. Interviewed prior to its implementation, Shawn knew that its concept of privacy by design would require websites to embed dataprotection features. Asked whether GDPR would affect his civic engagement in the context of using social media, he replied:

If they implement that privacy by design, and giv[e] you more control over what gets shared ... it might actually make me more likely to engage, because [...when you] reflect on the Cambridge Analytica group ..., you realise how little control you have.

Shawn discursively positions GDPR's "privacy by design" as redressing power imbalances between internet corporations and users. Concerned about "Cambridge Analytica", he frames his civic engagement online as "more likely" because of overcoming distrust in how his data "gets shared", shifting from having "little control" to gaining "more control". Shawn's confidence in GDPR is underpinned by knowledge about internet corporations and what GDPR entails in the context of what their platforms afford for online privacy, which lies at the intersection of functional and critical digital literacy. Sitting between distrust in internet corporations and trust in GDPR, his remarks suggest that digital literacy has the potential to facilitate civic engagement by making it trustful, that is, based on using platforms like Facebook more trustfully. To make sense of this finding, it is worth drawing on media research on trust, which was not reviewed before fieldwork.

Media research has emphasized that there is a positive association between users' trust in others and their self-disclosure, and that interpersonal trust mitigates privacy concerns (DuBois, Goldbeck, & Srinivasan, 2011; Krasnova, Spiekermann, Koroleva, & Hilderbrand, 2010; Taddei & Contenta, 2013; Y. Wang, Norcie, & Cranor, 2011). A few studies have remarked that users' privacy concerns about internet corporations, and how their data is collected and handled, undermine their trust in and intention of using their platforms (Y. A. Kim & Ahmad, 2013, p. 448; Malhotra, Kim, & Agarwal, 2004; Turel, Yuan, & Connelly, 2008; Yang, 2013). Similarly, political research has argued that users' trust in others and in technology is crucial to e-voting and to discussion of politics (e.g., Himelboim, Lariscy, Tinkham, & Sweetser, 2012; Oostveen & van den Besselaar, 2005). Users, however, are often torn between trusting governments to collect their data and fears that it may be misused (Dutton, Guerra, Zizzo, & Peltu, 2005). Finally, while activists' trust in users and in technology is essential in order for them to undertake social action, they worry that their online privacy is not safe on social media (Gurak, 2014; Haciyakupoglu & Zhang, 2015; Youmans & York, 2012).

What emerged from my fieldwork builds on this literature. As examined above, experts and advocates often rely on the potential of GDPR to give them more control over their data, which enables them to overcome their distrust in internet corporations, making experts like Shawn more inclined to use online platforms for civic purposes. This finding echoes a study by Mohallick, De Moor, Özgöbek and Gulla (2018), according to which "control … over one's own data" is crucial for "increas[ing] users' trust" (p. 319). Nevertheless, while their research and the studies mentioned above do not engage with notions of media literacy, experts' and advocates' reliance on GDPR signals that it is underpinned by their knowledge about the digital environment, which is a form of critical digital literacy.

Not only is knowledge about GDPR beneficial for overcoming distrust in internet corporations, but, when it comes to activists, it can also enhance these individuals' trust in the quality of the membership of their organizations. During fieldwork, it became evident that they are largely aware of the implications of GDPR for civil society. As explained by Mary, who is the founder of a community environmental organization:

[GDPR] is affecting charities and activist groups... Whereas before, people usually had to opt out ..., now say I've got 100 email addresses, I would email those people and say, "you've indicated in the past that you want to hear from [name of Mary's community organization], please can you tick this box to let me know that you want me to email you"

Mary knows that, because of GDPR, organizations like hers need to seek their members' consent before using their data and personal information in order to contact them. Besides the inconvenience of having to send multiple emails, Conservative activist Kelly, who runs an organization that promotes social justice, worries about a drop in the number of supporters who, because of GDPR, must opt in to receive her emails. Unlike Kelly, activists Adele and Laura, by contrast, think that GDPR represents an opportunity for their organizations to engage with a more reliable membership. As emphasized by progressive activist Laura, who also campaigns for social justice:

We want the quality, not the quantity. There's no point in having 50,000 people on your list if only 10,000 of them are active ... Instead, we want to deepen our engagement.

According to Laura, GDPR has enabled campaigning organizations to "deepen" their engagement with a more trustworthy membership, framed as "active" and in terms of "quality" and not, as valued by Kelly, of "quantity". On the one hand, political research

has focused predominantly on the impact of GDPR on how users' data is processed for political campaigning purposes (e.g., Dimisianos, 2019). On the other hand, less is known about how GDPR is perceived by activists and individuals involved in politics. Laura's remarks suggest that knowledge about the implications of GDPR can make activists' civic engagement more trustful, that is, based on trust in the membership of their campaigning organizations. This knowledge relates to an understanding of the political economy of the internet, which is a dimension of critical digital literacy. Kelly's reservations about GDPR, however, indicate that such an understanding, as argued in Chapter 5, can be discursively constructed in different ways. Her concerns about the quantity rather than the quality of her membership exemplifies why critical digital literacy, when constructed in these terms, does not relate to trust.

To recap, critical digital literacy, based on knowledge about GDPR and about internet corporations, enables experts and advocates to overcome their distrust in how these corporations handle their data. Coupled with an understanding of what online platforms afford in terms of online privacy, this knowledge has the potential to encourage experts to use the internet more trustfully for civic purposes. When it comes to activists, understanding the implications of GDPR for their organizations can enhance their trust in their membership. Nevertheless, this depends on how such an understanding is discursively constructed.

## 7.4 Strategic Engagement

The idea of engaging *strategically* with digital technologies resonates with the concept of *media strategy*.<sup>55</sup> Media literacy research has hardly engaged with notions of strategy, except in data literacy research on what users do, mindful of how internet

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Research on data literacy has employed notions of *strategies* and *tactics* to refer, respectively, to how institutions operate through practices of power and what citizens do to resist their practices (e.g., Selwyn & Pangrazio, 2018). By contrast, this section, like most studies within political research (e.g., Howard, 2005; McCurdy, 2011; Rucht, 2004), uses the notion of strategy to refer to how traditional media and/or digital technologies can be used as part of plans of action, irrespective of whether the latter relate to participation in institutional or non-institutional politics.

corporations operate, to protect their online privacy, (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019; Selwyn & Pangrazio, 2018). By contrast, political research has largely used this concept to describe how party candidates and activists use traditional media and digital technologies to pursue media strategies for campaigning, building support and organizing action (e.g., Howard, 2005; LaMarre & Suzuki-Lambrecht, 2013; McGregor et al., 2016; Rucht, 2004). Despite under-exploring media literacy theory, media research on social movements has emphasized the fact that activists, in particular, use traditional media and digital technologies *strategically* insofar as they know how to pursue different actions by adapting to the media ecosystem and overcoming its limitations (e.g., Cammaerts, 2012; McCurdy, 2011; Rucht, 2004).

With these literatures in mind, fieldwork was approached with the question of whether and how experts and advocates deploy digital skills and knowledge to engage strategically in civic life. As theorized in Chapter 3, this thesis conceptualizes critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Such an approach prescribes that users can pursue civic opportunities as long as they understand the internet's civic potentials and limitations. Before conducting fieldwork, it was not known whether this is how experts and advocates engage *de facto* in civic life, adapting to the digital environment. In addition, beyond their imaginaries, it was previously not clear whether or how they overcome its limitations by deploying other dimensions of digital literacy.

The subsections that follow address these questions by examining a few examples that best represent the findings of this study. As we see below, experts and advocates deploy digital literacy in ways that inform the strategic decisions behind their civic engagement, from reading news to campaigning. Their strategies are aimed at overcoming bias and misinformation (subsection 7.4.1), overcoming their privacy concerns about the corporate nature of their data (subsection 7.4.2), and navigating the internet's civic potentials and limitations (subsection 7.4.3).

### 7.4.1 Overcoming bias and misinformation

Chapter 5 has argued that critical digital literacy of a sophisticated kind relies on functional digital literacy. The ability to evaluate online content, which is one of its dimensions, relies on digital skills, including first and foremost information-navigation skills, as well as the practice of using multiple sources. This practice, in turn, is underpinned by knowledge of digital affordances, which includes an understanding of what search engines afford in terms of comparing and contrasting information. What stood out from my interviews with advocates, including activists whose professional practices are grounded in expertise, is that they deploy these skills and knowledge within civic life to identify and strategically minimize their exposure to biased information and misinformation. Conservative activist Jacob, for example, knows how to assess whether political information is subject to bias by deploying informationnavigation skills along with knowledge of what Google affords in terms of using multiple sources, even when it comes to content produced by the Conservative Party. As he wrote in his diary about one of the Party's newsletters:

[This] newsletter [...had] a link to a new feature added to the Conservative Party website [..., which allows you to] see key Conservative achievements in your area... [As] this ... was (quite inevitably) one-sided, I was able to research it in further detail by typing the key-words such as "business" and "GDP" into Google to validate stats provided by independent sources... This provided a useful nuancing/balancing of perspectives.

Similarly, Green Party candidate and activist Helen deploys her ability to evaluate online content in ways that rely on digital skills and on knowledge of digital affordances. As a digital campaigner, Helen works at the intersection of advocacy and expertise. She relies on social and information-navigation skills to use WhatsApp and Google. Conscious of what Google Reverse Image Search affords in terms of checking the origins of photos, she deploys her digital skills in ways that inform a two-part strategy underpinning her engagement with fellow activists: 1) identifying and 2) rectifying misinformation. As she explained: [A] person [...who] campaigned for us ... sent me ... on WhatsApp a picture of a family who he said was Syrian refugees who had been given a mansion somewhere in the UK [...where people are] going homeless. ...So, I put the image into Google Reverse Image Search, and it showed that ... their story was nothing like [...that. So,] what I do usually, I say ... this is not true, here's a link to the actual story. Please send this back to the person that sent this to you and ask them to forward it to everyone.

The examples above suggest that the ability to evaluate online content facilitates civic engagement in ways that are strategic in overcoming bias and misinformation. This finding echoes those of media literacy research inspired by social psychology, which has argued that such an ability corresponds to increased civic engagement (e.g., Kahne et al., 2012; Martens & Hobbs, 2015). But while this strand of research has focused on how much users engage in civic life, Jacob's and Helen's experience suggests that their ability to evaluate online content enhances the quality of their civic engagement. Such an ability requires both functional skills and knowledge about the internet.

Like Helen, policy officer Julia uses Google Reverse Image Search to assess the trustworthiness of photos. That activists would know how to spot misinformation was not necessarily anticipated because media research on social movements, as reviewed earlier in this thesis, has offered contradictory evidence. Studying the US antivaccination movement, Krishna (2017) has emphasized that "fake news stories [...convert] individuals into fervent activists" with limited knowledge (p. 176). Others, by contrast, have found that activists are often cautious about misinformation (Ronfeldt, Arquilla, Fuller, & Fuller, 1998, p. 71). Howard and Hussain (2013), for instance, have argued that "when state officials in Syria started spreading misinformation over Twitter [during the Arab Spring], activists used Google Maps to self-monitor and verify" sources (pp. 28-29). While more research is needed on this subject, how Helen and Julia deploy their digital literacy suggests that it enables activists to counter the spread of misinformation.

Not only is digital literacy essential for identifying misinformation, but also knowledge about accredited media outlets shapes civic engagement in ways that are beneficial for avoiding misinformation altogether, minimizing exposure to it. This is prevalent among experts, and to a lesser extent also among advocates. Chapter 5 has argued that knowledge about news media, deployed in synergy with the practice of using multiple sources, is essential for evaluating online content. Trust in reputable brands prescribes the use of some sources over others, which is why the ability to evaluate online content makes civic engagement not just trustful, as examined above, but also based on *strategic disengagement*. User experience designer Anthony, for instance, avoids individual blogs, relying on accredited media outlets. Conscious that the aesthetics of a website can be misleading when trying to spot misinformation, as Anthony emphasized: "[I] ignore ... individual, little blogs ... and concentrate only on real news sources, like the *New York Times*".

Similarly, when asked whether he reads any political blogs, cloud architect Christian replied: "I used to... [Now] I tend to stick to [...the] sources that I find credible", referring to news outlets like the BBC and CNN. Likewise, Conservative activist Moana prefers to live-stream political debates from BBC Live TV instead of reading comments about these on Facebook or Twitter. Like Anthony, Christian and Moana are aware of what websites and social media afford in terms of spreading misinformation, conscious that blogging and platforms like Facebook enable users to create and upload their own content. Their disengagement from individual blogs and from social media commentary is not symptomatic of civic disengagement, but suggests that critical digital literacy, in concert with functional digital literacy, makes civic engagement strategic in terms of overcoming misinformation, which can happen through forms of online disengagement.

Further examples of how experts' and advocates' digital literacy facilitates their strategic (dis)engagement in the context of different civic practices are provided across the rest of this chapter. It should firstly be emphasized that, given the gaps within media literacy research, the finding that digital literacy can lead to strategic disengagement was unexpected. It was theorized in Chapter 3 that applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy challenges research arguing that users' negative interpretations of the internet lead necessarily to online disengagement, which digital inequalities research has generally assumed to be both problematic and typical of the non-user (e.g., Olphert & Damodaran, 2013).<sup>56</sup> Beyond the question of whether or not this is the case, not just theoretically but also empirically – which is addressed in subsection 7.4.3 below – it was not foreseen that experts and advocates like Christian and Moana would report deploying other dimensions of critical digital literacy, such as the ability to evaluate online content, in ways that problematize such an assumption. To better understand this finding, it is worth drawing on a few studies that were not reviewed in Chapters 2 and 3.

Within political research, Casemajor, Couture, Delfin, Goerzen and Delfanti (2015) have challenged the view of non-participation as representing alienation from civic life by distinguishing between passive non-participation and active non-participation. Passive non-participation entails a lack of "intention toward a specific political end" (p. 855). Active non-participation refers, rather, to a "refusal" to use "a platform or service [..., often along with the] decision to join an alternative" network (pp. 855-856). "Exodus", for example, is a collective "strategy" that involves "acts of ... withdrawal" (p. 862). Exceptionally, and building on this distinction, recent work on digital inequalities has differentiated between positive and negative non-participation (Lutz & Hoffmann, 2017). While the former is underpinned by causes perceived as constructive for society, such as online boycotts of unjust economic practices, the latter is seen as aimed at avoiding limitations of the digital environment, from misinformation to surveillance.

Christian's and Moana's disengagement from blogs and social media commentary is both active and negative. How they deploy their digital literacy to avoid misinformation suggests that online disengagement contributes strategically, beyond activism, to institutional engagement in civic life such as following news and political

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Section 7.2 above has argued, in relation to functional digital literacy, that negative dispositions towards the internet reconfigure online engagement without necessarily leading to disengagement from civic life.

debates. This subsection has shown that advocates, including digital campaigners whose practices are based on expertise, deploy their ability to evaluate online content along with digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances in order to overcome strategically biased information and misinformation. Activists Jacob and Helen engage, respectively, with political content and with fellow activists by deploying informationnavigation skills and knowledge of what Google affords for checking the trustworthiness of information and photos. Finally, knowledge about accredited media outlets, which is essential for assessing information, enhances both experts' and advocates' civic engagement, making it strategic in overcoming misinformation in ways that can rely on forms of online disengagement.

### 7.4.2 Overcoming privacy concerns about the corporate nature of users' data

While not all experts and advocates worry about the privacy implications of how internet corporations like Facebook operate, subsection 7.3.2 above has examined how knowledge about GDPR enables those who do worry to overcome their distrust in how these corporations collect and handle their data, amid concerns about the Cambridge Analytica scandal. As reviewed in Chapter 2, research on data literacy has addressed how users protect their privacy from internet corporations through tactics such as the posting of obfuscatory information, including, for instance, deliberately ugly selfies (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019; Selwyn & Pangrazio, 2018). Do experts and advocates deploy strategies informed by digital literacy to overcome these kinds of concerns in the context of their civic engagement? Relatedly – since negatively active non-participation can take the shape of withdrawal from online platforms because of privacy concerns (Casemajor et al., 2015, p. 856; Lutz & Hoffmann, 2017, p. 887) – do they rely on forms of strategic disengagement? Below are a few examples that best capture the findings of this study.

Conscious that social media platforms like Facebook profit from sharing her data with advertisers, librarian Monica worries about the lack of privacy inherent in the commodification of user-generated content. As she put it: I wouldn't feel confident commenting on ... one of these sorts of Facebook or Twitter kind of debates because [of...] the corporate nature of these things. There's somebody at the end of the day making money off of that. It's not just a political debate that I could just go down the pub and start talking to somebody and then get into a political conversation. It's not that. It's like, you know, mediated by someone making money off that.

As a result, Monica avoids posting on social media platforms. Appreciative of their affordances for accessing information about politics, she limits herself to lurking – reading posts and comments about politics but not expressing her own opinions. Monica is conscious of the power asymmetries between internet corporations and users. Her disengagement from posting on social media is blended with a practice of strategic lurking aimed at accessing political information while minimizing how much of her data is commodified.

Similarly, Sophia, who works as a social media coordinator for a clothing company, limits herself to lurking on Facebook to read about politics, including Brexit. When asked whether she worries about the power that Facebook has over her information, she replied: "that is a vulnerability I don't enjoy". Overall, strategic disengagement is more prevalent among experts than among advocates, who benefit from using social media platforms to participate more actively in civic life. Indeed, while lurking is common among experts, it is not an option for activists. Georgia, for instance, uses Facebook to promote her activism, campaigning against hate speech online. But this does not prevent her from also relying on forms of strategic disengagement. Inasmuch as she worries about her data being profiled for political purposes on the basis of what she likes and does beyond her political engagement, she "make[s] a conscious effort to minimize" what she posts on Facebook. Concerned about the Cambridge Analytica scandal, she knows that Facebook uses algorithms to profile users. As a result, she has withdrawn from expressing what she likes and from adding to her profile personal information about where she lives or what she studied. Beyond the literatures reviewed in Chapters 2 and 3, we know from audience research that users' strategies to overcome their privacy concerns range from minimizing selfdisclosure to deleting photographs and limiting friendship requests on social media (Vitak, Blasiola, Patil, & Litt, 2015; A. L. Young & Quan-Haase, 2009, 2013). While this body of work has focused predominantly on interpersonal privacy, research on data literacy, as reviewed before my fieldwork, has found that users engage strategically with digital technologies to protect their privacy against internet corporations. Similarly, media research on social movements has argued that activists are "critically aware" of social media's "corporate power", resulting in "processes of negotiation with digital capitalism" (Barassi, 2015b, p. 80). Building on these strands of research, how Sophia and Georgia deploy an understanding of internet corporations and what online platforms afford for collecting personal data suggests, as examined above, that their civic engagement, from reading about Brexit to campaigning online, is underpinned by privacy concerns and strategic disengagement.

While Sophia's and Georgia's strategic disengagement manifests as, respectively, lurking and minimizing posting on social media, others like systems administrator Simon rely on strategic disengagement when accessing news outlets. As we saw in Chapter 5, the practice of using multiple sources to evaluate online content may be underpinned by privacy concerns. This is why information science lecturer Carol, for instance, use DuckDuckGo, conscious that it does not profile users on the basis of what they search for. When it comes to reading news online, Simon uses news sites rather than news apps. His disengagement from the latter is underpinned by awareness that they are designed in ways that make it easier for media outlets to collect users' personal data. For this reason, he makes strategic use of Firefox Focus as a browser and DuckDuckGo as a search engine to access news sites and read about politics, appreciative that these are less invasive of privacy than Google. He knows, nevertheless, that news sites collect users' data through cookies. Reluctant to subscribe to accredited outlets because this would involve sharing his personal information, he knows, furthermore, that most sites have a paywall, which limits his engagement with news. As he emphasized:

If I wanted to read the New York Times ... [he types the URL of the New York Times into the search bar of Firefox Focus on his smartphone, opening it via DuckDuckGo] ... at some point it will tell me you've run out of free articles ... and they do that by putting a cookie on your phone.

Simon is conscious that his reluctance to subscribe, and thereby share his personal information, limits his engagement with news. As a result, he deploys operational skills and knowledge about data tracking and what cookies afford to overcome the paywall on news sites. As he explained: "by deleting the cookie, they think you're a new reader. ...and then you go back again, and you get another ten [articles]". Aware that news sites use cookies to track users' engagement with their articles, he frames his strategy to bypass their paywalls as subverting data tracking ("they think you're a new reader") on the basis of "delet[ing]" cookies. In short, his disengagement from news apps is coupled with strategic engagement with news sites to protect his privacy.

The examples above show how experts and advocates deploy functional and critical digital skills and knowledge in different ways to engage in forms of strategic disengagement within civic life that enable them to overcome their privacy concerns about corporate use of their data. Their skills and knowledge include operational skills and an understanding of how their data is collected by internet corporations, as well as by media outlets. Such skills and understanding are deployed in synergy with knowledge of what platforms and cookies afford in terms of data tracking. According to research on data literacy (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019), digital literacy enables users to resist the ways in which their data is collected and commodified. Given this strand of research, it is not surprising that digital literacy allows experts and advocates to overcome their privacy concerns. But what emerged unanticipated was that digital literacy enables them to protect their privacy through forms of strategic disengagement. For experts Monica and Sophia, this translates as social media lurking, which echoes Osatuyi's (2015) proposition that users' privacy concerns online decrease as their lurking increases. Activist Georgia, by contrast, minimizes what she posts about herself. Finally, expert Simon's strategic disengagement relies on avoiding news apps.

#### 7.4.3 Navigating the internet's civic potentials and limitations

While media literacy research has largely approached the critical dimension of digital literacy as the ability to evaluate online content, a few studies have, exceptionally, framed it as incorporating an understanding of the role of the internet in civic life (e.g., Banaji & Buckingham, 2013; Fry, 2014). Nevertheless, whether and how critical digital literacy relies on understanding *both* the internet's potentials and its limitations, and whether and how such an understanding underpins civic engagement, have remained under-researched. Furthermore, when also considering political research, two conflicting trends emerge from the literature.

As reviewed in Chapter 3, a few studies within political research have polarized users' positive or negative interpretations of the internet – in relation to its potential for public debate and community life as well as for limited impact and misinformation – as respectively beneficial for or detrimental to their online engagement (e.g., Gustafsson, 2012; B. J. Kim et al., 2011). According to these studies, similarly to a large body of media literacy research, users' negative interpretations lead to online disengagement. This body of work includes research inspired by the New Literacy Studies on users' understanding of digital storytelling and surveillance (e.g., Shresthova, 2016a). In addition, as argued earlier, it consists of studies that have prioritized users' functional digital literacy, with emphasis on their general dispositions towards the internet beyond civic life (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groseli, 2017). By contrast, unlike this body of work, media research on social movements, despite hardly drawing on media literacy theory, has provided a more nuanced understanding of how activists' knowledge about the media ecosystem, based on appreciating both its potentials and its limitations, enables them to use both traditional media and digital technologies strategically (e.g., Barassi, 2015b; Cammaerts, 2012; McCurdy, 2011; Treré, 2015). McCurdy (2010), for instance, has found that activists are often aware of the positive and negative implications of

news coverage for their activism, which folds into a "strategic approach" based on the "preferential treatment of 'friendly' journalists" (p. 54).

With these two trends in mind, fieldwork was approached with the idea that applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy has the potential to problematize research findings according to which users' negative interpretations of the internet are detrimental to their online engagement. However, given the conflicting evidence in the literature, it was not known whether experts and advocates use the internet in ways that are underpinned in practice by imaginaries of its limitations for civic life in synergy with imaginaries of its potentials. In addition, it was not known whether or how their imaginaries of the internet intersect with imaginaries of civic life and other dimensions of digital literacy. To answer these questions, this subsection examines how experts and advocates deploy different imaginaries of the internet and of civic life in ways that make their civic engagement strategic in dealing with alternative media, the filter bubble, online abuse, visibility and surveillance. An example of each of these, representing the most prominent findings of this study, is presented below.

### Alternative media

Progressive librarian Monica feels pessimistic about Western democracy because of right-wing politics and far-right extremism. As she emphasized: "there's very few people who have experienced fascism ... so people ... don't think that ... democracy could crumble". Framing democracy as potentially falling apart ("could crumble"), she places responsibility for underestimating this problem on the younger generations, who have not "experienced" far-right politics (hyperbolized as "fascism"). Her civic dystopianism intersects with utopianism/dystopianism about the internet. She thinks it has the "potential" to contribute to "informed citizen[s]" by providing access to not just mainstream but also alternative media. At the same time, she worries about its implications for misinformation and extremism, since it enables users to produce content that can be "racist or wrong".

Supportive of an anti-fascist pressure group that she follows on Facebook, Monica has joined one of their anti-US-President-Trump rallies, conscious that they post articles from mainstream sources like the *Guardian* along with alternative content that they produce themselves. Mindful of the potentials and limitations of alternative media in ways that reflect her utopian/dystopian imaginary of the internet, she engages with alternative content only in balance with mainstream media. Asked how the two differ, she replied:

A small organization like [the pressure group] might be willing to say something that was wrong, but ... also share information that was more current and quicker and ... more extreme... [But] they might talk about things that the *Guardian* didn't think was important... So, I would be willing to look at it ... only in balance with other sources.

Concerned about far-right politics, Monica is aware of the internet's utopian/dystopian potential for promoting a well-informed citizenry as well as for spreading misinformation and extremism. Relatedly, she is conscious of the potentials and limitations of alternative media, as discussed by Downey and Fenton (2003) and by Starbird (2017). While she uses these in ways that underpin her resistance to rightwing and far-right politics, she compensates strategically for their limitations by also using mainstream media.

As argued earlier in this thesis, except for research on how activists produce alternative media in order to combat dominant representations (e.g., Feria-Galicia, 2011), research on social movements has rarely engaged with notions of media literacy. Interested in activists' understanding of the media ecosystem, McCurdy (2010) has found that they often see mainstream and alternative media "as each having their strengths and limitations", which is why they make strategic use of both to "compensate for the[ir] shortcomings" (pp. 56-57). How Monica deploys her skills and knowledge suggests that digital literacy is essential for strategically navigating mainstream and alternative content.

### The filter bubble

Media activist Amanda works for an organization rooted in conservatism, which campaigns for children's safety from harmful content. Her vision of social change focuses on government regulation, which is based on digital utopianism. She hopes "to see long-term ... a digital industry that [...puts] children's wellbeing and protection ... at the heart of what it does". Her utopian imaginary of internet safety ("wellbeing and protection") prescribes how the "digital industry" should operate. Inasmuch as she lobbies for internet regulation, she values its potential for a more "direct link to parliamentarians and policymakers", as advocated by E. J. Lee and Shin (2014). But she is aware of its dystopian limitations for making political debate "polarizing", as discussed by Sunstein (2007).

Amanda knows that the problem of polarization is exacerbated by the filter bubbles that internet corporations create through their algorithms, as discussed by Vaidhyanathan (2018). Talking about Facebook, she explained:

Amanda: They use your likes [...to] suggest things that you also might like and
[...create a] personalized feed for you..., [which] is problematic because
we do end up just hearing the same things and ... might not consider
other points of view ...
Researcher: Do you ever do anything to somehow minimize this problem? ...

Amanda: ... I've liked news channels ... of the opposite view ... to mine, so that I ... get an opposite ... view of things.

Not only does Amanda's imaginary of civic life, which is inherently digital, drive her support for internet regulation, but it is also intertwined with awareness of the internet's utopian/dystopian potential for politics. She values it for connecting with policymakers. But, being knowledgeable about how internet corporations operate, she understands its implications for polarization, which strategically underpins her engagement with news outlets that provide opposite views to hers. This finding resonates with information science research, which has emphasized that users need digital literacy in order to understand search engine algorithms and engage beyond their own filter bubbles (Dillahunt et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2012; Spratt & Agosto, 2017; Valentine & Wukovitz, 2013). How Amanda deploys her digital skills and knowledge suggests that digital literacy is crucial for diversifying exposure to news.

# Online abuse

Having voted for the UK to remain in the European Union, librarian Peter, a Labour supporter, fears that "the first five years of Brexit ... will be terrible" because of "social unrest" and "street violence". His civic dystopianism is blended with awareness of the internet's utopian/dystopian implications for democracy, conscious that "it might strengthen [...or] weaken it". While he values Twitter for allowing users to express their political opinions, he worries about misinformation and trolling, echoing academic research (e.g., Coleman & Blumler, 2009; Forestal, 2017). As he emphasized: "[the internet] might lead to online misleading ... during elections... And you have troll[s] who'[re] undermining democracy".

As a result, Peter deploys operational and social skills along with an understanding of what Twitter affords in terms of blocking trolls and controversial tweets. He once blocked a user who tweeted to him that "those who oppose Brexit aren't British" and that he would be "marginalized". As he explained:

If they send you abusive texts, this is how you block someone [*he clicks on his profile photo on the Twitter app on his smartphone, then on "profile", "tweets and replies" and, after scrolling down, his reply to a comment*] ... then I go here [*he clicks on the small arrow next to the comment*] ... "block" [*pointing at the "block" option*].

Intersecting with civic dystopianism about Brexit, Peter's utopian/dystopian imaginary of the internet is grounded in its potential to facilitate political expression but also misinformation and trolling. Along with digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances, his imaginary underpins his ability to strategically overcome online abuse when engaging in political debate.

This finding can be explained by drawing on Nagle's (2018) approach to "critical social media literacy" as incorporating "the ability to mute or block users" and report anything from misogyny to racial violence (p. 92). How Peter deploys his digital skills and knowledge suggests that digital literacy enables users to overcome hate speech online. This is why the concept of digital literacy can overlap with that of digital resilience, which is generally understood as the ability to cope with and react to negative experiences online (Hammond & Cooper, 2015; Third, Forrest-Lawrence, & Collier, 2014). At the same time, there is a thin line between muting or blocking users and welcoming opposing views. We do not know much about how users deploy their digital literacy to navigate this contradiction. Arguably, while digital literacy is essential, as discussed above, for diversifying exposure to information, its potential to overcome online abuse is bound up with what may or may not be considered acceptable speech.

### Visibility

Sue is a member of the Conservative Party and right-wing libertarian activist who campaigns for free speech. Concerned about hate speech and the polarization of political debate in the West, she "hope[s] for ... people to ... have a civil conversation, without personal attacks, without getting offended". As an advocate of free speech and minimal government regulation, she constructs her utopian imaginary of social change by placing responsibility on citizens to debate in "civil" and rational ways ("without getting ... offended"). But she constructs her dystopian imaginary as affected by polarization and intolerance towards different opinions. As she emphasized: "I don't want ... bigotry to be normalized".

Her civic utopianism/dystopianism intersects with awareness of the internet's utopian/dystopian implications for political debate. She is conscious that it "has a role

in affecting democracy", since "you're reaching a much wider spectrum of people". But she also knows, as discussed by Forestal (2017), that it enables "people ... to attack [...and] demonize you". Inasmuch as her desire to promote civil and rational speech drives her activism, Sue's utopian/dystopian imaginary of the internet is entangled with knowledge of what platforms afford in terms of reaching different age groups and maximizing online visibility. As she explained:

Middle schoolers ... use ... Snapchat and Instagram. ...so, if you want to reach younger people, we can't just [use] Facebook... [and] if I want to share an article, I'll make sure [I do so] around lunchtime, around five or six, that's when people are getting off work [...so] more people will see it.

On the one hand, Sue's civic dystopianism about polarization is intertwined with awareness of the internet's dystopian implications for hate speech. On the other hand, she is committed to fighting polarization and promoting free speech in line with digital utopianism. Together with knowledge of what social media afford for the targeting of different audiences, her utopian/dystopian imaginary of the internet underpins her ability to use it strategically to maximize visibility.

This finding aligns with political research, beyond the studies reviewed in Chapter 3. Studying activism in Russia, Lokot (2018) has found that activists engage in "strategic visibility", that is, strategies to maximize their online visibility, such as posting information on multiple servers (p. 334). These strategies are based on using "the internet's affordances for real-time reporting and sharing" (p. 334). Similarly, beyond activism, political research has argued that political party candidates need "technical skills" to "create more online visibility" (Strandberg, 2008, 2009; Vergeer & Hermas, 2013, p. 403). How Sue deploys her digital skills and knowledge resonates with these studies in ways that can be bridged with media literacy theory. Her experience suggests that digital literacy is crucial to strategically maximizing online visibility when engaging in civic life.

### Surveillance

Green Party candidate and activist Helen "feel[s] very pessimistic" about politics. According to her, "the UK system is just horribly broken and it's leading people to think that they have no agency, which is suppressing voter turnout". Her civic dystopianism is rooted in the concern that "people [lack] power over what happens in their community", which is why she "hope[s] ... that politics decentralizes". Underpinned by left-wing libertarianism, her civic utopianism is intertwined with digital utopianism. She knows that "the internet could make it possible for any citizen ... to [...access] the data that the[ir] council has about how they've been spending". According to Helen, "if you open source [...and] allow people to feed into that, ... everything will be far more effective". But while she frames the internet as leading potentially to a libertarian utopia of government transparency and efficiency ("effective"), which resonates with the work of Kassen (2013) and O'Hara (2012), she is aware that it can also facilitate surveillance, as discussed by Fuchs (2010) and McChesney (2013). As she put it: "we could be ... like in China, where they've got facial recognition and ... track citizen's movements, which is terrifying".

Conscious of the internet's dystopian implications for surveillance, Helen is known by a different name online. Not only does her public name allow her to keep her legal name private, but she also uses the latter strategically to disguise her identity as a campaigner, circumventing surveillance. As she explained:

When I've stood for election, I stood as [Helen's made-up public name]. On social media, it's under [the same name]. ... The mayor of [name of area] ... has made decisions that I've been campaigning against. ...When someone has complained about his behaviour to the council, he's [...had] a word with [them] personally. ... As a result, when I've made certain communications with the council, I've made sure to use my personal legal name, rather than my public professional name, so that maybe he doesn't realise that it's me. So, he's not going to ... beat me up ..., because there is video footage of him online ... hit[ting] someone ... protest[ing] against [him].

Besides using her personal and professional names strategically to avoid surveillance, Helen uses encrypted messaging systems when discussing sensitive issues with fellow campaigners:

When I'm communicating certain things with certain activists, I will make sure to use encrypted messaging services, rather than Facebook or Twitter or email. ...Local councils have used the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act to get access to people's personal digital data... I've used WhatsApp and ... Line and Telegram ..., so that if the council were to ... get access to my digital prints ..., they wouldn't find any of those messages.

Intersecting with dystopianism in relation to citizens' alienation from politics, Helen's utopian/dystopian imaginary of the internet as facilitating decentralization of power but also surveillance underpins her civic engagement. Strategically, as an individual involved in politics and as a campaigner working with fellow activists, she deploys her imaginary to overcome surveillance, knowledgeable about what different messaging systems afford. Her decision not to use certain platforms suggests that digital literacy, as discussed earlier, facilitates civic engagement in ways that can rely on different forms of strategic disengagement.

This finding can be explained by drawing on surveillance studies, according to which users' strategies for resisting internet surveillance, from state surveillance to internet corporations' data tracking, may include self-censorship, the use of proxy servers, reliance on more savvy users, the use of encryption, or the rerouting of information (Dupont, 2008; Shklovski & Kotamraju, 2011). Media research on social movements has addressed how activists appropriate these strategies (e.g., Pickerill, 2003, p. 164; Ziccardi, 2013, p. 250). According to Treré (2015), for instance, the more tech-savvy know how to delete sensitive information (pp. 174–175). As reviewed in Chapter 2, Jenkins and colleagues, inspired by critical pedagogy and the New Literacy Studies, have argued that activists are often aware of internet surveillance, resorting to strategies such as using different networks or self-censorship (Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Shresthova, 2016a; Soep, 2016). Their work suggests that understanding the internet's potential for storytelling or for

surveillance facilitates, respectively, increased or decreased online activism (Shresthova, 2016a, p. 158). By contrast, how Helen deploys her digital literacy to overcome surveillance demonstrates, as with the examples above, that understanding the internet's potentials *and* limitations contributes to active engagement in civic life.

Chapter 5 has argued that conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating a dialectical approach to utopian thinking allows us to disentangle users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life. Such an approach prescribes that the *critical* in critical digital literacy requires an understanding of the utopian *and* dystopian potentials of the internet. While critical pedagogy has approached users' critique as inherently progressive, this subsection has shown, building on Chapter 5, that experts' and advocates' imaginaries of the internet are not just constructed but also deployed in line with different ideologies. On the one hand, for instance, activist Sue's digital utopianism/dystopianism in relation to the internet's potential for both democracy and for hate speech is blended with civic dystopianism about polarization, all of which underpins her activism in support of free speech in line with right-wing libertarian values. On the other hand, librarian Monica's participation in opposition to far-right politics is driven by civic utopianism aligned with progressive values, which is intertwined with digital utopianism/dystopianism in relation to the internet's potential to contribute to well-informed citizens as well as to misinformation and voter manipulation.

Ultimately, the deployment of both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet, together with the other critical and functional dimensions of digital literacy, is crucial to strategically maximizing its potentials while minimizing its constraints. As we have seen above, this is how librarian Peter, for example, overcomes online abuse by deploying operational and social skills along with not just an understanding of what Twitter affords for blocking trolls and controversial tweets but also digital utopianism/dystopianism with regard to the internet's potential for political debate. This finding invites media literacy research to establish links with media studies on social movements. As argued above, a few studies within political research and a large body of media literacy research have polarized users' positive or negative

interpretations of the internet as leading respectively to online engagement or disengagement (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Gustafsson, 2012; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; B. J. Kim et al., 2011; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). By contrast, despite hardly engaging with media literacy theory, media research on social movements has found that activists participate in practices of resistance by adapting to the media ecosystem, being conscious of its potentials and limitations (e.g., Barassi, 2015b; Cammaerts, 2012; McCurdy, 2011; Rucht, 2004; Treré, 2015). Grounded in an understanding of critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism, this subsection has shown that experts' and advocates' negative interpretations of the internet do not undermine their online engagement within civic life. In fact, they contribute to it, provided they are deployed in concert with positive interpretations.

### 7.5 Contradictory Engagement

The section above has argued that, often in synergy with functional digital literacy, experts' and advocates' critical digital literacy, based on deploying both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet, makes their civic engagement strategic in pursuing civic opportunities online while overcoming the limitations of the digital environment. Now this section examines what happens when advocates, including media activists who operate at the intersection of activism and expertise, construct both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet but deploy only one or the other. This is something that did not emerge prominently from my fieldwork, with only a handful of advocates deploying either utopianism or dystopianism about the internet, despite their ability to construct both imaginaries. While this is a finding in itself, before reflecting on what it means, here is an example that captures the findings of this study, relating to how Liberal Democrat candidate Mark uses social media.

Asked what vision of social change underpins his support for the Liberal Democrats, Mark replied: "my utopia isn't so revolutionary. ...We are quite close. We do live in a liberal democracy where we do have freedom of expression". But while he frames liberal democracy as a utopia within the present ("we are quite close"), he positions the internet as turning it into a dystopia of surveillance and coercion. He values the internet's potential "to provide a voice for people ..., organize protests and ... bring people together", but thinks that its benefits do not outweigh "its potential for unscrupulous companies or politicians or governments to use [...users' data] to coerce and undermine [...their] freedom". Referencing the Cambridge Analytica scandal, he places responsibility on internet corporations, "politicians and governments". As he put it: "social media was part of that utopian direction. ...But now, it's just an avenue stream for advertisers and for people to coerce people into buying things or to vote". His dystopianism resonates with Vaidhyanathan's (2018) proposition that social media have economic interests that go beyond facilitating participation in society.

Even though Mark constructs his imaginary of the internet's potential for civic life as both utopian and dystopian, he deploys contradictorily either utopianism or dystopianism in the context of his civic engagement, but not both at the same time. When it comes to his engagement with social media as an ordinary citizen, but not as a Liberal Democrat candidate, his dystopianism prevails over his utopianism. Since the Cambridge Analytica scandal, he has refrained from using his smartphone in order to minimize the extent to which his data is tracked by social media and may be used to target him with political advertising. As he wrote in his diary: the "scandal ... has resulted in me [...switching] from a smart [to a standard] phone to ... limit my location, preferences and personal information being shared to any major tech company". His disengagement from social media, however, is not strategic. It is underpinned by dystopianism about internet surveillance and voter manipulation in ways that intersect with his limited operational skills and knowledge of what his privacy settings afford on Facebook. Even though he has adjusted his settings to share his data only with friends, he is unaware that he can limit the extent to which Facebook shares his data with third parties. As he explained, while navigating Facebook in his computer:

- Mark: Only friends can see my posts, only friends of friends can send me requests [pointing at "who can send you friend request?", which is set on "friends of friends"] ...
- Researcher: [And] when it comes to [Facebook] sharing your data with third parties?
- Mark: ...I can't remember, I haven't been on it for a while [*he hovers the mouse hesitantly for a few seconds*]
- Researcher: There is technically an option, which is under "apps and websites" [He hovers the mouse in search of "apps and websites". He clicks on it and then points at "Apps, websites and games", which is set on "Turned on" to enable Facebook to share his data with apps, websites and games that he logs into via Facebook]. So, I wonder whether you have ever managed this one?
- Mark: No, I have never really done this one, no.

Not only is Mark's disengagement from social media underpinned by limited operational skills and limited knowledge of what his settings afford, but it is also contradictory, since his digital dystopianism prevails over his utopianism only in the context of his own engagement online as an ordinary citizen. When it comes to his civic engagement as a Liberal Democrat candidate, as he wrote in his diary:

Despite my resistance to remain[ing] active in social media in a personal capacity I am aware that it remains a force in political campaigning for now. Over the last few weeks I have continued to produce short animations and promo videos that are then uploaded and boosted to Facebook users ... to convince them to vote for my party.

Deploying either his utopian or his dystopian imaginary of the internet, and despite his ability to construct both, Mark uses social media in contradictory ways. On the one hand, he has refrained from using them in his personal life because of dystopianism about data tracking and voter manipulation, together with limited operational skills and knowledge of what his settings afford. On the other hand, he uses them to post ads and target users to vote for his party, conscious that the internet's potential for campaigning aligns with his utopia of liberal democracy. His lack of digital literacy, based on privileging awareness of some of the internet's potentials or limitations, along with limited functional digital skills and knowledge, makes his civic engagement contradictory.

Like Mark, policy officer Julia uses the internet in contradictory ways which, again, have to do with deploying either utopianism or dystopianism with regard to its potential in terms of democracy and of surveillance respectively. Julia works for an organization that campaigns for online privacy. As a media activist, she works at the intersection of expertise and activism. She is conscious that the internet has the potential to make citizens more informed and more engaged in the political process. At the same time, she is concerned about the privacy implications for democracy inherent in how internet corporation operate, citing the dystopian novel The Circle as an example of her "biggest nightmare".<sup>57</sup> On the one hand, she advocates for citizens' right to online privacy as a policy officer who writes briefings on this subject for the UK Parliament. On the other hand, like Mark, when using social media like Facebook as an ordinary citizen, Julia has taken hardly any steps to manage her online privacy. As she put it: "one thing is ... writing about [privacy]. And another thing is ... your actual life". Beyond her role as a media activist campaigning for online privacy, Julia's engagement with social media as an ordinary citizen is underpinned by utopianism about the internet's potential for increasing participation in institutional politics. As we saw earlier in this chapter, she uses Facebook, for instance, to follow and join protest events. But despite her ability to construct both utopianism and dystopianism about the internet, she has refrained from deploying the latter when using it as an ordinary citizen, withdrawing, in turn, from deploying any strategies to protect her online privacy, including managing her privacy settings.

Mark's and Julia's experience raises questions about the extent to which they may be conditioned by professional pressure, working respectively as a Liberal Democrat candidate and a policy officer. This could explain why they act in contradictory ways

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> The Circle, a dystopian novel by Dave Eggers (2013), tells the story of a woman who joins a powerful internet corporation. With the excuse of advocating total transparency, this corporation runs its online platform on principles of surveillance and by expecting users to share online everything about their lives.

when we compare how they use the internet as part of their professions with how they use it as ordinary citizens. This finding did not emerge as prominently as the fact that both experts and advocates often construct *and* deploy both imaginaries within civic life, as examined in the previous section. This suggests that these are social categories that largely possess sophisticated critical digital literacy, based on constructing as well as applying consistently within the same context an understanding of the internet's civic potentials *and* limitations. While more research is needed, Mark's and Julia's remarks resonate with research on contradictory behaviour, beyond the literature reviewed before fieldwork.

Research in psychology has emphasized that "paradoxically, risk perceptions are sometimes related positively and sometimes related negatively to risk taking", resulting in contradictory behaviour (B. Mills, Reyna, & Estrada, 2008, p. 432). Within media research, a few studies have argued that internet users' contradictory behaviour depends on the extent to which they weigh the same online risks inconsistently. This explains why users may embellish how they present themselves in online dating even though they may be suspicious of attractive photographs, or why they may disclose information online despite their privacy concerns (Barnes, 2006; Lo, Hsieh, & Chiu, 2013, p. 1756; Maruyama, 2015, p. 135).

Mark's and Julia's experience suggests that their utopianism about the internet facilitates their civic engagement. But deploying utopianism as such is not synonymous with deploying critical digital literacy. Nor, on its own, is deploying dystopianism. Media literacy scholars inspired by critical pedagogy would probably contend otherwise, since users' critique is understood within this tradition as recognizing that media representations, and to a lesser extent the internet, are constrained by power asymmetries (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007; Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019). As captured by Mark's experience, deploying dystopianism in isolation from utopianism about the internet, particularly in relation to data tracking, surveillance and voter manipulation, leads to online disengagement. By contrast, subsection 7.4.3 above has argued that experts' and advocates' negative interpretations of the internet do not necessarily undermine their online engagement with civic life, but actually contribute to it, provided they are deployed in synergy with positive interpretations.

Recent work on digital inequalities has emphasized that limited engagement online can be strategic and is not necessarily problematic, as long as it leads to high-quality outcomes (e.g., Lutz & Hoffmann, 2017; van Deursen & Helsper, 2018). This body of work, however, has generally approached users' negative interpretations of the internet as problematic for their online engagement, under-researching whether and how these intersect with their positive interpretations, and with what implications for their online engagement (e.g., Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Hakkarainen, 2012; Park, 2014; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). As argued earlier, this limitation applies also to a considerable number of studies inspired by other traditions of media literacy research as well as to a few studies on political participation (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Gustafsson, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; B. J. Kim et al., 2011; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Shresthova, 2016a).

The idea that deploying dystopianism about the internet can lead users to online disengagement is different from the idea that they can resort to forms of online disengagement in order to strategically overcome the limitations of the digital environment. As discussed in the sections above, strategic (dis)engagement is based on critical digital literacy in ways that often intersect with functional digital literacy. By contrast, deploying exclusively either utopianism or dystopianism about the internet is symptomatic of a lack of critical digital literacy. As theorized in Chapter 3, critical digital literacy relies on constructing both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet. But, as argued in this section, the inability to deploy *both* imaginaries despite understanding its potentials and limitations amounts, in practice, to a lack of critical digital literacy and, in turn, contradictory engagement in civic life. This finding, which was not anticipated, has implications for how we understand critical digital literacy. It was argued in Chapter 3 that we should not expect critical digital literacy necessarily to translate into civic action. This section has shown that, in practice, the ability to construct utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet cannot be fully disentangled from deploying such imaginaries for civic purposes. One may well

understand the internet's potentials and limitations without participating in civic life. But the extent to which users' online (dis)engagement may be underpinned by privileging *de facto* either utopianism or dystopianism about the internet, resulting in contradictory engagement, casts doubts on the value of critical digital literacy unless it is put into practice.

### 7.6 Discussion

Media literacy research has explored how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement by focusing either on functional digital literacy, as with research on digital inequalities (e.g., Harlow, 2012; Min, 2010), or on users' ability to evaluate online content with little attention to their knowledge about the digital environment, as with research inspired by social psychology or critical pedagogy (e.g., Kahne et al., 2012; Kellner & Share, 2007). By contrast, this chapter has addressed the question of whether and how digital literacy facilitates civic engagement by interrogating how experts and advocates in the UK deploy different functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet.

This study found that functional digital literacy makes civic engagement instrumental, that is, based on using digital technologies as practical tools for civic purposes. Of all the examples presented above, how policy officer Julia and systems administrator Simon deploy information-navigation, social, operational and creative skills suggests that their digital skills facilitate their civic engagement, from registering online for a protest event to setting up a survey for a residents' association. This finding builds on research on digital inequalities and political participation, as reviewed prior to fieldwork (e.g., Anduiza et al., 2010; Harlow, 2012). In addition, both experts' and advocates' digital skills are often deployed together with knowledge of digital affordances in a way that is underpinned by dispositions towards the internet. Librarian Peter, for instance, uses Twitter to discuss Brexit, conscious of its advantages and affordances for connecting people with similar interests. This finding was not anticipated, given the lack of literature on how users' dispositions towards the

internet intersect with their knowledge of what it affords. Advocates, furthermore, deploy digital skills collectively in ways that depend on how their expertise is distributed. To make sense of this finding, this chapter has drawn on political research according to which gaps in expertise undermine collective participation (Dessewffy and Nagy, 2016, p. 2884).

When it comes to critical digital literacy, fieldwork revealed that knowledge about news media and how they operate, which is central to the ability to evaluate online content and use multiple sources, makes both experts' and advocates' civic engagement trustful, that is, based on relying on trusted sources. This finding contradicts research that has argued that media literacy exacerbates users' negativity about traditional media outlets (e.g., Mihailidis, 2009). By contrast, this chapter suggests that critical digital literacy enhances trust in an age when representative politics, as argued by Blumler and Coleman (2010), is undermined by distrust in news media and in political institutions. Unlike educational research inspired by social psychology (e.g., Kahne et al., 2012; Martens & Hobbs, 2015), this finding shows that critical digital literacy enhances not just the quantity but also the quality of civic engagement, with media professional Whitney relying on accredited media outlets to read news. In addition, beyond the ability to evaluate online content, this study found that understanding the implications of GDPR for online privacy enables experts and advocates to overcome their distrust in internet corporations. Such an understanding has the potential to 1) encourage experts to use online platforms more trustfully for civic purposes, and 2) enable activists to gain trust in the quality of the membership of their campaigning organizations. These findings, which invite political research to explore this subject, were explained by drawing on media research on users' trust (e.g., Y. A. Kim & Ahmad, 2013; Malhotra et al., 2004; Mohallick et al., 2018).

This study found consistently that, besides making their civic engagement trustful, experts' and advocates' critical digital literacy, often together with functional digital literacy, makes it strategic in overcoming both biased/mis- information and their own privacy concerns about the corporate nature of users' data, as well as in navigating the internet's civic potentials and limitations. This discovery is particularly important

because it bridges media literacy research with political research. The former has hardly engaged with notions of strategy, except in research on data literacy (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019). The latter, by contrast, has examined how political campaigners and activists use digital technologies to pursue media strategies when campaigning or building support (e.g., Howard, 2005; Rucht, 2004). Despite hardly using notions of media literacy, media research on social movements has found that activists know how to adapt strategically to the media ecosystem, overcoming its limitations (e.g., Barassi, 2015b; McCurdy, 2011; Rucht, 2004; Treré, 2015)

In order to evaluate online content, advocates, including activists whose practices are based on expertise, deploy digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances. Green Party candidate and activist Helen, for instance, knows how to strategically overcome misinformation by deploying social and information-navigation skills and knowledge of what Google affords for checking the origin of photos that circulate in activist groups on WhatsApp. This finding builds on research that has found that activists are generally cautious about misinformation (e.g., Howard & Hussain, 2013). In addition, it echoes educational research inspired by social psychology, according to which digital literacy facilitates civic engagement (e.g., Kahne et al., 2012; Martens & Hobbs, 2015). At the same time, it invites closer attention to how critical analytical skills intersect with functional digital literacy.

Interestingly, this study found that digital literacy facilitates civic engagement in ways that may rely on forms of strategic disengagement. This is more prevalent among experts, but also applies to advocates. Conscious of what the internet affords in terms of spreading misinformation, user experience designer Anthony, for instance, deploys his knowledge of news media to read news from trusted sources, avoiding individual blogs. To explain this finding, this chapter has drawn, beyond the literature reviewed in Chapters 2 and 3, on political research and on recent work on digital inequalities according to which active non-participation is in itself strategic (i.e. Casemajor et al., 2015; Lutz & Hoffmann, 2017). In so doing, this chapter has challenged the idea that online disengagement is intrinsically a problematic feature of the non-user, as assumed by Olphert and Damodaran (2013).

Knowledge about the political economy of the internet and about digital affordances makes civic engagement strategic in overcoming privacy concerns through forms of online disengagement. This finding resonates with research on users' data literacy and their tactics to protect their privacy (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019). To minimize the tracking of her data, librarian Monica, for example, limits herself to lurking on social media to access political information. Lurking is not an option for activists. Georgia uses social media to campaign, but minimizes what she posts about herself. Systems administrator Simon, however, uses news sites rather than apps in order not to share his personal information, strategically deploying digital skills and knowledge of cookies to bypass their paywalls.

Ultimately, in line with the theoretical contribution of this thesis, this study found consistently that, together with the other critical and functional dimensions of digital literacy, deploying both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet in ways that intersect with different imaginaries of civic life makes civic engagement strategic in maximizing the internet's potentials while minimizing its limitations. This finding problematizes a large body of work, including political research on citizens' participation in institutional politics (e.g., Gustafsson, 2012; B. J. Kim et al., 2011) as well as media literacy research inspired by different traditions. This includes research inspired by the New Literacy Studies as well as – despite a focus on users' individualistic understanding of the internet beyond civic life - research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology and research on human-computer interaction (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017; Shresthova, 2016a). According to this body of work, users' negative interpretations of the internet are detrimental to their online engagement. By contrast, the findings of the present study build on media research on social movements, which has argued that activists know how to use the internet strategically insofar as they are conscious of its potentials and limitations (e.g., Cammaerts, 2012; McCurdy, 2011; Rucht, 2004; Treré, 2015). Let us discuss this in more depth.

Chapter 3 has argued that applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy prescribes that users need to understand both the potentials and the limitations that the internet presents for civic life. While I had theorized this before my fieldwork, I did not know whether experts and advocates use the internet in ways that are *de facto* underpinned by imaginaries of its potentials and limitations. I did not know, furthermore, what their imaginaries would consist of or whether and how these would intersect with imaginaries of civic life and other dimensions of digital literacy. Fieldwork revealed that experts and advocates deploy their imaginaries strategically to pursue online opportunities while dealing with limitations of the digital environment that relate to using alternative media, the filter bubble, online abuse, visibility, and surveillance. To make sense of this finding, this chapter has drawn on research on how users overcome these limitations (e.g., Dillahunt et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2012; Lokot, 2018; McCurdy, 2010; Nagle, 2018; Shklovski & Kotamraju, 2011; Shresthova, 2016a; Strandberg, 2009; Treré, 2015). Green Party candidate and activist Helen, for instance, feels pessimistic about citizens' alienation from politics. Echoing left-wing libertarianism, her civic utopianism about decentralization of power intersects with an awareness of the internet's utopian/dystopian implications both for government transparency and for surveillance. She uses the internet to campaign for social change, appreciative of its potential. But, to overcome surveillance, she uses her personal and professional names strategically along with different messaging systems, conscious of their affordances.

As theorized in Chapter 3, applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy enables us to explore how the latter facilitates institutional and non-institutional engagement in civic life, from reading the news to campaigning, in ways that are blended with different ideologies. As we saw in Chapter 5, the ways in which experts and advocates construct their imaginaries of society in the digital age challenge critical pedagogy, suggesting that critical digital literacy can intersect with, but is not inherently underpinned by, progressive values. What this chapter adds is that their imaginaries are not just constructed but also deployed in line with different ideologies. Librarian Peter, for instance, deploys his imaginary of, and ability to overcome, online abuse when discussing politics on Twitter. His imaginary is

intertwined with dystopianism about Brexit, based on progressive values. Activist Sue, meanwhile, knows how to maximize her visibility online in order to raise awareness about free speech. Conscious of the internet's potentials and limitations for political debate, she uses it in ways that are informed by right-wing libertarian utopianism.

This study's fieldwork suggests that while negative interpretations of the internet are not necessarily problematic for engaging online, they can lead to online disengagement, but only when dystopianism about the internet is not coupled at the same time with utopianism. This is particularly the case among advocates, including media activists. This finding, however, did not emerge prominently. While it needs to be investigated further, once again, it problematizes research that has polarized users' interpretations as positive or negative, under-exploring how these intersect and with what implications for their online engagement (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Gustafsson, 2012; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; B. J. Kim et al., 2011; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017; Shresthova, 2016a). More specifically, this chapter has argued that constructing both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet, but deploying only one or the other, is symptomatic of a lack of critical digital literacy that, together with limited functional digital skills and knowledge, shapes civic engagement in contradictory ways. This finding was explained by drawing on research on users' contradictory behaviour, which has examined how they weigh online risks (e.g., Barnes, 2006). Liberal Democrat Mark, for instance, deploys digital utopianism when targeting users on social media with political ads. But in his personal life he deploys dystopianism about voter manipulation, which is why, unaware of what his privacy settings afford, he has refrained from using social media. Chapter 3 has argued that we should not collapse the notion of critical digital literacy into that of civic engagement. This chapter suggests that the extent to which online (dis)engagement in civic life may be underpinned by privileging either utopianism or dystopianism about the internet, despite constructing both, raises questions about the value of critical digital literacy if it is not put to practical use.

This chapter invites new intellectual directions for media research on social movements that has under-researched digital literacy. But it also has implications for political research on citizens' participation in institutional politics. Western liberal democracy suffers from a deficit of participation in formal politics, exacerbated by citizens' dissatisfaction with and distrust in institutions. Media literacy research has emphasized the fact that digital literacy is crucial to participation in democracy (e.g., Hobbs, 2010; Mihailidis & Thevenin, 2013), but the concept of democracy has been approached rather monolithically. Political research and democratic theory, meanwhile, have addressed how citizens' political knowledge varies depending on whether we understand democracy as competitive elitist, pluralistic, participatory or deliberative (e.g., Held, 2006; Rapeli, 2014).<sup>58</sup> This body of work, however, has hardly emphasized the fact that in the digital age democratic participation requires not just political knowledge, which is a dimension of civic literacy, but also digital literacy (e.g., de Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006; Prior, 2005; Prior & Lupia, 2008).

This thesis is not about political knowledge, even though understanding the internet in ways that intersect with different imaginaries of civic life is inherently political. As explained in Chapter 3, how digital literacy benefits different models of democracy that build on or transcend the representative character of liberal democracy is beyond the scope of this study. Nevertheless, as we reflect on the findings of this chapter, it seems reasonable to suggest that the digital skills and knowledge deployed by experts and advocates in the context of their civic engagement vary, depending on how democracy is assumed. In a competitive elitist democracy that relies on citizens delegating power through voting, digital literacy is essential for trusting accredited sources and strategically overcoming bias and misinformation, as exemplified by activist Jacob's engagement with information from the Conservative Party.

Necessary for a well-informed citizenry, the ability to evaluate online content is crucial to every democratic variant. But in a pluralistic democracy, where citizens engage beyond voting and mainstream politics, digital literacy is key to participating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Refer to pp. 19-20 above for what these democratic variants consist of.

strategically in both institutional and non-institutional processes, as captured by librarian Monica's use of both mainstream and alternative media. In a participatory democracy, furthermore, digital literacy facilitates participation in decision-making. Citizens need to understand the internet's potential for interacting with policymakers, as discussed by activist Amanda. But they also need to understand its implications for open data and be able, like party candidate and activist Helen, to strategically overcome surveillance when communicating with the government. Finally, as exemplified by systems administrator Simon setting up an online survey within his community, in a deliberative democracy digital literacy is beneficial for participating in decision-making through deliberation.

However limited in scope, this chapter paves the way for future research on how digital literacy benefits different democratic variants. Since this study focuses on two middle-class social categories in the UK, this chapter has raised the question of how elitist engagement with news needs to be in order to be trustful, and of whether high-quality journalism should be accessible free of charge. Further research is needed on how digital literacy facilitates civic engagement among different populations. As explained in Chapter 4, advocates were recruited from across the Left-Right political spectrum. Nevertheless, the decision not to recruit participants holding extreme political views underpinned by sentiments of violence imposes limitations. This chapter has argued that digital literacy facilitates civic engagement and democracy. This argument, however, is limited to how experts and advocates engage in civic life in the UK. As discussed in Chapter 2, recent research in the Global South has found that digital literacy, with emphasis on users' functional skills and knowledge about the internet, has fuelled extremism and violence, including public lynching (i.e. Banaji & Bhat, 2019).

This chapter has shown that digital literacy can facilitate civic engagement regardless of how it intersects with different ideologies. But whether digital literacy, when blended with extremism, still benefits democracy – understood not just as a set of procedures but as a system where human rights and civil liberties should be guaranteed (G. Fox & Nolte, 1995) – is a different issue and one that requires further

attention. Keeping this in mind, this chapter invites media research to explore the interdependence of users' positive and negative interpretations of the internet. Finally, media literacy research should build on this study to interrogate how functional and critical digital skills and knowledge can be deployed within civic life.

# Chapter 8 – Conclusions

#### 8.1 Introduction

This thesis interrogates the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. As introduced in Chapter 1, the decision to explore this subject was underpinned by the recognition that it is an important one, given the challenges to democracy and participation in society posed by the digital age. The internet is a technology that offers considerable opportunities for institutional and non-institutional civic engagement, from reading news and contacting politicians to organizing and sharing information about protest events. At the same time, recent elections in the UK and the US have shown that the internet amplifies the spread of misinformation, which is exacerbated by the algorithms of online platforms (Vaidhyanathan, 2018). This problem undermines the extent to which democracy, in whichever way it may be understood, requires a well-informed citizenry. The Cambridge Analytica scandal, furthermore, exemplifies how users' data can potentially be (mis)used to sway elections and manipulate voters (Risso, 2018). The internet is often praised for its potential to facilitate deliberation, decentralization of power and better-organized activism. But it can also be used to suppress political dissent through surveillance and censorship. In addition, political debate online is fragmented, polarized and subject to hate speech (Benkler, 2006; Forestal, 2017; Garrett, 2006; Morozov, 2011; Sunstein, 2007).

The potentials and constraints that the internet presents for civic life make it imperative for users to be equipped with digital skills and knowledge that can enable them to navigate the digital environment for civic purposes. What these skills and knowledge consist of and how they can be developed and deployed within civic life are important questions, which is why this study is about digital literacy and civic engagement. But this is not the only reason. While media literacy research has

focused primarily on children, this thesis is rooted in the need for more research on adults and whether and how they understand the digital environment. Furthermore, as explained in Chapter 1, this originated from my desire to bridge media literacy research with utopian studies and political theory, which explains my decision to conceptualize critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Inasmuch as utopian thinking can be a powerful force for social change, I argue that critical digital literacy requires an understanding of the internet's utopian and dystopian potentials for civic life. Such an understanding is crucial to pursuing civic opportunities online while overcoming the limitations of the digital environment.

Initially, the media literacy field was approached with the question of how digital literacy and civic engagement shape one another. While reviewing the literature, it became evident that this question is about whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy and whether and how the latter, in turn, facilitates civic engagement. With these research questions in mind, this study was driven by three theoretical aims: 1) to conceptualize and explore digital literacy as functional and critical, 2) to conceptualize and explore critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age, and 3) to explore, establishing links with different literatures, how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement.

To achieve these aims, I first reviewed media literacy research, which was categorized into different traditions, in order to conceptualize digital literacy as functional and critical. Afterwards, taking inspiration from utopian studies and political theory, I conceptualized critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. I then presented a conceptual rationale for focusing empirically on two social categories in the UK: experts (e.g., information, IT and media professionals) and advocates (e.g., community councillors, party candidates and activists). The rationale behind this decision was that the former are digitally savvy, with different levels of civic engagement, while the latter are highly involved in civic life, with different levels of digital literacy. With a view to exploring the intersection of

digital literacy and civic engagement, I first addressed, on the basis of how skilled and knowledgeable experts and advocates are, the sub-question of what digital literacy consists of in practice. In addition, given my approach to critical digital literacy, I addressed the sub-question of how experts and advocates discursively construct their knowledge about the digital environment. To answer my research questions and subquestions, I employed a mixed qualitative methodology, based on semi-structured interviews with experts and advocates in the UK, enhanced by diary and think aloud methods. Once the data was collected, it was subjected primarily to thematic analysis drawing on elements of critical discourse analysis. Finally, when presenting my findings, I built on different literatures, including, first and foremost, media literacy research and political research.

Section 8.2 below summarizes the key findings of this study, positioning it in the broader field. Section 8.3 delves into its implications for theory and research, while section 8.4 reflects on its practical implications. Finally, after discussing the limitations of this study, the chapter ends with general directions for future research.

## 8.2 Key Findings

This section summarizes the key findings of this study and how these build on, complement or contradict different literatures. As examined in the empirical chapters, the subsections below provide a recap of what digital literacy is (Chapter 5), how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy (Chapter 6), and how digital literacy facilitates civic engagement (Chapter 7).

# 8.2.1 What is digital literacy?

Media literacy research has under-explored the intersection of functional and critical digital literacy, prioritizing either functional or critical skills and knowledge about the

internet. Research on digital inequalities, research on human-computer interaction and a strand of educational research inspired by social psychology have all focused more on the functional skills and dispositions that users need in order to use digital technologies (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Feufel & Stahl, 2012; Helsper, 2016; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). By contrast, another strand of educational research informed by social psychology, research inspired by critical pedagogy, and media policy research have all been more interested in the critical dimension of digital literacy, with emphasis on users' ability to evaluate online content in relation to bias, prejudice and trustworthiness (e.g., Frau-Meigs et al., 2017a; Kahne et al., 2012; Kellner & Share, 2007; Martens & Hobbs, 2015).

This study found that functional digital literacy relies on a combination of digital skills, including, as argued and operationalized by van Deursen et al. (2015), informationnavigation, operational, social and creative skills. On the one hand, these skills are underpinned by knowledge of digital affordances, particularly in relation to the digital design and interface of search engines and social media. On the other hand, this knowledge is often intertwined with dispositions towards the internet's advantages and disadvantages for social interaction, online shopping or finding information. Despite prioritizing functional digital literacy, digital inequalities research has underexplored how users understand digital affordances (e.g., Helsper, 2016; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). As with educational research inspired by social psychology and research on human-computer interaction, that body of work, furthermore, has largely concluded that users' positive or negative dispositions towards the internet are respectively beneficial or problematic for their online engagement (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017). In contrast, I found that experts' and advocates' digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances intersect with both positive and negative interpretations of the internet in ways that facilitate their online engagement. This is true of how they deploy not just broader imaginaries of the internet (as discussed below and, specifically in the context of their civic practices, under subsection 8.2.3), but also more individualistic dispositions towards the internet, and beyond their civic engagement. This includes managing feed preferences

on social media in order to avoid information overload, as well as managing cookies to avoid being overcharged when shopping online.

While media literacy research has often subordinated functional to critical digital literacy (e.g., Buckingham, 2007a; Lankshear & Knobel, 2006), this study discovered that critical digital literacy can only be sophisticated provided it relies on functional digital literacy. Interviewing experts and advocates revealed that informationnavigation skills intersect with knowledge about what search engines afford in terms of comparing and contrasting multiple sources, which is key to evaluating information online. In addition, knowledge about the political economy of the internet, with emphasis on why internet corporations like Facebook collect users' data, is often blended with an understanding of what their platforms afford for their business models, which in turn relates to how these corporations operate through cookies and algorithms. This kind of knowledge is intertwined with imaginaries of the internet's potentials and limitations for civic life, including, for example, an understanding of its potential for democracy and public debate as well as its implications for misinformation, polarization and surveillance. Such knowledge and such imaginaries, which are interwoven with imaginaries of civic life in line with different ideologies, are dimensions of what this thesis refers to as knowledge about the digital environment. The latter, particularly in relation to privacy and to the polarization of public debate, informs the practice of using multiple sources and search engines, shaping, in turn, the ability to evaluate online content.

With a view to unpacking these findings, Tables 8.1 and 8.2 below provide a two-fold framework that captures, in the light of the skills and knowledge of experts and advocates, what digital literacy consists of (Table 8.1) and how its functional and critical dimensions intersect (Table 8.2).

	Digital Literacy	
	Functional Digital Literacy	
FDL1 – Functional digital skills	FDL2 – Knowledge of digital	FDL3 – Dispositions towards
	affordances	the internet

## Table 8.1 What digital literacy consists of

<u>Description</u> : Operational, information-navigation, social and creative skills necessary for using digital technologies <u>Examples</u> : 1. Deploying operational and	<u>Description</u> : Understanding how digital technologies function and what their technical features afford <u>Examples</u> : 1. Understanding what the	Description: Understanding the advantages and disadvantages of the internet for the individual user Examples: 1. Understanding the
<ul> <li>creative skills to develop the software behind a website</li> <li>2. Deploying creative and social skills to produce and upload videos on online platforms like YouTube</li> <li>3. Deploying social skills to interact with other users on social media</li> <li>4. Deploying information- navigation skills to search for information online</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>digital design of websites affords in terms of accessing information</li> <li>Understanding what the digital interface of websites and social media affords in terms of connecting with other users</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>internet's advantages for connecting with other users, but also its disadvantages in terms of internet addiction</li> <li>Understanding the internet's advantages for online shopping, but also its disadvantages in terms of financial safety</li> </ul>
	Critical Digital Literacy	
CDL1 – Ability to evaluate	CDL2 – Knowledge about the	CDL3 – Utopian/dystopian
online content	political economy of the internet	imaginaries of society in the digital age
<u>Description</u> : Ability to assess the reliability of online content in terms of bias and trustworthiness	<u>Description</u> : Understanding how internet corporations operate and what their business models consist of	Description: Constructing imaginaries of civic life (i.e., projecting visions of social change grounded in a critique of the present in line with different ideologies) in synergy with imaginaries of the potentials and limitations of the internet for civic life
<u>Examples</u> :	<u>Examples</u> :	Examples:
<ol> <li>Reflecting on the nature and origin of information online (e.g., who is the author? what is the message? what is the target audience? any omissions? is the language extreme?)</li> <li>Deploying contextual knowledge (e.g., do I know enough about the topic? what is the socio-political context behind a news story? what are the biases of traditional media</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Understanding that internet corporations like Facebook and Google rely on advertising to make a profit</li> <li>Understanding that online advertising relies on practices of data collection and tracking by internet corporations</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Constructing ideals of liberal democracy or left- wing participatory democracy in synergy with an understanding of the internet's potential for e- voting as well as its implications for data security</li> <li>Constructing progressive ideals of social justice or right-wing libertarian ideals of free speech in synergy with an understanding of the internet's potential for</li> </ol>
outlets?)		interacting with politicians or for activism, as well as of its implications for the

3.	Using multiple sources	spread of hate speech and
	online to compare and	amplification of far-right
	contrast information	politics

# Table 8.2 How the functional and critical dimensions of digital literacy intersect

Fi	unctional and Critical Digital Litera	су
FDL1 – Functional digital skills	FDL2 – Knowledge of digital affordances	FDL3 – Dispositions towards the internet
<ul> <li>Enhanced by knowledge of digital affordances (FDL2) – see examples 1 and 2 below</li> <li>Necessary for evaluating online content (CDL1) – see examples 5 and 7 below</li> <li>Underpinned by utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age (CDL3) – see example 7 below</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Enhances digital skills (FDL1) – see examples 1 and 2 below</li> <li>Enhances digital skills (FDL1) in ways that are underpinned by dispositions towards the internet (FDL3) – see examples 3 and 4 below</li> <li>Intersects with knowledge about the political economy of the internet (CDL2) – see example 6 below</li> <li>Enhances digital skills (FDL1) as well as the ability to evaluate online content (CDL1) in ways that require knowledge about the political economy of the internet (CDL2) and that are underpinned by utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age (CDL3) – see example 7 below</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intersects with knowledge of digital affordances (FDL2) in ways that enhance digital skills (FDL1) – see examples 3 and 4 above</li> <li>Intersects with utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age (CDL3) – see example 7 below</li> </ul>
CDL1 – Ability to evaluate online content	CDL2 – Knowledge about the political economy of the internet	CDL3 – Utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age
<ul> <li>Relies on digital skills (FDL1) – see example 5 below</li> <li>Relies on both digital skills (FDL1) and knowledge of digital affordances (FDL2) in ways that are underpinned by utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age (CDL3) – see example 7 below</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intersects with knowledge of digital affordances (FDL2) – see example 6 below</li> <li>Intersects with utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age (CDL3) in ways that require knowledge of digital affordances (FDL2) and that underpin both digital skills (FDL1) and the ability to evaluate online content</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Intersects with dispositions towards the internet (FDL3) in synergy with knowledge about the political economy of the internet (CDL2) and about digital affordances (FDL2) in ways that underpin digital skills (FDL1) as well as the ability to evaluate online content (CDL1) – see example 7 below</li> </ul>

	(CDL1) – see example 7 below	
Fy:	amples:	
	ampics.	
1.	Understanding the digital interface of social media (FDL2) in ways that enhance the social a information-navigation skills (FDL1) necessary for connecting with other users and for follow up on hashtags on Twitter	
2.	Understanding what the internet affords in terms of coding (FDL2) in ways that enhance the operational and creative skills (FDL1) necessary for designing a website	9
3.	Understanding the internet's advantages for online shopping but also its disadvantages in to of financial safety, as well as the extent to which companies can overcharge consumers (FD Appreciating, in synergy with such an understanding, what search engines afford for online shopping and how cookies work (FDL2) in ways that underpin the information-navigation ar operational skills (FDL1) necessary for making online purchases on search engines while managing cookies in order to avoid being overcharged	<b>L3</b> ).
4.	Understanding the internet's advantages for accessing information but also its disadvantage terms of information overload (FDL3). Appreciating, in synergy with such an understanding, what social media afford in terms of finding information and managing feed preferences (FI in ways that underpin the social, information-navigation and operational skills (FDL1) neces for finding information on social media while prioritizing some posts over others through managing feed preferences	, DL2)
5.		on-
6.	Understanding that online advertising (CDL2) relies on the use by internet corporations of algorithms and cookies, and what these afford (FDL2) in terms of the collection and tracking users' data for commercial purposes	g of
7.	Constructing progressive ideals of social justice, right-wing libertarian ideals of the free mar or conservative ideals of collective security, in synergy with an understanding of the interner potential for democracy and public debate as well as its implications for misinformation, polarization and surveillance (CDL3). Appreciating, in synergy with such an understanding, t internet's advantages for finding information online (FDL3) as well as how internet corporat operate (CDL2) and what their algorithms afford (FDL2) in terms of the creation of filter but and the tracking of users' data. Constructing such an understanding in ways that underpint t digital skills (FDL1) necessary for using the internet (e.g., to discuss politics on social media) well as the ability to evaluate online content (CDL1). Deploying such an ability in ways that on the social and information-navigation skills (FDL1) necessary, along with knowledge of th affordances of search engines and online platforms (FDL2), for checking information across multiple search engines, including those that are less invasive of privacy, and for following of social media individuals with opposing views	et's tions obles he as rely ne

The tables above suggest that digital literacy should be understood as an ensemble of different skills and knowledge, from the ability to engage both functionally and critically with online content to knowledge about digital affordances and the broader digital environment. That these skills and this knowledge may be important for digital literacy was theorized in Chapter 3. But it was not known whether interviewing experts and advocates would reveal this to be the case. Nor was it known whether or how these skills and this knowledge intersect. As discussed earlier in this section, and as shown in the tables above, experts' and advocates' imaginaries of society in the digital age underpin the other dimensions of their digital literacy. Their digital skills are

enhanced by knowledge of digital affordances, which intersects not only with dispositions towards the internet but also with an understanding of internet corporations. Such an understanding, in turn, is blended with their imaginaries of the internet's potentials and limitations for civic life. At the same time, together with their knowledge of digital affordances and practical digital skills, it informs their ability to evaluate online content by using multiple sources.

It follows that digital literacy should be approached without privileging either its functional or its critical dimensions, examining, rather, how these dimensions intersect. Relatedly, the ways in which critical digital literacy intersects with functional digital literacy invite us to rethink the role of the latter. Media literacy research has underplayed its importance because of frustration with policymakers and pedagogical initiatives that promote functional over critical digital literacy. When it comes to public policies across Europe, this is reflected in the tendency among ministries of economics and telecommunications to prioritize users' digital skills in order to boost employment and the economy (Frau-Meigs et al., 2017a). It is fair to expect policy initiatives to make more efforts to promote critical digital literacy. But in perpetuating such an expectation, media literacy research has lost sight of the importance of functional digital literacy for critical digital literacy.

That functional digital literacy is necessary for critical digital literacy echoes Sharpe and Beetham's (2010) pyramid model of digital literacy. As discussed in Chapter 2, their model incorporates both functional and critical elements, from basic digital skills to the more sophisticated ability to use digital technologies creatively and, ultimately, to make informed choices online. Nevertheless, it is limited to framing functional digital literacy as a less developed form of digital literacy, one that is a precondition for critical digital literacy. By contrast, the framework proposed above, as conveyed in particular in Table 8.2, shows how these intersect, and in ways that incorporate, unlike their model, knowledge about the digital environment. Research inspired by information science as well as by research on human-computer interaction have focused on users' ability to evaluate online content, placing emphasis on how information-navigation skills can be deployed to search for and compare information

from multiple sources (e.g., Damico & Baildon, 2007; Goad, 2002; Weiner, 2011). A few studies have argued that such an ability requires knowledge of how the algorithms of search engines and social media function (e.g., Johnson et al., 2012; Spratt & Agosto, 2017). These studies, however, have paid little attention to whether the ability to use multiple sources lies at the intersection of functional and critical digital literacy, and with what implications for digital literacy. This thesis, by contrast, as captured by the tables above, sheds light on how these two forms of literacy are intertwined. And not just in relation to evaluating online content but also in terms of understanding the broader digital environment.

This thesis draws on a few studies that have, exceptionally, approached critical digital literacy as incorporating knowledge about the political economy of the internet along with its implications for civic life (e.g., Buckingham, 2007a; Fry, 2014). These studies, however, have under-explored whether functional digital literacy plays any role in the construction or deployment of this kind of knowledge. This thesis builds, rather, on research on data literacy as including *socio-technical* knowledge about the internet (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019; Selwyn & Pangrazio, 2018) in order to show that understanding how internet corporations operate is interwoven with understanding what algorithms and cookies afford in terms of collecting and tracking users' data. Ultimately, such an understanding shapes the practice of using multiple sources to evaluate online content, from using search engines that are less invasive of privacy to diversifying exposure to information by following different organizations on social media.

We live in a society that is highly mediated by digital technologies. Expecting users to understand the digital environment raises the question of how to disentangle their knowledge about the internet from their understanding of the socio-political system. Media literacy research has under-explored this question. This thesis builds on research inspired by critical pedagogy and by the New Literacy Studies, which has argued that digital literacy needs to be based on civic imagination in order for users to imagine socio-political alternatives (i.e., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, & Zimmerman, 2016; Mihailidis, 2018). At the same time, this study draws on utopian studies and political theory to offer a novel approach to critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. Such an approach is grounded in an understanding of utopian thinking as a form of imagination which, embedded in realism, relies on projecting utopian possibilities for social change as well as on critiquing the dystopian implications of the present (e.g., Levitas, 2010; Shor, 2010). The dialectic behind utopian thinking, which Jameson (2005, pp. 15, 180) describes as a "negative dialectic", requires utopianism and dystopianism to be played against each other, rather than undergoing a process of synthesis. Applied to critical digital literacy, this kind of dialectic prescribes that the latter, in order to be critical, requires an understanding of both the potentials and the limitations of the internet for civic life. Such an understanding lies at the intersection of rationality and affect, which, constructed as imaginaries, are intrinsic to knowledge (Jaggar, 1989).

On the basis of how experts and advocates understand the digital environment, this study found that conceptualizing critical digital literacy in this way is helpful for disentangling users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life, which can align with different ideologies. Experts' and advocates' imaginaries of the internet and civic life revolve around democracy, populism, misinformation, surveillance and regulation. Applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy problematizes the expectation that users' critique will be inherently progressive, as perpetuated by critical pedagogy (e.g., Kellner & Share, 2007). Instead, what emerged consistently from this study's fieldwork suggests that experts and advocates discursively construct their understanding of the internet in ways that intersect with different visions of social change, which are informed by different ideologies. While some understand the internet's potentials both for democracy and for surveillance as respectively utopian and dystopian in ways that are underpinned by progressive principles of liberty, others worry about the internet's implications for misinformation but, in line with conservative values, frame internet surveillance as a condition for collective security. Similarly, some worry about the power of internet corporations while appreciating the internet's potential for decentralization of power in ways that resonate with left-wing libertarianism. Others, by contrast, value its

potential for diversifying political debate but worry, in line with right-wing libertarian principles of free speech, about its implications for hate speech and extremism.

As argued by research on human-computer interaction as well as on media literacy policy (e.g., Aleixo et al., 2012; Livingstone, 2018), this study found that digital literacy depends on the usability of digital technologies as well as on transparency. These are aspects that condition experts' and advocates' ability to use these technologies and what they can and cannot know about internet corporations. At the same time, we cannot assume that the social categories selected for this study, however ideal for exploring digital literacy and civic engagement, are homogenous in what they know and how digitally skilled they are. On the one hand, experts are generally better equipped with digital literacy than advocates. But not all experts enjoy the same competences, and gaps were noted in how information and even IT professionals master functional digital literacy. On the other hand, while some advocates struggle with the technical side of digital technologies or misunderstand how internet corporations operate, many others, and especially those such as digital campaigners who are both experts and advocates, have digital skills and knowledge that are particularly sophisticated.

## 8.2.2 How civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy

Media literacy research has explored how users develop functional and critical digital skills and knowledge through formal and/or informal learning, but only occasionally in the context of their civic engagement. My study found that informal learning is particularly important for developing digital literacy within civic life through social interaction, information seeking mediated by digital technologies, and experience in using these. Before delving into how experts and advocates learn both functional and critical digital literacy, and with what differences, we should underline that this finding builds on multiple traditions of media literacy research, regardless of whether these have paid attention to users' participation in civic life. The idea that socialization and experience of using digital technologies are key to developing digital literacy resonates

with recent work on digital inequalities (e.g., Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Helsper, 2017), research in information science (e.g., Meyers et al., 2013) and, specifically in relation to users' civic engagement, research inspired by the New Literacy Studies (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016). In addition, the idea that information seeking represents a valuable practice for developing digital literacy builds on information science research which, despite prioritizing formal education, has argued that this practice is important for learning, irrespective of the subject (e.g., Limberg & Alexandersson, 2009; Limberg & Sundin, 2006).

Civic engagement enables experts and advocates to learn digital literacy through social interaction in different ways. When social interaction takes the form of help and guidance from colleagues working within the same campaigning organizations, this is how advocates and experts professionally committed to activism – that is, individuals who work at the intersection of expertise and advocacy – learn operational, social and creative skills as well as knowledge about how to use online platforms for campaigning. By contrast, social interaction in the form of talking to family and friends can be beneficial for learning critical digital literacy, often in synergy with functional digital literacy. On the one hand, discussing news within family settings provides experts with opportunities for learning about current affairs, which is a form of civic literacy, and, especially when growing up, about media bias, which is helpful for evaluating online content. On the other hand, talking about the algorithms of social media to friends involved in politics can be valuable for activists to gain an understanding of how these can be used to target different social groups. In addition, interacting with their supporters can enable activists to refine their imaginaries of the internet's potential for mobilization but also its limited impact, along with gaining an understanding of what this affords for raising awareness and maximizing online visibility. Nevertheless, while the New Literacy Studies has largely praised the potential of social interaction for learning digital literacy (e.g., Brown, 2015; Lankshear & Knobel, 2003), an unanticipated finding of the present study is that it can also be detrimental. Talking to friends involved in politics, and relying on what they might or might not know, can lead activists to misunderstand how internet corporations operate.

Besides social interaction, this study found that experience using digital technologies within civic life is not just important for learning digital literacy, but also intersects with experience in civic life. This was found to be prevalent among advocates, whose exposure to civic life is professional and long-standing. What stood out from their civic practices suggests that digital literacy is often developed in tandem with civic literacy, that is, in synergy with the skills and knowledge necessary to participate in civic life. Given the gaps in the literature, the extent to which these two sets of competences were found to be intertwined, which builds on a few studies on civic learning (e.g., Bennett et al., 2009; Lund & Carr, 2008), was not expected. Indeed, media literacy research and political research have largely under-explored their intersection (e.g., de Vreese & Boomgaarden, 2006; Kellner & Share, 2007; Martens & Hobbs, 2015; Prior & Lupia, 2008). Experience of campaigning and exposure to political events can enable activists, including digital campaigners whose practices are rooted in expertise, to learn digital skills, including operational, social and creative skills, as well as dispositions towards internet connectivity and procrastination. At the same time, experience of using digital technologies provides them with opportunities for learning how to campaign by using digital technologies. This kind of experience, furthermore, can be beneficial to their understanding of the internet's potential, and of what it affords, for mobilizing or suppressing action.

Besides experience of using digital technologies, this study found that seeking information, for example by following on social media organizations involved in media activism, provides experts with opportunities for refining their understanding of how internet corporations operate in relation to users' privacy, as well as of how to manage their own privacy settings. Given the nature of their professions, experts are keen to read about the internet. But this does not mean that advocates do not also benefit from information seeking. This study found that reading news stories about the Cambridge Analytica scandal had made it possible for both experts and advocates to gain civic literacy, in the form of learning about current affairs, along with digital literacy. This is how many of them have developed a better understanding of how internet corporations run their platforms and what the latter afford for tracking users'

data, with emphasis on privacy and political advertising. Because of the gaps within media literacy research, it was not anticipated that information seeking within civic life would be found to be valuable for learning digital literacy in tandem with civic literacy. This finding builds on a few strands of research. First, it aligns with research on information science, according to which information seeking is beneficial to learning, regardless of the subject matter (e.g., Limberg & Alexandersson, 2009; Limberg & Sundin, 2006). Second, it echoes political research, which has argued that information seeking enables citizens to develop political knowledge (e.g., Xenos & Becker, 2009). Third, it resonates with media policy research on the role of media activism and traditional media outlets in raising awareness about the media and promoting media literacy among adults, who are hard to reach via the education system (e.g., del Mar Grandío et al., 2017, p. 124; Livingstone, 2011).

While informal learning plays a more considerable role than formal learning in developing digital literacy within civic life, this study found that there are also, although to a lesser extent, opportunities for formal training within civic life that may support the learning of digital skills and knowledge in tandem with civic literacy. Considering the literature, this finding was unforeseen. On the one hand, research on digital inequalities as well as information science research and librarianship studies have praised the potential of public libraries for providing digital training that can reach different segments of society (e.g., Dudziak, 2007; Helsper & van Deursen, 2015; Jaeger et al., 2012; Real et al., 2014). This training, however, is generally more functional than critical. On the other hand, media policy research has prioritized training by civil society organizations that promote media education, targeting predominantly media educators (e.g., Kanižaj, 2017; McDougall et al., 2017). While this study provides no evidence of the role of public libraries, it found that the digital training provided by campaigning organizations, wherever available and regardless of what they advocate, can be beneficial for reaching adults beyond media educators. These can include, for example, women receiving training on what to do when confronted with hate speech online, as well as activists. When it comes to the latter, training in digital campaigning has the potential to enable them to learn how to use the internet to raise awareness and build support, developing digital skills and

knowledge of what social media afford for reaching different age groups as well as imaginaries of the internet's potential for campaigning. Alongside formal training, furthermore, informal training in the form of receiving advice from colleagues or reading emails about Cambridge Analytica can enable activists to gain awareness of the internet's implications for trolling as well as of how users' data can be (mis)used on platforms like Facebook.

Once we take a moment to reflect on the implications of these findings, we note that, unlike advocates, whose professions are inherently civic, experts develop digital skills and knowledge within civic life in ways that generally transcend their professions. Information, IT and media professionals represent collectivities that enjoy relatively sophisticated skills and knowledge about the internet, developed prior to and as a result of their professions. But, except for librarians or journalists who identify their work as a form of civic engagement, these are professions not necessarily rooted in civic life. However digitally literate experts may already be, what this study found suggests that civic engagement beyond their professions enables them to refine their expertise. This is especially the case in relation to discussing news within family settings, which is particularly prevalent among media professionals. As discussed above, this practice can be beneficial for learning, from a young age, about media bias, which enhances their ability to evaluate online content, and about current affairs, thus developing critical digital literacy along with civic literacy. Furthermore, given their interest in digital technologies, experts are not only keen to read about the internet, but can do so in the context of their civic practices. Regardless of their expertise, they may refine their understanding of how internet corporations operate by following organizations that campaign for users' privacy or by engaging with news when it has to do with the digital environment.

By contrast, advocates are in professions that are intrinsically civic, including community councillors, party candidates and activists. Participation in civic life provides them with opportunities for developing digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances as well as an understanding of how internet corporations operate and imaginaries of the internet's potentials and limitations for raising awareness and

organizing action. Given the nature of their professions, they often gain digital literacy by interacting with colleagues and friends involved in politics. Their experience of civic life is beneficial to their development of digital literacy as well as civic literacy, particularly in the context of campaigning. This is especially the case for digital campaigners who are both experts and advocates, whose experience of using digital technologies is intertwined with their experience in civic life. Like experts, furthermore, advocates have improved their understanding of the digital environment by reading news stories about Cambridge Analytica. Arguably, however, they represent collectivities that have more to learn about the internet, with more interest in following news in general than in reading about the internet. Finally, wherever available, formal and informal training in the context of their professional involvement with their campaigning organizations enables activists to gain both digital and civic literacy, with emphasis, again, on learning how to use the internet for campaigning.

#### 8.2.3 How digital literacy facilitates civic engagement

Media literacy research has explored how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement by focusing more on functional digital literacy, as with research on digital inequalities (e.g., Harlow, 2012; Min, 2010) or on users' ability to evaluate online content, yet often in isolation from their knowledge about the digital environment, as with research inspired by social psychology or critical pedagogy (e.g., Kahne et al., 2012; Kellner & Share, 2007). This study found that functional digital literacy facilitates civic engagement by making it instrumental, that is, based on using digital technologies as practical tools for civic purposes. This applies to both experts and advocates, who deploy, for example, both the social and information-navigation skills necessary for searching and signing up for protest events on Facebook and the operational and creative skills necessary for setting up surveys at the community level. This finding echoes research on digital inequalities as well as political research according to which users' digital skills are crucial to participating in civic life (e.g., Anduiza et al., 2010; Harlow, 2012; Min, 2010). This study found that digital skills play this role in ways that are often intertwined with knowledge of digital affordances and dispositions towards the internet. Activists are often aware of the affordances of their campaigning platforms, which enables them to use these for building e-actions, such as launching online petitions. In addition, an understanding of the internet's advantages for connectivity underpins how Twitter can be used and customized by experts to connect with users with similar political interests.

This study found that critical digital literacy, often in concert with functional digital literacy, makes civic engagement trustful. The ability to evaluate online content relies on trust in accredited media outlets, which facilitates engagement with news. One might think that activists will be more inclined to rely on alternative media (Lievrouw, 2011), but this finding applies to both experts and advocates, with many trusting news media like the Guardian and the BBC. Their reliance on trusted sources problematizes educational research inspired by social psychology according to which media literacy leads to negativity about traditional media outlets (e.g., Mihailidis, 2009), reinforcing distrust in an age when liberal democracy is afflicted by alienation from institutions and scepticism about the media (Coleman, 2013; Coleman & Blumler, 2009; Newman et al., 2019). Considering this literature, this finding was not anticipated. In addition, what emerged from this study's fieldwork suggests that understanding GDPR enables both experts and advocates to overcome their distrust in how internet corporations handle their data, encouraging experts who are not very civically active to use online platforms more trustfully for civic purposes. This finding builds on the literature on users' (dis)trust in these corporations, including research according to which users gain trust once they gain control over their data (e.g., Y. A. Kim & Ahmad, 2013; Mohallick et al., 2018; Turel et al., 2008). Knowledge about GDPR, furthermore, can enable activists to engage more trustfully with their supporters. According to some, its implementation has indeed reduced the membership of their organizations, but those remaining, consisting of those willing to be contacted, are more active supporters.

Ultimately, this study found that experts' and advocates' critical digital literacy, often in synergy with functional digital literacy, makes their civic engagement strategic in overcoming bias, misinformation and privacy concerns as well as navigating the internet's civic potentials and limitations. This discovery is particularly important

because it bridges media literacy research with political research. On the one hand, except for research on data literacy (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019; Selwyn & Pangrazio, 2018), media literacy research has hardly engaged with notions of strategy. On the other hand, political research, despite rarely drawing on media literacy theory, has emphasized that political campaigners and activists know how to use traditional media and digital technologies to pursue media strategies in the context of their civic practices (e.g., Cammaerts, 2012; Howard, 2005; LaMarre & Suzuki-Lambrecht, 2013; McGregor et al., 2016; Rucht, 2004). According to media research on social movements, activists, in particular, know how to adapt strategically to the media ecosystem inasmuch as they understand its potentials and limitations (e.g., Cammaerts, 2012; Rucht, 2004; Treré, 2015).

Building on these strands of research, this study found that the ability to evaluate online content enables experts and advocates to strategically, and in different ways, overcome bias and misinformation. Advocates, including digital campaigners whose practices sit between advocacy and expertise, deploy such ability, along with knowledge of what search engines afford for verifying sources, to assess political content and the information they share. This finding builds on media research on social movements (e.g., Howard & Hussain, 2013). Experts, meanwhile, often rely on forms of strategic disengagement from sites and platforms. This finding, which applies also to advocates, but to a lesser extent, was unforeseen. Some experts and advocates minimize their exposure to misinformation by avoiding individual blogs or social media commentary, engaging only with accredited news outlets. Others, conscious of how online platforms operate and function, engage in strategic disengagement to overcome their privacy concerns about their own data. To minimize the tracking of their data, some experts use news sites rather than apps. Others engage with political content on social media by limiting themselves to lurking. This practice is not an option for activists, who use the internet to raise awareness about their own activism and may rely on alternative forms of strategic disengagement, such as minimizing how much personal information they post on social media. These findings build on research on data literacy (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019; Selwyn & Pangrazio, 2018). The idea of strategic disengagement resonates, furthermore, with political research,

according to which abstaining from online engagement can be in itself a form of participation (e.g., Casemajor et al., 2015). Such an idea problematizes the assumption, largely perpetuated by digital inequalities research (e.g., Olphert & Damodaran, 2013), that online disengagement is intrinsically a problematic feature of the non-user.

As mentioned above, a large body of media literacy research has argued that users' positive or negative interpretations of the internet facilitate, respectively, online engagement or disengagement. This body of work comprises studies interested in functional digital literacy beyond civic life – including research on digital inequalities, educational research inspired by social psychology, and research on human-computer-interaction – as well as research, inspired by the New Literacy Studies, that is interested in young activists' critical understanding of the internet (e.g., Chou et al., 2009; Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Hakkarainen, 2012; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017; Shresthova, 2016a). Beyond media literacy research, a few studies on citizens' participation in institutional politics have also polarized their understanding of the internet as positive or negative for their online engagement (e.g., Gustafsson, 2012; B. J. Kim et al., 2011). By contrast, media research on social movements has emphasized that activists are often aware of both potentials and limitations of the media ecosystem, which is why they know how to engage strategically in civic life (e.g., Cammaerts, 2012; McCurdy, 2011; Treré, 2015).

In line with this strand of research, this study found that deploying both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet, often along with other critical and functional dimensions of digital literacy, enables both experts and advocates, when using the internet, to maximize its potentials while minimizing its limitations. That applying utopianism/dystopianism to critical digital literacy problematizes research on users' interpretations of the internet as positive or negative for their online engagement was theorized in Chapter 3. But it was previously not known whether this would happen in practice. This study found that experts and advocates deploy utopian/dystopian imaginaries of the internet to pursue different civic opportunities while strategically overcoming limitations of the digital environment that relate to using alternative

media, the filter bubble, online abuse, visibility, and surveillance. Some know how to strategically block hateful comments when discussing Brexit on social media in line with progressive values. Others use social media to follow up protest events against far-right politics, engaging with both traditional and alternative media because of their potentials and limitations. Some use the internet to campaign about media regulation in line with conservative values. At the same time, conscious of its implications for the polarization of political debate, they follow news outlets with views opposed to their own. Others, meanwhile, campaigning for Green politics and decentralization of power, appreciate the internet's utopian/dystopian potential both for government transparency and for surveillance, and therefore strategically use different names and messaging systems.

Noting that experts' and advocates' imaginaries of the internet intersect with different imaginaries of civic life and ideologies, this thesis argues that conceptualizing critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism problematizes research inspired by critical pedagogy. This has not only approached users' critique as inherently progressive, but also collapsed their critique into progressive action (e.g., Feria-Galicia, 2011; Kellner & Share, 2007). When advocates, including media activists who are both advocates and experts, construct both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet but deploy only one or the other, along with limited functional digital literacy, they may engage in civic life in ways that are contradictory. For example, they may be concerned professionally about internet surveillance but take no measures to protect their online privacy as ordinary citizens, privileging utopianism about the internet's potential for political participation. Alternatively, if they privilege dystopianism about data tracking, they may end by refraining from using social media as ordinary citizens, while continuing to use them for targeting voters as part of their campaigning practices. This finding, which did not emerge prominently, invites further research. On the one hand, it resonates with research on contradictory behaviour online as underpinned by how users perceive different risks (e.g., Barnes, 2006; Maruyama, 2015). On the other hand, it suggests that constructing both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet but deploying only one or the

other is symptomatic of a lack of critical digital literacy, which raises questions about the value of such literacy if it is not put into practice.

Even though this study is not about whether or how digital literacy benefits different models of democracy, Chapter 7 has sketched how the digital skills and knowledge that experts and advocates deploy to participate in civic life vary, depending on how democracy is normatively understood. While political research has under-explored how citizens' digital literacy varies on the basis of whether democracy is approached as competitive elitist, pluralistic, participatory or deliberative, this study argues that it benefits democracy regardless of how the latter is understood. In a competitive elitist democracy, digital literacy is essential for being able to trust accredited sources and strategically overcome bias and misinformation. In a pluralistic democracy, it is crucial to participating strategically in both institutional and non-institutional processes, as is using both mainstream and alternative media. In a participatory democracy, digital literacy facilitates participation in decision-making, which is why users need to understand the internet's potential for interacting with policymakers along with its implications for open data but also for surveillance. Finally, in a deliberative democracy, digital literacy is essential for participating in decision-making through deliberation.

It is worth reflecting on the implications of these findings for how experts and advocates, as different social categories, deploy digital literacy. Unlike advocates, whose civic practices are inherently professional and more collective, experts deploy digital skills and knowledge more individualistically within civic life. Except when they deploy advanced functional digital literacy within their own communities, for instance to set up online surveys, IT and information professionals often deploy their knowledge of digital affordances to customize their news apps or social media accounts to connect with users with similar political interests. When it comes to reading news, they trust accredited media outlets, with media professionals being particularly conscious of how these operate. Not all experts, however, are civically active. Their knowledge about and confidence in GDPR has the potential to make them more inclined to use online platforms for civic purposes. Regardless of their expertise, experts, furthermore, deploy their knowledge about the digital environment by often relying on forms of strategic disengagement, be these avoiding blogs in order to avoid misinformation or lurking on social media because of privacy concerns about their own data. At the same time, they know how to deploy an understanding of the internet's potentials and limitations to engage in civic life. Informed by such an understanding, their practices, which are comparatively more individualistic, range from strategically overcoming online abuse on social media to using both mainstream and alternative media.

Advocates, by contrast, are professionally involved in civic life, which shapes how they deploy their digital literacy. Civic engagement, for them, is inherently more collective, since they work with colleagues on community councils or in political parties or campaigning organizations. This is reflected in how they deploy their functional digital literacy, using campaigning platforms to launch initiatives and e-actions. Their digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances depend on how their expertise is distributed, which is why they often rely on the expertise of colleagues. Like experts, they also rely on accredited media outlets and not just alternative media. When it comes to GDPR, they are conscious of its implications for their organizations. In addition, activists and digital campaigners who are both experts and advocates deploy functional and critical digital literacy to overcome misinformation when communicating with fellow activists. Like experts, but to a lesser extent, they also rely on forms of strategic disengagement. But since they use social media for campaigning, strategic disengagement for them does not mean lurking, but may result in posting limited personal information because of privacy concerns. Strategically, activists know how to deploy both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet to maximize, their online visibility while overcoming surveillance, for instance by using different messaging systems. This is particularly the case for digital campaigners, whose digital literacy is more sophisticated than that of most activists. At the same time, not all advocates deploy both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet, often privileging either one or the other in relation to its potential for campaigning or for surveillance, respectively, which results in contradictory engagement in civic life. Given the nature of their civic engagement, unlike experts, party candidates and

activists may become caught up in a tension between using the internet as ordinary citizens and as professionals.

# 8.3 Implications for Theory and Research

The section above has summarized the key findings of this study, positioning it within the broader field. This section delves further into its implications for theory and research. As set out theoretically, I have explored 1) digital literacy as functional and critical, 2) critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age, and 3) how digital literacy intersects with civic engagement. The subsections below reflect on the implications of this thesis for different literatures, including the different traditions of media literacy research reviewed in Chapter 2. With a view to pushing the field forward, each subsection includes specific reflections on future research directions.<sup>59</sup> The traditions discussed below are not independent of each other, which means that the recommendations that follow can be taken up by scholars conducting interdisciplinary research. At the same time, since each tradition has been grappling with different sets of questions, the recommendations are specific to their interests and priorities.

## 8.3.1 Research on digital inequalities

This strand of research has been more interested in functional than in critical digital literacy (e.g., Harlow, 2012; Helsper, 2016; Min, 2010; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017; van Deursen et al., 2015). What follows from the present study is that this tradition could benefit from focusing not just on users' digital skills and dispositions towards the internet but also on their knowledge of digital affordances, given the ways this knowledge enhances experts' and advocates' skills and dispositions. Possible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> See section 8.7, pp. 300-304, for this study's final reflections and general directions for future research.

questions to address within this tradition are whether and to what extent there are inequalities in knowledge of digital affordances and whether and how this shapes online engagement, particularly among vulnerable communities. Relatedly, to what extent are gaps in knowledge of digital affordances gendered or classed? Recent developments within this tradition show that vulnerable groups such as homeless women rely on their phones to be in touch with their families and look for jobs, but struggle because of their limited affordances, including poor battery life, which makes it hard for them to use phones (e.g., Faith, 2018). We need more research to build on this line of work, but not just in relation to whether the materiality of digital technologies exacerbates structural inequalities. Research is needed on whether and how disenfranchized communities develop and deploy an understanding of digital affordances in synergy with digital skills and dispositions towards the internet.

Beyond functional digital literacy, this strand of research could build on my study to approach digital literacy more comprehensively as also including critical skills and knowledge about the internet. Recent work on digital inequalities has emphasized that, "if we want to avoid larger inequalities" (Helsper & Smirnova, 2019, p. 180), we need policy interventions to ensure that youths from lower socio-economic backgrounds learn not just technical but also critical digital skills. To push this promising line of enquiry forward, research within this tradition could explore whether and how the functional and critical digital skills and knowledge conceptualized here intersect within different vulnerable communities. As to whether and how these communities develop digital literacy, research on digital inequalities could draw on this study to address whether and how social interaction and experience of using digital technologies, which are valued within this tradition (e.g., Dutton & Shepherd, 2006; Eynon & Geniets, 2016; Ferro et al., 2011; Helsper, 2017), play a role in the informal learning of digital literacy within civic life. Finally, given the findings of this study, this strand of research should examine more closely whether and how users' negative interpretations of the internet intersect with their positive interpretations in ways that do not necessarily, as largely concluded by this body of work (e.g., Cushman & Klecun, 2006; Hakkarainen, 2012; Park, 2014; Reisdorf & Groselj, 2017), undermine their online engagement, but actually contribute to it. In so

doing, research on digital inequalities should build on this study as well as on recent research within this tradition (e.g., van Deursen & Helsper, 2018) to problematize the idea that limited engagement online is intrinsically problematic.

#### 8.3.2 Educational research inspired by social psychology

As with research on digital inequalities, the strand of this tradition that has been more interested in functional digital literacy, particularly among children (e.g., Cazan et al., 2016; Dündar & Akçayır, 2014; Meelissen & Drent, 2008; Oliemat et al., 2018), should pay more attention to their knowledge of digital affordances and whether and how this intersects with their digital skills and dispositions towards the internet. Besides drawing on the present study, this strand could build on research on e-learning which, sitting between the New Literacy Studies and research on human-computer interaction, has focused on children's understanding of the materiality of digital technologies in relation, for instance, to digital reading and writing (e.g., Bhatt & de Roock, 2013). Furthermore, while this strand has polarized children's dispositions as beneficial or detrimental to their online engagement, with emphasis on age and gender as explaining factors, we need more research on whether and how children deploy both positive and negative interpretations of the internet when using it for learning, socializing and entertainment. Recent studies within this strand suggest that students tend to have more positive than negative dispositions towards the internet, perpetuating the idea that the latter undermine their willingness to use it (e.g., Des Armier & Bolliger, 2019; Schlebusch, 2018). By contrast, future research should address whether and to what extent children engage online as a result of understanding the internet in both positive and negative terms. This line of inquiry may be beneficial for exploring whether and how they know how to navigate both online risks and online opportunities.

The strand of this tradition that has prioritized children's critical over their functional digital literacy (e.g., Ashley et al., 2017; Duran et al., 2008; Kahne et al., 2012; Martens & Hobbs, 2015) could build on this study's approach to critical digital literacy as

incorporating not just the ability to evaluate online content but also knowledge about the broader digital environment. This strand, furthermore, should explore whether and how functional skills and knowledge about the internet enhance such ability, as was found here. This question is still under-researched, considering recent developments within this tradition (e.g., Bonnet & Rosenbaum, 2020). In addition, while this strand has examined whether students learn media literacy within formal educational settings in ways that facilitate their civic engagement (e.g., Ashley et al., 2017; Kahne et al., 2012; Martens & Hobbs, 2015), future research could draw on this study to interrogate whether civic engagement, in turn, provides formal and informal learning opportunities for developing digital literacy. Finally, we need more research within this tradition in order to corroborate whether media literacy leads to scepticism about traditional media outlets, as suggested by Mihailidis (2009), or, as argued here, actually facilitates civic engagement by enhancing trust in these. Recent work within this strand of research points to the latter conclusion, having found that internet users "with higher [...news literacy tend to seek] news from ... trusted sources" (Vraga & Tully, 2019, p. 11). Indeed, as argued by Friesem (2018), teaching students about media bias does not mean teaching that there is no truth or that any form of authority should be rejected.

#### 8.3.3 Research inspired by critical pedagogy and cultural studies

This tradition has often subordinated functional to critical digital literacy, focusing predominantly on children (e.g., Buckingham, 2007a). Given its interest in users' alternative media production in response to dominant media representations (e.g., Feria-Galicia, 2011; Kellner & Share, 2007), research within this tradition could draw on my study to explore whether and how this practice is underpinned by both critical and functional skills and knowledge about the internet, with emphasis on how functional digital literacy enhances critical digital literacy. This line of inquiry should be pursued in relation to how users evaluate online content as well as how they understand the broader digital environment. Recent research inspired by critical pedagogy has argued that the concept of *critical media literacy* needs to be expanded

to incorporate not just knowledge about how online platforms operate but also an understanding of how they function, particularly in relation to "the affordances and constraints of [...their] algorithms" (Jiang & Vetter, 2020, p. 89). This kind of research is promising and resonates with work on data literacy within this tradition (e.g., Pangrazio & Selwyn, 2019).

As to how users develop digital literacy, besides focusing on formal education (e.g., Dierdre, 2000; Kellner & Share, 2007; Morrell et al., 2013), this strand of research should focus more closely on informal learning not just in general, as, exceptionally, Buckingham has done (2003, 2007b), but also, more specifically, in the context of their civic engagement. Recent developments inspired by critical pedagogy have continued to prioritize formal education (e.g., Moorhouse & Brooks, 2020), which invites future research to fill this gap. In addition, this study's novel approach to critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking may be particularly valuable to this tradition. Building on the contribution of a few studies that have framed users' critique as including knowledge about the digital environment (e.g., Buckingham, 2007a; Fry, 2014), such an approach would enable future research to disentangle how users' imaginaries of the internet are blended with imaginaries of civic life. Possible questions to address include whether and to what extent they deploy an understanding of the internet's potentials and limitations in order to participate in civic life in ways that intersect with different visions of social change. In line with recent critiques of critical pedagogy as restrictively imposing progressive values (e.g., Brayton & Casey, 2019), social change would need to be understood in ways that go beyond left-wing politics. Indeed, this strand of research could draw on my conceptualization of critical digital literacy to resist the collapse of users' critique into action viewed as inherently progressive, suggesting that critical digital literacy can intersect with different ideologies.

#### 8.3.4 Research inspired by the New Literacy Studies

Except for research at the intersection of critical pedagogy and the New Literacy Studies (e.g., Black, 2009; Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016; Mihailidis & Cohen, 2013), the latter has generally overemphasized users' multimodal production over their critical reflections, particularly in relation to children (e.g., Bulfin & North, 2007; Hartley et al., 2008; Jewitt, 2008). Recent developments within this tradition signal that this is still the case, with studies focusing on how children deploy knowledge of digital affordances primarily as a functional practice to create multimodal content (e.g., B. Zheng, Yim, & Warschauer, 2018), as opposed to research that is interested in how this practice enables children to develop and express their critical voices (e.g., Cannon, Potter, & Burn, 2018). To overcome this distinction, this strand of research could draw on the conceptualization here of digital literacy as both functional and critical in order to address more coherently whether and how children's creative engagement online is underpinned by functional skills and knowledge about the internet in synergy with critical reflections on online content and on the digital environment. This tradition, furthermore, could build on my study to explore not just whether and how young activists learn digital literacy informally through social interaction and experience using digital technologies within online communities, as addressed by Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al. (2016), but also whether and how they gain digital skills and knowledge through information seeking.

More research is needed, furthermore, on whether and how social interaction can be negative for learning digital literacy. Future research within this tradition could address, for instance, whether and how users' negative interactions within online communities, including, for instance, the exchange of negative comments, shape how the members of such communities develop and share functional and/or critical skills and knowledge about the internet. Recent work within this strand of research is promising, having examined how children with autism, when playing online games, engage in digital literacy practices in ways that are underpinned by both positive and negative interactions with other players (i.e. Stone, Mills, & Saggers, 2019). Finally, as explained in Chapter 2, this thesis builds on a few studies inspired by the New Literacy Studies and by critical pedagogy, according to which digital literacy should be based on civic imagination (e.g., Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, & Zimmerman, 2016; Mihailidis, 2018). As a result, my approach to critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism may be particularly valuable to future research within this tradition. Such an approach would encourage this strand of research to distinguish between users' imaginaries of the internet and their imaginaries of civic life, without imposing the expectation that their engagement will necessarily be progressive. In addition, instead of polarizing their positive or negative interpretations of the internet as leading, respectively, to increased or decreased activism (e.g., Shresthova, 2016a), such an approach would serve as a lens through which to explore whether and how their interpretations intersect in ways that may be beneficial to their civic engagement.

#### 8.3.5 Information science and librarianship studies

Inasmuch as a few studies within this tradition have argued that the ability to evaluate online content relies on information-navigation skills and on the practice of using multiple sources (e.g., Goad, 2002; Weiner, 2011), this body of work could draw on my study to interrogate how functional digital literacy intersects with and enhances such an ability. Amid concerns about the spread of online misinformation, recent work within this strand of research has argued that it is important for users not only to compare and contrast information across multiple sources but also to understand how the algorithms of online platforms shape their exposure to information, considering the implications of the filter bubble for making informed decisions (e.g., Cooke, 2018). This kind of work builds on previous research within this tradition, including studies that have, exceptionally, approached notions and variants of information literacy as incorporating an understanding of the wider socio-political, economic, ethical and legal context within which information circulates in the digital age (e.g., Gregory & Higgins, 2013; Johnson et al., 2012; Secker & Morrison, 2016; Spratt & Agosto, 2017). To expand this line of inquiry, future research within this tradition could use the conceptualization here of digital literacy to explore how different populations, including students, educators and librarians, evaluate online content and understand

the digital environment, with emphasis on how their critical skills and knowledge about the internet are intertwined with their functional digital literacy. Based on some of the findings of this thesis, possible empirical questions for future research include: to what extent is the practice of using different search engines and multiple sources shaped by knowledge about internet corporations, including privacy concerns about how they operate? And to what extent does users' understanding of the filter bubble shape their ability to diversify their exposure to information?

As to how users learn digital literacy, this tradition could find my study beneficial for examining the role of information seeking not just in learning in general, as addressed by Limberg and Alexandersson (2009), but also in gaining, more specifically, knowledge about the digital environment. Research with this tradition, furthermore, could build on this thesis in synergy with previous studies (e.g., Harding, 2008; McDonald, 2015; Widdowson & Smart, 2015) to address whether public libraries are equipped to provide both formal and informal training for different adult populations in ways that enable them to develop digital literacy, as conceptualized here. An empirical question for future research is whether and how public libraries constitute spaces where users can formally and informally develop not just functional and/or critical skills about the internet but also imaginaries of its potentials and limitations in ways that intersect with their imaginaries of civic life. Relatedly, what role do librarians play in the construction of such imaginaries? This question speaks closely to a long-standing debate within this tradition, which has to do with whether public librarians should perform their professions and promote information literacy, given its importance for democracy, by taking a political stance, or whether neutrality, by contrast, is an endorsement of the status quo (e.g., Foskett, 1962; Stilwell, 2018). Finally, research at the intersection of information science and critical pedagogy would benefit from this study's approach to critical digital literacy to problematize the assumption that critical information literacy, as understood within this strand of research (e.g., Elmborg, 2006; Gregory & Higgins, 2013; Jacobs & Berg, 2011), should necessarily be underpinned by progressive values, with little attention to different ideologies.

#### 8.3.6 Research on human-computer interaction

This tradition has focused primarily on the usability of digital technologies, placing emphasis on users' digital skills, knowledge of digital affordances and, to a lesser extent, dispositions towards the internet (e.g., Feufel & Stahl, 2012; Hayes et al., 2016; Joyce & Kirakowski, 2015; Railean, 2017; Zhao et al., 2013). This study may be particularly valuable to this body of work with a view to problematizing the idea that users deploy their dispositions in ways that are either positive or negative for their online engagement. The way this tradition is progressing suggests that such an idea is still prevalent, with research approaching users' negative interpretations of the internet – in relation, for instance, to finding information or to financial safety – as an intrinsic deterrent to their online engagement (e.g., Steelman & Tislar, 2019). By contrast, similarly to research on digital inequalities and educational research inspired by social psychology, future research within this tradition should draw on this study to address whether and how users deploy both positive and negative interpretations of the internet in ways that enable them to pursue online opportunities.

Insofar as research on e-learning within this tradition has focused on how students evaluate online content by using multiple sources (e.g., Damico & Baildon, 2007), this strand of research could build on my thesis to interrogate also whether and how they assess the trustworthiness of content by relying on functional digital literacy as well as on knowledge about the digital environment. Recent work within this tradition is promising, having found that users' perceptions of the trustworthiness of information on social media is positively associated with positive dispositions towards the usefulness of social media, which predict their online engagement (i.e. Rauniar, Rawski, Salazar, & Hudson, 2019). This kind of work represents a step forward. But future research should address whether and how users' perceptions of the trustworthiness of information are explained by interpretations not just of the usefulness of social media but also of how the latter function and operate as corporations. This tradition, furthermore, could find the present study valuable for exploring whether and how social interaction and experiential learning, based on

interacting with digital technologies, are beneficial for developing digital literacy not just within formal educational settings, as researched by a few studies (e.g., Angros et al., 2002; Bhatt & de Roock, 2013; Nunes et al., 2015; Yantaç, 2013), but also beyond classroom and training settings, while also paying more attention to its critical dimension. Finally, future research on human-computer interaction should focus on civic engagement and explore whether and how digital literacy, as conceptualized here, depends on the usability of digital technologies. Possible questions to address include: in what ways, if any, does the usability of digital technologies shape how users construct their imaginaries of the internet and civic life? And to what extent do their imaginaries shape their understanding of usability?

# 8.3.7 Policy research on media literacy

This body of work has perpetuated an understanding of digital literacy and media literacy as respectively functional and critical, promoting the latter against policies that prioritize the development of digital skills for improving the economy as opposed to participation in society (e.g., Frau-Meigs et al., 2017a). This tradition could draw on my study to problematize such an understanding and explore the intersection of functional and critical digital literacy, focusing on how to promote the latter as relying on functional skills and knowledge about the internet. Mapping exercises should be conducted to shed light on whether and to what extent national and international digital literacy initiatives are effective at promoting both functional and critical digital skills and knowledge. In the UK, a mapping exercise commissioned by the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) is currently under way to assess the effectiveness of digital literacy initiatives across the country (UK Government, 2019b). Future policy research in the UK should build on the outcomes of this exercise, in concert with this study, to inform policy decisions on how to promote digital literacy as incorporating both functional and critical dimensions, focusing on how these intersect.

Relatedly, more efforts should be made, both within and beyond the UK, to establish a unified framework that does not polarize functional and critical digital literacy, as happens across Europe, respectively, in ministries of economics and telecommunications, on the one hand, and in ministries of education, on the other (Frau-Meigs et al., 2017a). Concerted efforts are necessary, rather, from different actors including researchers, civic society and different government departments, to promote digital literacy as both functional and critical. Expanding on a few studies within this tradition (e.g., del Mar Grandío et al., 2017; Livingstone, 2011), more research is needed, furthermore, on the potential of media activism and news reporting to promote awareness of the media, as argued here. Finally, while policy research on media literacy has largely focused on the training of media educators provided by civil society organizations (e.g., Kanižaj, 2017; McDougall et al., 2017), this body of work should build on this study to explore whether and to what extent different campaigning organizations promote digital literacy by providing training for different adult populations, including activists.

## 8.3.8 Beyond media literacy research

This study invites research to explore how experts develop and deploy their expertise beyond their own professional context, with emphasis on their civic engagement, which has remained under-researched (e.g., Buckingham, 2014; Burnett, 2009; Dewdney & Ride, 2006; Stocchetti & Kukkonen, 2011). An assessment of recent work on information, IT and media professionals suggests that this is still the case (e.g., Ihlebæk & Larsson, 2018; Semeler, Pinto, & Rozados, 2019; Wingreen & Blanton, 2018). In addition, when it comes to citizens and advocates, from political campaigners and party candidates to activists, the present thesis invites political research to engage with notions of media literacy. This body of work includes studies on citizens' participation in institutional politics as well as media research on activism and social movements. As reviewed in Chapter 3, the latter, despite under-researching media literacy theory, has offered valuable insights into how activists develop knowledge about the media ecosystem through their own experience of civic life (e.g., McCurdy, 2011; Treré, 2012). This strand of research, furthermore, has examined how activists deploy digital skills and knowledge in order to adapt strategically to such an ecosystem, being conscious of its potentials and limitations (e.g., Cammaerts, 2012; McCurdy, 2011; Rucht, 2004; Treré, 2015).

Recent developments within political research include studies that have continued to pay little attention to media literacy theory, despite their interest in how citizens and activists draw on their digital skills or understanding of internet corporations to participate in civic life (e.g., Barassi & Zamponi, 2020; Bastien, Koop, Small, Giasson, & Jansen, 2020). Future research on citizens' participation in formal politics should build on this thesis in ways that resonate with media research on social movements to problematize the idea that their positive or negative interpretations of the internet lead necessarily to online engagement or disengagement, respectively. Beyond the studies reviewed in Chapter 3 (i.e. Gustafsson, 2012; B. J. Kim et al., 2011), such an idea has been pushed forward by recent political research (i.e. Sipos, 2018). This thesis, however, shows otherwise, inviting further research. On the one hand, it conceptualizes critical digital literacy as incorporating utopian thinking by building on a few studies on how activists construct digital utopianism (e.g., Postill, 2013; Treré, 2019). On the other hand, in accordance with media studies on social movements (e.g., Cammaerts, 2012; McCurdy, 2011; Rucht, 2004; Treré, 2015), it suggests that critical digital literacy is essential for using the internet strategically within civic life, provided this is based on an understanding of both its potentials and its limitations. Political research should draw on the present study to explore how different populations deploy digital literacy within civic life, and whether and how their digital literacy intersects with civic literacy. Finally, this strand of research should build on recent work grounded in this thesis (i.e., Polizzi, 2020b) to address whether and how digital literacy benefits different democratic variants, thereby further exploring what kinds of digital skills and knowledge citizens need, depending on how we understand democracy.

## **8.4 Practical Implications**

Besides having implications for theory and research, this study has practical implications, particularly for how to promote digital literacy. It provides evidence of how digital literacy facilitates civic engagement, which makes it imperative to promote digital literacy in ways that can reach the general public. As discussed in Chapter 1, because of concerns about the spread of misinformation during the 2016 US general election and the Brexit referendum, policymakers in the UK have been keen to promote digital literacy. In 2019, the UK Government (2019b) issued a white paper on how to tackle online harms, including misinformation. One of its objectives is to develop a media literacy strategy that can reach the British population and ensure that citizens are equipped with the skills and knowledge they need to navigate the digital environment safely and critically.

First, on the basis of how experts and advocates engage in civic life, this study has shed light on how civic engagement, understood as involvement in community and political life, can be beneficial for learning digital literacy both formally and informally. This means that we can promote adults' digital literacy through their civic practices. At the same time, inasmuch as we live in societies where not everyone is civically active, this study invites policy interventions reflecting on how to promote civic engagement and civic literacy in tandem with digital literacy. One way of doing this is by relying on traditional media to educate the general public, not just through educational initiatives or public campaigns but also through news coverage, when this relates to the digital environment. This study found that reading news stories about the Cambridge Analytica scandal had been an opportunity for many experts and advocates to refine their understanding of current affairs and of how internet corporations operate. Arguably, this is likely to have been the case for other segments of society, beyond experts and advocates, as long as they were keeping abreast of news. As a result, this finding raises the question of whether we need to ensure that more coverage of the internet, its political economy and role in civic life is available to the public, besides reporting on scandals like Cambridge Analytica. We need research into how extensively news outlets like the BBC have covered over the years how social

media like Facebook and Twitter run their platforms, with emphasis on their business models. Expecting these outlets to intensify their coverage of this subject may require them to adjust their news agendas. To facilitate this process, journalists' unions and professional bodies should support newsrooms with guidelines and advice on the importance of covering this subject for the general public.

In addition, we need to think more deeply about how we can promote digital literacy by proving opportunities for digital training within civil society that can reach different segments of society beyond primarily media educators. This thesis argues that campaigning organizations have the potential to enable activists to develop civic literacy in tandem with functional and critical digital literacy through training in digital campaigning. This finding, however, did not emerge prominently, which raises questions about the extent to which this kind of training is prevalent within civil society. A few years ago, DCMS (2018) launched a temporary fund to support the digital training of civil society practitioners in the UK. Similarly, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2018) set up a temporary fund to offer digital training to councils across the UK. While research is needed into the effectiveness of these kinds of initiatives, what this study found suggests that it may be reasonable to incentivize them by making such funding permanent.

Finally, this thesis has implications for formal education. Despite its focus on two adult populations, i.e., experts and advocates, this study has identified what functional and critical skills and knowledge are necessary for using digital technologies, and how these intersect, which has implications for how we should expect national curricula and teaching resources to promote digital literacy. As argued earlier in the thesis, reaching children is relatively easier, thanks to the education system, than reaching adults. However, the extent to which children are equipped with the skills and knowledge they need to use digital technologies is doubtful. According to the National Literacy Trust (2018), only 2% of children in the UK showed that they know how to spot false information online by answering at least four out of six questions correctly. We know from Ofcom (2019b), furthermore, that half of 12- to 15-year-olds find it

hard to tell whether stories on social media are true. More than four out of ten believe that social media provide trustworthy news. And three out of ten aged 8-15 think that "if a website is listed by a search engine it can be trusted" (Ofcom, 2019b, pp. 10–11). I have proposed elsewhere (e.g., Polizzi & Taylor, 2019) that digital literacy should be taught across the school curriculum to ensure that subjects like Computing and Citizenship promote, respectively, practical digital skills and knowledge about the digital environment, with emphasis on how these skills and knowledge should be deployed to evaluate online content. The novel approach of this thesis to digital literacy aligns with this proposition. Some of the findings presented here, furthermore, have informed my recent work on how to draw on the skills and knowledge of experts, in particular, with a view to promoting – via the national curriculum for England – digital literacy as both functional and critical (Polizzi, 2020a).

Recently, after the submission of this thesis, the UK House of Lords Select Committee on Democracy and Digital Technologies (2020) published a report on the spread of misinformation online and the importance of revising the school curriculum. Promisingly, and in ways that resonate with how digital literacy is understood here, the report states that:

"Digital media literacy" ... go[es] beyond, but do[es] include, the functional skills required to use technology. We define digital media literacy as being able to distinguish fact from fiction, including misinformation, understand how digital platforms work, as well as how to exercise one's voice and influence decision makers in a digital context. (p. 108)

Considering the contribution of this thesis, it is essential that digital literacy is promoted in the UK by building on the statement above as well as on the proposition of the Select Committee that "the Department for Education should review the school curriculum to ensure that pupils are equipped with all the skills needed in a modern digital world" (p. 119).

#### 8.5 Reflecting on My Next Steps as a Researcher

While the sections above lay out recommendations in terms of future directions for media literacy research and practice, as well as for political research, in this section I reflect on the ways in which working on this thesis has enabled me to grow, and to position myself, as a researcher. This study was approached with the intention of mapping out different literatures in order to identify how, and with what gaps and limitations, these have researched digital literacy and its intersection with civic engagement. Such a mapping exercise was fruitful not only for making sense of a field that is both vast and messy, but also for positioning myself as a researcher, since I had never researched digital literacy field as well as with political research that I have developed an understanding of where I position myself academically and in terms of future research.

Working on this project has enabled me to realize the extent to which I am interested in the intersection of media and education research and practice. This is best captured by an academic article that I wrote while working on – and drawing on some of the findings of – this thesis (Polizzi, 2020a). Considering how the experts interviewed engage with and evaluate online content, this article, as mentioned earlier, explores what digital literacy consists of and, accordingly, how to ensure that it is embedded within the national curriculum for England. While this thesis has implications for different academic communities, I value my work on digital literacy particularly in relation to the critical pedagogy and New Literacy Studies traditions. The idea of researching and promoting digital literacy as both functional and critical is relevant to the focus on users' critique and creativity that characterizes some of the research on formal and informal learning within these traditions (e.g., Cannot et al., 2018; Jenkins, Shresthova, Gamber-Thompson, Kligler-Vilenchik, et al., 2016). At the same time, my conceptualization of critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism not only builds on a few studies inspired by critical pedagogy and by the New Literacy Studies (e.g., Mihailidis, 2018), but also invites future researchers within these

traditions to research and promote digital literacy in ways that can align not only with progressive but also with other ideologies.

It is in the context of these traditions that I would be eager to research in the future whether and how different populations – and especially children, who are the pioneers of, and most vulnerable in, the digital age – develop and deploy digital literacy, as conceptualized here, within formal and/or informal learning environments. Furthermore, a line of inquiry that I wish to pursue concerns whether and how digital literacy intersects with digital resilience, which, as defined earlier in the thesis, refers to the ability to cope with and react to negative experiences online. Potential research questions to address include: what kind of digital skills and knowledge do children need in order to be able to deploy such an ability? Relatedly, what should policymakers and educationalists do in order to equip children with the skills and knowledge they need in order to become digitally resilient?

Finally, another line of inquiry concerns whether and how both digital literacy and digital resilience intersect with digital citizenship. The latter is a concept that is contested between those, on the one hand, who understand it to be the responsible use of digital technologies (e.g., Ribble, 2007) and those, on the other, who frame it primarily as active participation in civic life (e.g., Emejulu & McGregor, 2019). Taking a more comprehensive approach, I would frame digital citizenship as relying on the expectation that users' online behaviour should be guided not only by moral and civic virtues such as respect for others and altruism, but also by a commitment to actively participating in society in ways that are mediated by digital technologies. Such an approach has implications for the roles of character and of civic education in the digital age. Possible research questions include: what is the place of digital citizenship in the school curriculum? To what extent do children deploy moral and civic values in synergy with digital skills and knowledge in order to participate in civic life? In what ways, if any, do children develop digital resilience within formal and/or informal learning environments, and in ways that enable them to thrive as citizens of the digital age?

#### 8.6 Limitations

This section begins with the challenges and limitations of this study, as discussed in Chapter 4, and goes on to reflect more generally, in the light of its findings, about what limits this thesis both conceptually and methodologically.

The qualitative nature of this study comes with intrinsic weaknesses, from the inability to make numerical claims about experts and advocates as different populations to the risk of overinterpreting the data. As discussed earlier, my background as a non-native English speaker lacking professional expertise with digital technologies and activism was used to my advantage to encourage the participants to clarify their responses. Nevertheless, as acknowledged in Chapter 4, not only did the use of video equipment make data collection and analysis particularly labour intensive, but it was also challenging to ensure that the participants would commit to writing their diaries. Finally, this thesis is limited by the choice of focusing empirically on experts and advocates, two social categories that in the UK are predominantly middle-class. While these categories are conceptually ideal for exploring the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement, they are quite homogenous in terms of educational level and socio-economic status, which casts some doubt on the applicability of this study's findings to different segments of society.

This thesis has shed light on how civic engagement can provide opportunities for learning digital literacy. But to promote digital literacy through civic engagement is intrinsically exclusionary, as not everyone is civically active. And while advocates were recruited from across the Left-Right political spectrum, the decision not to recruit participants holding extremist views rooted in sentiments of violence or discrimination has had repercussions for what the study has achieved. I have argued that digital literacy facilitates civic engagement and benefits democracy. As discussed in Chapter 6, this argument, however, is limited to the UK context, where fieldwork was conducted. Recent research in India has found that functional digital literacy enables users to spread misinformation, fuelling, in turn, extremism and violence, including public lynchings (Banaji & Bhat, 2019). This thesis offers theoretical and analytical tools for exploring how digital literacy intersects with different ideologies in ways that potentially facilitate civic engagement, including, however concerning this may sound, civic action underpinned by extremist ideologies. Whether digital literacy benefits democracy even when deployed in the service of extremism is a question that goes beyond whether it facilitates civic engagement, as explored here. This question requires further investigation and can only be answered in ways that are dependent on how we understand democracy.

# 8.7 Conclusions

This thesis has explored the intersection of digital literacy and civic engagement. Based on how experts and advocates in the UK develop and deploy their digital skills and knowledge, it has addressed the questions of whether and how civic engagement provides opportunities for learning digital literacy and whether and how the latter, in turn, facilitates civic engagement. To answer these questions, semi-structured interviews were conducted with experts and advocates in the UK, enhanced by think aloud and diary methods. Afterwards, the data collected was subjected primarily to thematic analysis, drawing on elements of critical discourse analysis.

My study found that digital literacy relies on functional and critical digital skills and knowledge, focusing on how they intersect. These include digital skills, knowledge of digital affordances and dispositions towards the internet as well as the ability to evaluate online content, knowledge of the political economy of the internet and, in line with the theoretical contribution of this thesis, utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age. What emerged from fieldwork suggests that advanced critical digital literacy requires functional digital literacy, which problematizes media literacy research that has under-explored their relationship and placed the latter in a marginal position.

When it comes to how experts and advocates develop digital literacy in the context of their civic engagement, this study found that, while there are gaps and differences in their digital skills and knowledge, social interaction, information seeking and experience of using digital technologies are particularly valuable for their informal learning of digital literacy. In addition, campaigning organizations have the potential to provide formal training opportunities that are beneficial for promoting digital literacy, reaching different segments of the adult population including, first and foremost, activists. The implications of these findings have been discussed in the context of different literatures, focusing, for instance, on the New Literacy Studies and its emphasis on informal learning as well as on how to reach adults beyond media educators via digital training within civil society, which has remained under-explored within policy research on media literacy.

This study found that digital literacy, in turn, facilitates civic engagement. Albeit in different ways, advocates' and experts' functional digital literacy makes their civic engagement instrumental insofar as it is based on using digital technologies as practical tools. Their critical digital literacy, often together with functional digital literacy, facilitates their civic engagement by enhancing their trust in accredited media outlets while overcoming distrust in internet corporations. Having both functional and critical digital literacy, furthermore, makes their civic engagement strategic in overcoming bias and misinformation as well as their own privacy concerns about the corporate nature of their data. Finally, based on how they deploy their imaginaries of the internet, it makes their civic engagement strategic in navigating the internet's civic potentials and limitations.

More specifically, on the basis of how experts and advocates understand the digital environment and engage in different ways in civic life, this study found that constructing both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet, but deploying only one or the other, is symptomatic of a lack of critical digital literacy, which makes civic engagement contradictory. By contrast, deploying both utopian and dystopian imaginaries is crucial to maximizing the internet's potentials, including its advantages for campaigning and organizing action, while minimizing its limitations in relation, for

example, to the filter bubble and to internet surveillance. The implications of these findings have been discussed in relation to different traditions of media literacy research as well as to political research. Relatedly, the idea of strategic engagement, as advanced here, has been presented as bridging media literacy research with media studies on social movements.

This study has argued that approaching critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism, as theorized here, enables us to disentangle users' imaginaries of the internet from their imaginaries of civic life, which can align with different ideologies. Indeed, I found that experts' and advocates' critical digital literacy is constructed discursively in ways that intersect with different ideologies. This challenges research inspired by critical pedagogy, according to which users' critique will be inherently progressive. As prescribed by a dialectical approach to utopian thinking, critical digital literacy requires users to understand both the potentials and the limitations that the internet presents for civic life. This finding problematizes a large body of media literacy research as well as a few studies within political research that have polarized users' positive or negative interpretations of the internet as respectively crucial or detrimental to their online engagement. By contrast, this study has argued that understanding the internet's limitations for civic life is crucial to pursuing civic opportunities online, provided such an understanding is coupled with an understanding of its potentials.

As argued at the beginning of this thesis, we live in an age where the representative character of liberal democracy is affected by a deficit in citizens' participation and by their distrust in formal politics. On the one hand, the internet offers considerable opportunities for revitalizing democracy, contributing to both institutional and noninstitutional forms of civic engagement. On the other hand, it poses challenges to the political process and to how citizens engage in civic life, from facilitating misinformation and data misuse to contributing to polarization and surveillance. Expecting the public to gain digital literacy should not be the only solution for societies facing these challenges, which is why the possibility of regulating internet corporations is another avenue to explore. But, as this thesis shows, such an

expectation is certainly worth pursuing. Not only can civic engagement provide considerable opportunities for learning how to use digital technologies both practically and critically for civic purposes, but digital literacy also contributes to civic engagement, which is a crucial condition for democracy, however differently the latter may be understood. In order for users to take up civic opportunities online, we should expect them to deploy both functional and critical skills and knowledge about the internet, including an understanding of both its potentials and its limitations for civic life. This thesis has shown that utopian thinking not only represents a useful lens through which to examine the implications of the internet, but is also a powerful force that can be deployed in different ways, and in concert with different ideologies, to enable participation in society.

In terms of future research, section 8.3 has offered specific recommendations for different literatures, including the different traditions of media literacy research and political research. As a whole, media literacy research should build on this study to approach digital literacy as both functional and critical, with emphasis on users' critique of the digital environment. Relatedly, it should draw on this study to approach critical digital literacy as incorporating utopianism/dystopianism. This applies to research cutting across different traditions and epistemologies, focusing not just on civic life but also on different social domains. More specifically, media literacy research is needed within different contexts with a view to exploring how different populations beyond experts and advocates develop and deploy digital literacy, as understood here. Quantitative research should be conducted to measure the extent to which users construct utopian/dystopian imaginaries of society in the digital age in ways that correlate with their online engagement. In order to do this, new measures and survey items should first be created and tested. Qualitative research, furthermore, is needed in order to explore how different populations construct, develop and deploy their utopian imaginaries as part of contextually situated practices.

In the field of education, media literacy research is needed within different countries so as to explore whether and to what extent digital literacy, as conceptualized in this thesis, is promoted via school curricula and teaching resources. In addition, besides media literacy research, political research should draw on this study to engage with notions of digital literacy. We need further research on how civic literacy intersects with digital literacy. And we need more research on how the digital skills and knowledge required in order to participate in democracy vary depending on how the latter is normatively understood. Research could build on this study to interrogate civic engagement, both institutional and non-institutional in character, mapping its intersection with digital literacy and different assumptions of democracy. Alternatively, a case study methodology could be employed, based on case studies that exemplify different democratic variants. Finally, this study invites new intellectual directions not just for media literacy research and political research but also for utopian studies. Insofar as it suggests that understanding the digital environment is crucial to reimaging society in the digital age through utopian thinking, this thesis advances the idea that critiquing the internet is crucial to participation in society in the digital age, regardless of whether social change requires participation in formal politics or practices of resistance. This kind of critique relies on imagining potentialities in synergy with realism, and regardless of the ideological direction of one's utopianism.

# References

- 5Rights. (2019). 5Rights. Retrieved from https://5rightsfoundation.com/
- Abramson, J. (2010). Sustaining quality journalism. *Daedalus*, 139(2), 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1162/daed.2010.139.2.39
- Agee, J. (2009). Developing qualitative research questions: A reflective process. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 22(4), 431–447. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390902736512
- Aleixo, C., Nunes, M., & Isaias, P. (2012). Usability and digital inclusion: Standards and guidelines. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 35(3), 221–239. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2011.646568
- Alkali, Y. E., & Amichai-Hamburger, Y. (2004). Experiments in digital literacy.
   *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 7(4), 421–429.
   https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2004.7.421
- Alvares, C., & Dahlgren, P. (2016). Populism, extremism and media: Mapping an uncertain terrain. *European Journal of Communication*, 31(1), 46–57. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323115614485
- Alvermann, D. E., Marshall, J. D., McLean, C. A., Huddleston, A. P., Joaquin, J., &
  Bishop, J. (2012). Adolescents' web-based literacies, identity construction, and
  skill development. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, *51*(3), 179–195.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/19388071.20.10.523135
- Anderson, G., & Cohen, M. I. (2015). Redesigning the identities of teachers and leaders: A framework for studying new professionalism and educator resistance. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 23(85), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v23.2086

Anderson, K., & May, F. A. (2010). Does the method of instruction matter? An experimental examination of information literacy instruction in the online, blended, and face-to-face classrooms. *The Journal of Academic Libriarianship*, *36*(6), 495–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2010.08.005

Anderson, P. (1979). Considerations on Western Marxism. London, England: Verso.

Andrew, R., & Haythornthwaite, C. (2007). Introduction to e-learning research. In R.

Andrew & C. Haythornthwaite (Eds.), *The Sage Handbook of E-Learning Research* (pp. 1–52). London, England: Sage

Anduiza, E., Gallego, A., & Cantijoch, M. (2010). Online political participation in Spain:
 The impact of traditional and internet resources. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, 7(4), 356–368.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19331681003791891

- Angros, R., Johnson, L. W., Rickel, J., & Scholer, A. (2002). Learning domain knowledge for teaching procedural skills. Paper presented at AAMAS'02, Bologna, Italy. https://doi.org/10.1145/545056.545134
- Aranda Serna, F. J., & Belda Iniesta, J. (2018). The delimitation of freedom of speech on the internet: The confrontation of rights and digital censorship. *ADCAIJ: Advances in Distributed Computing and Artificial Intelligence Journal*, 7(1), 5–12. https://doi.org/10.14201/ADCAIJ201871512
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. Journal of the American Institute of Planners, 35(4), 216–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944366908977225
- Aron, J. (2015). Mining for every vote. *NewScientist*, *226*(3019), 20–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0262-4079(15)30251-7
- Ashley, S., Maksl, A., & Craft, S. (2017). News media literacy and political engagement: What's the connection? *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, *9*(1), 79–98. https://doi.org/10.23860/JMLE-2017-9-1-6
- Aufderheide, P. (1997). Media literacy: From a report of the national leadership conference on media literacy. In R. Kubey (Ed.), *Media literacy in the information age: Current Perspectives. Information and Behaviour, Volume 6* (pp. 79–88). New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction.
- Bailey, O. G., Cammaerts, B., & Carpentier, N. (2007). Understanding alternative media. Meidenhead, England: Open University Press.
- Bajc, V. (2013). Sociological reflections on security through surveillance. *Sociological Forum*, *28*(3), 615–623. https://doi.org/10.1111/socf.12040
- Baldwin-Philippi, J. (2017). The myths of data-driven campaigning. *Political Communication*, *34*(4), 627–633. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.2017.1372999

Banaji, S., & Bhat, R. (2019). WhatsApp vigilantes: An exploration of citizen reception and circulation of WhatsApp misinformation linked to mob violence in India.
London, England: London School of Economics and Political Science. Retrieved from

https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/104316/1/Banaji\_whatsapp\_vigilantes\_exploration\_of\_c itizen\_reception\_published.pdf

- Banaji, S., & Buckingham, D. (2013). *The civic web: Young people, the Internet and civic participation*. London, England: The MIT Press.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Barassi, V. (2015a). *Activism on the web: Everyday struggles against digital capitalism*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Barassi, V. (2015b). Social media, immediacy and the time for democracy: Critical reflections on social media as "temporalizing practices." In L. Dencik & O. Leistert (Eds.), *Critical perspectives on social media and protest: Between control and emancipation* (pp. 73–88). London, England: Rowman & Littlefield International.
- Barassi, V., & Zamponi, L. (2020). Social media time, identity narratives and the construction of political biographies. *Social Movement Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14742837.2020.1718489
- Barbrook, R. (2007). *Imaginary futures: From thinking machines to the global village*. London, England: Pluto.
- Barker, P., van Schaik, P., & Hudson, S. (1998). Mental models and lifelong learning.
   Innovations in Education and Training International, 35(4), 310–318.
   https://doi.org/10.1080/1355800980350406
- Barlett, R. (2012). Modifying the diary method to research the lives of people with dementia. *Qualitative Health Research*, *22*(12), 1717–1726. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732312462240
- Barnes, S. (2006). A privacy paradox: Social networking in the United States. *First Monday*, *11*(9). https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v11i9.1394
- Barton, D., & Hamilton, M. (2005). Literacy, reification and the dynamics of social interaction. In D. Barton & K. Tusting (Eds.), *Beyond communities of practice:* Language power and social context (pp. 14–35). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

- Bastien, F., Koop, R., Small, T. A., Giasson, T., & Jansen, H. (2020). The role of online technologies and digital skills in the political participation of citizens with disabilities. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*. https://doi.org/10.1080/19331681.2020.1742264
- Bauer, M. (1995). "Technophobia": A misleading conception of resistance to new technology. In M. Bauer (Ed.), *Resistance to new technology: Nuclear power, information technology and biotechnology* (pp. 81–96). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Bauer, M. W., & Gaskell, G. (2000). *Qualitative researching with text, image and sound*. London, England: Sage.
- Benkler, Y. (2006). *The wealth of networks: How social production transforms markets and freedom*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Bennett, L., Wells, C., & Rank, A. (2009). Young citizens and civic learning: Two paradigms of citizenship in the digital age. *Citizenship Studies*, 13(2), 105–120. https://doi.org/10.1080/13621020902731116
- Benson, G. (1997). Informal training takes off. *Training & Development*, *51*(5), 93–94. Retrieved from https://go.gale.com/ps/anonymous?id=GALE%7CA20766517&sid=googleScholar

&v=2.1&it=r&linkaccess=abs&issn=10559760&p=AONE&sw=w

- Berg, B. L. (2001). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences* (4th ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Berg, M., & Düvel, C. (2012). Qualitative media diaries: An instrument for doing research from a mobile media ethnographic perspective. *Interactions: Studies in Communication & Culture*, 3(1), 71–89. https://doi.org/10.1386/iscc.3.1.71\_1
- Berger, P. L., & Luckmann, T. (1966). *The social construction of reality: A treatise in the sociology of knowledge*. London, England: Penguin Books.
- Bertot, J. C., Gorham, U., Jaeger, P. T., Sarin, L. C., & Heeyoon, C. (2014). Big data, open government and e-government: Issues, policies and recommendations.
  Information Polity, 19(2), 5–16. https://doi.org/10.3233/IP-140328
- Betts, R. K. (1992). Systems for peace or causes of war? Collective security, arms control, and the New Europe. *International Security*, 17(1), 5–43. Retrieved from https://jstor.org/stable/2539157

- Bhatt, I., & de Roock, R. (2013). Capturing the sociomateriality of digital literacy events. *Research in Learning Technology*, 21, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3402/rlt.v21.21281
- Billig, M., Condor, S., Edwards, D., Gane, M., Middleton, D., & Radley, A. (1988).
   *Ideological dilemmas: A social psychology of everyday thinking*. London, England:
   Sage.

Bird, E. (2003). The audience in everyday life. London, England: Routledge.

Black, R. W. (2009). Online fan fiction and critical media literacy. *Journal of Computing in Teacher Education*, *26*(2), 75–80.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10402454.2009.10784636

Bloch, E. (1995). *The principle of hope*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

- Blumler, J. G., & Coleman, S. (2010). Political communication in freefall: The British case - and others? International Journal of Press/Politics, 15(2), 139–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161210362263
- Bodén, L. (2016). Present absences: Exploring the posthumanist entanglements of school absenteeism (Doctoral thesis). Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden. https://doi.org/10.3384/diss.diva-130460
- Bohman, J. (1998). The coming of age of deliberative democracy. *Journal of Political Philosophy*, *6*(4), 400–425. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9760.00061
- Boltanski, L. (2011). *On critique: A sociology of emancipation* (G. Elliott, Trans.). New York, NY: Polity. (Original work published 2009).
- Bonnet, J. L., & Rosenbaum, J. E. (2020). "Fake news", misinformation, and political bias: Teaching news literacy in the 21st century. *Communication Teacher*, 34(2), 103–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2019.1625938
- Boren, T., & Ramey, J. (2000). Thinking aloud: Reconciling theory and practice. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, *43*(3), 261–278.
   https://doi.org/10.1109/47.867942
- Borgman, C. L. (2003). From Gutenberg to the global information infrastructure: Access to information in the networked world. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1974). The school as a conservative force: Scholastic and cultural inequalities. In J. Eggleston (Ed.), *Contemporary research in sociology of education* (pp. 32–46). London, England: Methuen.

- Bourdieu, P. (1990). *In other words: Essays towards a reflexive sociology* (M. Adamson, Trans.). Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Bouvier, A. (2007). An argumentativist point of view in cognitive sociology. *European Journal of Social Theory*, *10*(3), 465–480.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1368431007080707

Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). Transforming qualitative information. Cleveland, OH: Sage.

boyd, d. (2007, March 9). You think you want media literacy... do you? [Blog post]. Retrieved from https://points.datasociety.net/you-think-you-want-medialiteracy-do-you-7cad6af18ec2

- Bradshaw, S., & Howard, P. N. (2018). Challenging truth and trust: A global inventory of organized social media manipulation. Oxford, England: Oxford Internet Institute, University of Oxford. Retrieved from https://comprop.oii.ox.ac.uk/wpcontent/uploads/sites/93/2018/07/ct2018.pdf
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706
- Brayton, S., & Casey, N. (2019). Not tolerating intolerance: Unpacking critical pedagogy in classrooms and conferences. In A. Baer, E. S. Cahoy, & R. Schroeder (Eds.), *Libraries promoting reflective dialogue in a time of political polarization* (pp. 171–186). Chicago, IL: ACRL Press.
- Breeze, R. (2011). Critical discourse analysis and its critics. *Pragmatics*, *21*(4), 493–525. https://doi.org/10.1075/prag.21.4.01bre

Brekhus, W. (2007). The Rutgers School: A Zerubavelian culturalist cognitive sociology. European Journal of Social Theory, 10(3), 448–464. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368431007080705

Brooks-Young, S. (2007). *Digital-age literacy for teachers: Applying teachnology standards to everyday practice*. Washington, DC: International Society for Technology in Education.

Brown, S. (2015). Young learners' transactions with interactive digital texts using ereaders. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, *30*(1), 45–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2015.1105887

Bryman, A. (2012). *Social research methods*. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press. Bucher, T. (2017). The algorithmic imaginary: Exploring the ordinary affects of Facebook algorithms. *Information, Communication & Society, 20*(1), 30–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1154086

- Buck, A. (2012). Examining digital literacy practices on social networking sites. *Research in the Teaching of English*, *47*(1), 9–38. Retrieved from https://jstor.org/stable/41583603
- Buckingham, D. (2003). *Media education: Literacy, learning and contemporary culture*. Cambridge, England: Polity Press.
- Buckingham, D. (2006). Defining digital literacy: What do young people need to know about digital media? *Digital Kompetanse*, 4(1), 263–276. Retrieved from https://idunn.no/dk/2006/04/defining\_digital\_literacy\_-\_what\_do\_young\_people\_need\_to\_know\_about\_digital
- Buckingham, D. (2007a). Digital media literacies: Rethinking media education in the age of the Internet. *Research in Comparative and International Education*, 2(1), 43–55. https://doi.org/10.2304/rcie.2007.2.1.43

Buckingham, D. (2007b). Media education goes digital: An introduction. *Learning, Media and Technology*, *32*(2), 111–119.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17439880701343006

- Buckingham, D. (2008). *Youth, identity, and digital media*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Buckingham, D. (2014). The (re-)making of media educators: Teacher identities in changing times. In P. Benson & A. Chik (Eds.), *Popular culture, pedagogy and teacher education: International perspectives* (pp. 125–137). London, England: Routledge.
- Buckingham, D., & Willett, R. (2006). *Digital generations: Children, young people, and new media*. Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Bulfin, S., & North, S. (2007). Negotiating digital literacy practices across school and home: Case studies of young people in Australia. *Language and Education*, *21*(3), 247–263. https://doi.org/10.2167/le750.0
- Bulger, M., & Davidson, P. (2018). The promises, challenges, and futures of media literacy. New York, NY: Data & Society Research Institute. Retrieved from https://datasociety.net/output/the-promises-challenges-and-futures-of-medialiteracy/

- Burnett, C. (2009). Personal digital literacies versus classroom literacies: Investigating pre-service teachers' digital lives in and beyond the classroom. In V. Carrington & M. Robinson (Eds.), *Digital literacies: Social learning and classroom practices* (pp. 115–130). London, England: Sage Publications.
- Burnett, C. (2010). Technology and literacy in early childhood educational settings: A review of research. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, 10(3), 247–270. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468798410372154
- Cadwalladr, C., & Graham-Harrison, E. (2018). 50 million Facebook profiles harvested for Cambriddge Analytica in major data breach. *The Guardian*, March 17. Retrieved from https://theguardian.com/news/2018/mar/17/cambridgeanalytica-facebook-influence-us-election
- Cammaerts, B. (2012). Protest logics and the mediation opportunity structure. *European Journal of Communication*, *27*(2), 117–134. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323112441007
- Cammaerts, B. (2015a). Social media and activism. In R. Mansell & P. H. Ang (Eds.), *The international encyclopedia of digital communication and society* (pp. 1027–1034). Oxford, England: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Cammaerts, B. (2015b). Technologies of self-mediation: Affordances and constraints of social media for protest movements. In J. Uldam & A. Vestergaard (Eds.), *Civic engagement and social media* (pp. 87–110). London, England: Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137434
- Cammaerts, B. (2018). The mainstreaming of extreme right-wing populism in the low countries: What is to be done? *Communication, Culture and Critique, 11*(1), 7–20. https://doi.org/10.1093/ccc/tcx002
- Cannon, M., Potter, J., & Burn, A. (2018). Dynamic, playful and productive literacies. Changing English, 25(2), 180–197.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1358684X.2018.1452146

Cardullo, V., Zygouris-Coe, V., Wilson, N. S., Craanen, P. M., & Stafford, T. R. (2012).
 How students comprehend using e-readers and traditional text: Suggestions from the classroom. *American Reading Forum Annual Yearbook, 32*. Retrieved from https://americanreadingforum.org/yearbook/12\_yearbook/documents/Cardullo-V-Zygouris-Coe-V-Wilson-N-S-Craanen-P-M-Stafford-T-R-(2012.pdf

- Carroll, W. K., & Hackett, R. A. (2006). Democratic media activism through the lens of social movement theory. *Media, Culture & Society, 28*(1), 83–104. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443706059289
- Casemajor, N., Couture, S., Delfin, M., Goerzen, M., & Delfanti, A. (2015). Non-participation in digital media: Toward a framework of mediated political action. *Media, Culture & Society*, *37*(6), 850–866.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443715584098
- Cazan, A.-M., Cocoradă, E., & Cătălin, I. M. (2016). Computer anxiety and attitudes towards the computer and the internet with Romanian high-school and university students. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *55*, 258–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.09.001
- CEN (European Committee for Standardization). (2012). European ICT professional profiles. Retrieved from https://relaunch.ecompetences.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2013/12/EU\_ICT\_Professional\_Profiles\_CWA\_updated\_by\_e\_C F\_3.0.pdf
- Chepp, V., & Gray, C. (2014). Foundations and new directions. In K. Miller, S. Willson,
  V. Chepp, & J.-L. Padilla (Eds.), *Cognitive interviewing methodology* (pp. 7–14).
  Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Chou, C., Yu, S., Chen, C., & Huan-Chueh, W. (2009). Tool, toy, telephone, territory, or treasure of information: Elementary school students' attitudes towards the Internet. *Computers & Education*, *53*(2), 308–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2009.02.003
- CILIP (Chartered Institute of Library and Information Professionals) (2018). *CILIP Definition of Information Literacy 2018*. London, England: CILIP – The Library and Information Association. Retrieved from https://infolit.org.uk/ILdefinitionCILIP2018.pdf
- Coffin, C., Hewings, A., & O'Halloran, K. (2014). *Applying English grammar: Corpus and functional approaches*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cohen, J. E. (2012). *Configuring the networked self: Law, code, and the play of everyday practice*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Coiro, J., & Dobler, E. (2007). Exploring the online reading comprehension strategies used by sixth-grade skilled readers to search for and locate information on the

Internet. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *42*(2), 214–257. https://doi.org/10.2307/4151792

Coleman, S. (2013). How voters feel. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

- Coleman, S., & Blumler, J. G. (2009). *The internet and democratic citizenship: Theory, practice and polity*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Coleman, S., Morrison, D. E., & Yates, S. (2011). The mediation of political disconnection. In K. Brants & K. Voltmer (Eds.), *Political communication in postmodern democracy* (pp. 215–230). London, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Collins, H. M., & Evans, R. (2002). The third wave of science studies: Studies of expertise and experience. *Social Studies of Science*, *32*(2), 235–296. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306312702032002003
- Comunello, F., Mulargia, S., & Parisi, L. (2016). The "proper" way to spread ideas through social media: Exploring the affordances as constraints of different social media platforms as perceived by Italian activists. *The Sociological Review*, *64*(3), 515–532. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-954X.12378
- Cooke, N. A. (2018). *Fake news and alternative facts: Information literacy in a posttruth era*. Chicago, IL: American Library Association.
- Coopamootoo, K. P. L. (2018). Towards empowering the human for privacy online. In E. Kosta, J. Pierson, D. Slamanig, S. Fischer-Hübner, & S. Krenn (Eds.), *Privacy and identity management: Fairness, accountability, and transparency in the age of big data* (pp. 67–80). Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Cope, J. (2010). Information literacy and social power. In M. T. Accardi, E. Drabinski, & A. Kumbier (Eds.), *Critical library instruction: Theories and methods* (pp. 13–28). Duluth, MN: Library Juice Press.
- Corcoran, M. P. (2004). The politicla preferences and value orientations of Irish journalists. *Irish Journal of Sociology*, *13*(2), 23–42. https://doi.org/10.1177/079160350401300203
- Correia, A. M. R. (2002). Information literacy for an active and effective citizenship. White paper prepared for UNESCO, the U.S. National Commission on Libraries and Information Science, and the National Forum on Information Literacy, for use at the Information Literacy Meetings of Experts, Prague, Czech Republic. Retrieved from

https://researchgate.net/publication/228765129\_Information\_literacy\_for\_an\_a ctive\_and\_effective\_citizenship

- Couldry, N., Livingstone, S., & Markham, T. (2007a). *Media consumption and public engagement. Beyond the presumption of attention*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Couldry, N., Livingstone, S., & Markham, T. (2007b). "Public connection" and the uncertain norms of media consumption. In T. Soper & F. Trentmann (Eds.), *Citizenship and consumption* (pp. 104–120). Basingstoke, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Couldry, N., & Markham, T. (2006). Public connection through media consumption:
   Between oversocialization and de-socialization? *Annals, AAPSS, 608*, 251–269.
   https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716206292342
- Crowther, T. W., Glick, H. B., & Bradford, M. A. (2015). Mapping tree density at a global scale. *Nature*, *525*, 201–205. Retrieved from https://nature.com/articles/nature14967
- Cucchiara, R. (2005). Multimedia surveillance systems. Paper presented at VSSN05 (pp. 3–10), Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1145/1099396.1099399
- Currie, G. (1998). Realism of character and the value of fiction. In J. Levinson (Ed.), *Aesthetics and ethics: Essays at the intersection* (pp. 161–181). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Cushman, M., & Klecun, E. (2006). How (can) non-users engage with technology:
  Bringing in the digitally excluded. In E. Trauth, D. Howcroft, D. Butler, B.
  Fitzgerald, & J. DeGross (Eds.), Social inclusion: Societal and organizational implications for information systems (pp. 347–364). New York, NY: Springer.
- Dahl, R. A. (1982). *Dilemmas of pluralist democracy: Autonomy vs. control*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Dahl, R. A. (2006). On political equality. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Dahlberg, L. (2010). Cyber-libertarianism 2.0: A discourse theory/critical political economy examination. *Cultural Politics*, *6*(3), 331–356. https://doi.org/10.2752/175174310X12750685679753

Dahlgren, P. (2003). Reconfiguring civic culture in the new media milieu. In J. Corner & D. Pels (Eds.), *Media and the restyling of politics: Consumerism, celebrity and* 

cynicism (pp. 151–170). London, England: Sage.

- Dahlgren, P. (2004). Foreword. In W. van de Donk, B. D. Loader, P. G. Nixon, & D.
  Rucht (Eds.), *Cyberprotest: New media, citizens and social movements* (pp. ix–xiii).
  London, England: Routledge.
- Dalton, B., & Proctor, C. P. (2007). Reading as thinking: Integrating strategy instruction in a universally designed digital literacy environment. In D. S. McNamara (Ed.), *Reading comprehension strategies: Theories, interventions, and technologies* (pp. 421–439). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc.
- Damico, J., & Baildon, M. (2007). Examining ways readers engage with websites during think-aloud sessions. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 51(3), 254–263. https://doi.org/10.1598/JAAL.51.3.5
- Darvin, R. (2017). Language, ideology, and critical digital literacy. In S. Thorne & S. May (Eds.), *Language, education and technology: Encyclopedia of language and education* (pp. 17–30). New York, NY: Springer.
- Davidson, T., Warmsley, D., Macy, M., & Weber, I. (2017). Automated hate speech detection and the problem of offensive language. Paper presented at Eleventh International AAI Conference on web and social media (ICWSM 2017), Montreal, Canada. Retrieved from https://arxiv.org/pdf/1703.04009.pdf
- Davies, I., & Hogarth, S. (2004). Political literacy: Issues for teachers and learners. In J.
   Demaine (Ed.), *Citizenship and political education today* (pp. 181–199). London,
   England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- DCMS (Department for Digital Culture Media and Sport). (2018). Digital Leadership Fund application form. Retrieved from

https://gov.uk/government/publications/digital-leadership-fund-applicationform

DCMS Committee. (2019). *Disinformation and "fake news": Final report*. Retrieved from

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcumeds/1791/179 1.pdf

de Certeau, M. (1984). *The practice of everyday life* (S. Rendell, Trans.). Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

de Mora, J. C. (2020). Towards a new educational contract. In J. C. de Mora & K. J.

Kennedy (Eds.), *Schools and informal learning in a knowledge-based world* (pp. 1– 12). Abingdon, England: Routledge.

- de Vreese, C. H., & Boomgaarden, H. (2006). News, political knowledge and participation: The differential effects of news media exposure on political knowledge and participation. *Acta Politica*, 41(4), 317–341. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.ap.5500164
- del Mar Grandío, M., Dilli, S., & O'Neill, B. (2017). Legal frameworks for media and information literacy. In D. Frau-Meigs, J. F. Michel, & I. Velez (Eds.), *Public policies in media and information literacy in Europe: Cross-country comparisons* (pp. 116– 129). Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Des Armier, D., & Bolliger, D. U. (2019). An investigation of graduate students' attitudes and their feelings of connectedness. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, *67*(2), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2019.1664880
- Dessewffy, T., & Nagy, Z. (2016). Born in Facebook: The refugees crisis and grassroots connective action in Hungary. *International Journal of Communication*, 10, 2872–2894. Retrieved from https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/4884
- Dewdney, A., & Ride, P. (2006). *The new media handbook*. Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Dezuanni, M. (2018). Minecraft and children's digital making: Implications for media literacy education. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 43(3), 236–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2018.1472607
- Diamond, L. (2010). Liberation technology. *Journal of Democracy*, *21*(3), 69–83. https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.0.0190
- Dierdre, G. P. (2000). Rap and orality: Critical media literacy, pedagogy, and cultural synchronization. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 44(3), 246–252. Retrieved from

https://jstor.org/stable/40012184?seq=1#page\_scan\_tab\_contents

Dillahunt, T. R., Brooks, C. A., & Gulati, S. (2015). Detecting and visualising filter
 bubbles in Google and Bing. Paper presented at the ACM Conference on Human
 Factors in Computing Systems, Seoul, Republic of Korea.
 https://doi.org/10.1145/2702613.2732850

Dillman, D. A., Smyth, J. D., & Christian, L. M. (2008). Internet, phone, mail, and mixed-

mode surveys: The tailored design method. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.

DiMaggio, P. (1997). Culture as cognition. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *23*, 263–287. Retrieved from

https://annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.soc.23.1.263

- Dimisianos, N. (2019). Political campaigns, social media, and analytics: The case of the GDPR. In A. Visvizi & M. Lytras (Eds.), *Politics and technology in the post-truth era* (pp. 73–88). Bingley, England: Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Downey, J., & Fenton, N. (2003). New media, counter publicity and the public sphere. *New Media & Society*, 5(2), 185–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444803005002003
- Drotner, K., Jensen, H. S., & Schrøder, K. C. (2008). *Informal learning and digital media*. Newcastle, England: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Drumbl, M. A. (2012). Child soldiers and clicktivism: Justice, myths and prevention.
   Journal of Human Rights Practice, 4(3), 481–485.
   https://doi.org/10.1093/jhuman/hus023
- DuBois, T., Goldbeck, J., & Srinivasan, A. (2011). Predicting trust and distrust in social networks. Paper presented at the IEEE International Conference on Privacy, Security, and Trust, and the IEEE International Conference on Social Computing, Boston, MA. Retrieved from https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6113143
- Dudziak, E. A. (2007). Information literacy and lifelong learning in Latin America: The challenges to build social sustainability. *Information Development*, *23*(1), 43–47. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266666907075630
- Dündar, H., & Akçayır, M. (2014). Implementing tablet PCs in schools: Students' attitudes and opinions. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *32*, 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.11.020
- Dunleavy, P. (2018). How democratic is the interest group process in the UK? Retrieved from https://democraticaudit.com/2018/08/24/audit2018-howdemocratic-is-the-interest-group-process-in-the-uk/
- Dupont, B. (2008). Hacking the panopticon: Distributed online surveillance and resistance. In M. Deflem (Ed.), Surveillance and governance: Crime control and beyond. Sociology of crime, law and deviance, vol. 10 (pp. 257–278). Bingley, England: Emerald Publishing Limited.

- Duran, R. L., Yousman, B., Walsh, K. M., & Longshore, M. A. (2008). Holistic media education: An assessment of the effectiveness of a college course in media literacy. *Communication Quarterly*, *56*(1), 49–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/01463370701839198
- Durant, D. (2008). Accounting for expertise: Wynne and the autnonomy of the lay public actor. *Public Understanding of Science*, *17*(1), 5–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963662506076138
- Durndell, A., & Haag, Z. (2002). Computer self-efficacy, computer anxiety, attitudes towards the Internet and reported experience with the Internet, by gender, in an East European sample. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *18*, 521–535. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0747-5632(02)00006-7
- Dutton, W. H., Blank, G., & Groselj, D. (2013). Cultures of the Internet: The Internet in Britain. Oxford Internet Survey 2013. Oxford, England: Oxford Internet Institute, University of Oxford. Retrieved from https://oxis.oii.ox.ac.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2014/11/OxIS-2013.pdf
- Dutton, W. H., Guerra, G. A., Zizzo, D. J., & Peltu, M. (2005). The cyber trust tension in
  E-government: Balancing identity, privacy, security. *Information Polity*, *10*(1,2),
  13–23. https://doi.org/10.3233/IP-2005-0066
- Dutton, W. H., & Shepherd, A. (2006). Trust in the Internet as an experience technology. *Information, Communication & Society*, 9(4), 433–451. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691180600858606
- Eddowes, E. A., & Ralph, K. S. (1998). *Interactions for development and learning: Birth through eight years*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill/Prentice-Hall.

Edgley, R. (1990). Dialectical materialism. In J. Eatwell, M. Milgate, & P. Newman (Eds.), *Marxian Economics* (pp. 115–120). London, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
Eggers, D. (2013). *The circle*. New York, NY: Knopf.

- Elliott, H. (1997). The use of diaries in sociological research on health experience. *Sociological Research Outline*, 2(2), 38–48. https://doi.org/10.5153/sro.38
- Elmborg, J. (2006). Critical information literacy: Implications for instructional practice.
   The Journal of Academic Libriarianship, 32(2), 192–199.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2005.12.004

Emejulu, A., & McGregor, C. (2019). Towards a radical digital citizenship in digital

education. Critical Studies in Education, 60(1), 131–147.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17508487.2016.1234494

- Emerson, R. M., Fretz, R. I., & Shaw, L. L. (1995). *Writing ethnographic fieldnotes*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Enjolras, B., Steen-Johnsen, K., & Wollebaek, D. (2013). Social media and mobilization to offline demonstrations: Transcending participatory divides? *New Media & Society*, *15*(6), 890–908. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444812462844
- Enli, G., & Rosenberg, L. T. (2018). Trust in the age of social media: Populist politicians seem more authentic. *Social Media + Society*, 4(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305118764430
- Ericsson, K. A., & Simon, H. A. (1980). Verbal reports as data. *Psychological Review*, 87, 215–251.
- Ericsson, K. A., & Simon, H. A. (1993). *Protocol analysis: Verbal reports as data*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- EU Parliament and Council. (2000). Directive 2000/31/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, 1–16. Retrieved from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A32000L0031

- EU Parliament and Council. (2016). Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation). *Official Journal of the European Communities*, 1–88. Retrieved from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2016/679/oj
- Evans, K. (2009). *Learning, work and social responsibility: Challenges for lifelong learning in a global age*. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.
- Eynon, R., & Geniets, A. (2016). The digital skills paradox: How do digitally excluded youth develop skills to use the internet? *Learning, Media and Technology*, *41*(3), 463–479. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2014.1002845

Fairclough, N. (1992). Discourse and social change. Cambridge, England: Blackwell.

Fairclough, N. (1993). Critical discourse analysis and the marketization of public discourse: The universities. *Discourse and Society*, *4*, 133–168.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0957926593004002002

- Fairclough, N. (1995). *Critical discourse analysis: The critical study of language*. London, England: Longman Group Limited.
- Faith, B. (2018). Maintenance affordances and structural inequalities: Mobile phone use by low-income women in the United Kingdom. *Information Technologies & International Development* (Special Section), 14, 66–80. Retrieved from https://itidjournal.org/index.php/itid/article/view/1556/587
- Fear, F. A., Rosaen, C. L., Bawden, R. J., & Foster-Fishman, P. G. (2006). Coming to critical engagement: An ethnographic exploration. Lanham, MD: University Press of America.
- Felt, U. (2015). Sociotechnical imaginaries of "the internet", diigtal health information and the making of citizen-patients. In S. Hilgartner, C. A. Miller, & R. Hagendijk (Eds.), Science and democracy: Making knowledge and making power in the biosciences and beyond (pp. 176–197). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Feng, L., Hu, Y., Li, B., Stanley, H. E., Havlin, S., & Braunstein, A. (2015). Competing for attention on social media under information overload conditions. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(7), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0126090
- Feria-Galicia, J. (2011). Mascot politics, public pedagogy, and social movements: Alternative media as a context for critical media literacy. *Policy Futures in Education*, 9(6), 706–714. https://doi.org/10.2304/pfie.2011.9.6.706
- Ferro, E., Helbig, N. C., & Gil-Garcia, R. (2011). The role of IT literacy in defining digital divide policy needs. *Government Information Quarterly*, 28(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2010.05.007
- Feufel, M. A., & Stahl, S. F. (2012). What do web-use skill differences imply for online health information searches? *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(3), 321–333. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2051
- Figenschou, T. U., & Ihlebæk, K. A. (2019). Challenging journalistic authority: Media criticism in far-right alternative media. *Journalism Studies*, *20*(9), 1221–1237. https://doi.org/10.1080/1461670X.2018.1500868
- Foasberg, N. M. (2015). From standards to frameworks for IL: How the ACRL framework addresses critiques of the standards. *Portal: Libraries and the Academy*, *15*(4), 699–717. Retrieved from

https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/217331413.pdf

- Forestal, J. (2017). The architecture of political spaces: Trolls, digital media, and Deweyan democracy. American Political Science Review, 111(1), 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003055416000666
- Foskett, D. J. (1962). *The creed of a librarian: No politics, no religion, no morals*. London, England: Library Association.
- Fotopoulou, A. (2014). Digital and networked by default?: Women's organisations and the social imaginary of networked feminism. *New Media & Society*, *18*(6), 989– 1005. https://10.1177/1461444814552264
- Fox, G., & Nolte, G. (1995). Intolerant democracies. Harvard International Law Journal, 36(1), 1–70. Retrieved from https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/hilj36&div=6&g\_sent=1& casa\_token=1GKg0dwK6dcAAAAA:KKna9CRXgzhfieaTeAKTJiV2M60WrUY\_5gVE\_xP4jWUqdk6NI15DbDJ91nqF0MVG3Z qJyQBbg&collection=journals
- Fox, R., & Blackwell, J. (2016). Audit of political engagement 13: The 2016 report. London, England: Hansard Society. Retrieved from https://assets.ctfassets.net/u1rlvvbs33ri/24aY1mkabGU0uEsoUOekGW/06380af a29a63008e97fb41cdb8dcad0/Publication\_Audit-of-Political-Engagement-13.pdf
- Frau-Meigs, D., & Torrent, J. (Eds.). (2009). Mapping media education policies in the world: Visions, programmes and challenges. New York, NY: UN-Alliance of Civilizations.
- Frau-Meigs, D., Velez, I., & Michel, J. F. (2017a). Mapping media and information
  literacy policies: New perspectives for the governance of MIL. In D. Frau-Meigs, I.
  Velez, & J. F. Michel (Eds.), *Public policies in media and information literacy in Europe: Cross-country comparisons* (pp. 17–88). Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Frau-Meigs, D., Velez, I., & Michel, J. F. (Eds.). (2017b). *Public policies in media and information literacy in Europe*. Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Freedman, D. (2012). Web 2.0 and the death of the blockbuster economy. In J. Curran,N. Fenton, & D. Freedman (Eds.), *Misunderstanding the Internet* (pp. 69–94).Abingdon, England: Routledge.

Freire, P. (2000). *Pedagogy of the oppressed* (30th anniversary ed.; M. B. Ramos,Trans.). New York, NY: Continuum International. (Original work published 1968).

- Friesem, E. (2018). Hidden bias and fake news: Finding a balance between critical thinking and cynicism. *Social Education*, 82(4), 228–231. Retrieved from https://socialstudies.org/system/files/publications/articles/se\_8204228.pdf
- Frodsham, D. (2012). Spaces for play architecture of wisdom: Towards a utopic spatial practice. *The Fibreculture Journal*, (20), 88–108. Retrieved from https://twenty.fibreculturejournal.org/
- Fromm, M., & Smith, J. (2019). Children and news. In R. Hobbs & P. Mihailidis (Eds.), The international encyclopedia of media literacy. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Fry, K. G. (2014). What are we really teaching?: Outline for an activist media literacy education. In B. S. De Abreu & P. Mihailidis (Eds.), *Media literacy education in action: Theoretical and pedagogical perspectives* (pp. 125–137). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Fuchs, C. (2010). StudiVZ: Social networking in the surveillance society. *Ethics and Information Technology*, *12*(2), 171–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10676-010-9220-z
- Gallagher, K., Kaiser, K. M., Simon, J. C., Beath, C. M., & Goles, T. (2010). The requisite variety of skills for IT professionals. *Communications of the ACM*, *53*(6), 144–148. https://doi.org/10.1145/1743546.1743584
- Gamber-Thompson, L. (2016). Bypassing the ballot box: How libertarian youth are reimagining the political. In H. Jenkins, S. Shresthova, L. Gamber-Thompson, N. Kligler-Vilenchik, & A. M. Zimmerman (Eds.), *By any media necessary: The new youth actvism* (pp. 219–252). New York, NY: New York University Press.
- Gamber-Thompson, L., & Zimmerman, A. M. (2016). DREAMing citizenship:
  Undocumented youth, coming out, and pathways to participation. In H. Jenkins,
  S. Shresthova, L. Gamber-Thompson, N. Kligler-Vilenchik, & A. M. Zimmerman
  (Eds.), *By any media necessary: The new youth actvism* (pp. 186–218). New York,
  NY: New York University Press.
- García-Avilés, J. A., Meier, K., Kaltenbrunner, A., Carvajal, M., & Kraus, D. (2009). Newsroom integration in Austria, Spain and Germany: Models of media

convergence. *Journalism Practice*, *3*(3), 285–303.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17512780902798638

- Garrett, K. R. (2006). Protest in an information society: A review of literature on social movements and new ICTs. *Information, Communication & Society*, *9*(2), 202–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691180600630773
- Gaskell, G., & Bauer, M. W. (2000). Towards public accountability: Beyond sampling, reliability, and validity. In G. Gaskell & M. W. Bauer (Eds.), *Qualitative researching with text, image and sound* (pp. 336–350). London, England: Sage.
- Gerber, E. R. (1999). The view from anthropology: Ethnography and the cognitive interview. In S. Schechter, N. Schwarz, J. Tanur, & R. Tourangeau (Eds.), *Cognition and survey research* (pp. 217–234). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Gibson, R., & Cantijoch, M. (2013). Conceptualizing and measuring participation in the age of the internet: Is online political engagement really different to offline? *The Journal of Politics*, *75*(3), 701–716. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022381613000431
- Gibson, S., & Hugh-Jones, S. (2012). Analysing your data. In C. Sullivan, S. Gibson, & S.
  Riley (Eds.), *Doing your qualitative psychology project* (pp. 127–153). London,
  England: Sage.
- Gilbert, J. (2014). Exploring ESL students' perceptions of their digital reading skills (Doctoral dissertation). University of Nottingham, England. Retrieved from https://eprints.nottingham.ac.uk/14080/
- Gill, R. (1996). Discourse analysis: Practical implementation. In J. T. E. Richardson (Ed.), Handbook of qualitative research (pp. 141–158). Leicester, England: B.P.S. Books.

Gilster, P. (1997). Digital literacy. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

- Giroux, H. A. (2004). When hope is subversive. *Tikkun*, *9*(6), 38–41. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1215/08879982-2004-6027
- Giroux, H. A. (2017). The scourge of illiteracy in authoritarian times. *Contemporary Readings in Law and Social Justice*, *9*(1), 14–27. https://doi.org/10.22381/CRLSJ9120172
- Glaser, M. (2010). Citizen journalism: Widening world views, extending democracy. In
  S. Allan (Ed.), *The Routledge companion to news and journalism* (pp. 578–590).
  Abingdon, England: Routledge.

Glăveanu, V. P., & Lahlou, S. (2012). Through the creator's eyes: Using the subjective

camera to study craft creativity. *Creativity Research Journal*, *24*(2–3), 152–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2012.677293

- Goad, T. W. (2002). *Information literacy and workplace performance*. Westport, CT: Quorum Books.
- Goggin, G. (2015). Mobile Web 2.0: New imaginaries of mobile internet. In A. Herman,J. Hadlaw, & T. Swiss (Eds.), *Theories of the mobile internet: Materialities and imaginaries* (pp. 134–148). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gourlay, L., Hamilton, M., & Lea, M. R. (2013). Textual practices in the new media digital landscape: Messing with digital literacies. *Research in Learning Technology*, *21*. https://doi.org/10.3402/rlt.v21.21438
- Greenberg, B. S., Eastin, M. S., Skalski, P., Cooper, L., Levy, M., & Lachlan, K. (2005).
  Comparing survey and diary measures of Internet and traditional media use. *Communication Reports*, 18(1–2), 1–8.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/08934210500084164
- Greene, J. A., Yu, S. B., & Copeland, D. Z. (2014). Measuring critical components of digital literacy and their relationships with learning. *Computers & Education*, 76, 55–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COMPEDU.2014.03.008
- Gregory, L., & Higgins, S. (2013). Introduction. In L. Gregory & S. Higgins (Eds.),
   *Information literacy and social justice: Radical professional praxis* (pp. 1–11).
   Sacramento, CA: Library Juice Press.
- Grissom, J. A. (2015). The micropolitics of educational inequality: The case of teacherstudent assignments. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 90(5), 601–614. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2015.1087768
- Groth, L. A., Dunlap, K. L., & Kidd, J. K. (2007). Becoming technologically literate through technology integration in PK-12 preservice literacy courses: Three case studies. *Reading Research and Instruction*, *46*(4), 363–386. https://doi.org/10.1080/19388070709558476
- Grundmann, R. (2017). The problem of expertise in knowledge societies. *Minerva*, 55(1), 25–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11024-016-9308-7
- Grunig, L. A. (1992). Activism: How it limits the effectiveness of organizations and how excellent public relations departments respond. In D. M. Dozier, P. Ehling, William, L. A. Grunig, F. C. Repper, & W. Jon (Eds.), *Excellence in public relations*

and communication management (pp. 503–530). London, England: Routledge.

Guest, G., MacQueen, K. M., & Namey, E. E. (2012). *Applied thematic analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Gunn, R. (1987). Ernst Bloch's "The principle of hope." Edinburgh Review, 76, 90–98.

- Gurak, L. J. (2014). Trust and internet activism: From email to social networks. In M. McCaughey (Ed.), *Cyberactivism on the participatory Web: From email to social networks* (pp. 7–19). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gustafsson, N. (2012). The subtle nature of Facebook politics: Swedish social network site users and political participation. New Media & Society, 14(7), 1111–1127. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444812439551
- Habermas, J. (1989). Structural transformation of the public sphere: An inquiry into a category of bourgeois society (T. Burger, Trans.). Cambridge: Polity Press.
  (Original work published 1962).
- Haciyakupoglu, G., & Zhang, W. (2015). Social media and trust during the Gezi protests in Turkey. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 20(4), 450–466. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12121
- Hackett, R. A., & Carroll, William, K. (2006). *Remaking media: The struggle to democratize public communication*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Haig, E. (2004). Some observations on the critique of critical discourse analysis:
  Studies in language and culture. *Studies in Language and Culture*, *25*(2), 129–149.
  Retrieved from https://lang.nagoya-u.ac.jp/proj/genbunronshu/25-2/haig.pdf
- Hakkarainen, P. (2012). "No good for shovelling snow and carrying firewood": Social representations of computers and the internet by elderly Finnish non-users. New Media & Society, 14(7), 1198–1215. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444812442663
- Halupka, M. (2017). The legitimisation of clicktivism. *Australian Journal of Political Science*, *53*(1), 130–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/10361146.2017.1416586
- Hammond, S. P., & Cooper, N. J. (2015). Embracing powerlessness in pursuit of digital resilence: Managing cyber-literacy in professional talk. *Youth & Society*, 47(6), 769–788. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X14523477
- Hampton, K. N., Sessions, L. F., & Her, E. J. (2011). Core networks, social isolation, and new media: How internet and mobile phone use is related to network size and diversity. *Information, Communication & Society*, 14(1), 130–155.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2010.513417

- Harding, J. (2008). Information literacy and the public library: We've talked the talk, but are we walking the walk? *The Australian Library Journal*, *57*(3), 274–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/00049670.2008.10722480
- Harlow, S. (2012). Social change and social media: Latin American activists' use of digital tools in the face of the digital divide (Doctoral thesis). University of Texas, Austin, Texas. Retrieved from https://arifyildirim.com/ilt510/summer.harlow.pdf
- Harris, S. M., & Stommel, J. (2017). Open education as resistance: MOOCs and critical digital pedagogy. In E. Losh (Ed.), *MOOCs and their afterlives: Experiments in scale and access in higher education* (pp. 177–197). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Hartley, J., McWilliam, K., Burgess, J., & Banks, J. (2008). The uses of multimedia:
  Three digital literacy case studies. *Media International Australia*, *128*(1), 59–72.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1329878X0812800108

Harvey, D. (2000). Spaces of hope. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Hayes, R. A., Carr, C. T., & Wohn, D. Y. (2016). One click, many meanings: interpreting paralinguistic digtal affordances in social media. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 60(1), 171–187.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2015.1127248

 Heinonen, K. (2011). Consumer activity in social media: Managerial approaches to consumers' social media behavior. *Journal of Consumer Behavior*, *10*, 356–364. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.376

Held, D. (2006). *Model of democracy* (3rd ed.). Cambridge, England: Polity Press.

Helsper, E. J. (2016). Inequalities in digital literacy: Definitions, measurements, explanations and policy implications. In *TIC domicílios 2015: Pesquisa sobre o uso* das tecnologias de informação e comunicação nos domícilios brasileiros (ICT households 2015: Survey on the use of information and communication technologies in Brazilian households) (pp. 175–185). São Paulo, Brazil: Comitê Gestor da Internet no Brasil (Brazilian Internet Steering Committee). Retrieved from

https://cetic.br/media/docs/publicacoes/2/TIC\_Dom\_2015\_LIVRO\_ELETRONICO. pdf

- Helsper, E. J. (2017). The social relativity of digital exclusion: Applying relative deprivation theory to digital inequalities. *Communication Theory*, *27*(3), 223–242. https://doi.org/10.1111/comt.12110
- Helsper, E. J., & Eynon, R. (2013a). Digital natives: Where is the evidence? British Educational Research Journal, 36(3), 503–520. https://doi.org/10.1080/01411920902989227
- Helsper, E. J., & Eynon, R. (2013b). Dinstinct skill pathways to digital engagement. *European Journal of Communication*, 28(6), 696–713.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323113499113
- Helsper, E. J., & Smirnova, S. (2019). Youth inequalities in digital interactions and well-being. In T. Burns & F. Gottschalk (Eds.), *Educating 21st century children: Emotional wellbeing in the digital age* (pp. 163–184). Paris, France: OECD.
- Helsper, E. J., & van Deursen, A. J. A. M. (2015). Digital skills in Europe: Research and policy. In K. Andreasson (Ed.), *Digital divides: The new challenges and opportunities of e-inclusion* (pp. 125–148). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Helsper, E. J., van Deursen, A. J. A. M., & Eynon, R. (2015). *Tangible outcomes of internet use: From digital skills to tangible outcomes project report*. Oxford, England: Oxford Internet Institute, University of Oxford. Retrieved from https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/61807/1/\_lse.ac.uk\_storage\_LIBRARY\_Secondary\_libfil e\_shared\_repository\_Content\_Helsper%2C%20E\_Helsper\_Tangible%20outcomes \_2015.pdf
- Henry, L. A. (2005). Information search strategies on the Internet: A critical component of new literacies. Webology, 2(1). Retrieved from https://webology.org/2005/v2n1/a9.html
- Herring, J. E. (2011). *Improving students' web use and information literacy: A guide for teachers and teacher librarians*. London, England: Facet.
- Hess, D. (2005). How do teachers' political views influence teaching about controversial issues. *Social Education*, *69*(1), 47–48.
- Hiltz, S. R. (1994). *Virtual classroom: Learning without limits via computer networks*. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Himelboim, I., Lariscy, R., Tinkham, S. F., & Sweetser, K. D. (2012). Social media and online political communication: The role of integersonal informational trust and

openness. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, *56*(1), 92–115. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2011.648682

- Hindman, M. S. (2009). *The myth of digital democracy*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Hinrichsen, J., & Coombs, A. (2013). The five resources of critical digital literacy: A framework for curriculum integration. *Research in Learning Technology*, 21, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3402/rlt.v21.21334
- Hobbs, R. (2010). *Digital and media literacy: A plan of action*. Washington, DC: The Aspen Institute. Retrieved from https://aspeninstitute.org/publications/digital-media-literacy-plan-action-2/

Hobbs, R. (2011). The state of media literacy: A response to Potter. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media, 55(3), 419–430. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838151.2011.597594

- Hobbs, R., & Jensen, A. (2009). The past, present, and future of media literacy education. *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, 1(1), 1–11. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.uri.edu/jmle/vol1/iss1/1
- Hogarth, M. (2018). Business strategies for magazine publishing: How to survive in the digital age. New York, NY: Routledge.

House of Lords Select Committee on Democracy and Digital Technologies. (2020). Digital technology and the resurrection of trust. Retrieved from https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/Id5801/Idselect/Iddemdigi/77/77.pdf

- Howard, P. N. (2005). Deep democracy, thin citizenship: The impact of digital media in political campaign strategy. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *597*(1), 153–170. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716204270139
- Howard, P. N., & Hussain, M. M. (2013). *Democracy's fourth wave? Digital media and the Arab Spring*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Hsieh, Y. P. (2012). Online social networking skills: The social affordances approach to digital inequality. *First Monday*, *17*(4). Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1926309

 Huang, E., Davinson, K., Shreve, S., Davis, T., Bettendorf, E., & Nair, A. (2006). Facing the challenges of convergence: Media professionals' concerns of working across media platforms. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New* Media Technologies, 12(1), 83–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856506061557

Huang, Q., & Xu, C. (2014). A data-driven framework for archiving and exploring social media data. *Annals of GIS*, 20(4), 265–277.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19475683.2014.942697

- Hughes, A. (2018). Weapons of mass consumption: Social and digital media in political campaigns. In A. Hughes (Ed.), *Market driven political advertising: Social, digital and mobile marketing* (pp. 61–78). Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hutchby, I. (2001). Technologies, texts and affordances. *Sociology*, *35*(2), 441–456. https://doi.org/10.1177/S0038038501000219
- Huvilla, I. (2012). *Information services and digital literacy: In search of the boundaries of knowledge*. Oxford, England: Chandos.
- Ihlebæk, K. A., & Larsson, A. O. (2018). Learning by doing: Perspectives on social media regulations in Norwegian news organizations. *Journalism Studies*, 19(6), 905–920. https://doi.org/10.1080/1461670X.2016.1239184
- Iida, M., Shrout, P. E., Laurenceau, L.-P., & Bolger, N. (2012). Using diary methods in psychological research. In H. Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long, A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, & K. J. Sher (Eds.), *APA handbook of research methods in psychology, vol. 1* (pp. 277–305). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Information Literacy Meeting of Experts. (2003). *The Prague declaration: Towards an information literacy society*. Prague, Czech Republic. Retrieved from https://unesco.org/new/fileadmin/MULTIMEDIA/HQ/CI/CI/pdf/PragueDeclaratio n.pdf
- Internet Matters. (2019). Helping parents keep their chidren safe online. Retrieved from https://internetmatters.org/
- Ishimura, Y., & Bartlett, J. C. (2014). Are librarians equipped to teach international students? A survey of current practices and recommendations for training. *The Journal of Academic Libriarianship*, 40(3–4), 313–321.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2014.04.009
- Ito, M., Gutiérrez, K., Livingstone, S., Penuel, B., Rhodes, J., Salen, K., Schor, J., Sefton-Green, J., & Watkins, C. S. (2013). *Connected learning: An agenda for research and design*. Irvine, CA: Digital Media and Learning Research Hub. Retrieved from https://dmlhub.net/publications/connected-learning-agenda-for-research-and-

design/index.html

Ivey, R. (2013). Information literacy: How do librarians and academics work in partenership to deliver effective learning programs? *Australian Academic & Research Libraries*, 34(2), 100–113.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00048623.2003.10755225

Jacobs, H. L. M., & Berg, S. (2011). Reconnecting information literacy policy with the core values of librarianship. *Library Trends*, 60(2), 383–394. https://doi.org/10.1353/lib.2011.0043

Jaeger, P. T., Bertot, J. C., Thompson, K. M., Katz, S. M., & DeCoster, E. J. (2012). The intersection of public policy and public access: Digital divides, digital literacy, digital inclusion, and public libraries. *Public Library Quarterly*, 31(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/01616846.2012.654728

Jaggar, A. M. (1989). Love and knowledge: Emotion in feminist epistemology. An Interdisciplinary Journal of Philosophy, 32(2), 151–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/00201748908602185

Jameson, F. (2005). Archaeologies of the future: The desire called utopia and other science fictions. London, England: Verso.

Jarman, R., & McClune, B. (2010). Developing students' ability to engage critically with science in the news: Identifying elements of the "media awareness" dimension. *The Curriculum Journal*, *21*(1), 47–64.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09585170903558380

Jenkins, H. (2006). *Convergence culture: Where old and new media collide*. New York, NY: New York University Press.

Jenkins, H. (2016). Youth voice, media, and political engagement: Introducing the core concepts. In H. Jenkins, S. Shresthova, L. Gamber-Thompson, N. Kligler-Vilenchik, & A. M. Zimmerman (Eds.), *By any media necessary: The new youth actvism* (pp. 1–60). New York, NY: New York University Press.

Jenkins, H., Clinton, K., Purushotma, R., Robison, A. J., & Weigel, M. (2009). Confronting the challenges of participatory culture: Media education for the 21st century. Chicago, IL: The MacArthur Foundation.

Jenkins, H., & Shresthova, S. (2016). "It's called giving a shit!": What counts as "politics"? In H. Jenkins, S. Shresthova, L. Gamber-Thompson, N. Kligler-Vilenchik, & A. M. Zimmerman (Eds.), *By any media necessary: The new youth actvism* (pp. 253–289). New York, NY: New York University Press.

- Jenkins, H., Shresthova, S., Gamber-Thompson, L., Kligler-Vilenchik, N., & Zimmerman,
  A. M. (Eds.). (2016). *By any media necessary: The new youth activism*. New York,
  NY: New York University Press.
- Jenkins, H., Shresthova, S., Gamber-Thompson, L., & Zimmerman, A. M. (2016). Superpowers to the people! How young activists are tapping the civic imagination. In E. Gordon & P. Mihailidis (Eds.), *Civic media: Technology, design, practice* (pp. 295–320). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Jeong, H.-S., Ahn, J.-I., Kim, K.-T., Jeon, G., Cho, Y. H., & Kim, Y.-E. (2009). History,
   policy and practices of media education in South Korea. In D. Frau-Meigs & J.
   Torrent (Eds.), *Mapping media education policies in the world: Visions, programmes and challenges* (pp. 111–126). New York, NY: The United Nationals Alliance of Civilizations in co-operation with Grupo Comunicar.
- Jewitt, C. (2008). Multimodality and literacy in school classrooms. *Review of Research in Education*, *32*(1), 241–267. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X07310586
- Jiang, J., & Vetter, M. A. (2020). The good, the bot, and the ugly: Problematic information and critical media literacy in the postdigital era. *Postdigital Science and Education*, *2*, 78–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-019-00069-4
- Johnson, R., Edmundson-Bird, D., & Keegan, B. (2012). Making digital literacy a success in taught marketing courses. *Enhancing Learning in the Social Sciences*, *4*(2), 1– 15. https://doi.org/10.11120/elss.2012.04020002
- Jørgensen, M., & Phillips, L. (2002). *Discourse analysis as theory and method*. London, England: Sage.
- Joyce, M., & Kirakowski, J. (2015). Measuring attitudes towards the internet: The general internet attitudes scale. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 31(8), 506–517. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2015.1064657
- Julien, H., & Hoffman, C. (2008). Information literacy training in Canada's public libraries. *The Library Quarterly*, *78*(1), 19–41. https://doi.org/10.1086/523908
- Kahne, J., Hodgin, E., & Eidman-Aadahl, E. (2016). Redisigning civic education for the digital age: Participatory politics and the pursuit of democratic engagement.
   Theory & Research in Social Education, 44, 1–35.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00933104.2015.1132646

- Kahne, J., Lee, N.-J., & Feezell, J. T. (2012). Digital media literacy education and online civic and political participation. *International Journal of Communications*, *6*, 1–24.
   Retrieved from https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/999
- Kanižaj, I. (2017). The role of civil society organisations in promoting media literacy, transliteracy and media and information literacy in EU. *Revista Fuentes*, 19(2), 69–80. https://doi.org/10.12795/revistafuentes.2017.19.2.05
- Kann, M. E., Berry, J., Gant, C., & Zager, P. (2007). The internet and youth political participation. *First Monday*, *12*(8). https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v12i8.1977
- Karlsen, R. (2009). Campaign communication and the internet: Party strategy in the 2005 Norwegian election campaign. *Journal of Elections, Public Opinions and Parties*, 19(2), 183–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/17457280902799030
- Kassen, M. (2013). A promising phenomenon of open data: A case study of the Chicago open data project. *Government Information Quarterly*, 30(4), 508–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2013.05.012
- Katz, L. (2011). Current perspectives on the early childhood curriculum. In R. House (Ed.), *Too much, too soon?: Early learning and the erosion of childhood* (pp. 118–130). Stroud, England: Hawthorn Press.
- Kavada, A. (2012). Engagement, bonding, and identity across multiple platforms:
   Avaaz on Facebook, YouTube, and MySpace. JMedieKultur: Journal of Media and
   Communication Research, 52, 28–48.

https://doi.org/10.7146/mediekultur.v28i52.5486

- Kelchtermans, G., & Ballet, K. (2002). The micropolitics of teacher induction: A narrative-biographical study on teacher socialisation. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18, 105–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(01)00053-1
- Kellner, D., & Kim, G. (2010). YouTube, critical pedagogy, and media activism. The Review of Education, Pedagogy, and Cultural Studies, 32(1), 3–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/10714410903482658
- Kellner, D., & Share, J. (2007). Critical media literacy, democracy, and the reconstruction of education. In D. Macedo & S. R. Steinberg (Eds.), *Media literacy:* A reader (pp. 3–23). New York, NY: Peter Lang.

Kiili, C., Laurinen, L., & Marttunen, M. (2008). Students evaluating Internet sources:

From versatile evaluators to uncritical readers. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, *39*(1), 75–79. https://doi.org/10.2190/EC.39.1.e

- Kim, B. J., Kavanaugh, A. L., & Hult, K. M. (2011). Civic Engagement and Internet Use in Local Governance: Hierarchical Linear Models for Understanding the Role of Local Community Groups. *Administration & Society*, *43*(7), 807–835. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399711413873
- Kim, Y. A., & Ahmad, M. A. (2013). Trust, distrust and lack of confidence of users in online social media-sharing communities. *Knowledge-Based Systems*, *37*, 438– 450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.knosys.2012.09.002
- Kincheloe, J. L., McLaren, P., & Steinberg, S. R. (1997). Series editors' foreword. In J. L.
  Kincheloe, P. McLaren, & R. Steinberg, Shirley (Eds.), *Pedagogy and the politics of hope: Theory, culture, and schooling*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Kitzinger, J. (2005). Focus group research: Using group dynamics to explore perceptions, experiences and understandings. In I. Holloway (Ed.), *Qualitative research in health care* (pp. 56–70). Maidenhead, England: Open University Press.
- Knafl, K. (2008). Cognitive interview. In L. M. Given (Ed.), *The Sage encyclopedia of qualitative research methods, vol. 1* (pp. 89–91). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kobre, K. (2008). Photojournalism. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Kodagoda, N., & Wong, W. B. L. (2008). Effects of low & high literacy on user performance in information search and retrieval. In *Proceedings at the 22nd British HCI Group Annual Conference on People and Computers: Culture, Creativity, Interaction* (pp. 173–181). Swindon, England: BCS Learning & Development. Retrieved from https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.5555/1531514.1531538
- Kolb, D. A. (2014). *Experential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Krasnova, H., Spiekermann, S., Koroleva, K., & Hilderbrand, T. (2010). Online social networks: Why we disclose. *Journal of Information Technology*, 25(2), 109–125. https://doi.org/10.1057/JIT.2010.6
- Kreiss, D. (2015). Digital campaigning. In S. Coleman & D. Freelon (Eds.), *Handbook of digital politics* (pp. 118–135). Cheltenham, England: Edward Elgar.

Kress, G. (2003). Literacy in the New Media Age. London, England: Routledge.

Krishna, A. (2017). Motivation with misinformation: Conceptualizing lacuna individuals

and publics as knowledge-deficient, issue-negative activists. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 29(4), 176–193.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2017.1363047

- Kwak, N., Lane, D. S., Weeks, B. E., Kim, D. H., Lee, S. S., & Bachleda, S. (2018).
   Perceptions of social media politics: Testing the slacktivism hypothesis. *Human Communication Research*, 44(2), 197–221. https://doi.org/10.1093/hcr/hqx008
- Lahlou, S. (2011). How can we capture the subject's perspective? An evidence-based approach for the social scientist. *Social Science Information*, *50*(3–4), 607–655. https://doi.org/10.1177/0539018411411033
- Lahlou, S., Le Bellu, S., & Bosen-Mariani, S. (2015). Subjective evidence based ethnography: Method and applications. *Integrative Psychological and Behavioral Science*, 49, 216–238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12124-014-9288-9
- LaMarre, H., & Suzuki-Lambrecht, Y. (2013). Tweeting democracy? Examining Twitter as an online public relations strategy for congressional campaigns. *Public Relations Review*, 39(4), 360–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2013.07.009
- Lankshear, C., & Knobel, M. (2003). *New Literacies: Changing knowledge and classroom learning*. Buckingham, England: Open University Press.
- Lankshear, C., & Knobel, M. (2006). Digital literacy and digital literacies: Policy, pedagogy and research considerations for education. *Digital Kompetanse*, 1, 12–24. Retrieved from https://idunn.no/dk/2006/01/digital\_literacy\_and\_digital\_literacies\_-

\_policy\_pedagogy\_and\_research\_cons

- Leahy, D., & Dolan, D. (2010). Digital literacy: A vital competence for 2010? In N. Reynolds & M. Turcsányi-Szabó (Eds.), *Key competencies in the knowledge society* (pp. 210–221). Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Lee, C. K.-M. (2007). Affordances and text-making practices in online instant messaging. Written Communication, 24(3), 223–249. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741088307303215
- Lee, E. J., & Shin, S. Y. (2014). When the medium is the message: How transportability moderates the effects of politicians' Twitter communication. *Communication Research*, *41*(8), 1088–1110. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650212466407

Lee, N.-J., Shah, D. V., & McLeod, J. M. (2012). Processes of political socialization: A

communication mediation approach to youth civic engagement. *Communication Research*, *40*(5), 669–697. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650212436712

Leets, L. (2001). Responses to internet hate sites: Is speech too free in cyberspace? *Communication Law & Policy*, 6(2), 287–317. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326926CLP0602 2

Leon, P. G., Ur, B., Wang, Y., Sleeper, M., Balebako, R., Shay, R., ... Cranor, L. F. (2013). What matters to users? Factors that affect users' willingness to share information with online advertisers. Paper presented at Symposium on Usable Privacy and Security (SOUPS), Newcastle, UK. Retrieved from https://cups.cs.cmu.edu/soups/2013/proceedings/a7 Leon.pdf

Lévesque, S., Ng-A-Fook, N., & Corrigan, J. (2014). What does the eye see? Reading online primary source photographs in history. *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 14(2). Retrieved from https://citejournal.org/volume-14/issue-2-14/social-studies/what-does-the-eye-see-reading-online-primarysource-photographs-in-history

Levitas, R. (2010). The concept of Utopia. Bern, Switzerland: Peter Lang.

- Levitas, R., & Sargisson, L. (2003). Utopia in dark times: Optimism/pessimism and utopia/dystopia. In R. Baccolini & T. Moylan (Eds.), *Dark horizons* (pp. 13–28). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Lewis, A. B. (2018). What does bad information look like? Using the CRAAP test for evaluating substandard resources. *Issues in Science and Technology Librarianship*, 88. https://doi.org/10.5062/F41N7ZC4
- Lievrouw, L. A. (2011). *Alternative and activist new media: Digital media and society series*. Cambridge, England: Polity.
- Limberg, L., & Alexandersson, M. (2009). Learning and information seeking. In M. J.
  Bates & M. N. Maack (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of library and information sciences* (3rd ed.). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Limberg, L., & Sundin, O. (2006). Teaching information seeking: Relating information literacy education to theories of information behaviour. *Information Research*, 12(1), 7–22. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1104682

Livingstone, S. (2011). Media literacy for all? On the intellectual and political challenges of implementing media literacy policy. In S. Livingstone (Ed.), *Media* 

*literacy: Ambitions, policies and measures* (pp. 31–35). London, England: COST. Retrieved from https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/56879/

- Livingstone, S. (2014). Developing social media literacy: How children learn to interpret risky opportunities on social networking sites. *Communications*, 39(3), 283–303. https://doi.org/10.1515/commun-2014-0113
- Livingstone, S. (2018, October 25). Media literacy: What are the challenges and how can we move towards a solution? [Blog post]. London, England: Media@LSE, London School of Economics and Political Science. Retrieved from https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/mediapolicyproject/2018/10/25/media-literacy-what-arethe-challenges-and-how-can-we-move-towards-a-solution/
- Livingstone, S., Van Couvering, E., & Thumim, N. (2008). Converging traditions of research on media and information literacies: Disciplinary, critical, and methodological issues. In J. Coiro, C. Knobel, Michele Lankshear, & D. J. Leu (Eds.), *Handbook of research on new literacies* (pp. 103–132). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Livingstone, S., & Van de Graaf, S. (2010). Media literacy. In D. Wolfgang (Ed.), International Encyclopedia of Communication (pp. 1–5). Oxford, England: Blackwell.
- Livingstone, S., Wijnen, C. W., Papaioannou, T., Costa, C., & del Mar Grandío, M.
  (2013). Situating media literacy in the changing media environment: Critical insights from European research on audiences. In N. Carpentier, K. Schrøder, & L. Hallett (Eds.), Audience transformations: Shifting audience positions in late modernity (pp. 210–227). London, England: Routledge.
- Lo, S.-K., Hsieh, A.-Y., & Chiu, Y.-P. (2013). Contradictory deceptive behavior in online dating. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(4), 1755–1762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.02.010
- Loader, B. D., & Mercea, D. (2011). Networking democracy? *Information, Communication & Society*, *14*(6), 757–769. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2011.592648
- Lokot, T. (2018). Be safe or be seen? How Russian activists negotiate visibility and security in online resistance practices. *Surveillance & Society*, *16*(3), 332–346. https://doi.org/10.24908/ss.v16i3.6967

- Loustau, N. C., & Davis, H. (2012). Ouvert/open: Common utopias. *The Fibreculture Journal: Networked Utopias and Speculative Futures*, 20, 123–142. Retrieved from https://twenty.fibreculturejournal.org/
- Lund, D. E., & Carr, P. R. (2008). Introduction: Scanning democracy. In D. E. Lund & P. R. Carr (Eds.), *Doing democracy: Striving for political literacy and social justice* (pp. 1–32). New York, NY: Peter Lang.
- Lutz, C., & Hoffmann, P. (2017). The dark side of online participation: Exploring non-, passive and negative participation. *Information, Communication & Society*, 20(6), 876–897. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2017.1293129
- MacNamara, D., Carmody, T., Oakley, K., & Quane, E. (2010). Dual vote: A novel user interface for e-voting system. Paper presented at IADIS (International Conference Interfaces and Human Computer Interaction), Freiburg, Germany. Retrieved from https://iadisportal.org/digital-library/dual-vote-a-novel-user-interface-for-evoting-systems
- Macpherson, K. (2013). Undergraduate information literacy: A teaching framework. *Australian Academic & Research Libraries*, *35*(3), 226–241. https://doi.org/10.1080/00048623.2004.10755273
- Mäkinen, M. (2006). Digital empowerment as a process for enhancing citizens' participation. *E-Learning and Digital Media*, *3*(3), 381–395.
  https://doi.org/10.2304/elea.2006.3.3.381
- Makri, S., Blandford, A., & Cox, A. L. (2011). This is what I'm doing and why:
  Methodological reflections on a naturalistic think-aloud study of interactive information behaviour. *Information Processing & Management*, 47(3), 336–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IPM.2010.08.001
- Maksl, A., Ashley, S., & Craft, S. (2015). Measuring news media literacy. Journal of Media Literacy Education, 6(3). Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.uri.edu/jmle/vol6/iss3/3/
- Maksl, A., Craft, S., Ashley, S., & Miller, D. (2017). The usefulness of a news media literacy measure in evaluating a news literacy curriculum. *Journalism & Mass Communication Educator*, 72(2), 228–241. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077695816651970

Malhotra, N. K., Kim, S., & Agarwal, J. (2004). Internet users' information privacy

concerns (IUIPC): The construct, the scale, and a causal model. *Information Systems Research*, *15*(4), 336–355. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.1040.0032

- Mansell, R. (2017). Bits of power: Struggling for control of infromation and communication networks. *The Political Economy of Communication*, 5(1), 2–29.
   Retrieved from https://polecom.org/index.php/polecom/article/view/75/276
- Marchionini, G. (2006). Toward human-computer information retrieval. *Bulletin of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, *32*(5), 20–22. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1002/bult.2006.1720320508
- Marin, L. (1990). *Utopics: The semiological play of textual spaces* (R. A. Vollrath, Trans.). Atlantic Highlands, NJ: Humanities Press.
- Markham, T., & Couldry, N. (2007). Tracking the reflexivity of the (dis)engaged citizen:
  Some methodological reflections. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *13*(5), 675–695.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800407301182
- Marlowe, J. M., Bartley, A., & Collins, F. (2017). Digital belongings: The intersections of social cohesion, connectivity and digital media. *Ethnicities*, *17*(1), 85–102. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468796816654174
- Marsh, J., Hannon, P., Lewis, M., & Ritchie, L. (2015). Young children's initiation into family practices in the digital age. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 15(1), 47–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X15582095
- Marsh, J., & Thompson, P. (2001). Parental involvement in literacy development: Using media texts. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 24(3), 266–278. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.00148
- Martens, H., & Hobbs, R. (2015). How media literacy supports civic engagement in a digital age. *Atlantic Journal of Communication*, 23(2), 120–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/15456870.2014.961636
- Martin, B. (2007). Activism, social and political. In *Encyclopedia of activism and social justice* (pp. 19–27). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martin, G. (2017). Digital democracy. In B. S. Turner, C. Kyung-Sup, C. F. Epstein, P.
   Kvisto, J. M. Ryan, & W. Outhwaite (Eds.), *The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Social Theory*. Chichester, England: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Martin, J. (2013). Refreshing information literacy. *Communications in Information Literacy*, 7(2), 114–127. https://doi.org/10.15760/comminfolit.2013.7.2.142

- Martin, J. A. (2015). Mobile news use and participation in elections: A bridge for the democratic divide? *Mobile Media & Communication*, *3*(2), 230–249. https://doi.org/10.1177/2050157914550664
- Maruyama, Y. (2015). An investigation into Japanese university students' online privacy concerns. In P. A. M. Kommers, P. Isaias, & T. Issa (Eds.), *Perspectives on social media: A yearbook* (pp. 131–138). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-11.3.1428
- Matzat, U., & Sadowski, B. (2012). Does the "do-it-yourself approach" reduce digital inequality? Evidence of self-learning of digital skills. *The Information Society*, 28(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/01972243.2011.629023
- Maybee, J. E. (2016). Hegel's dialectics. In *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Retrieved from https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2016/entries/hegeldialectics/
- McCarthy, N. (2016). The world's most cosmopolitan cities. Retrieved from https://statista.com/chart/4262/the-worlds-most-cosmopolitan-cities/
- McChesney, R. W. (2013). *Digital disconnect: How capitalism is turning the Internet against democracy*. New York, NY: The New Press.
- McCurdy, P. (2010). Breaking the spiral of silence: Unpacking the "media debate" within global injustice movements. A case study of Dissent! and the 2005 Gleneagles G8 summit. *Interface*, *2*(2), 42–67.
- McCurdy, P. (2011). Theorizing "lay theories of media": A case study of the Dissent! Network at the Gleneagles G8 Summit. *International Journal of Communication*, *5*, 619–638. Retrieved from https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/842
- McDonald, K. (2015). Re-envisioning libraries for training and literacy development.
   Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 176, 504–508.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.503
- McDougall, J., & Livingstone, S. (2014). *Media and information literacy policies in the UK*. London, England: London School of Economics and Political Science. Retrieved from

https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/57103/1/Livingstone\_media\_information\_literacy\_2014

\_author.pdf

 McDougall, J., Turkoglu, N., & Kanižaj, I. (2017). Training and capacity-building in media and information literacy. In D. Frau-Meigs, I. Velez, & J. F. Michel (Eds.), *Public policies in media and information literacy in Europe: Cross-country comparisons* (pp. 130–158). London, England: Routledge.

- McEneaney, J. E., Gillette, C. A. R., Farkas, W. A., & Guzniczak, L. A. (2016). Online commerce as a digital literacy: A grounded theory approach. *Journal of Literacy and Technology*, *17*(3), 219–257. Retrieved from https://literacyandtechnology.org/uploads/1/3/6/8/136889/jlt\_v16\_3\_mcenean ey\_gillette\_farkas\_guzniczak.pdf
- McGinnis, T., Goodstein-Stolzenberg, A., & Costa Saliani, E. (2007). "Indnpride": Online spaces of transnational youth as sites of creative and sophisticated literacy and identity work. *Linguistics and Education*, *18*, 283–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.linged.2007.07.006
- McGregor, S., Lawrence, R. G., & Cardona, A. (2016). Personalization, gender, and social media: Gubernatorial candidates' social media strategies. *Information, Communication & Society*, 20(2), 264–283.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2016.1167228

- McKay, S. (1996). Literacy and literacies. In S. McKay & N. Hornberger (Eds.),
   Sociolinguistics and language teaching (pp. 421–446). Cambridge, England:
   Cambridge University Press.
- McKelvey, F., & Piebiak, J. (2016). Porting the political campaign: The NationBuilder platform and global flows of political technology. *New Media & Society*, 20(3), 901–918. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444816675439

McLaren, P. (1997). Critical pedagogy. *Teaching Education*, *9*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1080/1047621970090101

Meelissen, M. R. M., & Drent, M. (2008). Gender differences in computer attitudes:
Does the school matter? *Computers in Human Behavior*, *24*(3), 969–985.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2007.03.001

Meikle, G. (2003). *Future active: Media activism and the internet*. New York, NY: Routledge.

Mejias, U. A. (2012). Liberation technology and the Arab Spring: From utopia to atopia

and beyond. *The Fiberculture Journal: Networked Utopias and Speculative Futures*, 20, 204–217. Retrieved from https://twenty.fibreculturejournal.org/

- Messenger, C. (2013). Reading experiences, digital literacy, and electronic textbooks. *Graduate Research and Discovery Symposium (GRADS)*. Retrieved from https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/grads\_symposium/13
- Meth, P. (2003). Entries and omissions: Using solicited diaries in geographical research. *Area*, *35*(2), 195–205. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-4762.00263
- Meyers, E. M., Erickson, I., & Small, R. V. (2013). Digital literacy and informal learning environments: An introduction. *Learning, Media and Technology*, *38*(4), 355–367. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2013.783597
- Mihailidis, P. (2009). Beyond cynicism: Media education and civic learning outcomes in the university. International Journal of Learning and Media, 1(3), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1162/ijlm.2009.00027
- Mihailidis, P. (2018). Civic media literacies: Re-Imagining engagement for civic intentionality. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 43(2), 152–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2018.1428623
- Mihailidis, P., & Cohen, J. N. (2013). Exploring curation as a core competency in digital and media literacy education. *Journal of Interactive Media in Education*, 1. https://doi.org/10.5334/2013-02
- Mihailidis, P., & Thevenin, B. (2013). Media literacy as a core competency for engaged citizenship in participatory democracy. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 57(11), 1611–1622. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764213489015

Mihailidis, P., & Viotty, S. (2017). Spreadbale spectable in digital culture: Civic expression, fake news, and the role of media literacy in "post-fact" society.
American Behavioral Scientist, 61(4), 441–454.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764217701217

Miller, K. (2014). Introduction. In K. Miller, S. Willson, V. Chepp, & J.-L. Padilla (Eds.), *Cognitive interviewing methodology* (pp. 1–6). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.

Mills, B., Reyna, V. F., & Estrada, S. (2008). Explaining contradiuctory relations
 between perception and risk taking. *Psychological Science*, *19*(5), 429–433.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02104.x

Mills, K. A. (2010). A review of the "digital turn" in the New Literacy Studies. Review of

Educational Research, 80(2), 246–271.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654310364401

- Milner, A. (2016). Resources for a journey of hope: Raymond Williams on utopia and science fiction. *Cultural Sociology*, *10*(4), 415–430. https://doi.org/10.1177/1749975516631584
- Min, S.-J. (2010). From the digital divide to the democratic divide: Internet skills, political interest, and the second-level digital divide in political internet use. *Information Technology & Politics*, 7(1), 22–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/19331680903109402
- Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. (2018). Local digital fund. Retrieved from https://localdigital.gov.uk/fund/
- Mirzaee, S., & Hamidi, H. (2012). Critical discourse analysis and Fairclough's model.
   International Electronic Journal for the Teachers of English, 2(5), 182–191.
   https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-4.2.696
- Mohallick, I., De Moor, K., Özgöbek, Ö., & Gulla, J. A. (2018). Towards new privacy regulations in Europe: Users' privacy perception in recommender systems. In G. Wang, J. Chen, & L. T. Yang (Eds.), *Security, privacy, and anonimity in computation, communication, and storage: 11th international conference and satellite workshops, SpaCCS 2018, Melbourne, Australia* (pp. 319–330). Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Moorhouse, E., & Brooks, H. (2020). Critical media literacy approaches to violence prevention: A research note. *Journal of Media Literacy Education*, *12*(1), 84–99. https://doi.org/10.23860/JMLE-2020- 12-1-7
- Morgan, D. R. (2015). The dialectic of utopian images of the future within the idea of progress. *Futures*, *66*, 106–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2015.01.004
- Morozov, E. (2011). *The net delusion: The dark side of internet freedom*. New York, NY: PublicAffairs.
- Morrell, E., Dueñas, R., Garcia, V., & López, J. (2013). *Critical media pedagogy: Teaching for achievement in city schools*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Morrell, E., & Duncan-Andrade, J. (2005). Popular culture and critical media pedagogy in secondary literacy classrooms. *The International Journal of Learning*, *12*(9), 273–280. https://doi.org/10.18848/1447-9494/CGP/v12i09/48068

- Mosca, L., & Quaranta, M. (2016). News diet, social media use and non-institutional participation in three communication ecologies: Comparing Germany, Italy and the UK. *Information, Communication & Society*, *19*(3), 325–345. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2015.1105276
- Moselen, C., & Wang, L. (2014). Integrating information literacy into academic curricula: A professional development programme for librarians at the University of Auckland. *The Journal of Academic Libriarianship*, 40(2), 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2014.02.002
- Mouffe, C. (1999). Deliberative democracy or agonistic pluralism? *Social Research*, *66*(3), 745–758. Retrieved from https://jstor.org/stable/pdf/40971349.pdf?seq=1
- Moylan, T. (2000). *Scraps of the untainted sky: Science fiction, utopia, dystopia*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Mruck, K., & Breuer, F. (2003). Subjectivity and reflexivity in qualitative research—The
   FQS issues. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 4(2). Retrieved from
   https://qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/696

Müller, J.-W. (2016). What is populism? Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania.

- Myers, G. (2005). Community of practice, risk and Sellafield. In D. Barton & K. Tusting (Eds.), *Beyond communities of practice: Language power and social context* (pp. 198–213). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Myers, J. P. (2009). Learning in politics: Teachers' political experiences as a pedagogical resource. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 48(1), 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2009.03.001
- Nagle, J. (2018). Twitter, cyber-violence, and the need for a critical social media literacy in teacher education: A review of the literature. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *76*, 86–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.08.014
- Nagy, P., & Neff, G. (2015). Imagined affordance: Reconstructing a keyword for communication theory. *Social Media + Society*, 1(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305115603385
- National Literacy Trust. (2018). Fake news and critical literacy: The final report of the Commission on Fake News and the Teaching of Critical Literacy in Schools. Retrieved from https://literacytrust.org.uk/research-services/researchreports/fake-news-and-critical-literacy-final-report/

- Neumayer, E. (2004). The environment, left-wing political orientation and ecological economics. *Ecological Economics*, *51*, 167–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.06.006
- Newman, N., Fletcher, R., Kalogeropoulos, A., & Nielsen, R. K. (2019). *Reuters Institute digital news report 2019*. Oxford, England: Reuters Institute, University of Oxford.
   Retrieved from https://reutersinstitute.politics.ox.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2019-06/DNR\_2019\_FINAL\_0.pdf
- Nichols, T. (2017). *The death of expertise: The campaign against established knowledge and why it matters*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Nielsen, R. K. (2013). Mundane internet tools, the risk of exclusion, and reflexive movements—Occupy Wall Street and political uses of digital networked technologies. *The Sociological Quarterly*, *54*(2), 173–177. https://doi.org/10.1111/tsq.12015
- Nunes, R. R., Pedrosa, D., Fonseca, B., Paredes, H., Cravino, J., Morgado, L., & Martins.
  (2015). Enhancing students' motivation to learn software engineering programming techniques: A collaborative and social interaction approach. In M. Antona & C. Stephanidis (Eds.), UAHCI 2015, Part III, Los Angeles, CA (pp. 189– 201). Cham, Switzerland: Springer International.
- O'Brien, D. (2006). *An introduction to the theory of knowledge*. Cambridge, England: Polity Press.
- Odgen, R. (2008). Bias. In L. M. Given (Ed.), *The Sage encyclopedia of qualitative research* (pp. 60–61). London, England: Sage.
- O'Dwyer, R., & Doyle, L. (2012). This is not a bit-pipe: A political economy of the substrate network. *The Fiberculture Journal: Networked Utopias and Speculative Futures*, (20), 10–32. Retrieved from https://twenty.fibreculturejournal.org/
- Ofcom. (2019a). Adults: Media use and attitudes report 2019. Retrieved from https://ofcom.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0021/149124/adults-media-useand-attitudes-report.pdf
- Ofcom. (2019b). *Children and parents: Media use and attitudes report 2018*. Retrieved from https://ofcom.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0024/134907/children-andparents-media-use-and-attitudes-2018.pdf

Office for National Statistics. (2016). Internet access – Household and individuals:

2016. Retrieved from

https://ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdcharacteristics/h omeinternetandsocialmediausage/bulletins/internetaccesshouseholdsandindivid uals/2016#household-internet-access

- Office for National Statistics. (2018). Internet users, UK. Retrieved from https://ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/itandinternetindustry/bulletins/int ernetusers/2018
- O'Hara, K. (2012). Transparency, open data and trust in government: Shaping the infosphere (pp. 223–232). Paper presented at the 4th Annual ACM Web Science Conference, Evanston, IL. https://doi.org/10.1145/2380718.2380747
- Oliemat, E., Ihmeideh, F., & Slkhawaldeh, M. (2018). The use of touch-screen tabelts in early childhood: Children's knowledge, skills, and attitudes towards tablet technology. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *88*, 591–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.03.028
- Olphert, W., & Damodaran, L. (2013). Older people and digital disengagement: A fourth digital divide? *Gerontology*, *59*(6), 564–570. https://doi.org/10.1159/000353630
- O'Neill, B. (2014). *Media and information literacy policies in Ireland*. Dublin, Ireland: Dublin Institute of Technology. Retrieved from https://arrow.tudublin.ie/cserrep/53/
- Oostveen, A.-M., & van den Besselaar, P. (2005). Trust, identity, and the effects of voting technologies on voting behaviour. *Social Science Computer Review*, 23(3), 304–311. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439305275852
- Oostveen, A.-M., & van den Besselaar, P. (2004a). From small scale to large scale user participation: A case study of participatory design in e-government systems. Paper presented at the Participatory Design Conference, Toronto, Canada. https://doi.org/10.1145/1011870.1011891
- Oostveen, A.-M., & van den Besselaar, P. (2004b). Security as belief: Users' perceptions on the security of electronic voting systems. In A. Prosser & R. Krimmer (Eds.), *Electronic voting in Europe* (pp. 73–82). Bonn, Germany: Gesellschaft für Informatik e.V.

Osatuyi, B. (2015). Is lurking an anxiety-masking strategy on social media sites? The

effects of lurking and computer anxiety on explaining information privacy concern on social media platforms. *Computers in Human Behavior, 49*, 324–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.02.062

- Osoba, O. A., & Welser, W. (2017). *An intelligence in our image: The risks of bias and errors in artifical intelligence*. Santa Monica, CA: Rand.
- Oxley, Z. (2012). More sources, better informed public? New media and political knowledge. In R. L. Fox & J. M. Ramos (Eds.), *iPolitics: Citizens, elections, and governing in the new media era* (pp. 25–47). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Pangrazio, L. (2016). Reconceptualising critical digital literacy. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 37(2), 163–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2014.942836
- Pangrazio, L., & Selwyn, N. (2019). "Personal data literacies": A critical literacies approach to enhancing understandings of personal digital data. *New Media & Society*, 21(2), 419–437. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444818799523
- Park, S. (2014). The role of local intermediaries in the process of digitally engaging non-users of the internet. *Media International Australia*, 151, 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/1329878X1415100118
- Parmelee, J. (2014). Political journalists and Twitter: Influences on norms and practices. *Journal of Media Practice*, 14(4), 291–305. https://doi.org/10.1386/jmpr.14.4.291\_1

Paullet, K., Pinchot, J., & Morris, R. (2012). Cybercrime: The unintentional effects of oversharing information on Facebook. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Information Systems Applied Research, vol. 5 no. 2231* (pp. 1–7). New Orleans, LA: ISCA. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/4455/5d5e0a68fa027f7de8e16923b7382cde38 c6.pdf

Paus-Hasebrink, I., Kulterer, J., & Sinner, P. (2019). Social inequality, childhood and the media. In U. Hasebrink & A. Hepp (Eds.), Social inequality, childhood and the media: A longitudinal study of the mediatization of socialisation (pp. 11–43).
Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan.

Peng, H., Tsai, C.-C., & Wu, Y.-T. (2005). University students' self-efficacy and their

attitudes toward the Internet: The role of students' perceptions of the Internet. *Educational Studies*, *32*(1), 73–86. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055690500416025

- Penney, J. (2016). Motivations for participating in "viral politics": A qualitative case study of Twitter users and the 2012 US presidential election. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, 22(1), 71–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856514532074
- Petersen, K. S. (2014). Interviews as intraviews: A hand puppet approach to studying processes of inclusion and exclusion among children in kindergarten. *Reconceptualizing Educational Research Methodology*, 5(1), 32–45. Retrieved from https://journals.hioa.no/index.php/rerm/article/view/995/873
- Pickerill, J. (2003). *Cyberprotest: Environmental activism online*. New York, NY: Manchester University Press.
- Picower, B. (2013). You can't change what you don't see: Developing new teachers' political understanding of education. *Journal of Transformative Education*, 11(3), 170–189. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541344613502395
- Polizzi, G. (2020a). Digital literacy and the national curriculum for England: Learning from how the experts engage with and evaluate online content. *Computers & Education*, *152*. Advance online publication.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103859

- Polizzi, G. (2020b). Information literacy in the digital age: Why critical digital literacy matters for democracy. In S. Goldstein (Ed.), *Informed societies: Why information literacy matters for citizenship, participation and democracy* (pp. 1–23). London, England: Facet.
- Polizzi, G., & Taylor, R. (2019). *Misinformation, digital literacy and the school curriculum* (Media Policy brief 22). London, England: Media Policy Project, London School of Economics and Political Science. Retrieved from https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/101083/
- Pope, A. E. (2018). Cyber-securing our elections. *Journal of Cyber Policy*, *3*(1), 24–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/23738871.2018.1473887
- Porwol, L., & Ojo, A. (2017). *Barriers and desired affordances of social media based eparticipation: Politicians' perspectives*. Paper presented at the 2017 International Conference on Theory and Practice of Electronic Governance.

https://doi.org/10.1145/3047273.3047324

Postill, J. (2013). The uneven convergence of digital freedom activism and popular protest: A global theory of the new protest movements. Melbourne, Australia: RMIT University. Retrieved from https://academia.edu/4516684/The\_uneven\_convergence\_of\_digital\_freedom\_a ctivism\_and\_popular\_protest\_a\_global\_theory\_of\_the\_new\_protest\_movement s

Postill, J. (2014). Freedom technologists and the new protest movements. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, 20(4), 402–418. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856514541350

- Preibusch, S. (2015). Privacy behaviors after Snowden. *Communications of the ACM*, 58(5), 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1145/2663341
- Prensky, M. (2001). Digital natives, digital immigrants: Part 1. On the horizon, 9(5), 1–
  6. https://doi.org/10.1108/10748120110424816
- Pressley, L., & Gilbertson, K. (2011). Librarians as experts: Using the web to assert our value. *Computers in Libraries*, 31(4), 19–23. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ926267
- Prinsloo, M., & Baynham, M. (2008). Introduction: Renewing literacy studies. In M.
  Prinsloo & M. Baynham (Eds.), *Literacies, global and local. AILA Applied Linguistic Series 2* (pp. 1–13). Amsterdam, Netherlands: John Benjamins.
  https://doi.org/10.1075/aals.2.01pri
- Prior, M. (2005). News vs. entertainment: How increasing media choice widens gaps in political knowledge and turnout. *American Journal of Political Science*, 49(3), 577–592. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5907.2005.00143.x
- Prior, M., & Lupia, A. (2008). Money, time, and political knowledge: Distinguishing quick recall and political learning skills. *American Journal of Political Science*, 52(1), 169–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5907.2007.00306.x
- Railean, E. A. (2017). User interface design of digital textbooks: How screens affect *learning*. Singapore: Springer.
- Raney, A. A. (2006). The psychology of disposition-based theories of media enjoyment.
  In J. Bryant & P. Vorderer (Eds.), *Psychology of entertainment* (pp. 137–150).
  Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Ransom, A. J. (2009). *Science fiction from Québec: A postcolonial study*. Jefferson, MO: McFarland.
- Rapeli, L. (2014). *The conception of citizen knowledge in democratic theory*. London, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Rauniar, R., Rawski, G., Salazar, R. J., & Hudson, D. (2019). User engagement in social media Empirical results from Facebook. *International Journal of Information Technology and Management*, *18*(4), 362–388. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJITM.2019.103051
- Real, B., Bertot, J. C., & Jaeger, P. T. (2014). Rural public libraries and digital inclusion:
  Issues and challenges. *Information Technology and Libraries*, 33(1), 6–24.
  https://doi.org/10.6017/ital.v33i1.5141
- Reisdorf, B. C., & Groselj, D. (2017). Internet (non-)use types and motivational access:
  Implications for digital inequalities research. *New Media & Society*, *19*(8), 1157–1176. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444815621539
- Ribble, M. (2007). *Digital citizenship in schools: Nine elements all students should know*. Eugene, OR: International Society for Technology in Education.
- Rice, P., & Ezzy, D. (1999). *Qualitative research methods: A health focus*. Melbourne, Australia: Oxford University Press.
- Risso, L. (2018). Harvesting your soul? Cambridge Analytica and Brexit. In C. Janshon (Ed.), *Brexit means Brexit* (pp. 75–87). Mainz, Germany: Academy of Sciences and Literature.
- Rogalski, J., & Samurçay, R. (1990). Acquisition of programming knowledge and skills.
   In J.-M. Hoc, T. R. G. Green, R. Samurçay, & D. J. Gilmore (Eds.), *Psychology of programming* (pp. 157–174). London, England: Academic Press.
- Ronfeldt, D., Arquilla, J., Fuller, G. E., & Fuller, M. (1998). *The Zapatista social netwar in Mexico*. Washington, DC, US: Rand.
- Rosanvallon, P. (2011). *Democratic legitimacy: Impartiality, Reflexivity, Proximity* (A. Goldham Trans.). Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. (Original work published 2008).
- Rucht, D. (2004). The quadruple "A": Media strategies of protest movements. In W. de Donk, P. G. Nixon, & D. Rucht (Eds.), *Cyberprotest: New media, citizens and social movements* (pp. 25–48). London, England: Routledge.

- Russell, P. (2019). Be Media Smart: A national media literacy campaign for Ireland.
   Paper presented at the Chartered Institute for Library and Information
   Professionals (CILIP) Conference, Manchester, England. Retrieved from
   https://arrow.tudublin.ie/ittsupcon/11/
- Ryan, P., & Cole, B. (2016). Public libraries. In D. Koufogiannakis & A. Brettle (Eds.), Being evidence based in library and information practice (pp. 105–120). London, England: Facet.
- Saks, M. (2012). Defining a profession: The role of knowledge and expertise. *Professions & Professionalism*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.7577/pp.v2i1.151
- Saldana, J. (2009). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. London, England: Sage.
- Sargent, L. T. (1994). Three faces of utopianism revisited. *Utopian Studies*, *5*(1), 1–37. Retrieved from https://jstor.org/stable/20719246
- Sargent, L. T. (2001). US eutopias in the 1980s and 1990s: Self-fashioning in a world of multiple identities. In P. Spinozzi (Ed.), Utopianism/literacy utopias and national cultural identities: A comparative perspective (pp. 221–232). Bologna, Italy: Cotepra.
- Scaff, L. A. (1975). Two concepts of political participation. *Political Research Quarterly*, 28(3), 447–462. https://doi.org/10.1177/106591297502800303
- Schirato, T., & Webb, J. (2010). Bourdieu's notion of reflexive knowledge. *Social Semiotics*, *12*(3), 255–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/10350330216373
- Schlebusch, C. L. (2018). Computer anxiety, computer self-efficacy and attitudes towards the internet of first year students at a South African University of Technology. *Africa Education Review*, *15*(3), 72–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/18146627.2017.1341291
- Schou, J., & Farkas, J. (2016). Algorithms, interfaces, and the circulation of information: Interrogating the epistemological challenges of Facebook. *KOME -An International Journal of Pure Communication Inquiry*, 4(1), 36–49. https://doi.org/10.17646/KOME.2016.13
- Schuh, J. H., & Associates. (2009). *Assessment methods for student affairs*. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Secker, J., & Morrison, C. (2016). *Copyright and e-learning: A guide for practitioners*.

London, England: Facet.

- Secker, J., Morrison, C., & Nilsson, I. (2019). Copyright literacy and the role of librarians as educators and advocates. *Journal of Copyright Education & Librarianship*, 3(2), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.17161/jcel.v3i2.6927
- Segal, H. P. (2012). *Utopias: A brief history from ancient writings to virtual communities*. Chichester, England: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Seidman, I. (2006). Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers and the social sciences. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Seiter, E. (1999). *Television and new media audiences*. Oxford, England: Clarendon Press.
- Selwyn, N., & Pangrazio, L. (2018). Doing data differently? Developing personal data tactics and strategies amongst young media users. *Big Data & Society*, 5(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053951718765021
- Semeler, A. R., Pinto, A. L., & Rozados, H. B. F. (2019). Data science in data librarianship: Core competencies of a data librarian. *Journal of Librarianship and Information Science*, *51*(3), 771–780.

https://doi.org/o0r.g1/107.171/0779/6019601000601671774422465

- Sharpe, R., & Beetham, H. (2004). Understanding students' uses of technology for learning: Towards creative appropriation. In R. Sharpe, H. Beetham, & S. De
  Freitas (Eds.), *Rethinking learning for a digital age* (pp. 160–192). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Shklovski, I., & Kotamraju, N. P. (2011). Online contribution practices in countries that engage in internet blocking and censorship. Paper presented at the International Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Vancouver, BC, Canada. https://doi.org/10.1145/1978942.1979108
- Shor, F. (2010). *Dying empire: U.S. imperialism and global resistance*. London, England: Routledge.
- Shresthova, S. (2016a). Between storytelling and surveillance: The Precarious public of American muslim youth. In H. Jenkins, S. Shresthova, L. Gamber-Thompson, N. Kligler-Vilenchik, & A. M. Zimmerman (Eds.), *By any media necessary: The new youth actvism* (pp. 149–185). New York, NY: New York University Press.

Shresthova, S. (2016b). "Watch 30 minute video on internet, become social activist"?

Kony 2012, invisible children, and the paradoxes of participatory politics. In H. Jenkins, S. Shresthova, L. Gamber-Thompson, N. Kligler-Vilenchik, & A. M. Zimmerman (Eds.), *By any media necessary: The new youth actvism* (pp. 61–101). New York, NY: New York University Press.

- Sipos, F. (2018). Young people's attitudes to, and practices of, political participation on the internet: What can we learn from large-scale qualitative research? In H.
  Pilkington, G. Pollock, & R. Franc (Eds.), *Understanding youth participation across Europe: From survey to ethnography* (pp. 179–206). London, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Smith, A. (2013). *Civic engagement in the digital age*. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. Retrieved from https://pewinternet.org/2013/04/25/civic-engagementin-the-digital-age/
- Smith, D., Brand, J. E., & Kinash, S. (2013). Turn on the book: Using affordance theory to understand the adoption of digital textbooks by university lecturers. Paper presented at Electric Dreams. 30th Australian Society for Computers in Learning in Tertiary Education Conference, Sidney, Australia. Retrieved from https://ascilite.org/conferences/sydney13/program/papers/Smith,%20Debborah. pdf
- Smith, L. N. (2016). School libraries, political information and information literacy provision: Findings from a Scottish study. *Journal of Information Literacy*, *10*(2), 3–25. https://doi.org/10.11645/10.2.2097
- Soep, E. (2016). Afterword: Necessary learning. In H. Jenkins, S. Shresthova, L. Gamber-Thompson, N. Kligler-Vilenchik, & A. M. Zimmerman (Eds.), By any media necessary: The new youth actvism (pp. 290–308). New York, NY: New York University Press.
- Solon, O., & Laughland, O. (2018). Cambridge Analytica closing after Facebook data harvesting scandal. *The Guardian*, May 2. Retrieved from https://theguardian.com/uk-news/2018/may/02/cambridge-analytica-closingdown-after-facebook-row-reports-say
- Spratt, H., & Agosto, D. E. (2017). Fighting fake news: Because we all deserve the truth: Programming ideas for teaching teens media literacy. *Young Adult Library Services*, 15(4), 17–21. Retrieved from https://questia.com/library/journal/1G1-

498995707/fighting-fake-news-because-we-all-deserve-the-truth

- Starbird, K. (2017). Examining the alternative media ecosystem through the production of alternative narratives of mass shooting events on Twitter. Paper presented at the International Association for the Advancement of Artificial Intelligence Conference on Web and Social Media, Montréal, Canada. Retrieved from https://aaai.org/ocs/index.php/ICWSM/ICWSM17/paper/view/15603
- Steelman, K. S., & Tislar, K. L. (2019). Measurement of tech anxiety in older and younger adults. In C. Stephanidis (Ed.), HCI International 2019 Posters: 21st International Conference, HCII 2019, Orlando, FL (pp. 520–527). Bern, Switzerland: Springer.
- Stilwell, C. (2018). Information as currency, democracy, and public libraries. *Library Management*, *39*(5), 295–306. https://doi.org/10.1108/LM-08-2017-0078
- Stocchetti, M., & Kukkonen, K. (2011). *Critical media analysis: An introduction for media professionals*. Frankfurt, Germany: Peter Lang Publishing.
- Stone, B. G., Mills, K. A., & Saggers, B. (2019). Multiplayer games: Multimodal features that support friendship of students with autism spectrum disorder. *Australian Journal of Special and Inclusive Education*, 43(2), 69–82. https://doi.org/10.1017/jsi.2019.6
- Strandberg, K. (2008). Online electoral competition in different settings: A comparative meta-analysis of the research on party websites and online electoral competition. *Party Politics*, 14(2), 223–244.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1354068807085891

Strandberg, K. (2009). Online campaigning: An opening for the outsiders? An analysis of Finnish parliamentary candidates' websites in the 2003 election campaign. *New Media & Society*, 11(5), 835–854.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444809105355

- Street, B. (1995). Social literacies: Critical Approaches to Literacy in Development, Ethnography and Education. London, England: Longman Group Limited.
- Street, B. (2001). Literacy events and literacy practices: Theory and practice in the New Literacy Studies. In M. Martin-Jones & K. Jones (Eds.), *Multilingual literacies: Reading and writing different worlds* (pp. 17–30). Amsterdam, Netherlands: John Benjamins.

- Street, B. (2003). What's "new" in New Literacy Studies? Critical approaches to literacy in theory and practice. *Current Issues in Comparative Education*, 5(2), 77–91.
   Retrieved from https://tc.columbia.edu/cice/pdf/25734\_5\_2\_Street.pdf
- Strömbäck, J., Djerf-Pierre, M., & Shehata, A. (2012). The dynamics of political interest and news media consumption: A longitudinal perspective. *International Journal* of Public Opinion Research, 25(4), 414–435. https://doi.org/10.1093/ijpor/eds018

Sunstein, C. R. (2007). Republic.com 2.0. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

- Taddei, S., & Contenta, B. (2013). Privacy, trust and control: Which relationships with online self-disclosure? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(3), 821–826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2012.11.022
- Tamler, H. (1998). How (much) to intervene in a usability testing session. *Common Ground*, *8*(13), 11–15. Retrieved from https://htamler.com/papers/intervene/

Taylor, C. (2004). *Modern social imaginaries*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.

- Tewell, E. C. (2018). The practice and promise of critical information literacy: Academic librarians' involvement in critical library instruction. *College & Research Libraries*, 79(1), 10–34. https://doi.org/10.5860/crl.79.1.10
- Thatcher, A., Wretschko, G., & Fridjhon, P. (2008). Online flow experiences, problematic Internet use and Internet procrastination. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 24(5), 2236–2254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2007.10.008
- The Economist Intelligence Unit. (2018). Democracy Index. Retrieved from https://eiu.com/topic/democracy-index
- Theocharis, Y. (2015). The conceptualization of digitally networked participation. Social Media + Society, 1(2), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305115610140
- Therbon, G. (1980). *The ideology of power and the power of ideology*. London, England: Verso.
- Third, A., Forrest-Lawrence, & Collier, A. (2014). Addressing the cyber safety challenge: From risk to resilience. Retrieved from https://researchdirect.westernsydney.edu.au/islandora/object/uws:28267/datas tream/PDF/view
- Thompson, J. B. (1982). Ideology and social imaginary: An appraisal of Castoriadis and Lefort. *Theory and Society*, *11*(5), 659–681.

Titus, A. (2016). Practical politics: Lessons in power and democracy. London, England:

UCL IOE Press.

Tomasi, J. (2012). Free market fairness. New Jersey, NJ: Princeton University Press.

- Treré, E. (2012). Social movements as information ecologies: Exploring the coevolution of multiple internet technologies for activism. *International Journal of Communication*, 6, 2359–2377. Retrieved from https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/1681
- Treré, E. (2015). The struggle within: Discord, conflict and paranoia in social media protest. In L. Dencik & O. Leistert (Eds.), *Critical perspectives on social media and protest* (pp. 163–180). London, England: Rowman & Littlefield International.
- Treré, E. (2019). *Hybrid Media Activism: Ecologies, Imaginaries, Algorithms*. Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Trültzsch-Wijnen, C. W., Murru, M. F., & Papaioannou, T. (2017). Definitions and values of media and information literacy in a historical context. In D. Frau-Meigs,
  I. Velez, & J. F. Michel (Eds.), *Public policies in media and information literacy in Europe: Cross-country comparisons* (pp. 91–115). Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Turel, O., Yuan, Y., & Connelly, C. E. (2008). In justice we trust: Predicting user acceptance of e-customer services. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 24(4), 123–151. https://doi.org/10.2753/MIS0742-1222240405
- Turner, F. (2006). From counterculture to cyberculture: Stewart Brand, the Whole Earth Network, and the rise of digital utopianism. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- UK Government. (2019a). All schools and colleges in England. Retrieved from https://compare-school-performance.service.gov.uk/schools-bytype?step=phase&geographic=all&region=0&phase=primary
- UK Government. (2019b). Online harms white paper. Retrieved from https://gov.uk/government/consultations/online-harms-white-paper
- UNESCO. (2014). Paris declaration on media and information literacy in the digital era. Retrieved from
  - https://unesco.org/new/fileadmin/MULTIMEDIA/HQ/CI/CI/pdf/In\_Focus/paris\_m il\_declaration\_final.pdf
- United Nations. (2020). Youth. Retrieved from https://un.org/en/sections/issuesdepth/youth-0/index.html

- Vaidhyanathan, S. (2018). *Anti-social media: How Facebook disconnects us and undermines democracy*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Valentine, A., & Wukovitz, L. (2013). Using the filter bubble to create a teachable moment. *Pennsylvania Libraries: Research & Practice*, 1(1), 24–34. https://doi.org/10.5195/palrap.2013.18
- van de Donk, W., Loader, B. D., Nixon, P. G., & Rucht, D. (2004). *Cyberprotest: New media, citizens and social movements*. London, England: Routledge.
- van Deursen, A. J. A. M., Helsper, E. J., & Eynon, R. (2014). *Measuring digital skills: From digital skills to tangible outcomes project report*. Retrieved from https://oii.ox.ac.uk/research/projects/?id=112
- van Deursen, A. J. A. M., & Helsper, E. J. (2018). Collateral benefits of Internet use: Explaining the diverse outcomes of engaging with the Internet. *New Media & Society*, 20(7), 2333–2351. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444841871771155282
- van Deursen, A. J. A. M., Helsper, E. J., & Eynon, R. (2015). Development and validation of the Internet Skills Scale (ISS). *Information, Communication & Society*, *19*(6), 804–823. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2015.1078834
- van Dijck, J. (2013). *The culture of connectivity: A critical history of social media*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- van Dijk, T. A. (2003). The discourse-knowlege interface. In G. Weiss & R. Wodak (Eds.), *Critical Discourse Analysis: Theory and interdisciplinarity* (pp. 85–109).
   London, England: Palgrave Macmillan.
- van Laer, J., & van Aelst, P. (2009). Cyber-protest and civil society: The Internet and action repertoires in social movements. In Y. Jewkes & M. Yar (Eds.), *Handbook on Internet crime* (pp. 230–254). Portland, OR: Willan.
- van Laer, J., & van Aelst, P. (2010). Internet and social movement action repertoires. Information, Communication & Society, 13(8), 1146–1171. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691181003628307
- VanSledright, B. (2002). In search of America's past: Learning to read history in elementary school. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Verba, S. (1967). Democratic participation. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 373(1), 53–78. https://doi.org/10.1177/000271626737300103

- Vergeer, M., & Hermas, L. (2013). Campaign on Twitter: Microblogging and online social networking as campaign tools in the 2010 general elections in the Netherlands. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 18(4), 339–419. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12023
- Vieira, F. (2010). The concept of utopia. In G. Claeys (Ed.), *The Cambridge companion to utopian literature* (pp. 3–27). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Vissers, S., & Stolle, D. (2014). The Internet and new modes of political participation:
  Online versus offline participation. *Information, Communication & Society*, *17*(8), 937–955. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2013.867356
- Vitak, J., Blasiola, S., Patil, S., & Litt, E. (2015). Balancing audience and privacy tensions on social network sites. *International Journal of Communication*, *9*, 1485–1504.
   Retrieved from https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/view/3208
- Vraga, E. K., & Tully, M. (2019). News literacy, social media behaviors, and skepticism toward information on social media. *Information, Communication & Society*, 1– 17. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2019.1637445
- Vyas, D., Chisalita, C. M., & van der Veer, G. C. (2006). Affordance in interaction. In ECCE '06: Proceedings of the 13th European conference on cognitive ergonomics: Trust and control in complex socio-technical systems, Zurich, Switzerland (pp. 92– 99). New York, NY: Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/1274892.1274907
- Wang, L., & Cook, S. (2017). Staff development programs on teaching skills and curriculum integration of academic and information literacy at the University of Aukland. In S. Ingvaldsen & D. Oberg (Eds.), *Media and information literacy in higher education: Educating the educators* (pp. 107–118). Cambridge, MA: Chandos Publishing.
- Wang, Y., Norcie, G., & Cranor, L. (2011). Who is concerned about what? A study of American, Chinese and Indian users' privacy concerns on social network sites. In J. M. McCune, B. Balacheff, A. Perrig, A-R. Sadeghi, & A. Sasse (Eds.), *Trust and trustworthy computing: Trust 2011, Lecture notes in Computer Science, vol 6740, Pittsburgh, PA* (pp. 146–153). Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Wardle, C., & Derakhshan, H. (2017). *Information disorder: Toward an interdisciplinary framework for research and policy making*. Strasbourg, France: Council of Europe.

Retrieved from https://rm.coe.int/information-disorder-toward-aninterdisciplinary-framework-for-researc/168076277c

- Warren, C. A. B. (2002). Qualitative interviewing. In J. F. Gubrium & J. A. Holstein (Eds.), *Handbook of interview research: Context and method* (pp. 83–101).
  London, England: Sage.
- Webb, N. M. (1989). Peer interaction and learning in small groups. International Journal of Educational Research, 13(1), 21–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-0355(89)90014-1
- Weiler, A. (2005). Information-seeking behavior in Generation Y students: Motivation, critical thinking, and learning theory. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 31(1), 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2004.09.009
- Weiner, S. A. (2011). Information literacy and the workforce: A review. *Education Libraries*, 34(2), 7–14. Retrieved from https://educationlibraries.mcgill.ca/article/view/306/302
- Weller, C. (2016). The 25 most high-tech cities in the world. Retrieved from https://uk.businessinsider.com/the-most-high-tech-cities-in-the-world-2016-6/#25-washington-dc-1
- Wells, G. E. (1981). Introduction. In G. E. Wells (Ed.), *Learning through interaction: The study of language development* (pp. 1–22). Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.
- Wheeler, E., & McKinney, P. (2015). Are librarians teachers? Investigating academic librarians' perceptions of their own teaching roles. *Journal of Information Literacy*, 9(2), 111–128. https://doi.org/10.11645/9.2.1985
- White, A. (2012). Temporal utopianism and global information networks. *The Fibreculture Journal: Networked Utopias and Speculative Futures*, *20*, 158–175.
   Retrieved from https://twenty.fibreculturejournal.org/
- White, G. (1994). Civil society, democratization and development (I): Cleaning the analytical ground. *Democratization*, *1*(2), 375–390. https://doi.org/10.1080/13510349408403399
- White, J. (2015). *Digital literacy skills for FE teachers*. London, England: Sage publications.

Wichowski, D. E., & Kohl, L. E. (2013). Establishing credibility in the information jungle:

Blogs, Microblogs, and the CRAAP test. In M. Folk & S. Apostel (Eds.), *Online credibility and digital ethos: Evaluating computer-mediated communication* (pp. 229–251). Heshey, PA: Information Science Reference.

- Widdowson, J., & Smart, D. (2015). Information literacy and public libraries. In J.
  Hagen-McIntosh (Ed.), *Information and data literacy: The role of the library* (pp. 15–19). Oakville, Canada: Apple Academic Press.
- Wilken, R. (2012). Mannheim's paradox: Ideology, utopia, media technologies, and the Arab Spring. *The Fiberculture Journal: Networked Utopias and Speculative Futures*, 20, 176–203. Retrieved from https://twenty.fibreculturejournal.org/
- Williams, C. B. (2012). Social networks in political campaigns: Facebook and the congressional elections of 2006 and 2008. New Media & Society, 15(1), 52–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444812457332
- Williams, R. (1980). *Problems in materialism and culture*. London, England: New Left Books.
- Willig, C. (2013). *Introducing qualitative research in psychology*. Maidenhead, England: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Willis, G. B., & Artino, Anthony, R. (2013). What do our respondents think we're asking? Using cognitive interviewing to improve medical education surveys. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 5(3), 353–356. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-13-00154.1
- Willson, S., & Miller, K. (2014). Data collection. In K. Miller, S. Willson, V. Chepp, & J.-L.
  Padilla (Eds.), *Cognitive interviewing methodology* (pp. 15–34). Hoboken, NJ: John
  Wiley & Sons.
- Wilson, T. (2012). On user studies and information needs. *Journal of Documentation*, *37*(1), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1108/eb026702
- Wineburg, S., & McGrew, S. (2017). Lateral reading: Reading less and learning more when evaluating digital information. Stanford History Education Group Working Paper No. 2017-A1 (pp. 1–55). https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3048994
- Winfree, L. T., Bäckström, T. V., & Mays, G. L. (1994). Social learning theory, selfreported delinquency, and youth gangs. *Youth & Society*, 26(2), 147–177. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X94026002001

Wingreen, S. C., & Blanton, J. E. (2018). IT professionals' person-organization fit with IT

training and development priorities. *Information Systems Journal*, 28(2), 294–317. https://doi.org/10.1111/isj.12135

- Wu, T. (2017). Is the first amendment obsolete? *Columbia Public Law Research Paper No. 14-573*, 1–27. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3096337
- Wynne, B. (1992). Misunderstood misunderstanding: Social identities and public uptake of science. *Public Understanding of Science*, 1(3), 281–304. https://doi.org/10.1088/0963-6625/1/3/004
- Wynne, B. (1996). May the sheep safely graze? A reflexive view of the expert-lay knowledge divide. In S. Lash, B. Szerszynski, & B. Wynne (Eds.), *Risk, environment & modernity: Towards a new ecology* (pp. 44–83). London, England: Sage.
- Xenos, M. A., & Becker, A. B. (2009). Moments of zen: Effects of The Daily Show in information seeking and political learning. *Political Communication*, *26*(3), 317–332. https://doi.org/10.1080/10584600903053569
- Yang, H. (2013). Young American consumers' online privacy concerns, trust, risk, social media use, and regilatory support. *Journal of New Communications Research*, 1–30.
- Yantaç, A. E. (2013). A method for teaching affordances for user experience design in interactive media design education. In A. Marcus (Ed.), *Designer, user experiene,* and usability: Design philosophy, methods, and tools. Lecture notes in computer science, vol 8012, Orlando, FL (pp. 630–638). Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Yar, M. (2018). A failure to regulate? The demands and dilemmas of tackling illegal content and behaviour on social media. *International Journal of Cybersecurity Intelligence & Cybercrime*, 1(1), 5–20. Retrieved from https://vc.bridgew.edu/ijcic/vol1/iss1/3
- Youmans, W. L., & York, J. C. (2012). Social media and the activist toolkit: User agreements, corporate interests. *Journal of Communication*, *62*(2), 315–329. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2012.01636.x
- Young, A. L., & Quan-Haase, A. (2009). Information revelation and internet privacy concerns on social network sites: A case study of Facebook. Paper presented at the International Conference on Communities and Technologies, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1145/1556460.1556499

Young, A. L., & Quan-Haase, A. (2013). Privacy protection strategies on Facebook.

Information, Communication & Society, 16(4), 479–500. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2013.777757

- Young, M., & Muller, J. (2014). *Knowledge, expertise and the professions*. Abingdon, England: Routledge.
- Zarcadoolas, C., Blanco, M., Boyer, J. F., & Pleasant, A. (2002). Unweaving the Web: An exploratory study of low-literate adults' navigation skills on the World Wide Web. *Journal of Health Communication*, 7(4), 309–324.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730290088157
- Zerubavel, E. (1999). *Social mindscapes: An invitation to cognitive sociology*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Zhang, Y. (2007). Development and validation of an internet use attitude scale.
 *Computers & Education*, 49(2), 243–253.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2005.05.005

- Zhao, Y., Liu, J., Tang, J., & Zhu, Q. (2013). Conceptualizing perceived affordances in social media interaction design. *Aslib Proceedings: New Information Perspectives*, 65(3), 289–303. https://doi.org/10.1108/00012531311330656
- Zheng, B., Yim, S., & Warschauer, M. (2018). Social media in the writing classroom and beyond. In J. I. Liontas (Ed.), *The TESOL Encyclopedia of English Language Teaching*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/9781118784235.eelt0555
- Zheng, Y. (2015). Explaining citizens' e-participation usage: Functionality of eparticipation applications. Administration & Society, 49(3), 423–442. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399715593313
- Ziccardi, G. (2013). *Resistance, liberation technology and human rights in the digital age*. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.
- Zissis, D., & Lekkas, D. (2011). Securing e-Government and e-Voting with an open cloud computing architecture. *Government Information Quarterly*, 28(2), 239–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2010.05.010

Appendices

## **Appendix 1: Information Sheet**



THE LONDON SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE

Gianfranco Polizzi London School of Economics and Political Science Department of Media and Communications G.Polizzi@lse.ac.uk

## Information for participants

## Thank you for agreeing to take part in my research!

This leaflet tells you about my research and provides you with my contact information.

## Who am I and what is my project about?

I am a PhD researcher in the Department of Media and Communications at the London School of Economics and Political Science (LSE).

I am conducting doctoral research that seeks to understand how people use and think about the internet and digital media, in general and in relation to civic/political engagement. I am specifically focusing on two social categories:

- individuals whose professions revolve around information and media technologies
- individuals involved in formal politics and/or advocacy/pressure/community groups

## Who is funding my research?

My research is funded by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC).

## Who will be taking part in the project?

I am inviting individuals whose professions revolve around information and media technologies and individuals involved in various social and political causes from across London and beyond. I plan to conduct interviews with a wide range of people on the basis of age, ethnicity, background, interests and media use.

## What will happen during the research?

I will be delighted to arrange two interviews with you. These could be at your work, home or at a convenient location. The second interview will take place 2-4 weeks after the first. Please bring along any of your digital communication devices (e.g., laptop, tablet, mobile phone) to both interviews. I hope you will show me during the interviews how you engage online, while we discuss your use and your views of the internet and digital media. Between the first and second interviews I will ask you to write weekly diaries about how you have engaged civically or politically. The interviews will be audio-recorded and last around one hour each. For part of each interview I would like to video how you use your device and will ask you to wear a subcam mounted on a pair of glasses, which I will provide you with.

## Do you have to take part?

You are free to leave the research at any point. You are also free not to answer specific questions. I will ask you to confirm that you are willing to take part and to be audio-/video-recorded by signing a consent form which I will provide you with.

## How will you know what happens with the research?

I will let you know about the progress of my research. You can also contact me at any stage of the research. The results will be reported in academic publications. Research participants will always be kept anonymous.

## Could there be problems for you if you take part?

No. I will make sure that everything you say to me is kept anonymous and confidential. I will change your name in publications based on this research. No identifiable information will be linked in any way to your name. If you disclose anything that suggests you are at real risk of harm, I will take advice from the appropriate authorities on whether I must disclose this information. I will tell you if I feel I need to do this.

I know that taking part in the research will take a fair amount of time and I want to say thank you for this. As a sign of appreciation, every participant will receive £50 after the second interview.

## How will I store your information?

All recordings, diaries and interview transcripts will be kept on a secure computer server at the LSE. No information with identifiable details will be shared with anyone. Transcripts and diaries will be anonymized to remove identifiable information. Audio/video recordings will be destroyed by the end of the project. Anonymized/unidentifiable data such as interview transcripts will be archived, and made available for future research, on ReShare – the UK Data Service's online research data repository. All reports and publications of the research will be anonymized.

**The project** has been reviewed and approved by the LSE's Research Ethics Committee.

Please feel free to contact me at any time if you have any questions or if there is anything that you would like to add or clarify with respect to the interview/s, your diaries or your participation in the research.

## Thank you

Gianfranco Polizzi: <u>G.Polizzi@lse.ac.uk</u> – 07393 387487 Department of Media and Communications, LSE Houghton Street, London WC2A 2AE 0207 955 6490 (James Deeley, Research Manager)

## **Appendix 2: Consent Form**



Gianfranco Polizzi (Researcher) London School of Economics and Political Science Department of Media and Communications G.Polizzi@lse.ac.uk

## **Consent form**

You are about to participate in a study looking at how people use and think about the internet and digital media in general and in relation to civic/political engagement. I am specifically focusing on:

- individuals whose professions revolve around information and media technologies
- individuals involved in formal politics and/or advocacy/pressure/community groups

To show that you understand the conditions under which you are participating in this research project please sign and complete the form below.

I was told what the research project is about and I have read the information sheet	(please tick)
I have had the opportunity to ask questions	(please tick)
I agree to be interviewed and for the interviews to be audio-recorded	(please tick)
For part of each interview I agree to wear a subcam mounted on a pair of glasses to video how I use my digital communication device/s	☐ (please tick)
I understand that only the researcher, Gianfranco Polizzi, will have access to my audio/video recordings and identifying information. I also understand that my interview transcripts and diary entries, once anonymized and made unidentifiable, will be archived, and made available for future research, on ReShare – the UK Data Service's online research data repository	☐ (please tick)
I am aware that the findings of this study may be reported in future publications and conference presentations, and that identifying information, such as my name, will be anonymized	☐ (please tick)
I declare that I am participating voluntarily	(please tick)
Name:	
Signature: Date:	

## **Appendix 3: Topic Guide Used with Experts**

"Information Communication Technologies"? Access, where? How important is it for you to use the internet? Why? Ever wanted to use it? What do you do most frequently online? What is the internet useful for in your life?

Where/how did you learn? Asked for help? Someone taught you anything? How comfortable about using ICTs? What do you find easy/difficult? What does it mean to be an information, digital expert in the digital age? (civic) responsibilities, challenges? First-hand experiences?

"Civic/political engagement"? How engaged in your life? In what ways? Important? Why? How does the internet fit? What do you do online? What is the internet useful for? <u>TA1: show me/talk me</u> <u>through your last online civic/political activity</u> – Easy/difficult to do this? Any issues? How did you come around them? Benefits/limitations for society of using the internet to do this? Do the internet's technical features, its design or how it functions play a role? Any risks in how social media platforms and corporations running the internet are owned and operate? What made you realise this? Constraints – Can these issues be overcome? How? What should be done? Did any of these issues affect how you used the internet to do this? How did you deal with them? Was it important to deal with them? Why? How optimistic/pessimistic about 1) the internet and 2) the political system? What made you realise this? How did you develop these perspectives?

Has the internet changed people's lives? What areas? Advantages/disadvantages? How safe is the internet (e.g. in terms of content appropriateness/financial security/privacy)? Advantages/disadvantages of the internet's technical features, how it is designed, how it functions/operates?

In what ways would you imagine that using the internet may be relevant to or affect 1) democracy; 2) news production/consumption; 3) content consumption/creation; 4) elections/campaigns; 5) civil society; 6) government information gathering; 7) authoritarianism in the long run?

How optimistic/pessimistic about democracy and the political landscape in the UK and in the West? (In relation to how you engage), what is your vision of social change, if any? What kind of social change do you hope for or are you concerned about? Has this changed in the last few years? Where do you position the internet? If you were to imagine a better/worse society, what would it look like? How far/close are we?

Any challenges when consuming online content? Ever felt it may be subject to bias, prejudice, misrepresentation? How confident about assessing accuracy, trustworthiness? <u>TA2: show me/talk me through how you 1</u>) consume news online – Easy/difficult? How do you get around issues? Benefits/limitations for society in using the internet to consume news? Any risks in how social media platforms and corporations running the internet are owned/operate? Constraints – Can these issues be overcome? How? What should be done? Do any of these issues affect how you do this? How do you deal with them? How do you assess veracity? Does familiarity with the internet's technical features come in handy? Is it important to deal with these issues? Why? How optimistic/pessimistic about 1) the internet and 2) the political system? How did you develop these perspectives? <u>– or 2</u>] perform any activity mentioned (use TA1 questions above)

#### How familiar with who owns search engines, platforms and social

media? How are they funded? BBC website? Does it matter? Why? Any risks in the ways social media platforms, browsers and corporations that run the internet are owned and operate? Need for regulation? What kind? Why? What made you realise this? How did you develop these perspectives? Access, motivation mobile phone, tablet etc.; home, work Types of online engagement

#### FDL - technical, social, creative skills

(sending/receiving messages, using SNS, creating/posting content, finding information, using services online, managing privacy settings etc.) Differences in how men/women use digital media, in terms of abilities/expertise? First-hand experiences? Recognition of men's/women's digital skills/expertise? What should be done?

#### **Civic/political engagement**

(community, voluntarism, charity, fundraising, government services, news/information,

reposting/liking/creating/sharing/commenting on content, contacting politicians/parties, (e)petition, boycotting, campaign/demonstration, alternative media, virtual sit-ins/email bombings, information about demonstrations) What does being a citizen mean to you? Is this reflected in how you engage in civic/ political life? How confident about engaging? How familiar with civic/political matters and the political system in the UK and beyond? Is this knowledge important? Why? Is your voice as a citizen listened to? In what ways? By whom?

#### FDL – dispositions towards the internet

(escapism, connectivity, finding jobs, online shopping, privacy risks, financial security, identity theft). Any of these issues ever affected how you engage civically/politically? In what situation? How did you deal with them? Was it important to deal with them? Why? **FDL – understanding digital affordances** 

(digital interfaces, social media's (privacy) settings, character of networks, algorithm, a/synchronicity) How did you learn this? In what situation?

**CDL** – **imaginaries of society in the digital age** What made you say so? How optimistic/pessimistic? Do the internet's technical features, its design or how it functions play a role? Does the way in which the social media platforms and corporations that run the internet operate play a role? What made you realise this? Constraints – Can these issues be overcome? How? What should be done? Has any of these issues ever affected how you engage civically/politically? In what situation? How did you deal with them? Was it important to deal with them? Why? Is it useful to know this in relation to how you engage? How did you develop these perspectives? In what situation? Has interaction with family/friends/colleagues played a role?

#### CDL - evaluating online content

What do you need to know when consuming content? Target audience, construction techniques, points of view, omitted info? How did you learn? Do the internet's features/design/how it functions play a role? How about how social media/internet corporations operate? Does familiarity with how the internet functions and/or the role of corporations come in handy? In what ways? What do you do when confronted with biased/misrepresented content? Ever come across misinformation? Consume/produce alternative content or use alternative platforms? In what situation?

#### CDL – understanding socio-economic issues

(ownership, funding, advertising, economic surveillance, regulation – content, market, corporations, advertising) Any risks reinforced by the internet's features/design or how it functions? What kind of ads do you see on Facebook and/or Google and how do they know what you might like? Do you need to be logged in on Facebook for your activities on other websites to be tracked by Facebook? Familiar with Facebook Exchange/Pixel? Do you read T&C? Ever managed cookies, history, settings? Ever used DuckDuckGo, ad blockers? Familiar with how they work? Why is DuckDuckGo less invasive of privacy? Familiar with how Google's and Facebook's algorithms work? Cookies? Geolocation? Are Google's results the same for everyone? Any platforms that you value as more secure than others? Why?

### Appendix 4: Topic Guide Used with Advocates

"Information Communication Technologies"? Access, where? How important is it for you to use the internet? Why? Ever wanted to use it? What do you do most frequently online? What is the internet useful for in your life?

"Civic/political engagement"? How engaged in your life? In what ways? Important? Why? How does the internet fit? What does it mean to be an activist in the digital age? (civic) responsibilities, challenges? First-hand experiences? What do you do online? What is the internet useful for? TA1: show me/talk me through your last online civic/political activity - Easy/difficult to do this? Any issues? How did you get around them? Benefits/limitations for society of using the internet to do this? Do the internet's technical features, its design or how it functions play a role? Any risks in how the social media platforms and corporations that run the internet are owned and operate? What made you realise this? Constraints - can these issues be overcome? How? What should be done? Did any of these issues affect how you used the internet to do this? How did you deal with them? Was it important to deal with them? Why? How optimistic/pessimistic about 1) the internet and 2) the political system? What made you realise this? How did you develop these perspectives? Has the internet changed people's lives? What areas? Advantages/disadvantages? How safe is the internet (e.g. in terms of content appropriateness/financial security/privacy)? Where/how did you learn? Asked for help? Someone taught you

anything? How comfortable about using ICTs? What do you find easy/difficult? Differences in how men/women use digital media, in terms of abilities/expertise? First-hand experiences? Adequate recognition of men's/women's digital skills/expertise? What should be done?

Advantages/disadvantages of the internet's technical features, how it is designed, how it functions/operates?

#### In what ways would you imagine that using the internet may be

**relevant to or affect** 1) democracy; 2) news production/consumption; 3) content consumption/creation; 4) elections/campaigns; 5) civil society; 6) government information gathering; 7) authoritarianism in the long run?

How optimistic/pessimistic about democracy and the political landscape in the UK and in the West? (In relation to how you /your organization engage), what is your vision of social change, if any? What kind of social change do you hope for or are you concerned about? Has this changed in the last few years? Where do you position the internet? If you were to imagine a better/worse society, what would it look like? How far/close are we?

Any challenges when consuming online content? Ever felt it may be subject to bias, prejudice, misrepresentation? How confident about assessing accuracy, trustworthiness? TA2: show me/talk me through how you 1) consume news online - Easy/difficult? How do you come around issues? Benefits/limitations for society in using the internet to consume news? Any risks in how social media platforms and cornorations running the internet are owned and operate? Constraints - Can these issues be overcome? How? What should be done? Do any of these issues affect how you do this? How do you deal with them? How do you assess veracity? Does familiarity with the internet's technical features come in handy? Is it important to deal with these issues? Why? How optimistic/pessimistic about 1) the internet and 2) the political system? How did you develop these perspectives? – or 2) perform any activity mentioned (see TA1 questions above) How familiar with who owns search engines, platforms and social media? How are they funded? BBC website? Does it matter? Why? Any risks in the ways social media platforms, browsers and corporations that run the internet are owned and operate? Familiar with what/how these corporations collect and track? (likes, location, searches, purchases, facial recognition data) Need for regulation? What kind? Why? What made you realise this? How did you develop these perspectives?

#### Access, motivation mobile phone, tablet etc.; home, work Types of online engagement

#### Civic/political engagement

(community, voluntarism, charity, fundraising, government services. news/information.

reposting/liking/creating/sharing/commenting on content, contacting politicians/parties, (e)petition, boycotting, campaign/demonstration, alternative media, virtual sit-ins/email bombings, information about demonstrations) What does being a citizen mean to you? Is this reflected in how you engage in civic/ political life? How confident about engaging? How familiar with civic/political matters and the political system in the UK and beyond? Is this knowledge important? Why? Is your voice as a citizen listened to? In what ways? By whom?

#### FDL - dispositions towards the internet

(escapism, connectivity, employment, shopping, privacy risks, financial security, identity theft). Any of these issues ever affected how you engage civically/politically? In what situation? How did you deal with them? Was it important to deal with them? Why? FDL – technical, social, creative skills

(sending/receiving messages, using SNS, creating/posting content, finding information, using services online, managing privacy settings etc.)

#### FDL – understanding digital affordances

(digital interfaces, social media's (privacy) settings, character of networks, algorithm, a/synchronicity) How did you learn this? In what situation?

**CDL** – **imaginaries of society in the digital age** What made you say so? How optimistic/pessimistic? Do the internet's features/design/how it functions play a role? Does the way in which social media/internet corporations operate play a role? What made you realise this? Constraints – Can these issues be overcome? How? What should be done? Has any of these issues affected how you engage civically/politically? In what situation? How did you deal with them? Was it important to deal with them? Why? Is it useful to know this in relation to how you engage? How did you develop these perspectives? In what situation? Has interaction with family, friends, colleagues played a role?

#### CDL – evaluating online content

What do you need to know when consuming content? Target audience, construction techniques, points of view, omitted info? How did you learn? Do the internet's features/design/how it functions play a role? How about how social media/internet corporations operate? Does familiarity with how the internet functions and/or the role of corporations come in handy? In what ways? What do you do when confronted with biased/misrepresented content? Ever come across misinformation? Consume/produce alternative content or use alternative platforms? In what situation?

#### CDL – understanding socio-economic issues

(ownership, funding, advertising, economic surveillance, regulation – content, market, corporations, advertising) Any risks reinforced by the internet's features/design or how it functions? What kind of ads do you see on Facebook and/or Google and how do they know what you might like? Do you need to be logged in on Facebook for your activities on other websites to be tracked by Facebook? Familiar with Facebook Exchange/Pixel? Do you read T&C? Ever managed cookies, history, settings? Ever used DuckDuckGo, ad blockers? Familiar with how they work? Why is DuckDuckGo less invasive of privacy? Familiar with how Google's and Facebook's algorithms work? Cookies? Geolocation? Are Google's results the same for everyone? Any platforms that you value as more secure than others? Why?

## Appendix 5: Weekly Diary Entry Form



London School of Economics and Political Science g.polizzi@lse.ac.uk 07393387487

## Weekly Diary Entry

Diarist's name \_\_\_\_\_

Week no. \_\_\_\_\_

Date \_\_\_

Please kindly write in the box below how you have engaged this week civically or politically both online and offline. Feel free to reflect and report on what you did, the context, what it means to you, and whether and why you did this online. You may specify dates and time, if you like. As there is no requirement on the length, please write as much as you like. You may fill in this form either electronically or by hand. At the end of each week, please return this form to Gianfranco Polizzi by emailing it to g.polizzi@lse.ac.uk. If you have any questions, do not hesitate to contact Gianfranco.

Thank you

Please continue over the page if you wish

Feel free to add extra pages if you have more to add

# Appendix 6: NVivo *Node 1* – "What is Digital Literacy?": Deductive Sub-Nodes and Inductive Codes and Themes (FDL = functional digital literacy; CDL = critical digital literacy)

Deductive	Inductive codes	Inductive themes	Examples
Deductive sub-nodes FDL1 – Digital skills	<ol> <li>Inductive codes</li> <li>Deploying operational and creative skills</li> <li>Deploying creative and social skills</li> <li>Deploying operational skills but struggling with social skills</li> <li>Deploying social skills but struggling with creative skills</li> <li>Platforms are user- friendly, requiring digital skills that are not advanced</li> <li>The lack of digital skills depends on the technical features of digital technologies</li> </ol>	Inductive themes 1-2. Advanced digital skills require a combination of skills 3-4. Limited digital skills entail a lack of skills 5-6. Digital skills depend on the usability of digital technologies	<ul> <li>Examples</li> <li>1. Expert Chloe deploys operational and creative skills to develop the software behind the website of her company</li> <li>Expert Anthony deploys creative and social skills to produce and upload videos on YouTube</li> <li>Expert George is confident deploying operational but not social skills</li> <li>Advocate Jacob knows how to deploy social skills to interact with other users on social media but not how to deploy creative skills to create multimodal content</li> <li>Michael does not need advanced digital skills as platforms are easy to use</li> <li>Simon's inability to</li> </ul>
			use his digital skills results from the unreliability of networked services and bad digital design
FDL2 – Knowledge of digital affordances	<ol> <li>Deploying social and information- navigation skills along with an understanding of the interface of social media</li> <li>Deploying operational and creative skills along with an understanding of what the internet affords for coding</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>1-2. Knowledge of digital affordances enhances digital skills</li> <li>3. Limited knowledge of digital affordances makes digital skills limited</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Advocate Helen deploys social and information- navigation skills on Instagram to check who likes her posts and follow up on hashtags, conscious of what its interface affords</li> <li>Expert Anthony deploys operational and creative skills to</li> </ol>

	<ol> <li>Deploying operat skills but strugglin with information navigation skills because of a limit understanding of digital design</li> </ol>	ted	conscie use the coding 3. Expert how to operat open d on Red struggl downv unawa	websites, bus of how to e internet for Sophia knows deploy ional skills to ifferent posts dit, but es to find oted posts, re of how is designed
FDL3 – General dispositions towards the internet	<ol> <li>Appreciating the internet's advant and disadvantage accessing inform and connectivity</li> <li>Appreciating the internet's advant and disadvantage online shopping a financial safety</li> <li>Appreciating the internet's advant for online shoppin along with an understanding of what search engi afford for online shopping</li> <li>Appreciating the internet's disadvantages fo online shopping a with an understa of how cookies w</li> <li>Appreciating the internet's disadvantages fo information over along with an understanding of what social media afford for manag feed preferences</li> </ol>	es for ation 2. Online shopping and financial safety 3-5. Dispositions couple with knowledge of digital affordances es for and ages ng nes r along nding vork r load	1.Advoca valuesanfor acc informdfor acc informdconnec other u concer losing a offline2.Expert the int enablir service for sho concer financi3.Expert the int online conscia Goole a results shoppi4.Advoca concer interne compa opport overch consur knows an und what h afford online concer interne cossi an und what h	atte Amanda the internet essing ation and cting with users, but is ned about connectedness Oscar values ernet for ng users to use s like Amazon pping, but is ned about al fraud online Rosie values ernet for shopping, but online Rosie values ernet for shopping, bus of how organizes its for online ng ate Patrick is ned about the et providing nies with unities to

						managing her feed
						preferences,
						prioritizing posts over
						others
CDL1 –	1.	Reflecting on the	1.	Reflecting on the	1.	Expert Monica asks
Ability to		language, evidence,		nature and origin of		herself whether the
evaluate		author and source		information		language is extreme
online		behind information	2.	Using multiple sources		or whether the
content	2.	Using multiple	3.	Contextual knowledge		author can be trusted
		sources in synergy	4-5.	Evaluating online	2.	Expert George uses
		with trust in		content in synergy with		multiple news apps,
		accredited media		functional digital		appreciative of
		outlets		literacy		accredited media
	3.	Deploying knowledge	6-8.	Evaluating online	_	outlets
		of topic, socio-		content in ways that	3a.	Expert George does
		political system and		are underpinned by		not understand news
		media bias to assess information		knowledge about the		articles about finance because not familiar
	4.	Deploying knowledge		digital environment in synergy with functional		with the subject
	4.	about how websites		digital literacy	2h	Expert Adam
		are designed along		uigital literacy	50.	understands news
		with information-				stories about Syria
		navigation skills to				because familiar with
		assess their reliability				socio-political
	5.	Deploying knowledge				context, but his
		of what search				familiarity depends
		engines and websites				on what is reported
		afford along with				by the media
		information			3c.	Expert Christian
		navigation skills to use				understands how
		multiple sources and				media outlets like
		evaluate online				Fox News operate,
	_	content				conscious of its
	6.	Deploying knowledge				biases
		of how internet			4.	Expert Christian
		corporations operate,				reflects on whether
		with what				information online is
		implications for privacy and what their				badly written or whether websites are
		platforms afford, to				badly designed
		use different search			52	Advocate Helen
		engines in synergy			50.	compares and
		with information-				contrasts information
		navigation skills to				on Google
		compare and evaluate			5b.	Advocate Julia checks
		online content				the origin of photos
	7.	Deploying knowledge				across multiple
		about the internet's				sources by using
		potentials and				Google Reverse
		limitations for political				Image Search
		debate along with			5c.	Expert Shawn uses
		information-				the hyperlink to
		navigation skills and			-	follow up on sources
		knowledge of what			6.	Expert Carol
		social media afford to				compares and contrasts information
		check different				on multiple search
	I		I		1	on multiple search

CDL2 –	8.	sources and evaluate online content Deploying knowledge about the internet's potentials and limitations for political debate, along with social skills, knowledge of how internet corporations operate and what social media afford to diversify exposure to information and evaluate online content	1.5	Online advertising	8.	engines, using DuckDuckGo because it is less invasive of privacy than Google Expert Peter knows how search for tweets coming from reliable sources on Twitter, concerned about the internet's potential for undermining political debate by amplifying misinformation, hate speech and irrelevant content Expert Abby diversifies her exposure to information by following Twitter accounts of people with opposing views to hers, conscious of the problem of the filter bubble
CDL2 – Knowledge about the political economy of the internet	1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	Understanding that internet corporations profit through advertising Online advertising negatively affects traditional media outlets Online advertising benefits businesses Understanding that internet corporations collect users' data for online advertising purposes and what their platforms afford for their business models Not understanding what online platforms afford for collecting users' data, despite understanding that they profit through online advertising Impossible to fully understand how internet corporations operate	1-5 4. 5.	Online advertising Understanding how internet corporations operate in synergy with functional digital literacy Understanding how internet corporations operate in synergy with limited functional digital literacy Understanding how internet corporations operate depends on their transparency	1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	Expert Peter knows Facebook and Google rely on online advertising to make profits Expert Frank blames online advertising for undermining the profits of traditional media outlets Expert Sophia sees online advertising as an opportunity for businesses Expert Sophia knows that Google relies on online advertising, which is based on collecting users' data through the use of cookies Advocate Jacob knows Google and Facebook profit through online advertising. But does not know that they use cookies Advocate Adam does not know how Twitter operates

	1					because they are not
						transparent about
						their business models
CDL3 –	1.	Concerns about the	1-3	. Democracy	1.	Advocate Julia
Imaginaries	1.	failure of liberal	3.	Imagining democracy	1.	worries about the
of society		democracy along with		along with an		failure of the
in the		appreciation of the		understanding of how		representative
digital age		internet's potential		internet corporations		character of liberal
0 0		for e-voting as well as		operate		democracy,
		data security risks				conscious of the
	2.	Hoping for a more	4-5	. Populism		internet's potential
		progressive				for e-voting but also
		participatory	6-8	. Misinformation		for undermining data
		democracy along with	6.	Understanding the		security
		appreciation of the		internet's potential for	2.	Expert David hopes
		internet's potential		(mis)information in		for more left-wing
		for participation in		synergy with positive		participatory
		decision-making as		disposition towards its		democracy,
	_	well as for elitism		advantages for		conscious of the
	3.	Hoping for left-wing	-	accessing information		internet's potential
		libertarian decentralization of	7.	Understanding the internet's potential for		for participation but also for reinforcing
		power along with		misinformation along		elitism
		appreciation of the		with understanding of	3.	Advocate Andrew
		internet's potential		how internet	5.	hopes for
		for democratic		corporations operate		decentralization of
		participation as well		and what their		power in line with
		as corporate power,		platforms afford		left-wing libertarian
		given how internet				values, conscious of
		corporations operate	9-1	3. Surveillance		the internet's
			9.	Understanding the		potential for
	4.	Concerns about		internet's implications		participation but
		populism in line with		for surveillance in		also, given how
		progressive values		synergy with		internet corporations
		along with		understanding of how		operate, for
		appreciation of the		internet corporations		corporate power
		internet's potential		operate and what their		
		for interacting with		platforms afford for	4.	Advocate Michael
		politicians as well as	10	data tracking		worries about
	-	reinforcing populism	10-	0		populism in context of Brexit in line with
	5.	Concerns about		Cambridge Analytica		of Brexit in line with left-wing values,
		polarization in line with right-wing	14-	17. Internet regulation		conscious of the
		libertarian values	14-	0		internet's potential
		along with	15	internet regulation in		for making politicians
		appreciation of the		synergy with		more accessible but
		internet's potential		understanding of how		also for facilitating
		for connecting people		internet corporations		far-right politics
		with different		operate and what their	5.	Advocate Sue worries
		opinions as well as		platforms and		about polarization of
		facilitating hate		algorithms afford		political debate in
		speech and far-right				line with right-wing
		politics				libertarian values of
						free speech,
	6.	Concerns about the				conscious of the
		implications of				internet's potential
		misinformation for				for connecting users

	civic life along with		with people with
	appreciation of the		different opinions
	internet's potential		but also for
	for a well-informed		amplifying the voices
	citizenry, underpinned		of far-right trolls
	by positive disposition		
	towards its	6.	Expert Christian
	advantages for		worries about living
	accessing information,		in a post-truth world,
	as well as its		conscious of the
	implications for		internet's advantages
	enabling users to		for accessing
	express their opinions		information and,
	without taking		relatedly, its
	responsibility		potential for
7.	Appreciating the		contributing to a
	internet's potential		well-informed
	for diversifying the		citizenry but also for
	political debate as		enabling users to
	well as amplifying		express their views
	misinformation,		without taking
	reinforced by how		responsibility
	internet corporations	7.	Expert Chloe
	operate and what		appreciates the
	their platforms afford		internet's potential
	for creating filter		for discovering the
	bubbles		opinions of minority
8.	Exempting internet		groups but also for
	corporations from		amplifying
	taking responsibility		misinformation,
	for misinformation, in		conscious of how
	line with right-wing		platforms operate
	libertarian values		and how their
	about the free market		algorithms work,
			creating filter
9.	Hoping for equity and		bubbles, exposing
	justice in line with		users to misleading
	left-wing libertarian		information
	values along with	8.	Advocate Patrick
	appreciation of the		thinks internet
	internet's potential		corporations should
	for transparency as		take no responsibility
	well as surveillance		for misinformation in
	and corporate power,		line with his vision of
	given how internet		the free market,
	corporations operate		underpinned by
	and what their		right-wing libertarian
	platforms afford for		values
	data tracking		
10.	Concerns about	9.	Advocate Roger
10.	Cambridge Analytica,	5.	hopes for equity and
	despite failing to		justice in line with
	dispute its		left-wing libertarian
	effectiveness in		values, conscious of
	manipulating users,		the internet's
	along with awareness		potential for
	of the internet's		
	or the internet S		transparency. But

implications for		also worries, given
surveillance, given		how internet
how internet		corporations operate
corporations operate		and what their
11. Misunderstanding		platforms afford for
Cambridge Analytica		data tracking, about
as well as role of		implications for
Facebook and how		surveillance and
they use their		corporate power
algorithms	1	.0. Advocate Mark is
12. Surveillance is		concerned about
essential for ensuring		Cambridge Analytica,
collective security		despite failing to
13. Government		dispute its
surveillance and		effectiveness in
internet corporations'		manipulating users,
data tracking are not		conscious of the
a problem if you have		internet's
nothing to hide		implications for
-		surveillance, given
14. Hoping for		how internet
government		corporations operate
regulation against	1	1. Advocate Alex thinks
how internet		government
corporations operate		supported Cambridge
in line with vision of		Analytica and
liberal democracy		, Facebook in
15. Hoping that GDPR will		manipulating users
empower users over		by using certain
their own data along		algorithms
with appreciation of	1	.2. Advocate Jacob
how internet		thinks government
corporations operate		has the right to
and what their		monitor what citizens
platforms afford for		do to ensure their
protecting users'		collective security
privacy	1	.3. Expert Oscar thinks
16. Relying on the		how social media
potential of AI to filter		operate in terms of
online content and		data tracking is not a
avoid regulation along		problem if you have
with awareness of the		nothing to hide, and
risks of bias inherent		neither is the fact
in AI and how its		that government can
algorithms work		access information
17. Government		about you through
regulation of online		social media
content means giving		Social media
up on freedom of	1	4. Advocate Mark thinks
speech		government
specci		regulation of how
		internet corporations
		operate is essential
		for making sure that
		we live in a liberal
		democracy
		acmocracy

	15.	Expert Shawn hopes GDPR will give users more control over their data, conscious of what it entails for how internet corporations operate and what their platforms afford for protecting users' privacy
		In line with right- wing libertarian values, advocate Sue thinks online content should not be regulated by government. Concerned that this kind of regulation would undermine freedom of speech Expert Rosie thinks AI has the potential to filter online content in ways that require
		no regulation. However, conscious of risks inherent in what its algorithms afford for reinforcing bias

## Appendix 7: NVivo *Node 2* – "Whether and How Civic Engagement Provides Opportunities for Learning Digital Literacy": Inductive Codes and Themes

	Inductive codes	Inductive themes	Examples			
1.	Improving digital skills	1-6. Learning digital literacy	1a.	Expert Linda, who works		
	thanks to help of colleagues	informally through social		for organization		
	within the same	interaction within civic life		promoting media		
	community/campaigning	1-2. Learning functional digital		education, improved		
	organization	literacy informally		operational, social and		
2.	Improving digital skills along	through social interaction		creative skills thanks to		
	with knowledge of digital	within civic life		help of colleagues		
	affordances thanks to help	3. Learning critical digital	1b.	Advocate Jacob improved		
	of colleagues within the	literacy informally in		social skills thanks to help		
	same	tandem with civic literacy	-	of fellow activists		
	community/campaigning	through social interaction	2.	Advocate Moana		
2	organizations	within civic life		improved operational		
3.	Learning about current	4-5. Learning functional and		skills and understanding of		
	affairs and media bias, which enhances the ability	critical digital literacy informally through social		what campaigning platforms used by her		
	to evaluate online content,	interaction within civic life		organization afford thanks		
	by discussing news within	6. Social interaction can be		to help of fellow activists		
	family settings	negative for learning	3.	From a young age, expert		
4.	Learning about how internet	functional and critical	0.	Frank developed interest		
	corporations operate and	digital literacy within civic		in news and		
	what their algorithms afford	life		understanding of current		
	for campaigning and			affairs as well as		
	targeting users with ads by			understanding of news		
	talking to friends involved in			outlets and their biases by		
	politics			discussing news within		
5.	Developing an imaginary of			family settings		
	the internet's potentials and		4.	Advocate Sue refined		
	limitations, and what it			understanding of how		
	affords for campaigning, by			social media like Facebook		
	talking to people supporting			operate and what its		
~	the same civic causes			algorithms afford for		
6.	Misunderstanding how			campaigning and targeting		
	internet corporations operate and what their			audiences by talking to friends involved in politics		
	algorithms afford for their		5.	Advocate Mary refined		
	business models as a result		5.	understanding of the		
	of talking to friends involved			internet's potential for		
	in politics			mobilization but also		
				limited impact, as well as		
				an understanding of what		
				it affords for raising		
				awareness and maximizing		
				online visibility, by talking		
				to supporters of her		
				organization		
			6.	As a result of talking to		
				friend involved in politics,		
				advocate Robert came to		
				conjecture mistakenly that		
				Google's results are		
				algorithmically biased		

1.	Learning how to manage privacy settings along with understanding of how internet corporations operate and what cookies afford for their business models by following organizations campaigning for privacy on social media Learning about current affairs as well as how internet corporations operate and what their platforms afford for collecting and tracking users' data by reading news stories about the Cambridge Analytica scandal	2.	Learning functional and critical digital literacy informally through information seeking and engagement within civic life Learning functional and critical digital literacy informally in tandem with civic literacy through information seeking within civic life	1.	because of corporate agenda supported by government Expert Carol refined ability to manage privacy settings as well as understanding of how internet corporations profit and what cookies afford for collecting users' data by following organizations that campaign for online privacy on social media Expert Anthony learned about current affairs and refined understanding of how social media like Facebook manage and can misuse users' data, along with understanding of what their platforms afford for collecting and tracking users' data, by reading news stories online about Cambridge Analytica
1.         2.         3.         4.	Developing digital skills and knowledge about digital affordances through experience using digital technologies for civic purposes Developing knowledge about digital affordances along with positive dispositions towards the internet through experience using digital technologies for civic purposes Developing negative dispositions towards the internet through experience using digital technologies for civic purposes Developing ability to campaign online along with imaginaries of the internet's potentials and limitations, and what it affords for campaigning		Learning digital literacy informally through experience using digital technologies within civic life Learning functional digital literacy informally through experience using digital technologies within civic life Learning functional and critical digital literacy informally through experience using digital technologies within civic life Learning digital literacy informally in tandem with civic literacy through experience using digital technologies within civic life	<ol> <li>2.</li> <li>3.</li> </ol>	Advocate Alex learned operational, social and creative skills along with understanding of what online platforms like SoundCloud afford for uploading socially conscious music, which he produces using digital technologies, through long-standing experience in the music industry for civic purposes Advocate Moana learned what the internet affords for campaigning and reaching young people, along with understanding of its advantages for connecting with this age group, through experience using digital technologies for campaigning Advocate Adele learned about the internet's distracting potential through experience using it when working for campaigning organization abroad

			Λ	Through experience using
			4.	Through experience using digital technologies for campaigning, advocate Roger developed ability to campaign online along with imaginary of the internet's potential for mobilizing but also repressing action. At the same time, he gained an understanding of what social media afford for campaigning, while also appreciating that the internet's potential for social change depends on the social context.
1.	Civil society organizations provide media educators with formal training	1-4. Learning digital literacy through training within civic life	1.	Expert Linda works for civil society organization that provides media educators
2.	Campaigning organizations promote awareness about the internet by providing	1-3. Learning digital literacy through formal training within civic life	2.	with training about how to teach media studies Advocate Georgia works
3.	formal training Learning through formal training within campaigning organizations about how to use the internet as well as its potential and affordances for campaigning	<ol> <li>Learning digital literacy through informal learning within civic life</li> </ol>		for campaigning organization that raises awareness about hate speech online by training women about what to do when receiving hateful comments online
4.	Learning about how internet corporations operate and the internet's implications for civic life through informal training within campaigning organizations		3.	Advocate Moana learned how to use the internet along with understanding of its potential, and what it affords for campaigning and targeting different audiences by taking part in seminar recommended by her campaigning organization
			4.	Advocate Moana learned about Cambridge Analytica and how users' data can be misused along with the internet's implications for online trolling by receiving emails and advice from senior members of the Conservative Party

## Appendix 8: NVivo *Node 3* – "Whether and How Digital Literacy Facilitates Civic Engagement": Inductive Codes and Themes

	Inductive codes	Inductive themes		Examples
1.	Digital skills facilitate civic	1-9. Functional digital literacy	1a.	Advocate Julia relies on
	engagement, enhancing	facilitates civic		social and information
	ability to use digital	engagement, on basis of		navigation skills to search
	technologies as practical	using digital technologies		for and sign up to protest
	tools for civic purposes	as practical tools		events on Facebook
2.	No need for advanced	2-3. Extent to which digital	1b.	Expert Simon relied on
	digital skills when relying	skills facilitate civic		operational and creative
	on colleagues with digital	engagement at the		skills to set up survey for
	expertise within	collective level depends on		community organization
	campaigning organizations	how they are distributed		addressing problems in
3.	Relying on colleagues with	4-5. Digital skills facilitate civic		local area
	limited skills within same	engagement in synergy	2.	Advocate Richard does not
	community organization	with knowledge of digital		need advanced digital skills
	undermines collective	affordances		because he can rely on
	participation	6. Limited knowledge of		colleagues with expertise
4.	Deploying knowledge of	digital affordances along		within his campaigning
	digital affordances along	with limited digital skills		organization
	with digital skills in ways	undermine civic	3.	Advocate Miriam relies on
	that enhance engagement	engagement		colleagues with limited
	with news	7. Use of campaigning		digital skills, which
5.	Digital skills and knowledge	platforms within		undermines their work on
	of digital affordances	campaigning organizations		a participatory budgeting
	facilitate use of	depends on how they are		initiative
	campaigning platforms	designed	4.	Expert George deploys
	within campaigning	8. Deploying positive		operational and
c	organizations	dispositions towards the		information navigation
6.	Limited digital skills and	internet along with		skills, conscious of what his
	knowledge of digital affordances undermine	knowledge of digital affordances facilitates civic		news apps afford, to
	ability to discuss politics			customise apps and keep abreast of news
	online	engagement 9. Deploying negative	5.	Advocate Robert has
7.	When campaigning	dispositions towards the	5.	limited operational and
7.	platforms are designed in	internet does not		creative skills which,
	ways that do not require	undermine civic		coupled with limited
	advanced digital skills, they	engagement		understanding of what
	hinder use for campaigning	engogement		WordPress affords,
	within campaigning			undermine ability to keep a
	organizations			blog about his political
8.	Deploying positive			views
	disposition towards the		6.	Advocate Laura and
	internet along with digital			colleagues within same
	skills and knowledge of			organization deploy digital
	digital affordances			skills and knowledge of
	facilitates use of social			what their campaigning
	media for discussing			platforms afford to design
	politics			e-actions and launch e-
9.	Negative dispositions			petitions
	towards the internet do		7.	Advocate Laura thinks her
	not undermine but			campaigning platform does
	reconfigure civic			not require her and
	engagement			colleagues to have and

			8.	deploy more advanced digital skills, hindering how much they accomplish when using it Expert Peter deploys
				positive disposition towards the internet's advantages for connecting with other users along with understanding of what Twitter affords for customizing his profile in
				ways that enhance use to discuss Brexit with users interested in same subject
			9a.	Advocate Adele's negative disposition towards internet procrastination underpins decision to use only Facebook Messenger and not Facebook account, while appreciative of advantages for staying in touch with family and friends, including friends
				involved in politics Expert Simon's negative disposition towards internet overuse reconfigured his civic engagement online. His disposition underpins decision to minimize use of Twitter for reading about politics, privileging accredited media outlets.
1.	Trust in accredited media outlets in synergy with awareness of how they operate, which is necessary for evaluating	<ol> <li>1-4. Digital literacy facilitates civic engagement by enhancing trust</li> <li>Critical digital literacy facilitates civic</li> </ol>	1a.	Advocate Roger trusts accredited media outlets like the <i>Guardian</i> , which he reads online – why he subscribed to it
	online content, enhances civic engagement with news	engagement by enhancing trust in accredited media outlets	1b.	Expert Whitney trusts accredited media outlets like the <i>New Yorker</i> , which
2.	Trusted media outlets should not be available free of charge, so that people can distinguish what is reliable from what	<ol> <li>Critical digital literacy facilitates civic engagement by enhancing trust in accredited media outlets in ways that are</li> </ol>	2.	she reads online – why she subscribed to it Expert Frank thinks trusted media outlets like the <i>Guardian</i> should not make
3.	is not Knowledge about GDPR, along with awareness of what it entails in relation to what online platforms afford for protecting users' privacy, has potential to	elitist 3. Critical and functional digital literacy facilitates civic engagement by enabling experts and advocates to overcome distrust in internet		most online content available free of charge, which makes it hard for many people to distinguish what information is reliable online from what is not. Instead, they should
	facilitate civic engagement	corporations		put content behind paywall

4.	by enabling experts to overcome distrust in how internet corporations operate Not only does knowledge about GDPR enable advocates to overcome distrust in internet corporations but it also enhances their trust in quality of support within campaigning organizations	4. Critical digital literacy facilitates civic engagement by enabling advocates to overcome distrust in internet corporations, while also enhancing trust in quality of support	<ol> <li>Expert Shawn knows what GDPR entails for how internet corporations operate and what platforms afford in terms of protecting users' privacy. His knowledge enables him to overcome distrust in these corporations, making him more willing to use platforms for civic purposes</li> <li>Advocate Laura thinks GDPR represents opportunity for her campaigning organization to engage with supporters who are more active and trustworthy. Knows that her organization needs to obtain consent of members before contacting them, resulting in reduction in the quantity, but not in quality of their support.</li> </ol>
1.	Ability to evaluate online content along with digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances is beneficial for strategically overcoming bias and misinformation when engaging with political content Strategically avoiding	<ul> <li>1-5. Digital literacy makes civic engagement strategic in overcoming limitations of digital environment</li> <li>2-4, 5e. Digital literacy makes civic engagement strategic in overcoming limitations of digital environment in ways that rely on forms of strategic disengagement</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1a. Advocate Jacob identifies bias when engaging with political content by deploying information- navigation skills along with knowledge of what Google affords for using multiple sources</li> <li>1b. Advocate Helen deploys social and information-</li> </ul>
	sources while privileging others to overcome misinformation when engaging with political content	1-2. Critical and functional digital literacy makes civic engagement strategic in overcoming bias and misinformation	navigation skills along with understanding of what Google affords for checking origin of photos when communicating with fellow
3.	Deploying knowledge about how internet corporations operate along with knowledge of digital affordances facilitates civic engagement by enabling experts and advocates to lurk, and strategically minimize what they post, on social media Deploying understanding	<ol> <li>Critical and functional digital literacy makes civic engagement strategic in overcoming bias and misinformation by relying on forms of strategic disengagement</li> <li>Critical and functional digital literacy makes civic engagement strategic in overcoming privacy</li> </ol>	activists on WhatsApp 2a. Expert Anthony avoids reading blogs, relying instead on accredited media outlets online, to strategically minimize exposure to misinformation, conscious of what their design affords for spreading misinformation
	of corporate nature of users' data, along with knowledge of what cookies afford, facilitates engagement with news in	concerns about corporate nature of users' data by relying on forms of strategic disengagement	2b. Advocate Moana avoids reading commentaries on politics on social media, preferring to stream these from accredited media

wavs th	at rely strategically	5.	Critical and functional		outlets, to minimize her
-	s sites rather than		digital literacy makes civic		exposure to
apps			engagement strategic in		misinformation, conscious
	ng utopian and		navigating the internet's		of what social media afford
	an imaginaries of		civic potentials and		for spreading
	rnet along with		limitations	20	misinformation
	kills and knowledge al affordances to			3a.	Concerned about privacy implications inherent in
-	cally navigate the				how internet corporations
-	t's potentials and				operate, expert Monica
	ons for civic life.				limits herself to lurking on
					social media to access
					political content, conscious
					of its affordances for
					accessing information
				24	about politics
				30.	Concerned about privacy implications inherent in
					how internet corporations
					operate, advocate Georgia
					minimizes what she posts on social media. Conscious
					that Facebook uses
					algorithms to profile users,
					she avoids adding personal
					information to her profile
				4.	Expert Simon is concerned
					about corporate nature of
					his data. So he prefers
					news sites to apps, which make it easier for media
					outlets to collect
					information about him,
					conscious of how cookies
					work
				5a.	Advocate Amanda deploys
					her imaginary of the
					internet's potentials and
					limitations for participation and polarization to follow
					channels with views
					opposed to hers on social
					media, conscious of what
					they afford for creating
					filter bubbles
				5b.	Conscious of the internet's
					potentials and limitations
					for political debate,
					misinformation and trolling, expert Peter
					deploys operational and
					social skills along with
					understanding of what
					Twitter affords for blocking
					trolls and controversial
					tweets

		Ec. Export Monica is awara of
		<ul> <li>5c. Expert Monica is aware of the internet's potential for a well-informed citizenry as well as misinformation and extremism in context of mainstream and alternative media. So she uses both to compensate for their limitations</li> <li>5d. Advocate Sue deploys her imaginary of the internet's potentials and limitations for both democracy and hate speech to campaign for free, civil and rational speech by reaching different age groups and maximizing online visibility, conscious of what social media afford for campaigning.</li> <li>5e. Advocate Helen is aware of the internet's potential for participation and open data as well as surveillance. So she uses the internet to campaign, but uses a different name online. When communicating with fellow activists, she avoids certain messaging systems, using others instead,</li> </ul>
<ol> <li>Constructing both utopian and dystopian imaginaries of the internet but deploying only one or the other, in synergy with limited digital skills and knowledge of digital affordances, makes civic engagement contradictory</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Inability to deploy critical digital literacy, along with limited functional digital literacy, makes civic engagement contradictory.</li> </ol>	conscious of what they afford 1a. Advocate Mark has refrained from using social media as an ordinary citizen because his dystopianism about the internet prevails, which has to do with data tracking and voter manipulation, along with limited operational skills and knowledge of what privacy settings afford. On the other hand, he uses them to post ads and target users to vote for his party, privileging his awareness of the internet's potential for campaigning 1b. Advocate Julia campaigns for right to online privacy as a policy officer. But when using social media like Facebook as an

ordinary citizen, she hardly
manages her privacy
settings. Her engagement
with social media as an
ordinary citizen is
underpinned by awareness
of the internet's potential
for participation in
institutional politics.
Meanwhile, refrained from
deploying understanding of
the internet's implications
for privacy and surveillance